IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT

AMERICAN PUBLIC POWER ASSOCIATION,	
NATIONAL RURAL ELECTRIC)
COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATION,)
EDISON ELECTRIC INSTITUTE, and)
AMERICAN MUNICIPAL POWER, INC.,)
)
Petitioners,)
)
V.) No
)
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY)
COMMISSION,)
)
Respondent.)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Pursuant to Section 313(b) of the Federal Power Act, 16 U.S.C. § 825*l*(b), Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Circuit Rule 15, the American Public Power Association, National Rural Electric Cooperative Association, Edison Electric Institute, and American Municipal Power, Inc. hereby jointly petition this Court for review of the following orders issued by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission:

- 1. Electric Storage Participation In Markets Operated By Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, Order No. 841, Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 (February 15, 2018); and
- 2. Electric Storage Participation In Markets Operated By Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, Order No. 841-A,

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154 (May 16, 2019).

Copies of the orders are attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Respectfully submitted,

<u>s/ Dennis Lane</u>
Dennis Lane
M. Denyse Zosa
Stinson LLP
1775 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20006
(202) 785-9100
(202) 785-0163 (for)

(202) 785-9163 (fax) dennis.lane@stinson.com

denyse.zosa@stinson.com

Counsel for American Public Power Association, National Rural Electric Cooperative Association, Edison Electric Institute, and American Municipal Power, Inc.

Dated: July 15, 2019



162 FERC ¶ 61,127 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

18 CFR Part 35 [Docket Nos. RM16-23-000; AD16-20-000; Order No. 841]

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators

(Issued February 15, 2018)

AGENCY: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

ACTION: Final rule.

SUMMARY: The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission) is amending its regulations under the Federal Power Act (FPA) to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the capacity, energy, and ancillary service markets operated by Regional Transmission Organizations (RTO) and Independent System Operators (ISO) (RTO/ISO markets). Specifically, we require each RTO and ISO to revise its tariff to establish a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in the RTO/ISO markets. The participation model must (1) ensure that a resource using the participation model is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that the resource is technically capable of providing in the RTO/ISO markets; (2) ensure that a resource using the participation model can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with existing market rules that govern when a resource can set

the wholesale price; (3) account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; and (4) establish a minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW. Additionally, each RTO/ISO must specify that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale locational marginal price. We are taking this action pursuant to our legal authority under section 206 of the FPA to ensure that RTO/ISO tariffs are just and reasonable.

In the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NOPR), the Commission also proposed reforms related to distributed energy resource aggregations. While we continue to believe that removing barriers to distributed energy resource aggregations in the RTO/ISO markets is important, we have determined that more information is needed with respect to those proposals; therefore, we will not take final action on the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms in this proceeding. Instead, the Commission will continue to explore the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms under Docket No. RM18-9-000. To that end, concurrent with this Final Rule, a Notice of Technical Conference is being issued in Docket No. RM18-9-000 with questions related to the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in the RTO/ISO markets so that we can gather additional information to help us determine what action to take on the distributed energy resource aggregation reforms proposed in the NOPR. All comments filed in response to the NOPR in this proceeding will be incorporated by reference into Docket No. RM18-9-000, and any further comments

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

regarding the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms, including comments regarding the technical conference, should be filed henceforth in Docket No. RM18-9-000.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This rule will become effective [INSERT DATE 90 DAYS AFTER DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER].

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:

Michael Herbert (Technical Information) Office of Energy Policy and Innovation Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 888 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20426 (202) 502-8929 michael.herbert@ferc.gov

Heidi Nielsen (Legal Information) Office of the General Counsel Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 888 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20426 (202) 502-8435 heidi.nielsen@ferc.gov

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators

Electric Storage Participation in Regions with Organized Wholesale Electric Markets

AD16-20-000

ORDER NO. 841

FINAL RULE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Paragraph Numbe	<u>ers</u>
I. Introduction	<u>1.</u>
II. Background	<u>7.</u>
III. Need for Reform1	0.
1. Comments	3.
2. Commission Determination	9.
IV. Discussion2	<u> 22.</u>
A. Definition of Electric Storage Resource2	<u> 22.</u>
1. NOPR Proposal2	<u> 22.</u>
2. Comments	<u>23.</u>
3. Commission Determination2	<u> 29.</u>
B. Creation of a Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources3	37.
1. Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources	
a. NOPR Proposal3	37.
b. Comments3	<u> 88.</u>
c. Commission Determination5	51.
2. Qualification Criteria for the Participation Model for Electric Storage Resource	es <u>57</u>
a. NOPR Proposal5	57.
b. Comments5	58.
c. Commission Determination	<u> </u>
3. Relationship between Electric Storage Resource Participation Model and	_
Existing Market Rules <u>6</u>	<u> 66.</u>

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

		a. NOPR Proposal	<u>66.</u>
		b. Comments	<u>67.</u>
		c. Commission Determination	68.
C.	E	ligibility of Electric Storage Resources to Participate in the RTO/ISO Markets	70.
		Eligibility to Provide all Capacity, Energy, and Ancillary Services	
		a. NOPR Proposal	
		b. Comments.	
		c. Commission Determination	
	2.	Ability to De-Rate Capacity to Meet Minimum Run-Time Requirements	
		a. NOPR Proposal	
		b. Comments.	
		c. Commission Determination	
	3	Energy Schedule Requirement for Provision of Ancillary Services 1	
	٥.	a. NOPR Request for Comments	
		b. Comments	
		c. Commission Determination	
	1	NERC Definitions 1	
	т.	a. NOPR Request for Comment	
		b. Comments	
		c. Commission Determination	
D	D	Participation in the RTO/ISO Markets as Supply and Demand	
ν.		Eligibility to Participate as a Wholesale Seller and Wholesale Buyer	
	1.	a. NOPR Proposal	
		_	
		b. Comments	
		i. Wholesale Seller/Wholesale Buyer	
		ii. Dispatchability	
		iii. Limitations on Price Setting	
	_	c. Commission Determination	
	2.	Mechanisms to Prevent Conflicting Dispatch Instructions	
		a. NOPR Request for Comments	
		b. Comments	
	_	c. Commission Determination	
	3.	Make-Whole Payments1	
		a. NOPR Request for Comments	
		b. Comments	
		c. Commission Determination	
E.		hysical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources1	
		Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage	
	Re	esource Participation Model	.80.
		a. NOPR Proposal	.80.
		b. Comments	
		c. Commission Determination	89.
	2	State of Charge, Upper and Lower Charge Limits, and Maximum Charge and	

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

Discharge Rates	195
a. NOPR Proposal	
b. Comments	
i. State of Charge	
ii. Upper and Lower Charge Limit	
iii. Maximum Energy Charge and Discharge Rate	
c. Commission Determination	
3. Minimum Charge Time, Maximum Charge Time, Minimum Run Time, a	
Maximum Run Time	
a. NOPR Proposal	
b. Comments	
c. Commission Determination	
4. Additional Physical and Operational Characteristics	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
a. Comments	
b. Commission Determination	
5. Summary of Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage	
Resources	
F. State of Charge Management	•
1. NOPR Proposal	
2. Comments	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
3. Commission Determination	
G. Minimum Size Requirement	
1. NOPR Proposal	
2. Comments	
3. Commission Determination	
H. Energy Used to Charge Electric Storage Resources	
1. Price for Charging Energy	
a. NOPR Proposal	
b. Comments	
c. Commission Determination	
2. Metering and Accounting Practices for Charging Energy	
a. NOPR Proposal	
b. Comments	
c. Commission Determination	
I. Issues Outside the Scope of this Final Rule	•
1. Comments	
2. Commission Determination	
V. Compliance Requirements	
A. NOPR Proposal	
B. Comments	
C. Commission Determination	<u>348</u>
VI. Information Collection Statement	351

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000		
VII. Environmental Analysis	<u>355.</u>	
VIII. Regulatory Flexibility Act Certification	<u>356.</u>	
IX. Document Availability	<u>361.</u>	
X. Effective Date and Congressional Notification	<u>364.</u>	
XI. Regulatory Text		
XII. Appendix A: Abbreviated Names of Commenters		

162 FERC ¶ 61,127 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Before Commissioners: Kevin J. McIntyre, Chairman;

Cheryl A. LaFleur, Neil Chatterjee, Robert F. Powelson, and Richard Glick.

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators Docket Nos. RM16-23-000

Electric Storage Participation in Regions with Organized Wholesale Electric Markets

AD16-20-000

ORDER NO. 841

FINAL RULE

(Issued February 15, 2018)

I. <u>Introduction</u>

1. In this Final Rule, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission) is adopting reforms to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources¹ in the Regional Transmission Organization and Independent System Operator markets (RTO/ISO markets).² For the reasons discussed below, we find that existing RTO/ISO

¹ We define an electric storage resource as a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid. *See infra* PP 29-36.

² For purposes of this Final Rule, we define RTO/ISO markets as the capacity, energy, and ancillary services markets operated by the RTOs and ISOs. We note that, in the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in this proceeding, the Commission used "organized wholesale electric markets" and included that term in the proposed regulatory text. *See Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators*, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, (continued ...)

market rules are unjust and unreasonable in light of barriers that they present to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, thereby reducing competition and failing to ensure just and reasonable rates. To help ensure that the RTO/ISO markets produce just and reasonable rates, pursuant to the Commission's legal authority under Federal Power Act (FPA) section 206,³ the Commission modifies section 35.28 of its regulations⁴ to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to establish market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitate their participation in the RTO/ISO markets, as discussed further below.

2. As the Commission explained in the NOPR, barriers to the participation of new technologies, such as many types of electric storage resources, in the RTO/ISO markets can emerge when the rules governing participation in those markets are designed for traditional resources and in effect limit the services that emerging technologies can provide. For instance, electric storage resources in MISO that want to sell services other than frequency regulation would not have bidding parameters for electric storage

FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 (2016) (NOPR). We find that using "RTO/ISO markets" is sufficient to describe the markets at issue in this Final Rule and therefore will no longer use "organized wholesale electric markets" here or include that term in the regulatory text.

³ 16 U.S.C. § 824e (2012).

⁴ 18 CFR § 35.28 (2017).

⁵ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 2.

resources available to them and it is unclear if or how they would be eligible to purchase energy from the MISO market. Where such conditions exist, resources that are technically capable of providing services are precluded from competing with resources that are already participating in the RTO/ISO markets. This restriction on competition can reduce the efficiency of the RTO/ISO markets, potentially leading an RTO/ISO to dispatch more expensive resources to meet its system needs. By removing barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, our actions in this Final Rule will enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that the RTO/ISO markets produce just and reasonable rates. Furthermore, due to electric storage resources' unique physical and operational characteristics—including their ability to both inject energy into the grid and receive energy from it—our actions here will help support the resilience of the bulk power system.

3. To address barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, in this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to establish a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in the RTO/ISO markets. The RTOs/ISOs generally have a set of tariff provisions that apply to all market participants. In addition, the RTOs/ISOs create tariff provisions for specific types of resources when those resources have unique physical and operational

⁶ See MISO Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 14, 17 (filed May 16, 2016) (MISO Data Request Response).

characteristics or other attributes that warrant distinctive treatment from other market participants.⁷ These distinct tariff provisions that are created for a particular type of resource are what we refer to in this Final Rule as a participation model. Accordingly, the participation model for electric storage resources that we require in this Final Rule is a set of tariff provisions that will help facilitate the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets.

4. For each RTO/ISO, the tariff provisions for the participation model for electric storage resources must (1) ensure that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that it is technically capable of providing in the RTO/ISO markets; (2) ensure that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with existing market rules that govern when a resource can set the wholesale price; (3) account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; and (4) establish a

⁷ As examples of RTO/ISO participation models, we point to Non-Generator Resources in CAISO, Alternative Technology Regulation Resources in ISO-NE, Generation Resources in MISO, Energy Limited Resources in NYISO, Economic Load Response resources in PJM, and Variable Energy Resources in SPP. *See* CAISO Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 2 (filed May 16, 2016) (CAISO Data Request Response); ISO-NE Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 3 (filed May 16, 2016) (ISO-NE Data Request Response); MISO Data Request Response at 4; NYISO Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 2-3 (filed May 16, 2016) (NYISO Data Request Response); PJM Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 5 (PJM Data Request Response); SPP Data Request Response, Docket No. AD16-20-000, at 3 (filed May 16, 2016) (SPP Data Request Response).

minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW. Additionally, each RTO/ISO must specify that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale locational marginal price (LMP).

5. In the NOPR, the Commission also proposed reforms related to distributed energy resource aggregations. While we continue to believe removing barriers to distributed energy resource aggregations in the RTO/ISO markets is important, we have determined that more information is needed with respect to those proposals; therefore, we will not take final action on the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms in this proceeding. Instead, the Commission will continue to explore the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms under Docket No. RM18-9-000. To that end, concurrent with this Final Rule, a Notice of Technical Conference is being issued in Docket No. RM18-9-000 with questions related to the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in the RTO/ISO markets so that we can gather additional information to help us determine what action to take on the distributed energy resource aggregation reforms proposed in the NOPR.¹⁰ All comments filed in response to the NOPR in this proceeding will be incorporated by reference into Docket No. RM18-9-000, and any further comments regarding the proposed distributed energy resource

⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at PP 1-16, 103-158.

⁹ We clarify that the reforms adopted here regarding electric storage resources represent final agency action subject to rehearing and appeal.

¹⁰ Notice of Technical Conference, Docket No. RM18-9-000 (Feb. 15, 2018).

aggregation reforms, including comments regarding the technical conference, should be filed henceforth in Docket No. RM18-9-000.¹¹

6. As discussed further below, each RTO/ISO must file the tariff changes needed to implement the requirements of this Final Rule within 270 days of the publication date of this Final Rule in the Federal Register. We will allow each RTO/ISO a further 365 days from that date to implement the tariff provisions.

II. Background

7. Electric storage resources have unique physical and operational characteristics, namely their ability to both inject energy to the grid and receive energy from it. Certain electric storage resources, such as pumped-hydro resources, ¹² have been participating in the RTO/ISO markets for many years, and, as the RTOs/ISOs have gained experience with these resources, the RTOs/ISOs have found new ways to facilitate the participation

¹¹ Further comments regarding the proposed distributed energy resource aggregation reforms should no longer be filed in Docket No. RM16-23-000.

¹² Pumped-hydro storage projects move water between two reservoirs located at different elevations (i.e., an upper and lower reservoir) to store energy and generate electricity. *See* https://www.ferc.gov/industries/hydropower/gen-info/licensing/pump-storage.asp.

of pumped-hydro resources. ¹³ More recently, other types of electric storage resources, such as batteries and flywheels, are participating in the RTO/ISO markets. ¹⁴

8. As the capabilities of electric storage resources improve and their costs decline to the point that they may be competitive with existing resources, ¹⁵ the Commission has become concerned that these resources face barriers that limit their participation in the RTO/ISO markets. To further examine this issue, the Commission hosted a panel to discuss electric storage resources at its November 19, 2015 open meeting. Subsequently, on April 11, 2016, Commission staff issued data requests to each of the six RTOs/ISOs seeking information about the rules in the RTO/ISO markets that affect the participation of electric storage resources. ¹⁶ Concurrently, Commission staff issued a request for

¹³ See, e.g., ISO New England Inc., Docket Nos. ER16-954-000 and ER16-954-001 (March 22, 2016) (delegated letter order).

¹⁴ Midwest Indep. Trans. Sys. Operator, Inc., 129 FERC ¶ 61,303 (2009); NYISO Services Tariff, section 2.12 (defining "Limited Energy Storage Resource" as "[a] Generator authorized to offer Regulation Service only and characterized by limited Energy storage, that is, the inability to sustain continuous operation at maximum Energy withdrawal or maximum Energy injection for a minimum period of one hour"); PJM Operating Agreement, Schedule 1, section 1.3 (defining an "Energy Storage Resource" as "[a] flywheel or battery storage facility solely used for short term storage and injection of energy at a later time to participate in the PJM energy and/or ancillary services markets as a Market Seller.")

¹⁵ See, e.g., Lazard's Levelized Cost of Storage Analysis – Version 3.0 (Nov. 2017), available at https://www.lazard.com/media/450338/lazard-levelized-cost-of-storage-version-30.pdf.

¹⁶ Specifically, Commission staff requested information related to (1) the eligibility of electric storage resources to participate in the capacity, energy, and ancillary service markets in the RTOs/ISOs; (2) the technical qualification and performance requirements for market participants; (3) the bidding parameters for different types of (continued ...)

comments, seeking information from interested persons on whether barriers exist to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets that may potentially lead to unjust and unreasonable wholesale rates. In addition to the responses from the RTOs/ISOs, Commission staff received 44 comments.

9. On November 17, 2016, the Commission issued the NOPR in this proceeding, proposing to amend its regulations under the FPA to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets. The Commission received 109 comments on the NOPR proposals from a diverse set of stakeholders.¹⁷

III. Need for Reform

10. In the NOPR, the Commission stated that its proposal in this proceeding is a continuation of efforts pursuant to its authority under the FPA to ensure that the RTO/ISO tariffs and market rules produce just and reasonable rates, terms and conditions of service. ¹⁸ Specifically, the Commission noted that it has observed that

resources; (4) opportunities for distribution-level and aggregated electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets; (5) the treatment of electric storage resources when they are receiving electricity for later injection to the grid; and (6) any forthcoming rule changes or other stakeholder initiatives that may affect the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets.

¹⁷ See Appendix A for a list of entities that submitted comments and the shortened names used throughout this Final Rule to describe those entities.

¹⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 9 (citing Integration of Variable Energy Resources, Order No. 764, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,331, order on reh'g, Order No. 764-A, 141 FERC ¶ 61,232 (2012), order on reh'g, Order No. 764-B, 144 FERC ¶ 61,222 (2013); Wholesale Competition in Regions with Organized Electric Markets, Order No. 719, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,281 (2008), order on reh'g, Order No. 719-A, (continued ...)

market rules designed for traditional resources can create barriers to entry for emerging technologies. The Commission explained that it was proposing to require the RTOs/ISOs to address barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets.¹⁹

11. The Commission acknowledged in the NOPR that electric storage resources are already providing energy and ancillary services in some RTO/ISO markets.²⁰ However, the Commission explained that these resources must often use existing participation models designed for traditional generation or load resources that do not recognize electric storage resources' unique physical and operational characteristics and their capability to provide capacity, energy, and ancillary services in the RTO/ISO markets.²¹ Even where the RTOs/ISOs have established distinct participation models for electric storage resources, the Commission stated that those models limit the services that electric storage resources may provide²² or are designed for electric storage resources

FERC Stats. & Regs. \P 31,292 (2009), order on reh'g, Order No. 719-B, 129 FERC \P 61,252 (2009)).

¹⁹ See id. P 10.

²⁰ See id. P 11.

²¹ See id. PP 11-12.

²² See id. P 11 (citing Midwest Indep. Trans. Sys. Operator, Inc., 129 FERC ¶ 61,303 at PP 40, 64; MISO FERC Electric Tariff, section 1.S (Stored Energy Resources); NYISO Services Tariff, section 2.12 (defining Limited Energy Storage Resource as a "Generator authorized to offer Regulation Service only and characterized by limited Energy storage, that is, the inability to sustain continuous operation at maximum Energy withdrawal or maximum Energy injection for a minimum period of (continued ...)

with very specific characteristics (such as pumped-hydro facilities or resources with a maximum run-time that is less than one hour). The Commission also noted that existing RTO/ISO tariffs generally limit smaller electric storage resources to participating in the RTO/ISO markets as demand response resources, which can restrict these electric storage resources' ability to employ their full operational range, prohibit them from injecting power onto the grid, and preclude them from providing certain services that they are technically capable of providing (such as operating reserves).

12. Thus, the Commission preliminarily found that current tariffs that do not recognize the operational characteristics of electric storage resources limit the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets and result in inefficient use of these resources. As a result, the Commission stated that the RTOs/ISOs may not efficiently dispatch resources, including electric storage resources, thereby reducing competition in the RTO/ISO markets. The Commission stated that limiting the services an electric storage resource is eligible to provide and limiting the efficiency with which it is dispatched to provide services could also inhibit developers' incentives to design their electric storage resources to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that these resources could otherwise provide, further reducing competition in the RTO/ISO

one hour.")). The Commission noted that NYISO limits Limited Energy Storage Resources to providing regulation service only and Demand Side Resources and Generators that can sustain operation for longer than one hour are not eligible to be Limited Energy Storage Resources. *Id.* (citing NYISO Data Request Response at 3-4).

²³ See id. P 12.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

markets. The Commission stated that effective integration of electric storage resources into the RTO/ISO markets would enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that these markets produce just and reasonable rates.

A. Comments

- 13. In response to the NOPR, commenters elaborate on the degree to which, and how, existing RTO/ISO market rules pose barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets and the impact of those barriers. ²⁴ For example, Advanced Energy Economy and GridWise state that RTO/ISO tariffs often lack participation models that allow for participation by advanced energy technologies, apply unnecessary and burdensome technical requirements originally developed for traditional generation technologies, or impose performance requirements that arbitrarily exclude advanced technologies.
- 14. Alevo, Eagle Crest, Massachusetts State Entities, and NYISO Indicated

 Transmission Owners claim that RTO/ISO market rules hinder the full participation of electric storage resources by failing to recognize these resources' unique operating characteristics and requiring them to use market rules designed for other types of resources, such as generation. For example, Massachusetts State Entities explain that, in ISO-NE, electric storage resources have to use participation models for pumped-hydro

²⁴ See Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 14-15; GridWise Comments at 3.

²⁵ See Alevo Comments at 4-6; Eagle Crest Comments at 5; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 13-14; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 3.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

- 16 -

resources, which do not take advantage of the flexibility of newer electric storage technologies.

- 15. A few commenters emphasize that making market rules technology neutral will remove barriers to entry for electric storage resources. For example, several commenters argue that market design should be technology neutral to ensure equal access to markets²⁶ and to reduce long-term investment risk associated with developing electric storage resources.²⁷ Microgrid Resources Coalition shares the Commission's concerns that the varying participation models among RTOs/ISOs limit market opportunities for new technologies.²⁸
- 16. While commenters addressed concerns with specific aspects of the NOPR proposals, most commenters, including the RTOs/ISOs, generally agree that the Commission should act to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets.²⁹ Further, commenters state that allowing electric storage resources to fully participate in the RTO/ISO markets could create more reliable and resilient

²⁶ See AES Companies Comments at 14; Alevo Comments at 7-8; EEI Comments at 6-7; Efficient Holdings Comments at 2, 5; ELCON Comments at 2-4; GridWise Comments at 3; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 10-11.

²⁷ See Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 9.

²⁸ See Microgrid Resources Coalition Comments at 2.

²⁹ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 1, 3-6, 8-17; American Petroleum Institute Comments at 2; APPA/NRECA Comments at 1-2; EEI Comments at 2-4; EPRI Comments at 2; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 3, 6-9, 11-12; Energy Storage Association Comments at 3-5; IRC Comments at 2; NARUC Comments at 3; National Hydropower Association Comments at 2-4; TAPS Comments at 1.

electric markets and could provide energy security, fuel diversity, and valuable fast-responding capability to the RTO/ISO markets.³⁰ CAISO explains that there is no reason to exclude an electric storage resource from providing an existing wholesale electric service if that resource has the technical capabilities required to do so.³¹

17. Some commenters note that implementation of the reforms proposed in the NOPR could improve competition and/or efficiency in the RTO/ISO markets and provide other system benefits. 32 More specifically, Energy Storage Association contends that the benefits from participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets include avoided capacity payments, lower peak prices, reduced need for traditional generators to cycle, facilitating effective ramp management, avoiding generator start-up and shut-down costs, and absorbing over-generation. Dominion argues that recognizing the characteristics of electric storage resources can lead to more efficient dispatch and utilization of resources. In addition, City of New York, Energy Storage Association, NYISO, Sunrun, and Tesla/SolarCity suggest that the NOPR reforms will lead to lower

³⁰ See, e.g., IRC Comments at 2; ISO-NE Comments at 1, 4; NYISO Comments at 2; SPP Comments at 1-2.

³¹ See CAISO Comments at 3.

³² See, e.g., Dominion Comments at 4-5; Energy Storage Association Comments at 4 (citing Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources, State-of-Charge: Massachusetts Energy Storage Initiative Study (Sept. 2016), available at http://www.mass.gov/eea/docs/doer/state-of-charge-report.pdf); Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 6; IRC Comments at 2; ISO-NE Comments at 1; Starwood Energy Comments at 3; TechNet Comments at 1; Telsa/SolarCity Comments at 1.

costs for consumers,³³ while Silicon Valley Leadership Group and Starwood Energy state that use of electric storage resources will reduce greenhouse gas emissions.³⁴ Institute for Policy Integrity explains that new storage technologies can reduce dependence on expensive transmission infrastructure.³⁵ Commenters also argue that electric storage resources can improve grid "resiliency" in the event of a significant weather emergency.³⁶

18. EPSA/PJM Power Providers argue that, because there are many unanswered questions (such as the cost of software changes), the Commission should not develop generic requirements for the RTOs/ISOs in a final rule without a clear record that such specification will not constrain any particular region.³⁷

B. Commission Determination

19. For the reasons discussed below, we find that existing RTO/ISO market rules are unjust and unreasonable in light of barriers that they present to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, thereby reducing competition and

³³ See City of New York Comments at 4; Energy Storage Association Comments at 4; NYISO Comments at 2; Sunrun Comments at 1; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 2, 5.

³⁴ See Silicon Valley Leadership Group Comments at 1; Starwood Energy Comments at 3.

³⁵ See Institute for Policy Integrity Comments at 3.

³⁶ See Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 3; Institute for Policy Integrity Comments at 3; IRC Comments at 2; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 17; SPP Comments at 2.

³⁷ EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 12-13.

failing to ensure just and reasonable rates. Specifically, RTO/ISO market rules that limit the services that electric storage resources are technically capable of providing may create barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets. Barriers also exist in the RTOs/ISOs that have already adopted market rules that provide for the participation of electric storage resources because these participation models were often designed for electric storage resources with very specific characteristics (such as pumped-hydro resources or other electric storage resources with a maximum run-time that is less than one hour), thus limiting electric storage resources from providing the full range of services they are technically capable of providing.

- 20. These barriers adversely affect competition in the RTO/ISO markets by limiting the participation of resources that are technically capable of providing services in those markets. Moreover, these barriers reduce competition and market efficiency by inhibiting developers' incentives to design their electric storage resources to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that these resources could otherwise provide. We find that better integration of electric storage resources into the RTO/ISO markets is necessary to enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that these markets produce just and reasonable rates. Accordingly, as discussed further below, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariffs to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets.
- 21. While we agree with EPSA/PJM Power Providers that it is necessary to provide each RTO/ISO with flexibility in the manner it incorporates certain aspects of these reforms into its tariff as explained below, we find that the record in this proceeding

provides sufficient basis for requiring the generic requirements discussed herein.

IV. <u>Discussion</u>

A. <u>Definition of Electric Storage Resource</u>

1. NOPR Proposal

22. For the purpose of defining the set of resources for which an RTO/ISO must create a participation model, in the NOPR, the Commission proposed to define an electric storage resource as "a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electricity back to the grid regardless of where the resource is located on the electrical system." The Commission stated that these resources include all types of electric storage technologies, regardless of their size, storage medium (e.g., batteries, flywheels, compressed air, pumped-hydro, etc.), or whether the resource is located on the interstate grid or on a distribution system.

2. Comments

23. The comments received on the proposed definition of electric storage resources generally ask the Commission to modify or clarify the definition but disagree on how the Commission should do so. Some commenters ask the Commission to modify or clarify the definition of electric storage resource to broaden its application. For example, they raise concerns with how the Commission's proposed definition treats behind-the-meter resources. First, Energy Storage Association argues that the NOPR definition only

³⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 10.

applies to resources connected directly to the transmission or distribution system and, therefore, asks the Commission to extend these reforms to behind-the-meter electric storage resources that net inject energy to the grid. Second, some commenters ask that the Commission extend the NOPR reforms to behind-the-meter resources that do not inject power back to the grid. Advanced Microgrid Solutions and Stem note that the definition of an electric storage resource in the NOPR implies that all such resources will inject electricity back to the grid. However, Advanced Microgrid Solutions and Stem argue that behind-the-meter electric storage resources can provide value to the grid even when they do not inject electricity to the grid. Advanced Microgrid Solutions and Stem thus ask the Commission to clarify that behind-the-meter electric storage resources that do not inject electricity back to the grid can use the participation model for electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets.

24. Advanced Energy Economy expresses a related concern, arguing that the Commission's proposed definition of an electric storage resource does not capture all energy storage technologies, such as thermal and kinetic storage; storage co-located with generation resources (including variable resources) on the transmission grid; and other types of technologies that can perform an energy storage function but may not physically export electricity to the wholesale grid. Advanced Energy Economy suggests that the

³⁹ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 7, 21-22.

⁴⁰ See Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 18-20; Advanced Microgrid Solutions Comments at 10; Stem Comments at 6.

Commission remedy this concern by revising the definition of an electric storage resource to include all storage technologies that are capable of converting electric energy into stored energy and later supplying electric energy (either back to the grid or to a host customer or site).

25. In contrast, other commenters recommend that the Commission narrow its proposed definition of an electric storage resource. All Robert Borlick urges the Commission to limit the application of its proposed reforms to those electric storage resources that directly connect to transmission systems controlled by RTOs/ISOs, citing potential adverse impacts of distribution-interconnected resources on power systems. Xcel Energy Services also suggests that the proposed reforms should apply only to electric storage resources connected to the transmission system. While TAPS strongly supports facilitating the participation of transmission-interconnected storage and believes that distribution-interconnected storage could yield benefits to the RTO/ISO markets, it cautions that distribution-interconnected storage should comply with distribution utility tariffs and rates for delivery of energy between the transmission system and the resource's point of interconnection to the distribution system (including provisions related to losses and other terms and conditions of service), both for the resource's sales

⁴¹ See Robert Borlick Comments at 2; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 3-4.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

to the RTO/ISO markets *and* the resource's purchases of energy from the RTO/ISO markets.⁴²

26. Several commenters address the implications of the proposed definition for state and federal jurisdiction. Connecticut State Entities state that they welcome the Commission's efforts to fully provide resources access to wholesale electric markets without changing existing state and federal jurisdiction.⁴³ Some commenters express concerns regarding the jurisdictional implications of including electric storage resources connected at the distribution level in the definition of an electric storage resource.⁴⁴ NARUC asserts that state authority must remain intact under any final rule. Organization of MISO States supports the NOPR on the condition that state and other regulatory jurisdiction is maintained. APPA/NRECA, Maryland and New Jersey Commissions, MISO Transmission Owners, and NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners state that RTO/ISO market rules and Commission policy must maintain the ability of state and local authorities to regulate existing and future electric storage resources that interconnect at the distribution level or behind a customer meter and provide retail- or distribution-level services without the Commission considering such action as a barrier

⁴² See TAPS Comments at 28-29.

⁴³ See Connecticut State Entities Comments at 7.

⁴⁴ See APPA/NRECA Comments at 3-4; Maryland and New Jersey Commissions Comments at 3; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 9; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 6; NARUC Comments at 4; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 4; Organization of MISO States Comments at 1-2.

to participation in wholesale markets. This request includes Commission confirmation of state jurisdiction over matters such as distribution system design, interconnection to the distribution system, distribution system operations, distribution power quality, the ability of electric storage resources to participate in programs at the distribution level, and distribution system costs. APPA/NRECA believe that the NOPR confines the proposed reforms to the RTO/ISO markets and urge the Commission to reject requests to expand the scope of this final rule beyond that limited scope.

- 27. DTE Electric/Consumers Energy and MISO Transmission Owners assert that the Commission should allow states to decide whether electric storage resources in their state that are located on the distribution system or behind a retail meter are permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through the electric storage resource participation model proposed in the NOPR. Massachusetts Municipal Electric asks the Commission to clarify that its proposed reforms will enable, but not compel, electric storage resources located behind the meter to participate in the RTO/ISO markets. 46
- 28. In contrast, Genbright argues that the Commission must not only assert primary jurisdiction over electric storage resources' sales of services in the RTO/ISO markets but also ensure that RTOs/ISOs do not rely on *ad hoc* interpretations of retail rules and

⁴⁵ See DTE Electric/Consumers Energy Comments at 7; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 4, 7.

⁴⁶ See Massachusetts Municipal Electric Comments at 2.

regulations to erect barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in those markets.⁴⁷

3. <u>Commission Determination</u>

29. Consistent with the NOPR proposal, in this Final Rule, we revise section 35.38(b) of the Commission's regulations to define an electric storage resource as "a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid." We find that removing the phrase "regardless of where the resource is located on the electrical system" from the NOPR proposal and instead clarifying where an electric storage resources may be located does not change the applicability of the definition and will also provide a more adaptable definition for other Commission actions. 48 We clarify that this definition is intended to cover electric storage resources capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid, regardless of their storage medium (e.g., batteries, flywheels, compressed air, and pumped-hydro). Additionally, consistent with the NOPR proposal, we clarify that electric storage resources located on the interstate transmission system, on a distribution system, or behind the meter fall under this definition, subject to the additional clarifications provided below. By including all

⁴⁷ See Genbright Comments at 3-4.

⁴⁸ See, e.g., Essential Reliability Services and the Evolving Bulk-Power System—Primary Frequency Response, Final Rule, Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, 162 FERC ¶ 61,128 (2018), Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718, Notice of Inquiry, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 35,576 (2016).

electric storage technologies, and by allowing resources that are interconnected to the transmission system, distribution system, or behind the meter to use the participation model for electric storage resources, we are ensuring that the market rules will not be designed for any particular electric storage technology.

- 30. We observe that an electric storage resource that injects electric energy back to the grid for purposes of participating in an RTO/ISO market engages in a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce.⁴⁹ As a result, such an electric storage resource must fulfill certain responsibilities set forth in the FPA and the Commission's rules and regulations.⁵⁰
- 31. We disagree with commenters who assert that the definition of an electric storage resource should be limited to those electric storage resources that are interconnected to the transmission system. Electric storage resources interconnected to the distribution system are already participating in the RTO/ISO markets,⁵¹ and they should continue to

⁴⁹ We note that injections of electric energy back to the grid do not necessarily trigger the Commission's jurisdiction. *See Sun Edison LLC*, 129 FERC ¶ 61,146 (2009), *reh'g granted on other grounds*, 131 FERC ¶ 61,213 (2010) (the Commission's jurisdiction would arise only when a facility operating under a state net metering program produces more power than it consumes over the relevant netting period); *MidAmerican Energy Co.*, 94 FERC ¶ 61,340 (2001).

⁵⁰ Examples of such responsibilities include filing rates under FPA section 205 (potentially including obtaining market-based rate authority); submitting FPA sections 203 and 204 filings related to corporate mergers and other activities; and fulfilling FPA section 301 accounting obligations and FPA section 305(b) interlocking directorate obligations. *See* 16 U.S.C. §§ 824b, 824c, 824d, 825, 825d(b).

⁵¹ See, e.g., PJM Interconnection L.L.C., 149 FERC \P 61,185 (2014), order on reh'g, 151 FERC \P 61,231 (2015).

be able to do so. Such a limitation also would be inconsistent with the participation of other types of resources because various types of traditional generation and demand-side resources that are not connected directly to the transmission system currently participate in the RTO/ISO markets.

32. Some commenters argue that the Commission should broaden its definition of an electric storage resource to apply to behind-the-meter resources that do not inject electricity onto the grid. We decline to do so. Through this Final Rule, we seek to ensure that RTO/ISO market rules account for the unique physical and operational characteristic of electric storage resources, namely their bidirectional capability to both inject energy to the grid and receive energy from it. Expanding the definition of an electric storage resource to include behind-the-meter resources that do not inject electric energy onto the grid would not advance this purpose because they would not be injecting electric energy back to the grid. In addition, we have previously found that behind-themeter resources that do not inject electric energy onto the grid are considered demand response.⁵² There are existing participation models for demand response that already have well-established rules that are in some cases unique to demand response and we do not want the requirements of this Final Rule to disrupt or otherwise conflict with those rules.⁵³

⁵² See ISO New England Inc., 138 FERC \P 61,042, at PP 76-86, reh'g denied, 139 FERC \P 61,116, at PP 10-12, 26-31 (2012).

⁵³ Participation by demand response resources in an RTO/ISO market does not involve a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce. *See* (*continued* ...)

- 33. We also clarify that, by "capable of ... later injection of electric energy back to the grid," we mean that the electric storage resource is both physically designed and configured to inject electric energy back onto the grid and, as relevant, is contractually permitted to do so (e.g., per the interconnection agreement between an electric storage resource that is interconnected on a distribution system or behind-the-meter with the distribution utility to which it is interconnected). Consequently, the definition of an electric storage resource excludes a resource that is either (1) physically incapable of injecting electric energy back onto the grid due to its design or configuration or (2) contractually barred from injecting electric energy back onto the grid.
- 34. While we decline in this Final Rule to expand the definition of an electric storage resource to include behind-the-meter resources that do not inject electric energy onto the grid, we note that the definition in this Final Rule establishes the minimum set of resources that each RTO/ISO must consider when developing an electric storage resource participation model to comply with this Final Rule. It does not preclude any RTO/ISO from proposing a broader definition for electric storage resources through a separate FPA section 205 filing.⁵⁴

EnergyConnect, Inc., 130 FERC ¶ 61,031, at P 30 (2010); see also FERC v. Elec. Power Supply Ass'n, 136 S.Ct. 760 (2016) (RTO/ISO rules governing participation of demand response resources in the RTO/ISO markets are practices that directly affect rates in those markets.).

⁵⁴ See 16 U.S.C. § 824d. We acknowledge that the definition of an electric storage resource that we adopt in this Final Rule may differ from existing, Commission-accepted practices. For example, in CAISO, a stand-alone electric storage resource or an aggregation of behind-the-meter electric storage resources that cannot or does not inject (continued ...)

35. Further, this Final Rule requires each RTO/ISO to implement market rules applicable to electric storage resources, as defined herein, that voluntarily seek to participate in the RTO/ISO markets; this Final Rule does not require electric storage resources to participate in those markets. The Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over the wholesale markets and the criteria for participation in those markets, including the wholesale market rules for participation of resources connected at or below distribution-level voltages. We also understand that numerous resources connected to the distribution system participate in the RTO/ISO markets today. Under these circumstances, we are not persuaded to grant the MISO Transmission Owners' and DTE Electric/Consumers Energy's request that the Commission allow states to decide whether electric storage resources in their state that are located behind a retail meter or on the

electric energy back to the grid is able to use CAISO's participation model for electric storage resources (the Non-Generator Resource model). *See California Indep. Sys. Operator Corp.*, 132 FERC ¶ 61,211 (2010). This Final Rule does not require each RTO/ISO to limit the applicability of its existing participation models to electric storage resources as they are defined in this Final Rule or prevent them from arguing on compliance why its Commission-accepted tariff complies with the requirements of this Final Rule.

CleanLight Power, L.L.C. and Public Service Electric and Gas Company); PJM Manual 14C, § 1.3 (discussing requirements of Wholesale Market Participation Agreements).

⁵⁵ See FERC v. Elec. Power Supply Ass'n, 136 S.Ct. 760 (2016); see also Advanced Energy Economy, 161 FERC \P 61,245, at PP 59-60 (2017).

⁵⁶ See, e.g., Southern California Edison Co., Docket No. ER10-1356-000 (2010) (accepting Southern California Edison's Wholesale Distribution Access Tariff); *PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.*, Docket No. ER11-3148-000 (May 13, 2011) (delegated letter order) (accepting Wholesale Market Participation Agreement among PJM,

distribution system are permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through the electric storage resource participation model.

36. That said, we emphasize the ongoing, vital role of the states with respect to the development and operation of electric storage resources. Such state responsibilities include, among other things, retail services and matters related to the distribution system, including design, operations, power quality, reliability, and system costs. We add that nothing in this Final Rule is intended to affect or implicate the responsibilities of distribution utilities to maintain the safety and the reliability of the distribution system or their use of electric storage resources on their systems.

B. Creation of a Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources

1. Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources

a. NOPR Proposal

37. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in RTO/ISO markets.⁵⁷ The Commission further proposed that the electric storage resource participation model satisfy certain requirements to accommodate the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources.⁵⁸

⁵⁷ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶32,718 at P 26.

⁵⁸ See id. P 28.

- 32 -

b. <u>Comments</u>

38. Many commenters support the Commission's proposal to require each RTO/ISO to create a participation model for electric storage resources.⁵⁹ These commenters agree that there is a need to recognize the physical, technical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources,⁶⁰ remove artificial barriers to electric storage resource participation in the RTO/ISO markets,⁶¹ and allow electric storage resources to be adequately and fairly compensated for the services they provide.⁶² Commenters argue that these reforms will provide system and consumer benefits⁶³ (including increased competition and lower costs to consumers,⁶⁴ efficiency,⁶⁵ and system reliability

⁵⁹ See, e.g., Advanced Microgrid Solutions Comments at 3; AES Companies Comments at 5, 14; Brookfield Renewable Comments at 2; CAISO Comments at 3-4; EEI Comments at 3-4; Energy Storage Association Comments at 1, 4-5; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 4, 11; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 13-14; NYISO Comments at 5.

⁶⁰ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 22-24; AES Companies Comments at 3; APPA/NRECA Comments at 11; CAISO Comments at 3; City of New York Comments at 3; Research Scientists Comments at 2.

⁶¹ See, e.g., City of New York Comments at 3; Energy Storage Association Comments at 5; Exelon Comments at 4; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 2-3.

⁶² See, e.g., Dominion Comments at 4-5; Massachusetts Municipal Electric Comments at 2; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 2-3.

⁶³ See, e.g., Alevo Comments at 4-6; NESCOE Comments at 3; Ohio Commission Comments at 4.

⁶⁴ See, e.g., Beacon Power Comments at 2, 6; City of New York Comments at 3-4; EPRI Comments at 2; NESCOE Comments at 3; Union of Concerned Scientists Comments at 7.

benefits⁶⁶) and will improve air quality.⁶⁷

- 39. Some commenters, however, condition their support for the Commission's proposed electric storage resource participation model. For example, EEI expresses support contingent on the proposed participation model ensuring adequate reliability, not causing undue discrimination to other market participants, and addressing cost allocation and double recovery. Similarly, Exelon emphasizes that the Commission should avoid approving tariff changes that may have a detrimental effect on reliability, safety, or markets. Xcel Energy Services supports the participation model if it is feasible and cost-effective. According to EPSA/PJM Power Providers, any initiatives or rules to facilitate participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets must be compatible with, and support, the extensive system of conventional resources that make up the backbone of the bulk power system and implementation of a participation model for electric storage resources must preserve efficient operational and investment signals for all resources.
- 40. Whether or not they support the Commission's proposal to require each RTO/ISO to establish a participation model for electric storage resources, many commenters caution

⁶⁵ See EPRI Comments at 8-9; NESCOE Comments at 5.

⁶⁶ See, e.g., EPRI Comments at 2; Institute for Policy Integrity Comments at 4; NESCOE Comments at 5.

⁶⁷ See City of New York Comments at 3-4.

⁶⁸ See, e.g., EEI Comments at 4-6; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 3-4; Exelon Comments at 5-6, 12; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 14-15.

against granting undue preference in the markets to electric storage resources. For example, Independent Energy Producers Association argues that the electric storage resource participation model should impose comparable performance obligations (such as penalties for non-performance, schedule deviations, and replacement obligations) to those required of other resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets. Similarly, several commenters contend that the Commission should focus on the technical requirements of the electric system and remain neutral about how or from which technology services are provided. For example, Massachusetts State Entities urge the Commission to ensure that participation is not limited based on type, vintage, ownership, business model, or other criteria unrelated to how well a particular resource satisfies the physical and operational parameters of a defined electric market or service.

41. Commenters also address whether the Commission should provide regional flexibility for each RTO/ISO to comply with the rule by proposing requirements that accommodate electric storage resources that comport to their unique circumstances. Several commenters contend that regional flexibility is appropriate, with EEI, EPSA/PJM Power Providers, and Exelon noting that the proposed electric storage

⁶⁹ See, e.g., Avangrid Comments at 5; EEI Comments at 5; ELCON Comments at 3; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 4, 7-8; Exelon Comments at 2, 12; Independent Energy Producers Association Comments at 4; New York Utility Intervention Unit Comments at 3.

⁷⁰ See, e.g., American Petroleum Institute Comments at 2-4; EEI Comments at 6-7; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 7-8; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 8-9; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 7; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 2-3, 4-5.

resource participation model provides such flexibility.⁷¹ Connecticut State Entities suggest that the Commission should create threshold standards for all RTOs/ISOs but allow regional variations for cost allocation and rate design.⁷²

- 42. Other commenters argue that the Commission should defer to the RTOs/ISOs to develop the detailed participation rules that take into account the unique needs of each market.⁷³
- 43. For example, ISO-NE urges the Commission to avoid a one-size-fits-all approach. Specifically, ISO-NE is concerned that (1) the focus on participation models and market participant types rather than on services is inconsistent with its core market design objective of technology neutrality and (2) the rulemaking could require ISO-NE to fundamentally change this technology-neutral approach to the detriment of its markets. ISO-NE argues that adopting participation models could allow resource owners to engage in participation model "shopping," a form of tariff rule arbitrage.
- 44. Given these concerns, ISO-NE asks the Commission to provide only general guidance to RTOs/ISOs, requiring them to (1) examine the requirements associated with providing each wholesale service in their markets and (2) assess whether and how to

⁷¹ See, e.g., APPA/NRECA Comments at 11; EEI Comments at 4; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 11-12; Exelon Comments at 2; NESCOE Comments at 2-3, 9.

⁷² See Connecticut State Entities Comments at 6.

⁷³ See, e.g., Duke Energy Comments at 3; ISO-NE Comments at 10-14; MISO Comments at 2; National Hydropower Association Comments at 4.

revise those requirements to better accommodate the participation of electric storage resources. ISO-NE also asks the Commission to clarify that RTOs/ISOs are not required to adopt a specific participation model construct but instead may propose to incorporate the participation of electric storage resources in their markets in a manner consistent with the RTO's/ISO's existing market constructs.

- 45. Similarly, while NESCOE supports the intent of the NOPR, it observes that further information is required on whether each RTO/ISO could modify its existing participation model(s) to address any barrier to the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, rather than being required to create a new participation model. TeMix also questions the need for a new participation model for electric storage resources, arguing that such a participation model will only add to the complexity of the RTO/ISO markets. TeMix instead proposes that the Commission encourage reform of retail energy and distribution tariffs and require the RTOs/ISOs to frequently post wholesale bids and offers at the retail/wholesale interface to better allow retail customers to respond to the wholesale price of electricity.
- 46. Some commenters request that the Commission establish detailed requirements for a participation model for electric storage resources.⁷⁶ For example, Energy Storage

⁷⁴ See NESCOE Comments at 2, 5.

⁷⁵ See TeMix Comments at 2-3, 4-5.

⁷⁶ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 8; Starwood Energy Comments at 7.

Association argues that prescriptive requirements for the proposed electric storage resource participation model are necessary to ensure that the participation model is adequately defined. Starwood Energy requests that the Commission require uniform participation models across all of the RTOs/ISOs to ensure that all electric storage resources have the same opportunity to fully participate in the RTO/ISO markets, including the capacity markets, regardless of the region in which they are located. EPRI suggests that the definition of a participation model include, in addition to a set of tariff provisions, the set of software provisions required to represent the physical and operational characteristics of the particular resource.⁷⁷

47. Several commenters suggest that the participation model for electric storage resources should account for the physical and operational differences among electric storage technologies because different electric storage resources (such as pumped-hydro) have different operating characteristics, provide different services, and are not intended to serve the same roles within the electric grid. EPRI suggests that, given the current form of the day-ahead and real-time energy markets, there may need to be two participation models for electric storage resources. EPRI explains that one participation model would be for resources whose transition time from charge to

⁷⁷ See EPRI Comments at 2-3.

⁷⁸ See, e.g., Brookfield Renewable Comments at 3; Dominion Comments at 4-5; DTE Electric/Consumers Energy Comments at 4-5; National Hydropower Association Comments at 4; NYPA Comments at 5; San Diego Water Comments at 12-13, 15.

⁷⁹ See EPRI Comments at 7-8.

discharge, or vice versa, exceeds the market interval (e.g., pumped-hydro and compressed-air) with the operational mode of these resources determined by the RTO's/ISO's security constrained unit commitment model. EPRI further explains that the second participation model would be for resources that transition from charge to discharge, or vice versa, within the market interval (e.g., batteries and flywheels). EPRI states that it is likely these resources can be online and responsive at zero power output, and therefore do not need to be committed to a particular mode of operation, and can be dispatched as an injector or withdrawer of power.

48. Other commenters discuss the need to distinguish between electric storage resources based on their point of interconnection with the grid. Organization of MISO States recommends that electric storage resource participation models differentiate between transmission-interconnected electric storage resources and distribution-interconnected electric storage resources due to the interplay and potential overlap between wholesale and retail rates for energy use of retail customers. Stem suggests that, in developing their electric storage resource participation models, RTOs/ISOs should distinguish between behind-the-meter and front-of-the-meter electric storage resources, as well as single site and aggregated resources, to ensure that each resource is being used to its full technical capabilities and behind-the-meter resources are not precluded from the most efficient use cases.

⁸⁰ See Organization of MISO States Comments at 3; Stem Comments at 2-3; TeMix Comments at 3.

49. Two RTOs/ISOs request clarifications with respect to the Commission's proposal to require them to establish a participation model for electric storage resources. S1 ISO-NE and PJM want to ensure that the requirement that they establish a participation model for electric storage resources does not preclude electric storage resources participating in their markets from using other participation models (such as demand response or Alternative Technology Regulation Resource). PJM also argues that its current rules for electric storage resources should be carried forward because it allows electric storage resources to provide all services that they are capable of providing in a manner comparable to generation resources of similar size and with similar operational characteristics.

⁸¹ See ISO-NE Comments at 29-30; PJM Comments at 6, 9, 11.

50. Finally, several commenters share information on existing RTO/ISO initiatives to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in their markets.⁸²

California Commission notes that, in CAISO, most of the NOPR proposals are either already in place or under development.⁸³ Stem suggests that CAISO's current models, while incomplete, are the best place to start when designing a participation model for electric storage resources.⁸⁴

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

- 51. In this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal and add section 35.28(g)(9)(i) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in the RTO/ISO markets. We find that requiring each RTO/ISO to create a participation model that recognizes the unique characteristics of electric storage resources will help eliminate barriers to their participation in the RTO/ISO markets, which will enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that these markets produce just and reasonable rates.
- 52. In response to concerns that the creation of a participation model for electric storage resources may undermine market designs that are based on services provided rather than

⁸² See, e.g., NYISO Comments at 4; MISO Comments at 3.

⁸³ See California Commission Comments at 3.

⁸⁴ See Stem Comments at 2-3.

resource type, we find that this Final Rule does not preclude an RTO/ISO from structuring its markets based on the technical requirements that a resource must meet to provide needed services. It simply requires that each RTO/ISO establish a participation model that ensures eligibility to participate in the RTO/ISO markets in a way that recognizes the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources. As such, this Final Rule does not grant undue preference to electric storage resources as a group or to specific electric storage technologies; rather, it removes barriers to their participation, enhancing competition among all resources that are technically capable of providing wholesale services. As noted above, resources that use the participation model required by this Final Rule must fulfill certain responsibilities set forth in the FPA and the Commission's rules and regulations. Additionally, resources that use this participation model will be compensated for the wholesale services they provide in the same manner as other resources that provide these services.

53. With respect to commenters' arguments concerning regional flexibility in implementation, we find that this Final Rule strikes the appropriate balance between allowing each RTO/ISO to adopt market rules that complement its unique market design and providing sufficiently detailed requirements to ensure that each RTO/ISO eliminates barriers to electric storage resource participation in its markets. Specifically, this Final Rule does not adopt prescriptive, uniform market rules to which each RTO/ISO must adhere. Instead, the regulations establish minimum requirements (for, among other

⁸⁵ *See supra* P 30.

things, bidding parameters and resource size) that each RTO/ISO must meet when proposing market rules to comply with this Final Rule, permitting each RTO/ISO to propose market rules that comply with these minimum requirements in the way that best suits its individual market design. We therefore decline to adopt additional or more prescriptive requirements for the participation model at this time.

- 54. We are not convinced that separate participation models are necessary for different types of electric storage resources (e.g., slower, faster, or aggregated) because we believe that the physical differences between electric storage resources can be represented by complying with the requirements for bidding parameters that are discussed below and that a single participation model can be designed to be flexible enough to accommodate any type of electric storage resource. However, to the extent an RTO/ISO seeks to include in its tariff additional market rules that accommodate electric storage resources with specific physical and operational characteristics, the RTO/ISO may propose such revisions to its tariff through a separate FPA section 205 filing.⁸⁷
- 55. We agree with CAISO that electric storage resources currently participate in the

Metering and Accounting Practices for Charging Energy section. See infra P 317.

⁸⁶ For example, we acknowledge that it may be necessary in some markets to create market rules that differentiate between electric storage resources interconnected to the grid at different points (i.e., at the transmission system, the distribution system, or behind-the-meter). Such differences could include different metering and accounting practices for certain electric storage resources, as discussed in the

⁸⁷ See 16 U.S.C. § 824d.

RTO/ISO markets in a variety of ways and may use a variety of existing participation models. We clarify that, where an RTO/ISO already has a separate participation model that electric storage resources may use (such as participation models for pumped-hydro resources or demand response), we are not requiring the RTO/ISO to consolidate that participation model with the participation model for electric storage resources required by this Final Rule. However, to the extent an RTO/ISO modifies existing participation models to comply with this Final Rule, it must ensure that those resulting participation models are available for all types of electric storage resources and comply with all of the other requirements set forth in this Final Rule.

56. While the participation model for electric storage resources should be designed to facilitate the participation of all types of electric storage technologies, we do not require all electric storage resources to use that participation model. To that end, we clarify that this Final Rule does not preclude electric storage resources from continuing to participate in demand response programs, as Alternative Technology Regulation Resources in ISO-NE, or under other participation models in any RTO/ISO in which they are eligible to participate. However, we clarify that, under section 35.28(g)(9) of the Commission's regulations, section 35.28(g)(9)(i) applies to resources using the participation model for electric storage resources and section 35.28(g)(9)(ii) applies to all electric storage resources that fall under the definition established in this Final Rule. Therefore, electric storage resources that may elect not to use the participation model for electric storage resources would still be able to pay the wholesale LMP for the electric energy they purchase from the RTO/ISO markets and then resell back to those markets.

2. <u>Qualification Criteria for the Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources</u>

a. NOPR Proposal

57. To ensure that the proposed participation model for electric storage resources will facilitate the participation of both existing and future electric storage resource technologies in the RTO/ISO markets, the Commission proposed that each RTO/ISO define the criteria in its tariff that a resource must meet to qualify to use the participation model for electric storage resources (i.e., qualification criteria).⁸⁸ The Commission stated that these qualification criteria must be based on the physical and operational attributes of electric storage resources, must not limit participation to any particular type of electric storage resource or other technology, and must ensure that the RTO/ISO is able to dispatch a resource in a way that recognizes its physical constraints and optimizes its benefits to the RTO/ISO. The Commission invited comment on whether it should establish qualification criteria that each RTO/ISO must adopt and, if so, what specific criteria the Commission should require. The Commission explained that it was not proposing to limit the use of the electric storage resource participation model to electric storage resources as defined in the NOPR, acknowledging that there may be other types of resources whose physical and operational characteristics could qualify under the proposed participation model.⁸⁹

⁸⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stat. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 29.

⁸⁹ See id. P 30.

b. <u>Comments</u>

- 58. While several commenters support providing each RTO/ISO with flexibility to propose appropriate qualification criteria on compliance with this Final Rule, ⁹⁰ a few commenters suggest that the Commission require each RTO/ISO to propose qualification criteria that meet certain standards. ⁹¹ For example, Exelon, Imperial Irrigation District, and Magnum assert that qualification criteria should not limit participation to certain types of electric storage resources. Imperial Irrigation District argues that the qualification criteria for a resource to use the electric storage resource participation model should not be more specific than the physical and operational attributes cited in the NOPR (i.e., the ability to both charge and discharge energy). EPRI states that, if an RTO/ISO adopts two different participation models for electric storage resources, one for slower responding resources and one for faster responding resources, then that RTO/ISO may need to establish different qualification criteria for each electric storage resource participation model.
- 59. Both MISO and SPP point to existing qualification criteria for providing certain services in their markets that they argue should apply to resources that use the electric

⁹⁰ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 15-16; Bonneville Comments at 4; CAISO Comments at 4-5; MISO Comments at 9-10; NESCOE Comments at 9; PG&E Comments at 7; SoCal Edison Comments at 15-16.

⁹¹ See, e.g., EPRI Comments at 7-8; Exelon Comments at 4; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 6-7; Magnum Comments at 8.

storage resource participation model to provide those services. MISO notes that, for certain services, a resource must be able to sustain provision of the service for the minimum amount of time (e.g., contingency reserves have a 90-minute replenishment time and capacity resources must be capable of providing four hours of continuous energy). SPP makes similar arguments, noting that some products like regulation may have shorter output sustainability requirements than other products like energy.

60. In addition to qualification criteria, Fluidic argues that RTOs/ISOs should modify their protocols and procedures to include a uniform accrediting process for determining

c. Commission Determination

the capacity of an electric storage resource for participation in their markets.⁹³

61. To implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i) of the Commission's regulations for a participation model for electric storage resources, in this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal to require each RTO/ISO to define in its tariff the criteria that a resource must meet to use the participation model for electric storage resources (i.e., qualification criteria). As proposed in the NOPR, these criteria must be based on the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, such as their ability to both receive and inject electric energy, must not limit participation under the electric storage resource participation model to any particular type of electric storage resource or other technology and must ensure that the RTO/ISO is able to dispatch a

⁹² See MISO Comments at 9-10; SPP Comments at 4.

⁹³ See Fluidic Comments at 4.

resource in a way that recognizes its physical and operational characteristics and optimizes its benefits to the RTO/ISO. We find that such criteria are necessary to ensure that the electric storage resource participation model will accommodate both existing and future technologies.

- 62. Because the qualification criteria must not limit participation to any particular technology and instead will be based on the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, these criteria will allow new electric storage resource technologies to participate in the RTO/ISO markets without the need for additional tariff revisions to explicitly permit their participation. This focus on the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources rather than the specific technology in use will remove barriers to entry for existing and future technologies, which will enhance competition in the RTO/ISO markets and, in turn, help to ensure that these markets produce just and reasonable rates. In addition, requiring each RTO/ISO to define in its tariff qualification criteria will provide greater certainty about which resources will be eligible to use the electric storage resource participation model in each RTO/ISO.
- 63. Also, as proposed in the NOPR, we provide each RTO/ISO with flexibility to propose qualification criteria that best suit its proposed participation model for electric storage resources. We decline to adopt Imperial Irrigation District's suggestion to specify that the qualification criteria for a resource to use the electric storage resource participation model should be limited to the physical and operational characteristics cited in the definition proposed in the NOPR (i.e., the ability to both charge and discharge

energy). We agree that the qualification criteria should not present barriers to the participation of any electric storage resource in the RTO/ISO markets. As long as any qualification criteria that the RTOs/ISOs propose do not create such barriers and are inclusive of, at a minimum, those resources set forth under the definition of electric storage resources in this NOPR, then we do not find that it is necessary to place additional limitations on any qualification criteria that the RTOs/ISOs may propose in response to this Final Rule.

64. In response to Fluidic, we clarify that the qualification criteria should not include a uniform accrediting process to determine the capacity of an electric storage resource. As discussed in the Eligibility to Provide all Capacity, Energy, and Ancillary Services section, ⁹⁴ we understand that, like all other market participants, resources using the participation model for electric storage resources will be subject to testing procedures to determine their technical ability to provide a particular service and that this testing will be done based on the capacity that the resource wants to offer into the RTO/ISO markets.

65. With respect to MISO's and SPP's comments, we note that, based on our understanding, the requirements that MISO and SPP characterize as qualification criteria are technical requirements to provide a particular wholesale service. Such technical

requirements should not be used as qualification criteria to determine whether a resource

may use the participation model for electric storage resources. Rather, MISO and SPP

would continue to use these requirements to determine whether individual resources

⁹⁴ See infra P 80.

using the participation model for electric storage resources are eligible to provide specific services.

3. Relationship between Electric Storage Resource Participation Model and Existing Market Rules

a. NOPR Proposal

additions or modifications to its existing tariff provisions to specify: (1) whether resources that qualify to use the participation model for electric storage resources will participate in the RTO/ISO markets through existing or new market participation agreements; and (2) whether particular existing market rules apply to resources participating under the electric storage resource participation model.⁹⁵

b. <u>Comments</u>

67. CAISO supports the NOPR proposal.⁹⁶ In contrast, ISO-NE requests that the Commission omit any specific directive about market participation agreements from a final rule.⁹⁷ ISO-NE notes that, in New England, all market participants use the same Market Participation Service Agreement regardless of resource type, and it does not interpret the NOPR to preclude its continued use of a single agreement. SPP remains silent as to whether it supports the NOPR proposal but states that it will modify both its

⁹⁵ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶32,718 at P 31.

⁹⁶ See CAISO Comments at 5.

⁹⁷ See ISO-NE Comments at 56.

tariff and market protocols to accommodate the participation of electric storage resources, noting that it will structure any new rules consistent with SPP balancing authority needs and requirements, while providing as much flexibility and opportunity for the participation of electric storage resources as possible.⁹⁸

c. Commission Determination

- 68. To implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i) of the Commission's regulations for a participation model for electric storage resources, in this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal to require each RTO/ISO to propose any necessary additions or modifications to its existing tariff provisions to specify: (1) whether resources that qualify to use the participation model for electric storage resources will participate in the RTO/ISO markets through existing or new market participation agreements and (2) whether particular existing market rules apply to resources participating under the electric storage resource participation model. We find that these requirements are necessary to provide certainty to resources using the electric storage resource participation model about the market rules that will govern their participation in each RTO/ISO market, thus removing barriers to their participation.
- 69. With respect to ISO-NE's concern that the RTOs/ISOs should not be precluded from using a single market participation agreement for all market participants, we clarify that this Final Rule allows the use of one or more existing agreements so long as the agreement(s) complies with the terms of this Final Rule.

⁹⁸ See SPP Comments at 5.

C. <u>Eligibility of Electric Storage Resources to Participate in the RTO/ISO Markets</u>

1. <u>Eligibility to Provide all Capacity, Energy, and Ancillary Services</u>

a. NOPR Proposal

70. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to modify its tariff to establish a participation model consisting of market rules for electric storage resources under which a participating resource is eligible to provide any capacity, energy, and ancillary service that it is technically capable of providing in the RTO/ISO markets. The Commission also proposed that electric storage resources should be eligible, as part of the participation model, to provide services that the RTOs/ISOs do not procure through a market mechanism, such as blackstart service, primary frequency response service, and reactive power service, if they are technically capable. The Commission specified that, where compensation for these services exists, electric storage resources should also receive such compensation commensurate with the service provided.

⁹⁹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 48.

b. Comments

- 71. Many commenters generally support the NOPR proposal. ¹⁰⁰ In particular, several commenters support the NOPR proposal that electric storage resources, if technically capable, must be eligible to provide services that the RTOs/ISOs do not procure through a market mechanism, such as blackstart service, primary frequency response service, and reactive power service. ¹⁰¹ However, APPA/NRECA suggest that the Commission give each RTO/ISO flexibility to demonstrate on compliance the extent to which an electric storage resource may not be technically capable of providing a given service reliably, efficiently, and cost-effectively. ¹⁰²
- 72. Several of the RTOs/ISOs explain their ongoing efforts to improve the opportunities for electric storage resources to participate in their markets. MISO states that the NOPR proposal aligns with its tariff, which classifies resources based on their technical capabilities, including any technical limitations that they have. Moreover, MISO states that it is exploring the potential to enhance the opportunities for electric storage resources to participate in its markets, noting, however, that implementing such

¹⁰⁰ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 23-25; American Petroleum Institute Comments at 3; EEI Comments at 6; Mensah Comments at 2; MISO Comments at 4; National Hydropower Association Comments at 7.

¹⁰¹ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 29; APPA/NRECA Comments at 12-13; Exelon Comments at 6; National Hydropower Association Comments at 7; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 21.

¹⁰² See APPA/NRECA Comments at 13.

¹⁰³ See CAISO Comments at 5-6; MISO Comments at 4-6; NYISO Comments at 5-6; SPP Comments at 7.

enhancements may require significant changes to its settlement systems and software.

NYISO explains that, to ensure that its market rules are fully accessible to new electric storage technologies, it is working with stakeholders on a comprehensive review and reform of the rules related to electric storage resource participation in its markets.

- 73. CAISO points out that electric storage resources participating in CAISO's market have the opportunity to provide energy and ancillary services, including those that CAISO may procure outside of its market processes, if they meet the technical criteria to do so. Likewise, SPP notes that electric storage resources may provide non-market based services such as blackstart service and reactive power service if they meet the relevant technical requirements.
- 74. While ISO-NE states that it will revise its market rules in compliance with a final rule in this proceeding to eliminate barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in their markets, and SPP states that, prior to the issuance of the NOPR, it was planning to do so, ¹⁰⁴ they each request clarification of the NOPR proposal that a resource using the electric storage resource participation model must be eligible to provide any capacity, energy, and ancillary service that it is technically capable of providing.

 According to ISO-NE, electric storage resources should not receive different treatment than other technology types. ISO-NE and SPP thus ask the Commission to clarify that an electric storage resource must be eligible to provide a service only if it meets the same

¹⁰⁴ See ISO-NE Comments at 14-15; SPP Comments at 3-4, 6-7.

requisite performance requirements to provide that service that apply to all other resources.

75. Energy Storage Association contends that it is imperative that RTOs/ISOs establish a process for resources to demonstrate that they are technically capable of providing a specific service. Energy Storage Association asserts that such a process must be transparent and documented to create more certainty for new resources and to ensure that all resources that are technically capable of providing a particular service can do so.

c. Commission Determination

76. In this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal and add section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(a) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to establish market rules so that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that it is technically capable of providing, including services that the RTOs/ISOs do not procure through an organized market. To provide clarity, we add the phrase "technically capable of providing" to the regulatory text we proposed in the NOPR. To be eligible to provide capacity, energy, and ancillary services, a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources will still need to meet the technical requirements for any of the services that it wants to provide. We recognize that the RTOs/ISOs have ongoing efforts to enhance opportunities for electric storage resources to participate in their markets and encourage

¹⁰⁵ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 10-11.

each RTO/ISO to build upon these efforts when developing tariff revisions to comply with this Final Rule.

77. In response to ISO-NE, we clarify that each RTO/ISO is required to revise its tariff to allow a resource using the electric storage resource participation model to be eligible to provide a service only if that resource is technically capable of doing so. To the extent that an RTO/ISO has developed a standard set of technical requirements that all resources must meet to provide a given service, those requirements would also apply to a resource using the electric storage resource participation model if it wants to provide that service.

In response to ISO-NE and SPP, we clarify that "technically capable" of providing a service means that a resource can meet all of the technical, operational, and/or performance requirements that are necessary to reliably provide that service. For example, these requirements may include a minimum run-time to provide energy or the ability to respond to automatic generation control to provide frequency regulation.

While we are clarifying the definition of "technically capable" here, we note that we are not considering in this proceeding the requirements that determine whether resources are technically capable of providing individual wholesale services. ¹⁰⁶

¹⁰⁶ To the extent that an RTO/ISO seeks to revise its tariff provisions setting forth the technical requirements for providing any specific wholesale service, the RTO/ISO may propose such revisions to its tariff through a separate FPA section 205 filing. *See* 16 U.S.C. § 824d.

- 78. We decline to adopt APPA/NRECA's suggestion that the Commission give each RTO/ISO flexibility to demonstrate on compliance the extent to which an electric storage resource may not be technically capable of providing a given service reliably, efficiently, and cost-effectively. Each individual electric storage resource must still meet the technical requirements of providing any specific service, which would be determined by the RTO/ISO on a case-by-case basis.
- 79. As part of the requirement that each RTO/ISO develop a participation model for electric storage resources that allows electric storage resources to be eligible to provide services in all of its capacity, energy, and ancillary service markets, we also require that such participation model allow electric storage resources to be eligible to provide services that the RTOs/ISOs do not procure through an organized market mechanism (such as blackstart service, primary frequency response service, and reactive power service) if they are technically capable of providing those services. As noted above, we are not requiring each RTO/ISO to revise or revisit the technical requirements or compensation provisions of those markets.
- 80. We will not require the RTOs/ISOs to establish new processes through which a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can demonstrate that it is technically capable of providing a specific service in their markets. The RTOs/ISOs already have technical requirements and testing procedures in place to ensure that market participants can provide the particular services that they seek to provide. We expect that these requirements and procedures will apply to resources using the electric storage resource participation model, just as they do to all other resources. However, as part of

developing a participation model for electric storage resources, we encourage each RTO/ISO to consider whether any modifications or additions to the existing technical requirements, testing protocols, or other qualification procedures are necessary to facilitate the participation of electric storage resources in its markets.

2. <u>Ability to De-Rate Capacity to Meet Minimum Run-Time</u> Requirements

a. NOPR Proposal

81. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to clarify that an electric storage resource may de-rate its capacity to meet minimum runtime requirements to provide capacity or other services. In RTOs/ISOs with capacity markets, the Commission proposed that the de-rated capacity value for electric storage resources be consistent with the quantity of energy that must be offered into the dayahead energy market for resources with capacity obligations.

b. <u>Comments</u>

82. Many commenters generally support the proposal to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to clarify that an electric storage resource may de-rate its capacity to meet minimum run-time requirements to provide capacity or other services. Additionally,

¹⁰⁷ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶32,718 at P 49.

¹⁰⁸ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 16; Avangrid Comments at 5; City of New York Comments at 6-7; Energy Storage Association Comments at 8; Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 3; MISO Comments at 12; NESCOE Comments at 10-11; NRG Comments at 14-15; R Street Institute Comments at 5; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 21.

while many commenters either support or do not oppose the NOPR proposal, multiple entities request that the Commission clarify the proposal or raise specific issues about the proposal and its interaction with the RTO/ISO markets.

83. Multiple commenters raised issues surrounding performance requirements for electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets. 109 NRG agrees that the final rule should allow flexibility to de-rate in capacity markets but argues that the Commission should clarify that electric storage resources participating in capacity markets must meet the same performance metrics and criteria as other resources. American Petroleum Institute similarly supports allowing electric storage resources to de-rate to meet their capacity requirements but asserts that this should not affect the ability of these resources to participate in energy and ancillary services markets up to their nominal capacity. American Petroleum Institute also contends that electric storage resources should be subject to the same penalties for non-performance as generators and demand response. 84. Some entities raise issues about the interaction of the Commission's de-rating proposal with resource obligations. 110 Both Avangrid and EEI seek clarification that the proposal is intended to ensure that the resource's de-rate is consistent with obligations that the resource has in organized wholesale markets. AES Companies note that, because some electric storage resources may only provide wholesale services when there

¹⁰⁹ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 17; American Petroleum Institute Comments at 7-8; NRG Comments at 15.

¹¹⁰ See, e.g., Avangrid Comments at 5; EEI Comments at 7; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 21-22.

is excess available after serving retail load, their nameplate capacity may not be the same as the capacity available for wholesale services and would need to be reduced by the capacity reserved for providing retail services. Xcel Energy Services agrees that resources must reserve sufficient capacity to meet any applicable capacity obligations, but it also notes that there are regional differences in how capacity obligations are treated (e.g., CAISO does not "count" storage capacity, while other RTOs/ISOs have a four-hour run-time requirement).

85. Energy Storage Association raises concerns regarding the Commission's proposal that the de-rated capacity value for an electric storage resource should be consistent with the quantity of energy that must be offered into the day-ahead energy market for resources with capacity obligations. Energy Storage Association asserts that, because some RTOs/ISOs explicitly exempt electric storage resources from a day-ahead energy market must-offer obligation, there would not be a basis for determining a storage resource's capacity value. Instead, Energy Storage Association recommends that RTOs/ISOs assign electric storage resources a capacity value based on the quantity of energy that they can discharge continuously over the minimum run-time set by the RTO/ISO. SPP also supports the ability to de-rate the maximum capacity of an electric storage resource in order to qualify for provision of other products but requests that the Commission find that a storage resource de-rating its capacity to meet minimum run-

¹¹¹ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 8-9.

time requirements is not physical withholding. 112

86. Several other commenters consider the interaction between the Commission's derating proposal and market power issues. ¹¹³ For example, EEI asserts that the RTO/ISO or market monitor would need to verify minimum run-times and parameters to ensure that there is a reasonable basis for the de-rate. Exelon agrees that electric storage resources should be treated the same as generators providing capacity, which can de-rate, and states that the market monitor can investigate a market participant if there is a concern about an exercise of market power. NYISO also raises general concerns about market power issues, asking the Commission to consider the potential market power implications of allowing a resource to hold back energy through its offer, even if its intent is to discharge the energy at a later time.

87. Other commenters consider whether electric storage resources need to de-rate in all circumstances. 114 For example, California Energy Storage Alliance asks the Commission to confirm that shorter-duration electric storage resources should be eligible to participate in the markets and provide services, when reasonable, without de-rating. California Energy Storage Alliance argues that each RTO/ISO should make determinations regarding de-rating capacity based on market needs. CAISO contends

¹¹² See SPP Comments at 7.

¹¹³ See, e.g., EEI Comments at 7; Exelon Comments at 7; NYISO Comments at 7.

¹¹⁴ See, e.g., CAISO Comments at 6; California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 10-11.

that the Commission should not require any specific outage rules for electric storage resources and that the general outage management rules that apply to all other resources in individual RTO/ISO markets should also apply to electric storage resources.

88. EPRI raises concerns about the effectiveness of the Commission's proposal. EPRI asserts that the Commission's de-rating proposal is potentially an improved approximation of an electric storage resource's capacity value. However, EPRI states that the proposal may not be entirely accurate because it assumes that an electric storage resource would contribute less than its maximum capacity to provide energy across the entire four-hour minimum duration required for providing capacity in many RTOs/ISOs. EPRI asserts that, during periods where the RTO/ISO requires maximum capacity, an electric storage resource with a two-hour duration at maximum discharge may exhaust all energy production during the first two hours. EPRI argues that the Commission's proposal also does not guarantee that an electric storage resource will have full energy levels when the maximum capacity period begins. EPRI contends that, where the load typically peaks during just one hour of the highest load days, an electric storage resource with less than the minimum duration requirement of the capacity market may actually be providing greater capacity value than the proposed de-rated value. EPRI asserts that, depending on the ability of an electric storage resource to provide capacity when its duration of energy storage is less than the minimum duration requirement of the capacity market, must-offer rules for the day-ahead energy market must be fairly determined.

¹¹⁵ See EPRI Comments at 12-13.

EPRI adds that the hours which an electric storage resource must bid as an injector of energy per day and how much capacity it must bid for those days must be determined.

EPRI adds that those rules should be consistent with other principles of must-offer rules for capacity providers and ensure that they lead to the electric storage resource's ability to perform during critical peak conditions.

89. Several commenters consider whether reforms beyond the Commission's proposal are needed. For example, some commenters argue for either exempting electric storage resources from minimum run-time requirements in some circumstances or developing new capacity products with shorter minimum run-time requirements. 116 Alevo argues that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to have additional capacity market products that better reflect the capabilities of electric storage resources because minimum run-time requirements present a barrier to electric storage resource participation in capacity markets. R Street Institute states that capacity products and performance requirements may not be well-suited to extracting the full economic value of electric storage resources for resource adequacy purposes. R Street Institute states that these rules can create barriers to capacity market participation for electric storage resources but, at the same time, relaxing them too aggressively may raise reliability R Street Institute further explains that it may be useful for capacity concerns. constructs to distinguish between short- and long-duration resource needs. R Street Institute encourages the Commission to seek additional detailed comments on

¹¹⁶ See, e.g., Alevo Comments at 8; R Street Institute Comments at 5.

methodologies for electric storage resources to participate in capacity markets, stating that reforms may be best left to individual RTO/ISO compliance filings or individual RTO/ISO proceedings.

90. NextEra asserts that, in most RTOs/ISOs, reserve product commitment requirements systematically discriminate against electric storage resources by restricting their ability to offer their full capacity into the market and that de-rating capacity to meet existing requirements diminishes the value of electric storage resources and arbitrarily restricts competition. 117 In contrast, EPRI contends that each RTO/ISO should perform additional analysis to provide guidance on the amount of capacity that can be relied upon from limited-duration electric storage resources for particular services in each market. 118 91. A few commenters address the must-offer requirements that are often associated with a resource's capacity supply obligation. ¹¹⁹ Energy Storage Association argues that electric storage resources should be exempt from, or otherwise allowed to manage, mustoffer obligations. Advanced Energy Economy argues that must-offer requirements fail to account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources and arbitrarily exclude them from providing wholesale services that they are technically capable of providing. Advanced Energy Economy asserts that must-offer requirements

¹¹⁷ See NextEra Comments at 7.

¹¹⁸ See EPRI Comments at 12-13.

See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 25-26, 28-29; AES Companies Comments at 16-17; Energy Storage Association Comments at 6, 12.

were developed to prevent the exercise of market power and electric storage resources have no incentive or ability to exercise market power.

92. AES Companies claim that it may be necessary to modify RTO/ISO must-offer requirements to allow electric storage resources to participate in capacity markets while also providing non-dispatched services (such as primary frequency response and voltage control). AES Companies add that most must-offer requirements apply to a capacity resource during all dispatch intervals, even though specific services may only be needed for a set number of hours in a day.

c. Commission Determination

93. To implement section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(a) of the Commission's regulations, in this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal, as modified and clarified below, to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to allow electric storage resources to de-rate their capacity to meet minimum run-time requirements. We find that allowing resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to de-rate their capacity to meet minimum run-time requirements to provide capacity or other services will help to ensure that electric storage resources are eligible to provide all services that they are technically capable of providing by taking into account their physical and operational characteristics, while still maintaining the quality and reliability of services they seek to provide. For example, this requirement would allow a 10MW/20MWh electric storage resource to offer 5MW of capacity into a capacity market with a 4-hour minimum run-time because that is the maximum output that the resource can sustain for the duration of the minimum run-time. Absent the opportunity to de-rate its capacity, the

10MW/20MWh electric storage resource would not be able to participate in that capacity market, despite its ability to reliably provide 5MW of capacity for the duration of the minimum run-time.

- 94. We also clarify several aspects of the NOPR proposal in response to commenters. In response to NRG, we clarify that this Final Rule does not exempt electric storage resources that participate in RTO/ISO capacity markets from meeting the performance metrics and criteria that apply to all other resources that participate in those markets. In fact, along with other requirements in this Final Rule that require an RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources to account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, ¹²⁰ allowing electric storage resources to de-rate their capacity to meet minimum run-time requirements should make it possible for energy-limited electric storage resources to satisfy relevant performance metrics in the RTO/ISO markets. In response to American Petroleum Institute, we clarify that this Final Rule does not exempt an electric storage resource that is participating in RTO/ISO capacity markets from any applicable penalties for non-performance.
- 95. In response to SPP, we clarify that an electric storage resource de-rating its capacity to provide capacity or other services is not engaging in physical withholding if it is derating to meet minimum run-time requirements. In the case of an electric storage

¹²⁰ See, e.g., Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources and State of Charge Management sections, *infra* PP 186-190, 246-252.

resource that de-rates its capacity to meet minimum run-time requirements, this resource would be de-rating its capacity for true and verifiable technical reasons pertaining to the market rules for providing various services. However, as the Commission has previously explained, physical withholding may include a market participant declaring that an electric facility has been de-rated, forced out of service, or otherwise been made unavailable for technical reasons that are unrelated to physical or legitimate commercial issues or that cannot be verified. Thus, we find that each RTO/ISO may request that its market monitor verify whether an electric storage resource de-rated its capacity to meet a minimum run-time requirement to ensure that these resources are not engaging in physical withholding, as defined by the Commission.

96. Additionally, while commenters do not specifically describe any market power concerns outside the context of physical withholding, to the extent that market power concerns arise as a result of electric storage resources de-rating capacity to provide capacity or other services, each RTO/ISO may consider whether it is appropriate to

¹⁴² FERC ¶ 61,205 (2013). Other examples of physical withholding that the Commission has identified, which we do not believe apply to de-rating to meet minimum run-time requirements, include: (1) refusing to provide offers or schedules for an electric facility when it is required to offer into the market when it would otherwise have been in the economic interest to do so without market power; (2) operating a generation resource in real time to produce an output level that is less than dispatch targets; (3) de-rating a transmission facility or interface for technical reasons that are not true or verifiable; (4) operating a transmission facility in a manner that is not economic and that causes a binding transmission constraint or binding reserve zone constraint or local reliability issue; and (5) declaring that the capability of resources to provide energy or operating reserves is reduced for reasons that are not true or verifiable. *Id*.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

update and/or apply existing market power mitigation processes to electric storage resources to alleviate market power concerns.

In response to California Energy Storage Alliance, we agree that electric storage resources may provide services in the RTO/ISO markets without de-rating so long as they meet the requirements to provide the particular service that they seek to provide. We also clarify that this Final Rule does not require any specific outage rules for electric storage resources.

97. Further, upon consideration of the comments, we clarify the part of the NOPR proposal stating that the de-rated capacity value for electric storage resources should be consistent with the quantity of energy that must be offered into the day-ahead energy market for resources with capacity obligations. Several commenters suggest that there may be reasons why the de-rated capacity value for electric storage resources might not be consistent with the quantity of energy that must be offered into the day-ahead energy market. For example, an electric storage resource may choose to de-rate to reflect its capacity interconnection rights; to reserve capacity for providing retail services; or because system operators may need the full capacity of electric storage resources based on real-time system conditions. We find these points compelling. We also agree with Xcel Energy Services that the rules governing must-offer quantities vary between RTOs/ISOs and with Energy Storage Association that where electric storage resources

¹²² See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 16-17; Avangrid Comments at 5; Energy Storage Association Comments at 8-9; EPRI Comments at 12-13.

do not have a must-offer obligation the de-rated quantity cannot be tied to such an obligation. We therefore provide each RTO/ISO flexibility either to use its existing rules for must-offer quantities or to modify its existing rules as necessary to reflect the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources. However, in response to Avangrid and EEI, we clarify that, if an electric storage resource elects to derate its capacity, it must not de-rate its capacity below any capacity obligations it has assumed, such as any applicable must-offer requirement. We also agree with Energy Storage Association that the de-rated quantity should be based on the quantity of energy that an electric storage resource can discharge continuously over the minimum run-time set by the RTO/ISO.

98. In response to those commenters suggesting that the RTO/ISO resource adequacy constructs provide accommodations for electric storage resources, we will not require the RTOs/ISOs to make specific changes to minimum run-time or must-offer requirements associated with providing capacity. While we agree with commenters that some of the requirements to participate in the resource adequacy constructs of the RTOs/ISOs may limit the ability of electric storage resources to participate, there is significant variation in how each RTO/ISO approaches resource adequacy. Thus, we do not believe it is appropriate to establish one standard approach to this issue in the RTO/ISO markets. However, we do find that it is important for electric storage resources that can provide value in those resource adequacy constructs to be eligible to participate. Therefore, in the interest of preserving flexibility for the RTOs/ISOs to address this issue given their unique resource adequacy constructs, we require each RTO/ISO to demonstrate on

compliance with this Final Rule that its existing market rules provide a means for electric storage resources to provide capacity. If an RTO/ISO does not have existing tariff provisions that enable electric storage resources to provide capacity, such as the RTO/ISO tariff provisions described below, we require the RTO/ISO to propose such rules on compliance with this Final Rule.

99. To provide guidance for this requirement, we note that several of the RTOs/ISOs already have developed rules that allow energy-limited resources to provide capacity. Some of these market rules explicitly facilitate the participation of electric storage resources. For example, NYISO has an Energy Limited Resource model that facilitates the participation of electric storage resources in the capacity market by limiting their commitments to one four-hour interval per day, while CAISO requires that flexible resource adequacy resources be available only during peak hours. Other RTOs/ISOs rely on opportunity costs in incremental energy offer reference levels, allowing for a resource to reflect its energy-limited nature through high offers in the energy market that make it unlikely to be dispatched. For example, ISO-NE's tariff allows opportunity costs included in an incremental energy reference level based on costs associated with complying with emissions limits, water storage limits, and other operating permits that limit production of energy. 123 While some of these market rules may apply to resources using the participation model for electric storage resources, we require each RTO/ISO to demonstrate how such rules are applicable to resources using the participation model for

¹²³ ISO-NE Tariff, Market Rule 1, Appendix A, § III.A.7.5.1.

electric storage resources on compliance with this Final Rule.

3. Energy Schedule Requirement for Provision of Ancillary Services

a. NOPR Request for Comments

100. In the NOPR, the Commission stated that electric storage resources tend to be capable of faster start-up times and higher ramp rates than traditional synchronous generators and are therefore able to provide ramping, spinning, and regulating reserve services without already being online and running. 124 However, the Commission acknowledged that the RTOs/ISOs that co-optimize energy and ancillary services dispatch and pricing may condition eligibility to provide ancillary services on having an energy schedule. 125 The Commission therefore sought comment on whether the requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services could be adjusted so that electric storage resources and other technically-capable resources could participate in the ancillary service markets independent of offering energy to the RTO/ISO. 101. Specifically, the Commission sought comment on whether dispatch and pricing of energy and ancillary services would be internally consistent if a resource were not required to offer to provide energy in order to offer to provide ancillary services. Further, the Commission sought comment on whether the capability of resources to provide an ancillary service absent an energy schedule can be determined in the regular performance

¹²⁴ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 50.

¹²⁵ See id. P 51.

tests that the RTO/ISO conducts and whether a resource's start-up time and ramp capability are generally represented in bidding parameters and would adequately guarantee the resource's ability to provide other services absent energy market participation. Finally, the Commission sought comment on the extent of software changes necessary to factor the elimination of such an energy schedule requirement into the RTO/ISO co-optimization models.

b. Comments

102. A number of commenters agree that the RTOs/ ISOs should base a market participant's eligibility to provide a particular ancillary service on its ability to provide services when called upon, rather than whether it is online and synchronized to the grid. They argue that the requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services is no longer technically necessary. For example, Advanced Energy Economy and Efficient Holdings state that electric storage resources are able to provide services such as primary frequency response, even while they are charging and unable to supply energy. Altametric and Energy Storage Association explain that an electric storage resource's start-up time and ramp capability are generally represented in bidding parameters, adequately guaranteeing the resource's ability to provide other services absent energy market participation. Altametric adds that an RTO/ISO can validate a

¹²⁶ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 26-27; Altametric Comments at 6; Beacon Power Comments at 3-4; Efficient Holdings Comments at 13-14; Energy Storage Association Comments at 10, 12-13; NRG Comments at 15-16; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 8.

resource's ability to provide ancillary services through its regular performance, while Energy Storage Association, NRG, and Pacific Gas & Electric contend that periodic performance testing is sufficient. Beacon Power notes that regulation resources are already required to undergo performance testing in PJM, with no requirement that they participate in the energy market.

103. A few commenters address the benefits of removing any requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services. Specifically, Efficient Holdings, Energy Storage Association, and Magnum argue that removing any such requirement would eliminate a barrier to some electric storage resources' ability to provide ancillary services because they are energy-limited, increasing competition. Similarly, Starwood Energy states that electric storage resources should be allowed to participate in the ancillary service markets regardless of whether they offer energy to the RTO/ISO.

104. Energy Storage Association and Research Scientists opine that it is feasible for RTOs/ISOs to remove any requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services. Energy Storage Association and Research Scientists argue that, even if an electric storage resource is allowed to provide ancillary services without an energy

schedule, dispatch and pricing of energy and ancillary services can be co-optimized and

will be internally consistent. However, Research Scientists also note that whether an

¹²⁷ See., e.g., Efficient Holdings Comments at 13-14; Energy Storage Association Comments at 12; Magnum Comments at 10; Starwood Energy Comments at 6.

¹²⁸ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 12-13; Research Scientists Comments at 5-6.

electric storage resource offers to provide energy may influence market outcomes, as an energy offer represents a resource's opportunity cost of providing ancillary services under the market clearing optimization algorithm. Energy Storage Association adds that, just as some resources currently provide only energy, RTOs/ISOs can manage resources that provide only ancillary services because they will receive enough information about electric storage resources' capability to provide ancillary services through their bidding parameters and through regular performance tests.

105. In contrast, EPSA/PJM Power Providers and NRG contend that, if the Commission requires each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that a resource have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services, the Commission should require each resource that seeks to provide ancillary services to provide economic offers into the energy market. They argue that such offers are necessary to allow for the co-optimization of energy and ancillary services markets and to price the provision of ancillary services.

106. While not opining on whether the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services from its tariff, MISO Transmission Owners comment on the ability of resources to provide ancillary services without an energy schedule. MISO Transmission Owners claim that whether a resource can provide ancillary services without an energy schedule depends on the particular electric storage technology, the service being offered, and the ability of the

¹²⁹ See EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 17; NRG Comments at 15-16.

¹³⁰ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 9.

resource to respond within the timeframe established for that service. Similarly, EPRI and Research Scientists assert that electric storage resources that transition from charge to discharge slowly (e.g., pumped-hydro resources) are unlikely to be able to provide certain ancillary services without an energy schedule, while electric storage resources that transition from charge to discharge and change operating levels quickly can. ¹³¹

107. While Xcel Energy Services agrees that resources do not necessarily need to be synchronized to the grid to provide ancillary services, it argues that RTOs/ISOs must establish response time requirements to ensure that all resources provide those services within an adequate timeframe. ¹³² Xcel Energy Services further notes that to provide some services, such as voltage support, resources do not need to submit an energy offer. Xcel Energy Services concludes that the larger issue is the capability of co-optimization software to evaluate the option between dispatching an electric storage resource to charge or discharge.

108. MISO, PJM, and SPP do not opine on whether the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that a resource have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services, although MISO and SPP present considerations for the Commission to evaluate should it move forward on this issue, each discuss the feasibility of removing any such requirement for some services. For example, PJM notes that it already allows

¹³¹ See EPRI Comments at 14-15; Research Scientists Comments at 5.

¹³² See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 22.

¹³³ See MISO Comments at 12-14; PJM Comments at 17; SPP Comments at 8-9.

offer and that no further software changes are needed to effectuate this outcome. 134 Likewise, MISO notes that, under its Stored Energy Resource model, the Stored Energy Resource submits regulation offers but not energy offers, illustrating the potential for resources to provide ancillary services without an energy schedule. SPP states that it allows a resource that is not online or synchronized to provide supplemental reserves. SPP also explains that a resource that is not qualified to provide energy can participate in the regulation market; however, that resource would not be eligible to set the price in the energy market, and its output could not be substituted for contingency reserves. While MISO agrees that electric storage resources that can start rapidly should not be required to be online and synchronized to provide ancillary services, it contends that an RTO must review and address its system limitations to ensure that it can handle such resources' fast start and ramp capabilities before removing any such requirement. According to MISO, reflecting an electric storage resource's start-up time and ramp capabilities in the clearing engine is feasible but would require extensive system and software changes. For an electric storage resource that is managing its own state of charge, MISO states that it would need the resource's energy schedule and dispatch range to ensure that it dispatches the resource to provide ancillary services within that resource's physical limits. MISO further contends, however, that if it were managing an

market participants to offer to provide ancillary services without a corresponding energy

¹³⁴ But see NextEra Comments at 7, n.8 (asserting that this option is only available in PJM for regulation service).

electric storage resource's state of charge, it would need to receive offers for all ancillary services that the resource seeks to provide and that, absent an energy offer, the optimization model would need to assume that the resource is a price taker in the energy market if that maximizes its profit from providing ancillary services.

- 110. SPP asserts that any change to an energy schedule requirement for providing spinning reserve needs to involve the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) because NERC defines spinning reserves as a resource that is synchronized and spinning.
- 111. AES Companies argue that, rather than adopting any prescriptive requirement in a final rule, the Commission should allow each RTO/ISO to determine whether it can remove or modify any tariff provision or business practice that requires a resource to have an energy offer or schedule to provide a specific ancillary service, given their differing operational characteristics and needs. That said, AES Companies note that some RTOs/ISOs permit demand response resources to provide certain ancillary services without providing energy and that it is important to remove barriers to the provision of essential reliability services. AES Companies also mention that periodic testing of resources is sufficient to determine their ability to provide ancillary services but that testing and measurement procedures may vary by technology.
- 112. R Street Institute asserts that, unless they have a must-offer energy obligation, electric storage resources should not have to submit an energy schedule to participate in

¹³⁵ See AES Companies Comments at 17-19.

ancillary service markets. 136 However, R Street Institute contends that, before requiring each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that a resource must have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services, the Commission should weigh the costs of any software changes necessary to implement such a requirement against its projected benefits. 113. CAISO, ISO-NE, and NYISO state that the Commission should not require each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that a resource have an energy offer or schedule to provide ancillary services. 137 They state that their markets cannot accommodate resources that seek to provide ancillary services without offering energy as well. Specifically, they contend that all other resource types must submit an energy offer or schedule to provide ancillary services because it is necessary to allow them to cooptimize their energy and ancillary services markets. They argue that, without such a requirement, an RTO/ISO may dispatch a resource to provide ancillary services when it would have been more economically efficient to dispatch the resource to provide energy or may not be able to determine which resource(s) that have cleared as reserves it would be most economically efficient to dispatch for energy when contingencies arise. They

¹³⁶ See R Street Institute Comments at 4.

¹³⁷ See CAISO Comments at 7-8; ISO-NE Comments at 15-17; NYISO Comments at 7-9.

contend that removing this requirement would therefore decrease overall market efficiency, increasing costs to consumers and uplift costs.

- 114. In terms of the technical difficulties of removing the requirement that a resource have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services, EPRI notes that some RTOs/ISOs require zero-cost offers for certain ancillary services in the real-time market. EPRI states that prices for these ancillary services are based on the opportunity costs that the marginal ancillary service provider incurs to provide ancillary services instead of energy. Energy Storage Association and EPRI contend that, without providing an energy offer, an electric storage resource will not have a lost opportunity cost. EPRI notes that therefore the electric storage resource will not be able to set the price at a non-zero value when it is the marginal resource providing ancillary services.
- 115. Guannan He argues that there is no need for the Commission to require each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that a resource have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services if electric storage resources specify through their energy schedules when they are online or offline.¹⁴⁰
- 116. While Advanced Energy Economy and Electric Vehicle R&D Group argue that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to remove any requirement that an electric storage resource have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services, they state that, if

¹³⁸ See EPRI Comments at 15.

¹³⁹ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 12; EPRI Comments at 15;

¹⁴⁰ See Guannan He Comments at 1-2.

the Commission decides to retain the requirement, the Commission should make certain clarifications in the final rule or require each RTO/ISO to revise its existing market rules with respect to the provision of ancillary services. Specifically, Advanced Energy Economy argues that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to allow an electric storage resource to account for its charge and discharge parameters. In addition, Advanced Energy Economy states that the Commission should provide assurances that an electric storage resource that manages its state of charge through energy offers will not be mitigated or deemed engaged in withholding. Electric Vehicle R&D Group argues that electric storage resources should be allowed to set their energy schedule to zero or a small negative number to compensate for losses.

c. Commission Determination

117. Upon consideration of the comments, we will not require each RTO/ISO to modify rules requiring resources to have an energy schedule to participate in the ancillary service markets. While some electric storage resources may be technically capable of providing ancillary services without an energy schedule and could represent those capabilities in their bidding parameters and performance tests, we are persuaded by commenters that requiring the RTOs/ISOs to adjust the requirement to have an energy schedule to provide ancillary services could result in less efficient dispatch, potentially increasing costs. Moreover, we recognize the importance of co-optimization in clearing

¹⁴¹ See Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 27; Electric Vehicle R&D Group Comments at 1.

and dispatch software and appreciate that the RTOs/ISOs have developed different, individual approaches to co-optimizing their energy and ancillary service markets. Upon consideration of the comments, we do not find, on a generic basis, that a requirement to have an energy schedule to participate in the ancillary service markets is necessarily an unreasonable requirement for the participation of electric storage resources in those markets because such a requirement may be necessary to support economically efficient dispatch within a particular RTO/ISO market.

118. However, we agree with commenters that some fast-responding electric storage resources are technically capable of providing ancillary services without an energy schedule. We also acknowledge that some RTO/ISO market rules already allow resources to provide some ancillary services, namely regulation, without the requirement to participate in the energy market. Such opportunities for participation in certain ancillary service markets without an energy schedule suggest that there may be instances (i.e., for certain ancillary services in certain RTO/ISO markets) in which allowing a resource to provide an ancillary service without an energy schedule may enhance market efficiency. Therefore, we encourage each RTO/ISO to consider whether fast-responding electric storage resources may be able to provide certain ancillary services in its markets without an energy schedule.

4. <u>NERC Definitions</u>

a. NOPR Request for Comment

119. In the NOPR, the Commission noted that it appears that some of the Glossary of

Terms definitions used in NERC reliability standards were created for synchronous generation. Therefore, the Commission sought comment on whether and to what extent the Commission-approved NERC Glossary of Terms and associated reliability standards or regional reliability requirements may create barriers to the participation of electric storage resources or other non-synchronous technologies in the RTO/ISO markets.

b. Comments

120. Several commenters argue that the NERC reliability standards and regional reliability requirements do not present a barrier to electric storage resources participating in wholesale electric markets. Hotels are standards and EEI note, however, that modifications to the reliability standards may be appropriate in the future. NERC argues that its reliability standards are technology neutral and provide the responsible entity, usually the balancing authority, with flexibility to meet their performance-based requirements. Furthermore, Imperial Irrigation District and NERC point to an interpretation of regional Reliability Standard BAL-002-WECC-2 that acknowledges that non-traditional resources, including electric storage resources, are capable of

¹⁴² See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 52.

¹⁴³ See AES Companies Comments at 24; CAISO Comments at 8; EEI Comments at 8; NERC Comments at 2.

¹⁴⁴ See NERC Comments at 4-5.

meeting the operating reserves-spinning requirement of the regional standard. 145 121. Other commenters contend that it may be appropriate to revise the NERC Glossary of Terms to ensure that the definitions reflect the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources and other non-synchronous technologies. 146 NESCOE contends that certain definitions in the NERC Glossary of Terms may limit electric storage resources' participation in the reserves markets, while Massachusetts State Entities assert that Northeast Power Coordinating Council rules, which Massachusetts State Entities do not specifically identify, may prohibit inverter-based resources, including electric storage resources, from providing spinning reserves. Exelon notes that the NERC definitions were written before the development of electric storage resources and if those definitions or reliability standards are being read to exclude certain resources, then those definitions or reliability standards should be carefully reviewed to determine whether the exclusionary language is necessary for purposes of reliability. 122. Tesla/SolarCity suggest that (1) NERC should modify the definitions of ancillary services in its Glossary of Terms to eliminate any apparent requirement that ancillary

¹⁴⁵ See Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 4; NERC Comments at 6 (citing *N. Am. Elec. Reliability Corp.*, Docket No. RD17-3-000 (Jan. 24, 2017) (delegated letter order)).

¹⁴⁶ See, e.g., ELCON Comments at 5, 9-10 (citing the NOPR's summary of comments that asserted, for example, that the NERC Glossary's definitions of Spinning Reserves and Operating Reserve-Spinning may be barriers to non-synchronous resources seeking to provide reserve products; see, e.g., NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 44); EPRI Comments at 15-16; Exelon Comments at 7-8; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 15-16; MISO Comments at 14; National Hydropower Association Comments at 8; NYISO Comments at 7; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 12-14.

service providers must be "generation" or "synchronized;" (2) in its compliance filing, each RTO/ISO should identify any reliability standards that prevent it from making Commission-directed tariff changes to accommodate electric storage resource participation; and (3) the Commission should make clear in the final rule that reliability standards that were developed for or favor conventional generators without technical justification must be changed to allow the participation of all resources unless there are technical limitations.

123. EPRI discusses the following potential revision to the NERC Glossary of Terms. While EPRI notes that the NERC definition of Operating Reserve-Spinning includes the phrase "generation synchronized to the system," according to EPRI, resources providing spinning/synchronized reserves do not necessarily need to be synchronous resources but rather must be able to respond as soon as they are directed to do so. EPRI states that it would be useful to discuss this clarification with NERC and industry. SPP also notes that a spinning reserve product, by definition, means the resource must be synchronized and spinning. 147

c. Commission Determination

124. Upon consideration of the comments, we find that the Commission-approved NERC reliability standards, the associated Glossary of Terms, and regional reliability standards do not create barriers to the participation of electric storage resources or other non-synchronous technologies in the RTO/ISO markets. We find persuasive NERC's

¹⁴⁷ See SPP Comments at 8.

argument that its reliability standards are technology neutral and provide electric storage resources with flexibility to meet their performance-based requirements. Moreover, no commenter has demonstrated that the NERC Glossary of Terms and associated reliability standards or regional reliability requirements preclude electric storage resources or other non-synchronous technologies from providing the services that they are technically capable of providing in the RTO/ISO markets.

D. Participation in the RTO/ISO Markets as Supply and Demand

1. Eligibility to Participate as a Wholesale Seller and Wholesale Buyer

a. NOPR Proposal

125. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to ensure that electric storage resources can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer, consistent with existing rules that govern when a resource can set the wholesale price. The Commission also proposed that, for a resource using the proposed participation model for electric storage resources to be able to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer, it must be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource. This proposal included the requirements that the RTOs/ISOs accept wholesale bids from electric storage resources to buy energy so that the economic

¹⁴⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 81.

¹⁴⁹ See id. P 84.

preferences of electric storage resources are fully integrated into the market, the electric storage resource can set the price as a load resource where market rules allow, and the electric storage resource can be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable demand asset. The Commission noted that these requirements must not prohibit electric storage resources from participating in the RTO/ISO markets as price takers, consistent with the existing rules for self-scheduled load resources. The Commission also proposed that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources be able to set the price in the capacity markets, where applicable.

126. Finally, the Commission sought comment on whether any existing RTO/ISO rules may unnecessarily limit the ability of resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets.¹⁵¹

b. Comments

i. Wholesale Seller/Wholesale Buyer

127. Numerous commenters agree with the Commission's proposal to require each RTO/ISO to permit electric storage resources to be able to be dispatched as both supply and demand and to set wholesale market clearing prices as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer. Commenters state that this proposal appropriately recognizes the

¹⁵⁰ See id. P 81.

¹⁵¹ See id. P 84.

¹⁵² See, e.g., Efficient Holdings Comments at 17; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 10-11; National Hydropower Association Comments at 9; NYPA Comments at 11; R Street Institute Comments at 6; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 15.

full bidirectional value of electric storage resources, their fast response times, and limited energy and allows for greater grid efficiency, greater competition, and downward pressure on wholesale prices and system costs. ¹⁵³ Institute for Policy Integrity also argues that such participation could reduce peak energy costs by replacing inefficient thermal units, reduce price volatility by shifting load from peak to off-peak, improve overall reliability on the electric grid, and reduce the need for cost-intensive investment in electric transmission infrastructure.

128. Tesla/SolarCity add that, as more variable energy resources come online, the value of having dispatchable loads capable of setting market prices will become greater and this feature of the market will become increasingly valuable. Research Scientists agree that the economic preferences of energy storage resources should be reflected in the market clearing as both load and supply, in line with other load resources in the grid. Magnum supports the ability of electric storage resources to participate as a dispatchable load but not if it precludes the generation function of its technology from participating in market opportunities because the two functions can occur simultaneously. 156

¹⁵³ See, e.g., Avangrid Comments at 7; Energy Storage Association Comments at 6-7, 17, 18; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 11; Institute for Policy Integrity Comments at 3-4; SPP Comments at 13.

¹⁵⁴ See Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 15.

¹⁵⁵ See Research Scientists Comments at 8.

¹⁵⁶ See Magnum Comments at 13.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

129. Several RTOs/ISOs, including CAISO, ISO-NE, NYISO, and SPP, also express general support for the Commission's proposals. MISO agrees that a resource optimized through the market clearing process should be allowed to set wholesale prices but states that determining the rules and conditions under which electric storage resources should be cleared and optimized in the markets will require significant time and resources. 158

130. MISO Transmission Owners caution that state laws may affect an electric storage resource's status as a seller or buyer, arguing that states and distribution utilities should retain authority to manage this aspect of electric storage resources in their areas. MISO Transmission Owners also assert that it is technologically challenging to enforce a requirement for a behind-the-meter electric storage resource to buy electricity at wholesale. Xcel Energy Services conditions its support upon resources being dedicated wholesale resources that do not have the ability to arbitrage wholesale and retail rates. EEI supports the proposal on the condition that the Commission clarify that an electric storage resource bidding into the wholesale markets that is interconnected to the transmission system must charge at wholesale rates, while an electric storage resource

¹⁵⁷ See CAISO Comments at 13; ISO-NE Comments at 21; NYISO Comments at 10; SPP Comments at 13.

¹⁵⁸ See MISO Comments at 7.

¹⁵⁹ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 11-12.

¹⁶⁰ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

interconnected to the distribution system must pay any applicable charges under state jurisdictional tariffs for its use of state jurisdictional facilities. ¹⁶¹

- 131. While Open Access Technology conditionally supports the NOPR proposal, it requests that the Commission clarify whether a storage resource in charging mode is considered as negative demand response (i.e., load increase instead of load reduction). 162 132. Several commenters state that electric storage resources should have the same ability as other resources to self-schedule within the requirements of the RTO/ISO and participate in the RTO/ISO markets as a price taker. 163 Energy Storage Association further recommends that the Commission clarify that the option to self-schedule should apply to storage resources both as buyers and as sellers and not just as "load resources." APPA/NRECA contend that, if electric storage resources are not permitted to participate as price takers on the same basis as any other self-scheduled resource, it will create a disincentive to load serving entity investment and utilization of electric storage resources, which will undermine the Commission's goals.
- 133. Dominion asserts that, in order to improve price transparency, the Commission should consider allowing a pumped-hydro resource to submit its dispatch cost to the

¹⁶¹ See EEI Comments at 12.

¹⁶² See Open Access Technology Comments at 2.

¹⁶³ See, e.g., APPA/NRECA Comments at 15-16; Avangrid Comments at 7; Energy Storage Association Comments at 18; NYISO Comments at 10; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 15.

RTO while preserving its right to self-schedule in the real-time market. While MISO Transmission Owners generally support the Commission's proposal to allow electric storage resources to participate as a wholesale buyer and seller, they state that it is important to consider any unintended consequences regarding an electric storage resource owner's ability to self-schedule the unit if needed to meet load demand conditions and maintain power quality and reliability. NYISO points out that self-schedule offers will not allow the resource to participate as a supply and demand resource simultaneously because self-schedule offers indicate the resource's desired schedule. AES Companies argue that the Commission should not require the RTOs/ISOs to allow electric storage resources to be price takers; rather, this should be an RTO/ISO-specific decision because the markets are different and the decision to self-schedule may have unintended consequences and could skew market results. 167

ii. Dispatchability

134. Some commenters support the Commission's proposal that an electric storage resource must be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets. ¹⁶⁸ EPRI asserts that, assuming an energy storage resource is

¹⁶⁴ See Dominion Comments at 6.

¹⁶⁵ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 11.

¹⁶⁶ See NYISO Comments at 10.

¹⁶⁷ See AES Companies Comments at 25.

¹⁶⁸ See, e.g., EPRI Comments at 24; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 11; Starwood Energy Comments at 6.

dispatchable with a range of output, it should have no limitations to setting the price as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer when it is marginal.

135. SPP states that, while any resource type may set the price for any product that the resource is qualified to provide and offers to provide in the market, the resource must be dispatchable and must have available range to provide the system's marginal MW.¹⁶⁹

iii. <u>Limitations on Price Setting</u>

136. Generally, the RTOs/ISOs do not believe that their rules limit the ability of an electric storage resource to set prices. ¹⁷⁰ SPP adds that, other than dispatchability and range requirements described in the preceding section, it does not have restrictions that would unnecessarily limit the ability of any resource type, including electric storage resources, to set price. MISO states that it is unaware of any rules that limit the ability of pumped-hydro resources to set prices in its markets. MISO also states that stored energy resources provide only regulation and are price-takers for energy. MISO recommends studying the basic participation model(s) for electric storage resources in more detail before identifying any necessary adjustments to an RTO/ISO market's price-setting rules.

137. SoCal Edison and Xcel Energy Services state that they are not aware of any RTO/ISO rules that would unnecessarily limit the ability of storage resources to set

¹⁶⁹ See SPP Comments at 15.

¹⁷⁰ See, e.g., ISO-NE Comments at 21; MISO Comments at 18; PJM Comments at 18; SPP Comments at 15.

market prices, except in some cases where RTO market software does not allow a resource at minimum output to set price.¹⁷¹

138. Some commenters argue that electric storage resources should be allowed to set prices if they meet certain requirements, including the minimum requirements for each service. PJM Market Monitor argues that storage resources should be eligible to set price on the basis of dispatch if the storage resource meets all other relevant requirements and has the necessary telemetry and metering. Dominion supports the ability for electric storage resources to set prices in the energy market when applicable if (1) the current day-ahead market pricing rules applicable to pumped-hydro optimization are preserved and (2) the Commission directs each RTO/ISO to create a methodology to

¹⁷¹ See SoCal Edison Comments at 17; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

¹⁷² See, e.g., Dominion Comments at 6; NYPA Comments at 11; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 7.

calculate accurate real-time offers and in situations where electric storage resources designate themselves dispatchable.

139. AES Companies assert that the individual RTOs/ISOs and their stakeholders should decide whether and how electric storage resources may set prices in the capacity markets because the capacity constructs in each differ.¹⁷³ Avangrid contends that electric storage resources should be able to set the capacity clearing price.¹⁷⁴ However, Avangrid notes that capacity constructs that are based on real-time performance (such as ISO-NE's Pay for Performance and PJM's Capacity Performance) may need to guard against the ability of electric storage resources to switch from generation to load during a capacity emergency because it could exacerbate the need for generating capacity. Avangrid suggests that these resources could be subjected to more severe penalties than a generator that performs less than its capacity commitment to guard against such concerns. Relatedly, SPP asks the Commission to clarify the effects on scarcity pricing when an electric storage resource moves its capacity instantly from charging to discharging, eliminating any scarcity.¹⁷⁵

c. Commission Determination

140. In this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal and add section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(b) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to ensure that a

¹⁷³ See AES Companies Comments at 25.

¹⁷⁴ See Avangrid Comments at 8.

¹⁷⁵ See SPP Comments at 14.

resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched as supply and demand and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer, consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price. Consistent with the NOPR proposal, we find that, for a resource using the proposed participation model for electric storage resources to be able to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer, it must be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource. Also, consistent with the NOPR, we require that (1) resources using the participation model for electric storage resources be able to set the price in the capacity markets, where applicable; (2) RTOs/ISOs must accept wholesale bids from resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to buy energy; and (3) resources using the participation model for electric storage resources must be allowed to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as price takers, consistent with the existing rules for self-scheduled resources. 141. Improving electric storage resources' opportunity to participate as both wholesale sellers of services and wholesale buyers of energy will improve market efficiency and, in turn, competition, by allowing the RTO/ISO to dispatch these resources in accordance with their most economically efficient use (i.e., as supply when the market clearing price for energy is higher than their offer and as demand when the market clearing price is lower than their bid). Additionally, allowing electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as dispatchable load will allow these resources to set the market clearing price under certain circumstances, thus better reflecting the value of the marginal resource and ensuring that electric storage resources are dispatched in

accordance with the highest value service that they are capable of providing during a set market interval. A wide range of commenters, including most RTOs/ISOs, generally support this requirement as one that will increase economic efficiency to the benefit of both electric storage resources and the RTO/ISO markets in which they will more fully be able to participate.

142. We reject AES Companies' assertion that an RTO/ISO must decide whether to allow electric storage resources to be price takers. None of the RTOs/ISOs have indicated that this need exists. We also find that AES Companies have not provided support for their assertion that the decision to self-schedule may have unintended consequences and could skew market results. To ensure consistent treatment in the RTO/ISO markets, we find that electric storage resources must maintain the same ability to self-schedule their resource as other market participants.

143. In response to EEI's, MISO Transmission Owners', and Xcel Energy Services' jurisdictional concerns, we find that the Commission has authority to require the RTOs/ISOs to permit any resource using the participation model for electric storage resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets to buy energy from those markets, consistent with the rules related to wholesale purchasers of energy in each RTO/ISO. As discussed in the Price for Charging Energy section below, ¹⁷⁶ we find that the sale of electric energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale.

¹⁷⁶ See infra P 289.

Therefore, to better facilitate these wholesale purchases and improve economic efficiency in the RTO/ISO markets, it is reasonable for the RTOs/ISOs to allow electric storage resources to choose to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as both supply and demand. This approach maximizes the ability of electric storage resources to participate as wholesale sellers and wholesale buyers in RTO/ISO markets, which will enhance competition and, in turn, helps to ensure these markets produce just and reasonable rates. Additionally, we note that we address EEI's concern about an electric storage resource's use of the distribution system in the Price for Charging Energy section below. 177 144. We disagree with SPP that there is a need to clarify in this Final Rule the effects on scarcity pricing when an electric storage resource moves its capacity instantly from charging to discharging. Scarcity pricing rules vary between RTOs/ISOs and we do not have information on the record to consider a generic clarification for all RTOs/ISOs, nor do we find clarification is necessary to ensure that the reforms in this Final Rule are just and reasonable and can be implemented. In response to Avangrid, we find that it is not appropriate to require stricter penalties for electric storage resources during capacity emergencies. Avangrid has not shown why electric storage resources should be subject to stricter penalties than other resources. While we are not establishing a requirement for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to pay stricter penalties during capacity emergencies, we note that each RTO/ISO is free to evaluate the potential impacts of electric storage resources during scarcity events and propose in a

¹⁷⁷ See infra P 296.

separate FPA section 205 filing¹⁷⁸ any market rules that it believes are necessary to account for the unique physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources.

145. We also reject MISO's recommendation to study in more detail the basic participation model(s) for electric storage resources before identifying any necessary adjustments to an RTO/ISO market's price-setting rules. We believe that the flexibility that we provide each RTO/ISO to implement this Final Rule renders moot MISO's assertion that more study is necessary.

146. In response to Energy Storage Association's recommendation that the option to self-schedule should apply to electric storage resources both as buyers and as sellers, we clarify that the ability of electric storage resources to participate as price takers will not be limited to their participation as load. Electric storage resources should also be able to self-schedule when they participate in the RTO/ISO markets as a supply resource consistent with rules governing how other resources self-schedule. This requirement helps to ensure that electric storage resources are treated consistently with the ability of self-scheduled load resources and traditional generation resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets.

147. Additionally, in response to Dominion's concerns regarding the ability of electric storage resources to set prices in the energy market, particularly as it relates to pumped-hydro resources and the preservation of existing rules related to their optimization, we

¹⁷⁸ See 16 U.S.C. § 824d.

clarify that we are not requiring the RTOs/ISOs to change their participation models for pumped-hydro resources in response to this Final Rule. However, we require each RTO/ISO to establish means by which all electric storage resources, including pumped-hydro resources, can participate as wholesale sellers and wholesale buyers in the RTO/ISO markets using a participation model for electric storage resources. This requirement ensures that the RTO/ISO markets value the participation of all electric storage resources as both supply and demand.

148. Additionally, in response to Open Access Technology, we clarify that we do not consider electric storage resources in charging mode to be negative demand response. This Final Rule requires an electric storage resource to be eligible to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as a wholesale buyer and for each RTO/ISO to be able to dispatch them as such. Such a mechanism would entail participation in the energy markets, not the provision of a new service, recognizing that electric storage resources may also be dispatched to consume electricity when they are providing certain ancillary services (such as frequency regulation).

2. Mechanisms to Prevent Conflicting Dispatch Instructions

a. NOPR Request for Comments

149. In the NOPR, the Commission preliminarily concluded that the proposed requirement to participate as a supply and demand resource simultaneously (i.e., submit bids to buy and offers to sell during the same market interval) is necessary to maximize the value that electric storage resources can provide in the RTO/ISO markets, allowing

resource as supply or demand during a given market interval. ¹⁷⁹ The Commission stated that it expected that, through its bidding strategy, a resource using the electric storage resource participation model would be able to prevent any conflicting dispatch signals to itself. However, the Commission sought comment on whether there should be a mechanism that identifies bids and offers coming from the same resource to ensure the price for the offer to sell is not lower than the price for the bid to buy during the same market interval so that an RTO/ISO does not accept both the offer and bid of a resource using the electric storage resource participation model for that interval.

b. <u>Comments</u>

150. Regarding the issue of preventing conflicting dispatch signals, AES Companies, Efficient Holdings, and PJM Market Monitor agree with the Commission that a resource using the electric storage resource participation model would be able to prevent any conflicting dispatch signals itself through a bidding strategy and fuel management plan. ¹⁸⁰

151. In contrast, Bonneville, Imperial Irrigation District, and NRG argue that the Commission should not rely on an electric storage resource's bidding strategy to prevent conflicting dispatch signals to itself and argue that a screening mechanism in RTO/ISO

¹⁷⁹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 83.

¹⁸⁰ See AES Companies Comments at 26; Efficient Holdings Comments at 17; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 8.

software would be a more robust approach than relying on rational bids and offers coming from the same resource. 181 Xcel Energy Services agrees but seeks assurance that any RTO/ISO mechanism to prevent such conflicts would work and not create unintended consequences for market dispatch of the resource. 182 EPRI states that an RTO/ISO can likely put a fairly straightforward constraint within its security-constrained unit commitment or security-constrained economic dispatch model to prevent conflicting dispatch signals. 183 R Street Institute and Research Scientists believe that building logical checks into the market clearing software could avoid this problem. 184 152. Avangrid, Imperial Irrigation District, and SoCal Edison agree with the Commission that the RTOs/ISOs should not allow an electric storage resource to submit a buy bid that is higher than its sell offer in the same market interval because there is no economic reason to do so. 185 Imperial Irrigation District and NRG argue that RTO/ISO software should ensure that, when an electric storage resource submits both supply and demand bids, the offer to sell is not lower than the price for the bid to buy during a single market

¹⁸¹ See Bonneville Comments at 5; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 11; NRG Comments at 14.

¹⁸² See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

¹⁸³ See EPRI Comments at 23-24.

¹⁸⁴ See R Street Institute Comments at 6; Research Scientists Comments at 8-9.

¹⁸⁵ See Avangrid Comments at 8; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 11; SoCal Edison Comments at 17.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

interval. SoCal Edison is also concerned that there may be an incentive for an electric storage resource to submit conflicting bids and offers in markets that allow some form of uplift payments.

153. CAISO states that its Non-Generator Resource participation model, which was designed with electric storage resources in mind, allows Non-Generator Resources to submit an economic bid that spans a negative to positive capacity range. CAISO explains that this single bid curve avoids conflicting dispatch. MISO similarly states that it has a method for Demand Response Resources – Type II that could be implemented for electric storage resources to allow a smooth dispatch range between a negative minimum limit and a positive maximum limit. 188

154. SPP agrees that the coordination of a single asset as both load and generation is important, stating that both the mechanism utilized and the rules should ensure that the offers for use as load and generation would be monotonically increasing. However, SPP notes that non-LMP components (e.g., start-up costs) may need specific consideration to avoid a situation where such costs are not considered in dispatch. ISO-NE does not believe any mechanism is necessary to avoid conflicting dispatch instructions, noting that to avoid this problem, starting in December 2018, it plans to use

¹⁸⁶ See Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 11; NRG Comments at 14.

¹⁸⁷ See CAISO Comments at 14.

¹⁸⁸ See MISO Comments at 17.

¹⁸⁹ See SPP Comments at 15.

a single dispatch signal that reflects the net supply and demand dispatch. ¹⁹⁰ ISO-NE adds that the Commission should not be overly prescriptive in this area, instead allowing each RTO/ISO to address these sorts of issues as necessary. NYISO requests that offers for simultaneous participation as supply and demand include an incremental cost construct that allows an electric storage resource's offer price for demand to be less than its offer price for supply and gives each RTO/ISO flexibility to determine an offer construct that best fits its software design. ¹⁹¹

155. Consistent with the single bid curve approach suggested by some RTOs/ISOs,
Energy Storage Association, and NextEra request that the Commission direct
RTOs/ISOs to permit electric storage resources to enter an energy bid curve with
price/quantity pairs for providing and withdrawing energy (bidding different quantities
of positive or negative MW for different energy prices) in both day-ahead and real-time
markets. 192

156. Ohio Commission recommends that the market monitors review all buy bids and sell offers to confirm that a resource is appropriately providing a marginal cost-based bid and not exercising market power.¹⁹³ While EEI is not aware of this issue currently, it

¹⁹⁰ See ISO-NE Comments at 22.

¹⁹¹ See NYISO Comments at 10.

¹⁹² See Energy Storage Association Comments at 17-18; NextEra Comments at 10, n.14.

¹⁹³ See Ohio Commission Comments at 8.

claims that it could arise as new technologies buy and sell in the same interval; therefore, it suggests that the Commission discuss this issue at a technical conference to determine if adequate monitoring mechanisms exist. 194

157. Efficient Holdings, Energy Storage Association, and NYPA support requiring electric storage resources to participate simultaneously as generation and load to maximize the value they can provide and provide the RTO/ISO with more flexibility to operate its system. Efficient Holdings contends that simultaneous buy and sell offers allow storage operators to absorb extra power when prices are low, thus lowering operators' fuel costs and adding greater flexibility to market operations and optimizing energy costs.

158. While Energy Storage Association argues that electric storage resources should be permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets simultaneously as generation and load, it argues that they should not have to register as, or be modeled as, two separate resources (i.e., generation and load) because it would limit the flexibility of scheduling and dispatching the storage resource in several ways. ¹⁹⁶ Energy Storage Association asserts that this would generally (1) only allow a resource to inject or withdraw energy on a bidding interval (i.e., hourly) basis, rather than allowing switching between buying

¹⁹⁴ See EEI Comments at 13.

¹⁹⁵ See Efficient Holdings Comments at 17; Energy Storage Association Comments at 18; NYPA Comments at 9.

¹⁹⁶ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 13, 18.

and selling energy on a dispatch interval (i.e., five-minute) basis; and (2) include transition time for switching from one mode of operation to another, which newer electric storage resources do not require. Energy Storage Association believes that an electric storage resource should be able to both withdraw energy from, and provide energy to, the grid and switch between states from one (five-minute) dispatch interval to the next, so it can be dispatched seamlessly across its full range (i.e., from positive to negative). Energy Storage Association contends that permitting resources to indicate their willingness to charge or discharge based on 5-minute pricing will allow RTOs/ISOs to more fully utilize the unique capabilities of electric storage resources. 159. In contrast, AES Companies argue that there is no reason to restrict an electric storage resource from both buying and selling in the same market interval because some electric storage technologies allow the resource owner to operate separate nodes independently. 197 Tesla/SolarCity argue that, while it is very likely that many electric storage resources will participate both as demand and supply resources in the same intervals during most times, the Commission should not require this because there are no efficiency gains and some optionality will be lost. 198

c. Commission Determination

160. While we find that simultaneous participation of resources using the participation model for electric storage resources as supply and demand may enable more efficient use

¹⁹⁷ See AES Companies Comments at 25-26.

¹⁹⁸ See Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 16.

of those resources, we also find that each RTO/ISO must have in place market rules that prevent conflicting dispatch signals in the same market interval in order to avoid any operational uncertainties or reliability concerns that could arise. In addition, while we agree with commenters that conflicting dispatch instructions will be prevented if market participants accurately represent their economic preferences in their bids, we find that relying on the expected behavior of market participants is not sufficient to alleviate the related operational concerns. Therefore, to mitigate the potential occurrence of conflicting dispatch instructions and to implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(b) of the Commission's regulations, on compliance to this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to either (1) demonstrate that its market design will not allow for conflicting supply offers and demand bids from the same resource for the same market interval or (2) modify its market rules to prevent conflicting supply offers and demand bids from the same resource for the same market interval.

161. Several approaches could address conflicting dispatch. We agree with commenters that allowing electric storage resources to represent their full economic range (both charging and discharging) in a single bid could avoid concerns with conflicting dispatch signals and give electric storage resources the flexibility to participate as supply, demand, or both through one bid. However, while we agree this approach could be effective at mitigating conflicting dispatch signals, there may be other reasonable approaches compatible with existing market designs in other RTOs/ISOs to prevent conflicting dispatch. For example, we agree with Bonneville, Imperial Irrigation District, and NRG that a screening mechanism in RTO/ISO software could also prevent

conflicting dispatch. We also agree with NYISO that a cost construct that ensures that the price of offers to sell are not lower than the price for bids to buy may be reasonable. Therefore, we will not require a specific approach in this Final Rule but require that the approach chosen by each RTO/ISO mitigates the possibility of conflicting dispatch instructions. However, we disagree with the Ohio Commission that it could be the responsibility of the market monitors to review bids to address conflicting dispatch and clarify that the RTO/ISO is responsible for preventing conflicting dispatch. 162. In response to the comment suggesting resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be able to enter an energy bid curve providing and withdrawing energy in both day-ahead and real-time markets, we clarify that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be able to submit offers to sell and bids to buy energy consistent with the opportunities available to other market participants in both the day-ahead and real-time markets. We also find a technical conference, as recommended by EEI, is unnecessary at this time given the existence of viable solutions to this issue identified by other commenters and given the flexibility that we provide each RTO/ISO and other market participants to address this issue.

163. Lastly, we clarify that, while each RTO/ISO should allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to participate as supply and demand simultaneously (i.e., submit bids to buy and offers to sell during the same market interval), the RTOs/ISOs should not require resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to participate as supply and demand simultaneously.

3. Make-Whole Payments

a. NOPR Request for Comments

164. In the NOPR, the Commission noted that a resource using the proposed participation model for electric storage resources that elects to submit an economic bid as a wholesale buyer and participate as a dispatchable demand resource would still be able to self-schedule its charging and be a price taker. However, the Commission noted that it is possible that the RTO/ISO could dispatch an electric storage resource as load when the wholesale price for energy is above the price of their bid to buy (a circumstance under which they would lose the opportunity to earn greater revenues as a supply resource). Therefore, to help alleviate any potential financial risk to electric storage resources when being dispatched as a demand resource, the Commission sought comments on whether the proposed participation model for electric storage resources should allow make-whole payments when a resource participating under this participation model is dispatched as load and the price of energy is higher than the resource's bid price.

¹⁹⁹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 85.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

b. Comments

165. Several commenters support allowing make-whole payments when an electric storage resource is dispatched as load and the price of energy is higher than the resource's bid price.²⁰⁰ Avangrid, EEI, and ISO-NE state that electric storage resources should be treated comparably to other resources with regard to make-whole payments.²⁰¹ Avangrid states that, if the RTO/ISO uses electric storage resources as both generation and load, the reasoning for make-whole payments exists in either direction. California Energy Storage Alliance asks the Commission to require all electric storage participation models to include the ability to recover commitment costs and receive make-whole payments.²⁰² Trans Bay asks the Commission to clarify that the NOPR does not preclude electric storage resources from receiving any non-market payments, including make-whole payments.²⁰³ While American Petroleum Institute does not oppose makewhole payments in principle, it argues these payments should not subsidize some technologies by mitigating the higher downside risk that should be managed by the owners of those resources. 204

²⁰⁰ See, e.g., CAISO Comments at 15; NRG Comments at 19; SoCal Edison Comments at 17-18; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 17.

²⁰¹ See Avangrid Comments at 8; EEI Comments at 13; ISO-NE Comments at 21-22.

²⁰² See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 11.

²⁰³ See Trans Bay Comments at 4.

²⁰⁴ See American Petroleum Institute Comments at 6.

166. Several commenters suggest that the Commission should not set specific requirements for make-whole payments in this final rule but should provide the RTOs/ISOs flexibility to establish rules for make-whole payments, if appropriate. ²⁰⁵ Six Cities state that, if the Commission allows RTOs/ISOs to propose make-whole payments for electric storage resources, such payments should only be allowed in limited circumstances to prevent any undue preference for electric storage resources. Six Cities assert, if make-whole payments are allowed, they should be analogous to criteria for bid cost recovery within CAISO or other analogous payments.

167. Several commenters raise concerns about the complexity of requiring make-whole payments. 206 MISO requests that the Commission hold a series of technical conferences to address significant design and compensation issues. SoCal Edison contends that make-whole payments need to work in conjunction with other mechanisms (such as market power mitigation, temporal and product revenue netting, and specific bidding rules). Xcel Energy Services states that make-whole payments require further consideration to ensure electric storage resources are treated comparably to other resources and to avoid unnecessary uplift charges.

168. Some commenters assert that make-whole payments are not necessary in certain

²⁰⁵ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 12; Six Cities Comments at 7-8 (citing CAISO Tariff at §11.8); SoCal Edison Comments at 18.

²⁰⁶ See MISO Comments at 18-19; SoCal Edison Comments at 18; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 18.

circumstances.²⁰⁷ ELCON and PJM reason that make-whole payments are not necessary for electric storage resources when they are dispatched as load and the price of energy is higher than the resource's bid price. Similarly, Electric Vehicle R&D Group states that make-whole payments do not seem necessary. ELCON believes that the resource should bear the financial risk of uneconomic dispatch.

169. Similar to how self-committed resources may not be able to receive make-whole payments for start-up costs, EPRI cautions that each RTO/ISO should consider whether certain costs should be eligible for make-whole payments when an electric storage resource self-manages its state-of-charge. MISO contends that the potential appropriateness of make-whole payments may depend on whether the state of charge is managed by an electric storage resource or optimized by the RTO. NYPA argues that, if the system operator is given state of charge control over a storage resource, RTO/ISO tariffs must compensate the resource if and when it is dispatched out of economic merit order. NYPA asserts that this compensation should apply to: (1) electric storage resources that are dispatched as load when the wholesale price for energy is above the

²⁰⁷ See ELCON Comments at 5-6; Electric Vehicle R&D Group Comments at 1; PJM Comments at 18-19.

²⁰⁸ See EPRI Comments at 26.

²⁰⁹ See MISO Comments at 18-19.

²¹⁰ See NYPA Comments at 12.

price of their bid to buy and (2) resources withheld from generating when their energy offer is infra-marginal.

170. Other commenters believe that the Commission should not require the RTO/ISO to provide make-whole payments to electric storage resources because they should be able to self-manage in a way that eliminates the need for make-whole payments and achieves better price formation. Acknowledging that make-whole payments are one potential solution to mitigate potential financial shortfalls, AES Companies contend that changes to the optimization price determination and the granting of flexibility for electric storage resources to manage their fuel use is preferable to make-whole payments. PJM Market Monitor similarly argues that market participants should decide when it is economic to buy and sell rather than create rules through which the market operator could dispatch a storage resource in a way inconsistent with its economics and then compensate it through an uplift payment.

171. Given that PJM does not dispatch load increases, it explains that, before engaging in this practice, it would need to consult with stakeholders to analyze whether the benefits would justify the costs. NYISO discourages creating price protections for electric storage resources when they are scheduled as demand because such treatment would not be comparable to the treatment of other resources that are scheduled as demand, noting that regional flexibility will provide the RTOs/ISOs with the opportunity to treat

²¹¹ See AES Companies Comments at 28; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 8.

²¹² See PJM Comments at 18.

resources comparably. 213

c. Commission Determination

172. Given the unique capability of electric storage resources to serve as both a supply of, and demand for, energy and to implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(b) of the Commission's regulations that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources be able to be dispatched and set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer, we find that the participation model for electric storage resources must allow make-whole payments when a resource is dispatched as load and the wholesale price is higher than the resource's bid price and when it is dispatched as supply and the wholesale price is lower than the resource's offer price. Therefore, as part of this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to ensure that resources available for manual dispatch as a wholesale buyer and wholesale seller under the participation model for electric storage resources are held harmless for manual dispatch by being eligible for make-whole payments. Any such make-whole payments must be consistent with the rules for makewhole payments for other dispatchable resources. This requirement is necessary to ensure that electric storage resources are treated like dispatchable resources that participate in the RTO/ISO markets. Because the rules for make-whole payments vary by RTO/ISO and there are inherent complexities in implementing this requirement, we will not require a specific method of make-whole payments. Instead, each RTO/ISO

²¹³ See NYISO Comments at 10.

will have the flexibility to establish a methodology under which resources using the participation model for electric storage resources can receive make-whole payments.

173. Recognizing that comprehensive market design changes could be necessary to implement this requirement, we believe that the compliance deadline and implementation schedule set forth in the Compliance Requirements section should provide sufficient time for the each RTO/ISO to work with its stakeholders to establish the necessary market rules for make-whole payments. In addition, given the time provided for each RTO/ISO to work with its stakeholders on this issue, we decline to hold the technical conferences requested by MISO.

174. We disagree with commenters who suggest that make-whole payments are not necessary because electric storage resources should bear the risk of uneconomic dispatch. Modeling, software, and certain other limitations are inherent in the complexity of the electric system and the tools available to maintain reliable operations. Uplift, or make-whole, payments may be needed to ensure that resources committed and dispatched out-of-market are able to recover their operating costs. Electric storage resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets are subject to the same system conditions as other resources that may cause them to be dispatched out-of-market and unable to recover their operating costs. Therefore, resources using the electric storage resource participation model should be able to receive the same make-whole payments that other resources receive to remedy the problem. Not offering make-whole payments

²¹⁴ See infra P 343.

to resources using the electric storage resource participation model could create a barrier to their participation in the RTO/ISO markets and be inconsistent with the treatment of other market participants.

175. Additionally, while the NOPR did not propose a requirement regarding make-whole payments for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources that are manually dispatched as supply, we agree with commenters' concerns that, if a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is available to be used by the RTO/ISO as both a supply and demand resource, then the RTO/ISO should provide make-whole payments for the resource in both directions. Therefore, we require each RTO/ISO to modify its tariff to allow a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to be eligible for make-whole payments when acting as a supply resource consistent with the rules governing the eligibility of other supply resources to receive make-whole payments. This requirement will further ensure that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources are treated like other dispatchable resources in the RTO/ISO markets and help make resources using the participation model for electric storage resources available to grid operators to address any reliability concerns through manual dispatch. As for NYPA's suggestion to make electric storage resources whole when they are withheld from generating when their energy offer is infra-marginal, we find that such payments should only be provided to resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to the extent that such payments are already provided to other market participants.

176. Regarding state-of-charge management, we agree with commenters that, if the

market participant is controlling its resource, and it has not been dispatched uneconomically by the RTO/ISO, then it would not be appropriate for the resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to receive make-whole payments. Similar to other market participants, make-whole payments should only be available to resources using the electric storage resource participation model if the system operator dispatches that resource in a way that is inconsistent with its bids to buy and offers to sell energy. We agree with commenters that self-management could be a means to minimize make-whole payments. As discussed in the State of Charge Management section, ²¹⁵ in this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to allow electric storage resources to self-manage their state of charge. However, to the extent that an RTO/ISO manually dispatches a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources, that resource must be able to recover their costs consistent with the manner in which other market participants are able to recover their costs if the RTO/ISO dispatches them uneconomically.

177. In response to NYISO and PJM, we note that one of the requirements of this Final Rule is that each RTO/ISO have the ability to dispatch electric storage resources as load. Therefore, in response to PJM, it is necessary for each RTO/ISO to establish a methodology under which resources using the participation model for electric storage resources that participate as load are able to receive make-whole payments.

²¹⁵ See infra P 248.

²¹⁶ See supra P 140.

Additionally, in response to NYISO, because electric storage resources must be able to be dispatched as load, their eligibility to receive make-whole payments when dispatched as load would need to be consistent with other dispatchable resources but would not need to be consistent with the eligibility of other load resources that are not dispatchable by the RTO/ISO.

E. Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources

1. Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage Resource Participation Model

a. NOPR Proposal

178. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that incorporates bidding parameters that reflect and account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources. Specifically, the Commission proposed that the RTOs/ISOs establish state of charge, upper charge limit, lower charge limit, maximum energy charge rate, and maximum energy discharge rate as bidding parameters for the participation model for electric storage resources that participating resources must submit, as applicable. The Commission also proposed that the participation model for electric storage resources include the following bidding parameters that market participants may submit, at their discretion, for their resource based on its physical constraints or desired

²¹⁷ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 66.

²¹⁸ See id. P 67.

operation: minimum charge time, maximum charge time, minimum run time, and maximum run time. ²¹⁹

b. Comments

179. Several commenters support the NOPR proposal to require each RTO/ISO to establish bidding parameters that reflect and account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources because they assert it will support efficient procurement of resources in the RTO/ISO markets and reduce system costs. 220 180. Other commenters support the NOPR proposal, subject to clarification. 221 EPRI contends that the definitions of the bidding parameters proposed in the NOPR are ambiguous and asks the Commission to explicitly define them. Beacon Power asks the Commission to ensure that, when implementing the proposed bidding parameters, the RTOs/ISOs do not impose any arbitrary requirements that limit electric storage resources' participation in their markets (such as a minimum time period over which energy must be dispatchable continuously at full capacity).

181. Several commenters do not necessarily oppose the NOPR proposal that each RTO/ISO incorporate certain bidding parameters into its participation model for electric storage resources but request that the Commission grant each RTO/ISO flexibility on

²¹⁹ See id. P 68.

²²⁰ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 24-25; Energy Storage Association Comments at 14; IRC Comments at 5; MISO Comments at 6; NESCOE Comments at 11; NYISO Comments at 9; Ohio Commission Comments at 7; Starwood Energy Comments at 5.

²²¹ See Beacon Power Comments at 5; EPRI Comments at 16-17.

compliance with respect to the bidding parameters that it ultimately adopts.²²² NYISO, Pacific Gas & Electric, and PJM ask the Commission to give each RTO/ISO flexibility to develop bidding parameters that are tailored to its market and reliability needs and to determine how to best use those bidding parameters in its market. Magnum agrees and further contends that the Commission should not mandate that each RTO/ISO adopt bidding parameters for specific types of electric storage resources. Connecticut State Entities argue that bidding parameters should not be so prescriptive as to determine prematurely which electric storage resource technologies to deploy. Connecticut State Entities claim that overly prescriptive bidding parameters would constrain load-serving entities' ability to adopt least-cost solutions.

APPA/NRECA also argue for flexibility, stating that the Commission should allow each RTO/ISO to demonstrate on compliance that the proposed minimum bidding requirements would harm the participation of electric storage resources in its markets and to propose a superior alternative. Similarly, Imperial Irrigation District asks the Commission to allow an RTO/ISO to decline to adopt a bidding parameter if it can demonstrate that it would be unnecessary or impractical. R Street Institute states that, while the required and optional bidding parameters are reasonable, each RTO/ISO should

²²² See Connecticut State Entities Comments at 6; Magnum Comments at 10-11; NYISO Comments at 9; PJM Comments at 10; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9.

²²³ See APPA/NRECA Comments at 14-15.

²²⁴ See Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 9.

incorporate the proposed optional bidding parameters in its software only if justified by forward cost/benefit analysis.²²⁵

182. Some commenters argue that certain of the physical and operational characteristics that the Commission proposed as bidding parameters in the NOPR are better represented through other means. For example, ISO-NE argues that it is a misnomer to characterize state of charge as a bidding parameter because it is a physical characteristic that constantly changes in real time. Likewise, CAISO, IRC, and Pacific Gas & Electric assert that certain electric storage resource-specific characteristics (such as charging and discharging rates, charge limits, and minimum charge times) are physical characteristics that should be static and not subject to change through a resource's offer or bid. Pacific Gas & Electric notes that it may be better to include such physical and operational characteristics in each resource's data file, while CAISO suggests that they may be accounted for through other means besides bidding parameters.

²²⁵ See R Street Institute Comments at 5.

²²⁶ See CAISO Comments at 10-11; IRC Comments at 5; ISO-NE Comments at 18; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 10.

183. A few commenters oppose any requirement that each RTO/ISO incorporate bidding parameters into its participation model for electric storage resources. AES Companies contend that the proposed bidding parameters may artificially limit the performance of some electric storage technologies, while MISO Transmission Owners argue that they have the potential to limit the services that a resource can provide. AES Companies and MISO Transmission Owners argue that, in place of the NOPR proposal, the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to determine the parameters and data requirements necessary for it to efficiently dispatch a resource given the services offered and then set performance-based standards for each service. Both AES Companies and MISO Transmission Owners further suggest that each RTO/ISO should include these technology-specific bidding parameters in its business practice manuals rather than its tariff.

184. In addition, DER/Storage Developers contend that bidding parameters should be flexible and differ for different services. DTE Electric/Consumers Energy assert that the proposed bidding parameters are not clear, may not be applicable to all resource types, and may not take full advantage of the value of the existing pumped-hydro resources. Therefore, DTE Electric/Consumers Energy asks the Commission to allow

²²⁷ See AES Companies Comments at 5-6; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 10-11.

²²⁸ See DER/Storage Developers Comments at 4-5.

each RTO/ISO to work with its stakeholders to develop bidding parameters that accommodate all electric storage resources or hold a technical conference on the issue. 185. A few commenters opine on the ability of resources using the electric storage resource participation model to update their bidding parameters as those values change.²²⁹ Energy Storage Association states that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to allow a resource using the electric storage resource participation model to submit the state-of-charge bidding parameter in both the day-ahead and real-time markets. According to Energy Storage Association, allowing a resource using the electric storage resource participation model to update its state-of-charge bidding parameter in the real-time market will provide the RTO/ISO with better information about such a resource's limitations and availability in the next market interval. DER/Storage Developers contend that electric storage resources should be able to adjust their bidding parameters hourly to account for their state of charge. Similarly, Tesla/SolarCity assert that, to maintain feasibility of schedules and increase asset value, electric storage resources should be able to change their bidding parameters as their state of charge changes.

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

186. Upon consideration of the comments, we will modify the NOPR proposal in this Final Rule to provide greater flexibility for each RTO/ISO to demonstrate that its

²²⁹ See DER/Storage Developers Comments at 5; Energy Storage Association Comments at 15; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 14-15.

participation model for electric storage resources accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources. As the Commission stated in the NOPR, requiring each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that incorporates bidding parameters that account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources will allow such resources to provide all of the services that they are technically capable of providing and allow the RTOs/ISOs to procure these services more efficiently.²³⁰ We continue to believe that the lack of any means of accounting for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources could present barriers to the participation of these resources in the RTO/ISO markets, limiting competition and thereby potentially rendering the resulting rates unjust and unreasonable.

187. We are persuaded, however, by commenters' arguments that there may be other means of accounting for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources than bidding parameters. For example, some of the bidding parameters that the Commission proposed in the NOPR may account for physical characteristics that do not change over time, such that an electric storage resource could report that information when registering as a market participant in an RTO/ISO without updating that information continually through its bidding parameters. However, we note that it may only be possible to represent some of the physical and operational characteristics (such as a forecasted State of Charge) through bidding parameters. Furthermore, we agree

²³⁰ See NOPR, FERC Stats. and Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 66.

with commenters that greater regional flexibility than the Commission proposed in the NOPR is appropriate; different RTOs/ISOs may be able to more effectively account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through different mechanisms given their unique market designs.

Therefore, we add section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(c) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to have tariff provisions providing a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means. In its compliance filing, each RTO/ISO must demonstrate how its proposed or existing tariff provisions account for the specific physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources described below. We find that this requirement will improve the ability of electric storage resources to provide all of the services that they are technically capable of providing and allow the RTOs/ISOs to procure these services more efficiently, which will enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that the RTO/ISO markets produce just and reasonable rates.

188. Additionally, as discussed in further detail below, we will not require the RTOs/ISOs to make the submission of any information by the resource owner/operator mandatory. Instead, we provide flexibility to each RTO/ISO to determine whether it is mandatory for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to submit information regarding their physical and operational characteristics, or whether resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be allowed to submit such information at their discretion. This flexibility will allow each RTO/ISO

to accept information from resources using the participation model for electric storage resources consistent with how it accepts information from other market participants. It also may help prevent resources using the participation model for electric storage resources from having to submit information that is not applicable given their physical, operational, or commercial circumstances.

189. With respect to commenters' request that the RTOs/ISOs should allow electric storage resources to update their bidding parameters, we find that, to the extent that an RTO/ISO adopts bidding parameters to account for the physical and operational characteristics set forth in this Final Rule, it must permit a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to submit those bidding parameters in both the day-ahead and the real-time markets. To efficiently dispatch its system, an RTO/ISO must have accurate information about the physical and operational characteristics of the resources participating in its markets. Allowing a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to provide updated information through any applicable bidding parameters, consistent with the opportunities that other market participants have to do so, will help to ensure that each RTO/ISO has the information necessary to efficiently dispatch its system, fully accounting for the physical and operational capabilities of the resources using the participation model for electric storage resources participating in its markets.

190. In the following subsections, we set forth the physical and operational characteristics for which each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account, whether through bidding parameters or other means. We

discuss these physical and operational characteristics in terms of the bidding parameters proposed in the NOPR, making clarifications as necessary. First, we discuss the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources associated with the bidding parameters that the Commission proposed a resource using an electric storage resource participation model must submit to the RTO/ISO, which were identified as the mandatory bidding parameters, including state of charge, upper and lower charge limits, and maximum charge and discharge rates. Second, we discuss the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources associated with the bidding parameters that the Commission proposed a resource using an electric storage resource participation model could submit to the RTO/ISO at the resource's discretion, which were identified as the optional bidding parameters, including maximum and minimum charge time and maximum and minimum run time. Finally, we address the physical and operational characteristics for which each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account that are not associated with any bidding parameter proposed in the NOPR but instead were suggested by commenters and we believe are appropriate to adopt here.

2. <u>State of Charge, Upper and Lower Charge Limits, and Maximum Charge and Discharge Rates</u>

a. NOPR Proposal

In the NOPR, the Commission proposed that each RTO/ISO establish the following bidding parameters for the participation model for electric storage resources that participating resources must submit, as applicable: state of charge, upper charge limit,

lower charge limit, maximum energy charge rate, and maximum energy discharge rate. ²³¹ The Commission explained that the state-of-charge bidding parameter would allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to identify their forecasted state of charge at the end of a market interval, as defined by the RTO/ISO, while the upper and lower charge limits would prevent the operator from trying to give too much energy to or take too much energy from the resource. The Commission further stated that it expected that the state of charge would be telemetered in real time when the RTO/ISO is managing the state of charge so that the upper and lower charge limits are not exceeded. However, the Commission did not propose any specific telemetry requirements. Finally, the Commission explained that the maximum energy charge rate and maximum energy discharge rate would be used to indicate how quickly the resource can receive energy from or inject it back to the grid.

b. Comments

191. The Commission received a number of comments on the NOPR proposal requiring each RTO/ISO to establish state of charge, upper and lower charge limit, and maximum energy charge and discharge rate as mandatory bidding parameters for resources using the electric storage resource participation model. Below, we present the comments received with respect to three groups of the proposed bidding parameters: (1) State of Charge, (2) Upper and Lower Charge Limit, and (3) Maximum Energy Charge and Discharge Rate.

²³¹ See id. P 67.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

i. State of Charge

192. Several commenters support the proposed requirement that each RTO/ISO adopt a state-of-charge bidding parameter.²³² Advanced Energy Economy claims that many RTOs/ISOs do not have tariff provisions in place to account for the state of charge of electric storage resources, despite the fact that it is a defining characteristic of such resources.

193. Other commenters argue that the Commission should modify the NOPR proposal so that a resource using the electric storage resource participation model is not required to submit information for the state-of-charge bidding parameter to the RTO/ISO, at least under certain circumstances. Specifically, CAISO, Energy Storage Association, NextEra, and NYPA ask the Commission to clarify that an electric storage resource is only required to use the state of charge bidding parameter if the resource owner has opted for the RTO/ISO to manage its state of charge. They argue that an electric storage resource that opts to manage its own state of charge would do so through its bidding strategy rather than the RTO/ISO market processes and that it is therefore unnecessary for such a resource to submit its state of charge to the RTO/ISO as a bidding parameter. SPP asserts that, to dispatch and clear the appropriate amount of resources, it must know

²³² See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 24-25; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 15; NESCOE Comments at 11; Ohio Commission Comments at 7; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 14.

²³³ See CAISO Comments at 11-12; Energy Storage Association Comments at 14-15; NextEra Comments at 9; NYPA Comments at 9.

the real-time state of charge for an electric storage resource for which it is managing state of charge.²³⁴ However, SPP states that it does not require information on the state of charge of electric storage resources that are self-managing their state of charge. 194. While stating that it supports the NOPR proposal directing RTOs/ISOs to institute new electric storage resource-related bidding parameters, Energy Storage Association also explains that requiring electric storage resources that provide both retail and wholesale services to use the proposed bidding parameters could adversely affect their capability to provide retail service. ²³⁵ California Energy Storage Alliance and Stem contend that certain bidding parameters, including state of charge, may be difficult or infeasible for some electric storage resources to provide. ²³⁶ Thus, California Energy Storage Alliance, National Hydropower Association, and Stem argue that it should be optional for an electric storage resource to provide its state of charge to the RTO/ISO.²³⁷ 195. Pacific Gas & Electric supports the inclusion of a bidding parameter that a resource using the electric storage resource participation model can use in the day-ahead markets

²³⁴ See SPP Comments at 10.

²³⁵ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 14. Energy Storage Association's statement applies equally to the proposed Upper and Lower Charge Limit and Maximum Energy Charge and Discharge Rate bidding parameters.

²³⁶ See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 6-7; Stem Comments at 15-16.

²³⁷ See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 6-7; National Hydropower Association Comments at 8-9; Stem Comments at 15-16. California Energy Storage Alliance's and Stem's statements apply equally to the proposed Upper and Lower Charge Limit and Maximum Energy Charge and Discharge Rate bidding parameters.

to indicate its state of charge at the beginning of the operating day. ²³⁸ However, Pacific Gas & Electric opposes any requirement for each RTO/ISO to adopt an hourly or real-time state-of-charge bidding parameter. Pacific Gas & Electric claims that such a requirement could enable market manipulation by allowing resources to indicate that they are unavailable to provide energy to the market without reporting an outage. To the extent that a resource using the electric storage resource participation model desires to update its state of charge more frequently, Pacific Gas & Electric contends that it should manage its own state of charge through its market bidding.

196. ISO-NE opposes the NOPR proposal for a State of Charge bidding parameter and argues that it is a misnomer to characterize state of charge as a bidding parameter because it is a physical characteristic that constantly changes in real time. Thus, ISO-NE asserts that the Commission should not require state of charge as a day-ahead or real-time bidding parameter, nor require any optimization of this type of parameter in the day-ahead or real-time energy market. ISO-NE contends that, instead, the Commission should allow RTOs/ISOs to develop methods to acquire communication of a resource's current state of charge, use the state of charge data, and potentially require market participants to manage their state of charge using their energy market supply offers and demand bids.

197. AES Companies explain that, for certain electric storage technologies, dispatching

²³⁸ See Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 8-9.

²³⁹ See ISO-NE Comments at 18.

the resource based on a state-of-charge or upper or lower charge limit bidding parameter could lead to its under-utilization.²⁴⁰ AES Companies add that the proposed state-of-charge bidding parameter does not reflect the availability of the resource or the sophisticated software used to optimize the resource's useful life. Moreover, AES Companies assert that, if a resource is deployed in a manner that violates its optimal state of charge management, then the associated costs should be included in market offers and the decision to offer must be at the asset owner's discretion.

198. Research Scientists explain that, to make use of the full flexibility of electric storage resources, a fixed state-of-charge target may not be ideal because it limits the dispatch flexibility in real-time operations.²⁴¹ Research Scientists argue that state-of-charge range is a better strategy to enable the use of an electric storage resource to address unexpected system deviations in real time.

199. In addition, a few commenters, including those that support the NOPR proposal, take issue with the Commission's statement that the state-of-charge bidding parameter will allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to identify their forecasted state of charge at the end of a market interval. Beacon Power contends that any state-of-charge bidding parameters should reflect an actual state of charge at any point in time, rather than a forecasted state of charge, which would be

²⁴⁰ See AES Companies Comments at 20-22.

²⁴¹ See Research Scientists Comments at 7.

²⁴² See Beacon Power Comments at 6; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9.

difficult for the resource or RTO/ISO to predict. Pacific Gas & Electric argues that allowing an electric storage resource to target a particular state of charge at the end of a market interval could enable manipulation in circumstances in which the RTO/ISO is managing a resource's state of charge because the RTO/ISO would have to dispatch the resource as necessary to achieve its specified state of charge regardless of whether such dispatch were economic.

200. Energy Storage Association clarifies that CAISO's tariff allows electric storage resources to submit a forecasted starting state-of-charge value for the day-ahead market, not for the end of a market interval.²⁴³ NextEra agrees and asks the Commission to clarify that the state-of-charge bidding parameter is not limited to the resource owner's forecasted state of charge at the end of the market interval.²⁴⁴ Similarly, Research Scientists request clarification on whether the state-of-charge bidding parameter provides an electric storage resource's desired state of charge at the beginning or end of a market interval.²⁴⁵ EPRI clarifies that it understands that the state of charge is the level

²⁴³ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 14-15.

²⁴⁴ See NextEra Comments at 9.

²⁴⁵ See Research Scientists Comments at 7.

of energy that an electric storage resource has available at present or anticipates to have at the start of the market interval.²⁴⁶

that, when the RTO/ISO is managing the state of charge, it expects that the state of charge would be telemetered in real time. ²⁴⁷ ISO-NE states that an electric storage resource's state of charge should be telemetered in real time, arguing that this data is essential for reliable and efficient system operation. IRC agrees that electric storage resources should provide information about their state of charge to the RTO/ISO, stating that the state of charge must be telemetered to the RTO/ISO in real time if other resources are required to be telemetered. Xcel Energy Services argues that RTOs/ISOs should have the capability to monitor state of charge so that they can verify that an electric storage resource could provide ancillary services if called upon to do so. Beacon Power asserts that an electric storage resource (whether or not the RTO/ISO is managing its state of charge) should be required to notify the RTO/ISO of its state of charge on a timely basis.

202. In contrast, Energy Storage Association also contends that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to institute a capability to continually monitor an electric storage resource's state of charge but should only perform such monitoring when an electric

²⁴⁶ See EPRI Comments at 17.

²⁴⁷ See Beacon Power Comments at 6; IRC Comments at 5; ISO-NE Comments at 18; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 19.

storage resource submits its state of charge as a bidding parameter.²⁴⁸ Energy Storage Association contends that monitoring such a resource's state of charge will allow the RTO/ISO to better optimize the scheduling and dispatch of the resource.

ii. Upper and Lower Charge Limit

203. ISO-NE, Massachusetts State Entities, and NESCOE support the proposed requirement that each RTO/ISO establish upper charge limit and lower charge limit as bidding parameters for resources using the electric storage resource participation model. NYPA supports the proposed bidding parameters conditional on the Commission clarifying in this Final Rule that an electric storage resource managing its own state of charge is not required to submit information on its upper and lower charge limit. EPRI states that it interprets the upper charge limit as the maximum amount of power the electric storage resource can withdraw at any given instant and the lower charge limit as the minimum amount of power the electric storage resource can withdraw at any instant in time.

²⁴⁸ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 15-16.

²⁴⁹ See ISO-NE Comments at 17; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 15; NESCOE Comments at 11.

²⁵⁰ See NYPA Comments at 9.

²⁵¹ See EPRI Comments at 17.

iii. Maximum Energy Charge and Discharge Rate

204. Several commenters support the proposed requirement that each RTO/ISO establish maximum energy charge rate and maximum energy discharge rate as bidding parameters for the participation model for electric storage resources. 252 However, NextEra also states that electric storage resources can have different charge and discharge rates depending on their current state of charge and thus requests that the Commission clarify that it does not propose to require a single, static charge or discharge rate for an electric storage resource's entire operating range. ²⁵³ NYPA and Pacific Gas & Electric argue that maximum charge and discharge rates should be optional bidding parameters, at least when an electric storage resource is managing its own state of charge.²⁵⁴ 205. Finally, EPRI requests clarification of the Commission's definitions for maximum energy charge and discharge rate.²⁵⁵ EPRI notes that it understands that "maximum energy charge rate" is the speed at which an electric storage resource can change its withdrawn power amount. EPRI also states that it understands that "maximum energy discharge rate" is the speed at which an electric storage resource can change its injected power amount, which is identical to the current ramp rates that generators provide.

²⁵² See, e.g., IRC Comments at 5-6; ISO-NE Comments at 17; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 15; NESCOE Comments at 11; NextEra Comments at 9; Ohio Commission Comments at 7.

²⁵³ See NextEra Comments at 10.

²⁵⁴ See NYPA Comments at 9; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9.

²⁵⁵ See EPRI Comments at 17.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

c. Commission Determination

206. To implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(c) of the Commission's regulations, in this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal, with the modifications discussed below, to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the following physical and operational characteristics of such resources: State of Charge, Minimum State of Charge, Maximum State of Charge, Minimum Charge Limit and Maximum Charge Limit. As discussed above in the Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage Resource Participation Model section, ²⁵⁶ each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account for these physical and operational characteristics, whether through bidding parameters or other means. To the extent that an RTO/ISO proposes to comply with this requirement through its existing bidding parameters or other existing market mechanisms, it must demonstrate in its compliance filing how its existing market rules already account for these characteristics of electric storage resources.

207. Upon consideration of the comments, however, we will modify the proposed requirement that a resource using an RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must submit information concerning these physical and operational characteristics to the RTO/ISO. As commenters state, not all of these physical and operational characteristics are applicable to all electric storage resources, particularly

²⁵⁶ See supra P 0.

when a resource is managing its own state of charge and when the resource is providing multiple services. We agree that the physical and operational characteristics adopted in this Final Rule may need to acknowledge commercial obligations in addition to physical and operational limitations. Thus, we find that an RTO/ISO should have flexibility in how a resource using a participation model for electric storage resources will be allowed to represent its physical, operational, and commercial circumstances. This flexibility will allow an RTO/ISO to determine, consistent with how it treats other resources, whether it is mandatory for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to submit information regarding these physical and operational characteristics, or whether resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be allowed to submit this information at their discretion.

208. In addition, we clarify the meaning of these proposed physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, as commenters request. First, we clarify that State of Charge represents the amount of energy stored in proportion to the limit on the amount of energy that can be stored, typically expressed as a percentage. Moreover, we agree with EPRI and other commenters that the State of Charge as a bidding parameter is the level of energy that an electric storage resource is anticipated to have available at the *start* of the market interval rather than the end. As noted above in the Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage Resource Participation Model section, ²⁵⁷ we require each RTO/ISO to allow a resource using the participation

²⁵⁷ See supra P 189.

model for electric storage resources to submit its State of Charge in both day-ahead and real-time markets. We find that this requirement will provide the RTOs/ISOs with more accurate market information regarding the resource's actual state of charge and prevent the RTO/ISO from needing to make assumptions about the state of charge of an electric storage resource, which is particularly important if the resource did not receive an award in the previous market interval. Moreover, it provides the electric storage resource owner/operator with a usable bidding parameter to reflect the actual operating conditions of the resource, providing more certainty to the RTO/ISO about the capabilities of the resource.

209. Additionally, while the NOPR indicated the Commission's expectation that the state of charge of a resource using the electric storage resource participation model would be telemetered in real time when the RTO/ISO manages that resource's state of charge, as discussed further below, we provide each RTO/ISO the flexibility to propose telemetry requirements for such resources in their compliance filings. This flexibility will allow the RTOs/ISOs to implement the requirements of this Final Rule consistent with the telemetry requirements for different services and other market participants in each RTO/ISO. For example, telemetry may be necessary if an electric storage resource is

participating exclusively in the frequency regulation market but less important if that resource is providing capacity or energy to the RTOs/ISOs.

210. Second, we clarify that the upper and lower charge limits discussed in the NOPR represent the minimum and maximum state of charge of an electric storage resource.

Because they are state of charge values, we will refer to these values in this Final Rule as the Maximum and Minimum State of Charge. More specifically, the Maximum State of Charge represents the state of charge that should not be exceeded (i.e., gone above) when the electric storage resource is receiving electric energy from the grid, while the Minimum State of Charge represents the state of charge that should not be exceeded (i.e., gone below) when an electric storage resource is injecting electric energy onto the grid. These values will allow a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to place limits on the degree to which the RTO/ISO can charge or discharge the resource, ensuring that it is operated within its design limitations and preventing excessive wear and tear. These values may be either static values based on manufacturer specifications or dynamic values depending on the operational characteristics of the resource (e.g., if it is providing multiple services and needs to reserve part of its state of charge for another service).

211. Finally, we clarify that the maximum charge and discharge rates discussed in the NOPR represent the operating limits of an electric storage resource. As such, we refer to them in this Final Rule as Maximum Charge Limit and Maximum Discharge Limit.

Specifically, we clarify that the Maximum Charge Limit for a resource using the electric storage resource participation model is the maximum MW quantity of electric energy that it can receive from the grid, and the Maximum Discharge Limit is the maximum MW quantity that the resource can inject onto the grid. The Maximum Discharge Limit is analogous to, and could potentially be represented by, the economic maximum that traditional generation resources can generally submit with their offers. Having both a

Maximum Charge Limit and Maximum Discharge Limit ensures that RTO/ISO modeling and dispatch can account for the capabilities of resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to both receive and inject electric energy in accordance with their maximum physical capabilities in both directions.

3. <u>Minimum Charge Time, Maximum Charge Time, Minimum</u> Run Time, and Maximum Run Time

a. NOPR Proposal

212. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require that each RTO/ISO include in its participation model for electric storage resources the following bidding parameters that market participants may submit, at their discretion, for their resource based on its physical constraints or desired operation: minimum charge time, maximum charge time, minimum run time, and maximum run time. ²⁵⁸

b. <u>Comments</u>

213. Energy Storage Association, NESCOE, Open Access Technology, and SPP support the NOPR proposal.²⁵⁹ Specifically, Energy Storage Association and NESCOE contend that establishing these optional bidding parameters that reflect the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources may allow RTOs/ISOs to more

²⁵⁸ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 68. The Commission acknowledged that some of these optional bidding parameters may not be necessary for resources participating under the proposed participation model for electric storage resources that provide certain information to the RTO/ISO through telemetry. *Id.* n.130.

²⁵⁹ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 14; NESCOE Comments at 11-12; Open Access Technology Comments at 2; SPP Comments at 12.

efficiently dispatch all of the resources (including electric storage resources) that participate in their markets, thereby reducing system costs. Magnum supports the NOPR proposal given that the proposed bidding parameters are optional for resources using the electric storage resource participation model to submit; however, Magnum argues that these requirements should not require an electric storage resource to be a "must run" facility.²⁶⁰

214. CAISO and ISO-NE oppose the NOPR proposal.²⁶¹ CAISO does not agree that minimum charge time, maximum charge time, minimum run time, and maximum run time should be bidding parameters because (1) they represent the physical characteristics of a particular electric storage resource and (2)other resources (such as pumped-hydro resources) are not permitted to change their physical operating characteristics through a bid. According to ISO-NE, these bidding parameters are not necessary for all electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets nor to clear these markets or operate the power system. ISO-NE adds that these additional bidding parameters may increase the complexity of implementing the final rule's requirements but provide little value. Thus, ISO-NE requests that the Commission allow each RTO/ISO to determine whether and how to implement these parameters in the future based on their experience working with different types of electric storage technologies.

²⁶⁰ Magnum Comments at 12.

²⁶¹ See CAISO Comments at 10-11; ISO-NE Comments at 19.

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

215. To implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(c) of the Commission's regulations, in this Final Rule, we modify the NOPR proposal, with the clarification provided below, to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the following physical and operational characteristics of such resources: Minimum Charge Time, Maximum Charge Time, Minimum Run Time, and Maximum Run Time. As discussed above in the Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage Resource Participation Model section, ²⁶² each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account for these physical and operational characteristics, whether through bidding parameters or other means. We do not adopt the component of the NOPR proposal to require the RTO/ISO to allow market participants to submit this information at their discretion. Instead, consistent with the discussion above, we provide flexibility to each RTO/ISO to determine, consistent with how it treats other resources, whether it is mandatory for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to submit information regarding these physical and operational characteristics, or whether resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be allowed to submit this information at their discretion. Additionally, to the extent that an RTO/ISO proposes to comply with this requirement through its existing bidding parameters or other existing market mechanisms, it must demonstrate in its compliance

²⁶² See supra P 0.

filing how its existing market rules account for these characteristics of electric storage resources.

- 216. We find that it is necessary for a resource using an RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources to be able to provide information concerning these physical and operational characteristics to the RTO/ISO because, like traditional generation resources, it may only be economic for the resource to operate if it is guaranteed to do so for minimum amount of time. Additionally, unlike traditional generation resources, it is physically impossible for an electric storage resource to charge or discharge energy for longer than their state of charge would allow.
- 217. However, we clarify the NOPR proposal, further explaining the meaning of these physical and operational characteristics. First, we clarify that Minimum Charge Time represents the shortest duration that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is able to be dispatched by the RTO/ISO to receive electric energy from the grid. For example, it may only be possible for resources with slower transition speeds (such as pumped-hydro resources) to receive electric energy from the grid if it can do so for some minimum period of time (e.g., for one hour). Minimum Charge Time is similar to the Minimum Run Time for traditional generation resources but represents the minimum time the resource can receive electric energy from the grid, rather than provide electric energy to the grid.
- 218. We further clarify that Maximum Charge Time represents the maximum duration that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is able to be dispatched by the RTO/ISO to receive electric energy from the grid (e.g., for four hours).

If the RTO/ISO is not managing the state of charge of the electric storage resource in real time, then this parameter will prevent it from dispatching the resource to charge for a duration that would exceed the resource's Maximum State of Charge. It also provides useful information about how long the electric storage resource can be relied upon to receive energy from the grid if the system operator needs to dispatch it to do so. 219. Finally, we clarify that Minimum Run Time and Maximum Run Time are the minimum and maximum amounts of time that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is able to discharge electric energy. Maximum Run Time reflects the maximum amount of time that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is able to inject electric energy to the grid due to physical or operational constraints, such as its state of charge or potential obligations to provide other services. Similarly, Minimum Run Time allows the resource to identify the minimum amount of time the resource is physically able to discharge electric energy onto the grid. Minimum Run Time already exists in the RTOs/ISOs to prevent excessive wear and tear on traditional generation resources due to starting and stopping a resource too frequently and to ensure they are able to recover the costs of starting. To the extent that an RTO/ISO already accounts for this characteristic of the participation model for electric storage resources through its existing bidding parameters or other means, it must demonstrate in its compliance filing how its existing market rules do so.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

4. Additional Physical and Operational Characteristics

a. <u>Comments</u>

220. In addition to the bidding parameters that the Commission proposed in the NOPR, a number of commenters identify physical and operational characteristics that they argue the Commission should also require each RTO/ISO to incorporate into its participation model for electric storage resources. For example, EPRI contends that, to the extent that the Upper and Lower Charge Limit bidding parameters proposed in the NOPR do not represent the maximum and minimum amount of energy that an electric storage resource can store, the Commission should adopt additional bidding parameters in the final rule to capture this information. According to EPRI, this information is necessary for an RTO/ISO to manage an electric storage resource's state of charge within that resource's limits.

221. Several commenters support the concept of a bidding parameter(s) that reflects the time that an electric storage resource needs to transition from charging to discharging and from discharging to charging. NYPA asserts that an electric storage resource may also need a bidding parameter that reflects any ramp rate for those transitions. Relatedly, EPRI explains that energy storage resources that cannot transition from charging to discharging (and vice versa) instantaneously may require minimum charge level as a bidding parameter. EPRI further explains that software models may also require that the

²⁶³ See EPRI Comments at 7-8, 17-18; NRG Comments at 9, 15; NYPA Comments at 9; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

values for maximum energy charge and discharge rates (ramp rates) bidding parameters to be the same for these resources.

222. Some commenters propose bidding parameters to reflect any limits on an electric storage resource's operations. 264 California Energy Storage Alliance and Pacific Gas & Electric suggest that the Commission could adopt through-put limit as a bidding parameter. California Energy Storage Alliance claims that such a bidding parameter is necessary because cycling multiple times a day can cause excessive wear and tear to electric storage resources. NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners suggest maximum and minimum allowable charge and maximum daily charging and discharging cycles as bidding parameters. NYPA argues that bidding parameters should reflect the unique operating costs of electric storage resources (such as wear and tear, lost opportunity costs, and efficiency losses). Research Scientists assert that, to contribute to their economic viability, bidding parameters for most electrochemical energy storage technologies should represent their power limits, efficiency/losses, and degradation. 223. Other commenters propose various additional bidding parameters, including charge and discharge price, maximum consumption for dispatch asset-related demand, minimum time between discharge cycles for demand response resources, ²⁶⁵ minimum

²⁶⁴ See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 13; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 6; NYPA Comments at 9-10; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9; Research Scientists Comments at 6-7.

²⁶⁵ See NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 6.

energy charge and discharge rate, self-discharge rate, ²⁶⁶ round-trip efficiency (i.e., the ratio of how much energy is lost from charge to discharge), ²⁶⁷ and separate ramp rates for energy and reserves, ²⁶⁸ as well as bidding parameters that reflect electric storage resources' ability to respond to transients with automatic voltage regulation, power system stability, and generator droop. ²⁶⁹

b. Commission Determination

224. Upon consideration of the comments, and to implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(c) of the Commission's regulations, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to incorporate a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the following physical and operational characteristics that were not proposed in the NOPR: Minimum Discharge Limit, Minimum Charge Limit, Discharge Ramp Rate, and Charge Ramp Rate. Each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account for these physical and operational characteristics, whether through bidding parameters or other means. Consistent with the discussion above, we provide flexibility to each RTO/ISO to determine, consistent with how it treats other resources, whether it is mandatory for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to submit information regarding these physical and

²⁶⁶ See Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 9.

²⁶⁷ See EPRI Comments at 17-18.

²⁶⁸ See Dominion Comments at 6-7.

²⁶⁹ See Magnum Comments at 11.

operational characteristics, or whether resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should be allowed to submit this information at their discretion. To the extent that an RTO/ISO proposes to comply with this requirement through its existing bidding parameters or other existing market mechanisms, it must demonstrate in its compliance filing how its existing market rules account for these characteristics of electric storage resources.

- 225. We find that requiring each RTO's/ISO's electric storage resource participation model to account for these physical and operational characteristics is necessary to improve the ability of electric storage resources to provide all of the services that they are technically capable of providing and to allow the RTOs/ISOs to procure these services more efficiently, which will enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that the RTO/ISO markets produce just and reasonable rates.
- 226. First, we are persuaded by EPRI's suggestion that some electric storage resources may need to identify their minimum operating limits when they are charging or discharging. Specifically, an electric storage resource may need to identify its Minimum Discharge Limit, which represents the minimum MW output level that the resource can inject onto the grid, and its Minimum Charge Limit, which represents the minimum MW level that the resource can receive from the grid.
- 227. Like traditional generation resources, some electric storage resources may not be able to inject energy onto the grid below a minimum MW output level due to the physical capabilities of individual turbines or the power electronic of the system. Also like traditional generators, we find that resources using the participation model for

electric storage resources should be able to represent such a minimum value in the RTO/ISO markets. Because electric storage resources are also able to receive electric energy from the grid, there may be a Minimum Charge Limit in MWs that they are able to receive from the grid as well due to similar physical constraints of the resource or its power electronics.

228. Therefore, while the Commission did not propose in the NOPR to require each RTO's/ISO's electric storage resource participation model to account for the Minimum Charge Limit or Minimum Discharge Limit of a resource using the electric storage resource participation model, in this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to account for these physical characteristics as part of its participation model for electric storage resources.

229. In addition, we agree with EPRI that the speed at which electric storage resources can move from zero output to full output, or its Maximum Discharge Limit, is the same as the current ramp rates provided by traditional generation resources. However, we find that it is important to ensure that electric storage resources are able to represent this physical characteristic consistent with how other market participants are able to do so. Therefore, for purposes of this Final Rule, we refer to this parameter as the Discharge Ramp Rate and require each RTO/ISO to account for this physical characteristic in its participation model for electric storage resources by either making existing ramp rate parameters available to resources using the participation model for electric storage resources or by other means. The unique consideration for electric storage resources is their ability to both charge and discharge energy and to transition from one operational

state to the other. Therefore, in addition to a Discharge Ramp Rate, we require each RTO/ISO to account for a Charge Ramp Rate in its participation models for electric storage resources. The Charge Ramp Rate represents the speed at which an electric storage resource can move from zero output to fully charging, or the resource's Maximum Charge Limit. While electric storage resources are often designed to charge and discharge at the same speeds, that is not always the case, and there may be other physical or operational reasons that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources need to differentiate their Charge Ramp Rate from the Discharge Ramp Rate. Therefore, in this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to account for these characteristics as part of its participation model for electric storage resources.

230. We do not find it necessary to require each RTO/ISO to account for the other physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources that commenters suggest in its participation model for electric storage resources. However, we recognize that, given the different market structures of the RTOs/ISOs, there may be additional physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources that each RTO/ISO wishes to reflect in its participation model for such resources to allow it to more efficiently dispatch its system. Thus, we will allow each RTO/ISO to propose in its compliance filing bidding parameters or other means to account for physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources besides those set forth in this Final Rule. To the extent that an RTO/ISO includes such a proposal in its compliance filing, the RTO/ISO must demonstrate that such bidding parameters or other mechanisms

do not impose barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in its markets.

5. <u>Summary of Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources</u>

231. For ease of reference, the following chart summarizes the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources for which each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account:

Definition
State of Charge represents the amount of energy stored in proportion to the limit on the amount of energy that can be stored, typically expressed as a percentage. It represents the
forecasted starting State of Charge for the market interval being offered into.
Maximum State of Charge represents a State of Charge value
that should not be exceeded (i.e., gone above) when a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is receiving electric energy from the grid (e.g., 95% State of Charge).
Minimum State of Charge represents a State of Charge value
that should not be exceeded (i.e., gone below) when a
resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is injecting electric energy to the grid (e.g., 5% State
of Charge).
Maximum Charge Limit represents the maximum MW
quantity of electric energy that a resource using the
participation model for electric storage resources can receive from the grid.
Maximum Discharge Limit represents the maximum MW
quantity that a resource using the participation model for
electric storage resources can inject to the grid.
Minimum Charge Time represents the shortest duration that a
resource using the participation model for electric storage
resources is able to be dispatched by the RTO/ISO to receive
electric energy from the grid (e.g., one hour).
Maximum Charge Time represents the maximum duration that
a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is able to be dispatched by the RTO/ISO to receive

	electric energy from the grid (e.g., four hours).
Minimum Run Time	Minimum Run Time represents the minimum amount of time
	that a resource using the participation model for electric
	storage resources is able to inject electric energy to the grid
	(e.g., one hour).
Maximum Run Time	Maximum Run Time represents the maximum amount of time
	that a resource using the participation model for electric
	storage resources is able to inject electric energy to the grid
	(e.g., four hours).
Minimum Discharge	The minimum MW output level that a resource using the
Limit	participation model for electric storage resources can inject
	onto the grid.
Minimum Charge	The minimum MW level that a resource using the
Limit	participation model for electric storage resources can receive
	from the grid.
Discharge Ramp Rate	The speed at which a resource using the participation model
	for electric storage resources can move from zero output to its
	Maximum Discharge Limit.
Charge Ramp Rate	The speed at which a resource using the participation model
	for electric storage resources can move from zero output to its
	Maximum Charge Limit.

F. State of Charge Management

1. NOPR Proposal

232. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to allow electric storage resources to self-manage their state of charge and upper and lower charge limits.²⁷⁰ The Commission stated that an electric storage resource that self-manages its state of charge is subject to any penalties for deviating from a dispatch schedule to the extent the resource manages its state of charge by deviating from the dispatch

²⁷⁰ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 69.

schedule.²⁷¹ However, the Commission sought comment on whether there are conditions under which an RTO/ISO should not allow an electric storage resource to manage its state of charge and upper and lower charge limits.

2. <u>Comments</u>

233. Numerous commenters support the NOPR proposal to require each RTO/ISO to allow electric storage resources to self-manage their state of charge and upper and lower charge limits.²⁷² Some commenters assert that the proposal will allow for more efficient use of electric storage resources and will extend their useful lives.²⁷³ Other commenters state that permitting an electric storage resource to manage its state of charge would allow the asset owner to optimize the operations of its resource.²⁷⁴ Tesla/SolarCity point to CAISO's tariff for Non-Generator Resources to self-manage energy limits and state-of-charge in real time as a good model.²⁷⁵

²⁷¹ See id. P 70.

²⁷² See, e.g., Beacon Power Comments at 6; DTE Electric/Consumers Energy Comments at 4-5; EEI Comments at 10; Energy Storage Association Comments at 16-17; IRC Comments at 5; Microgrid Resources Coalition Comments at 7; NESCOE

Comments at 11; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 8; Research Scientists Comments at 7-8.

²⁷³ See AES Companies Comments at 22; Electric Vehicle R&D Group Comments at 1.

²⁷⁴ See Avangrid Comments at 6; Energy Storage Association Comments at 16; Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 10; NRG Comments at 18; NYPA Comments at 10.

²⁷⁵ See Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 14-15 (citing California Indep. Sys. Operator (continued ...)

234. Several commenters, however, urge the Commission to go farther than the NOPR proposal, stating that an electric storage resource should always, or almost always, be responsible for managing its own state of charge. Most RTOs/ISOs, PJM Market Monitor, and Xcel Energy Services argue that the RTO/ISO should not be responsible for managing an electric storage resource's state of charge. ²⁷⁶ For example, IRC argues that the RTOs/ISOs should only be responsible for following reasonable operating parameters provided by the electric storage resource owner. 277 Generally, commenters state that it would be challenging for the RTO/ISO to manage a storage resource's state of charge, RTOs/ISOs traditionally do not manage how resources participate in the market, RTOs/ISOs should not be put in the position of managing market risk for or making business judgments on behalf of market participants, and electric storage resources should manage their own state of charge through their market offers, updates to market offers, and decisions to remove their resource from market dispatch. 278 235. Other commenters argue that, to the extent the Commission permits an RTO/ISO to manage an electric storage resource's state of charge, that RTO/ISO should be required

Corp., 156 FERC ¶ 61,110 at P1).

²⁷⁶ See IRC Comments at 5; ISO-NE Comments at 20; PJM Comments at 10; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 4.

²⁷⁷ See IRC Comments at 5.

²⁷⁸ See AES Companies Comments at 23; PJM Comments at 10; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 4; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 17-18.

to meet certain conditions.²⁷⁹ For example, AES Companies argue the related software development and administrative costs of RTO/ISO management of a resource's state of charge should be allocated only to those resources requesting the state-of-charge management service from the RTO/ISO. In contrast, Microgrid Resources Coalition contends that, if an RTO/ISO seeks to manage the state of charge or readiness of an electric storage resource, it should compensate the resource for that privilege. 280 NRG asserts that to the extent an RTO/ISO manages an electric storage resource's state of charge, it will have to include complex bidding parameters to ensure that the resource could meet any retail obligations that it has assumed. 281 MISO Transmission Owners state that an RTO/ISO that manages an electric storage resource's state of charge must do so in accordance with the criteria that the resource owner establishes.²⁸² 236. Imperial Irrigation District asserts that the RTO/ISO should manage an electric storage resource's state of charge only if the resource owner agrees. 283 Relatedly, NYPA argues that, if an RTO/ISO is managing an electric storage resource's state of charge, that resource should be permitted to withdraw from RTO/ISO control without penalty if

²⁷⁹ See AES Companies Comments at 23.

²⁸⁰ See Microgrid Resources Coalition Comments at 7-8.

²⁸¹ See NRG Comments at 18.

²⁸² See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 11.

²⁸³ See Imperial Irrigation District Comments at 10.

it believes it is under-recovering revenues due to the RTO's/ISO's directives.²⁸⁴ NYPA contends that several RTOs/ISOs have considered or implemented performance incentive structures and including electric storage resources in those market designs could provide the proper market incentive for such resources to be available when they are most needed, instead of having the RTO/ISO manage a resource's state of charge. 237. Other commenters suggest that there are certain circumstances when RTO/ISO state of charge management is beneficial and that each RTO/ISO should be permitted to manage an electric storage resource's state of charge in certain circumstances. ²⁸⁵ SPP asserts that RTOs/ISOs should manage the state of charge of regulation resources but that electric storage resources that qualify to provide other services should manage their own states of charge. ²⁸⁶ CAISO notes that, under its existing market rules, it manages the state of charge for some electric storage resources and allows others to manage their own state of charge. Specifically, CAISO notes that, for resources that seek to provide regulation, it can optimize a resource's state of charge, allowing a resource to offer its full capacity as regulation consistent with continuous energy requirements for that service. ISO-NE states that it recognizes that it may be necessary at times for an

²⁸⁴ See NYPA Comments at 10-11.

²⁸⁵ See CAISO Comments at 10-11; EPRI Comments at 21-22 (citing https://ncreview.org/smart_grid/pjms-frequency-regulation-market-and-the-changing-nature-of-energy-storage-gtm-squared/45256); ISO-NE Comments at n.23; Research Scientists Comments at 7; SPP Comments at 11, 12.

²⁸⁶ See SPP Comments at 11, 12.

RTO/ISO to posture resources, including electric storage resources, to ensure reliability. 238. EPRI states that it may be appropriate for the RTO/ISO to manage a storage resource's state of charge to ensure that sufficient regulating capability is available from the resource, noting that this has already occurred in some RTOs/ISOs. EPRI adds that RTO/ISO management of state of charge could lead to more efficient and more reliable operations and better mitigation of day-ahead forecast uncertainty because the RTO/ISO has better knowledge of system conditions. Research Scientists argue that, while it may be technically challenging to achieve, in principle, the RTO/ISO is in the best position to manage energy storage scheduling and state of charge in order to minimize system costs. 239. EEI and Exelon assert that, if an electric storage resource is used to address reliability-related transmission needs or relieve congestion as a transmission asset, the RTO/ISO must have functional control over dispatch, including the timing and amount of energy that may be injected into or withdrawn from the transmission system and the amount of energy that must be made available for injection or withdrawal at the direction of the RTO/ISO to fulfill the resource's transmission function. ²⁸⁷ Exelon states that the RTO/ISO could release control of the electric storage resource when it is not needed for such services, noting that the RTO/ISO may still have to determine the level of energy to be available at all times from resources that provide blackstart service. In contrast, AES Companies claim that, because advanced software is used to optimize a lithium array's life, state of charge should still be managed by the owner of a storage resource used as a

²⁸⁷ See EEI Comments at 11; Exelon Comments at 8-9, n.4.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

transmission asset under the RTO's/ISO's functional control. 288

240. EEI and Xcel Energy Services suggest that, given the lack of clarity about the proposal for state of charge management, a technical conference may be warranted to better explain the state of charge management concept and better ascertain the issues that need to be evaluated in determining how state of charge should be managed. EEI states that this technical conference should address the management of multiple payment streams for electric storage resources that are both receiving cost-based rates and participating in the RTO/ISO markets because such a resource must be able to fulfill both the obligations that it assumes in the market and as a transmission asset. MISO also argues that further study is needed to comprehend the reliability and economic outcomes of different approaches to state-of-charge management for electric storage resources, noting that it must have an effective way to ensure that an electric storage resource managing its state of charge has enough stored energy to allow it to provide the services that it clears the market to provide. ²⁹⁰

241. Altametric and Bonneville assert that an RTO/ISO may need to directly manage the state of charge and upper and lower charge limits of electric storage resources during an abnormal condition or system emergency to preserve system reliability.²⁹¹ Bonneville

²⁸⁸ See AES Companies Comments at 21.

²⁸⁹ See EEI Comments at 10-11; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 18.

²⁹⁰ See MISO Comments at 15-16.

²⁹¹ See Altametric Comments at 6; Bonneville Comments at 5.

encourages the Commission to allow the RTOs/ISOs to identify these reliability-based conditions. City of New York contends that, while there may be limited circumstances under which an RTO/ISO is better suited than the asset owner to manage an electric storage resource's state of charge and upper and lower charge limits, the scope of an RTO's/ISO's authority to do so should be established consistent with their limited experience with such resources, while changing over time as they gain additional experience.²⁹²

242. Some commenters argue that the Commission should require each RTO/ISO to offer state-of-charge management to electric storage resources. NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners state that, because electric storage resources can be used to support local or bulk electric system reliability, the Commission should ensure that electric storage resource owners can voluntarily elect to cede control of their resources' state of charge to either an RTO/ISO or distribution utility. Dominion stresses the importance of pumped-hydro resources' ability to opt for PJM to optimize their pumping and dispatch in the day-ahead market when these facilities provide PJM with their starting and ending storage levels for the day, along with other resource-specific operating parameters and suggests expanding this ability to other electric storage resources.

²⁹² See City of New York Comments at 7.

²⁹³ See Dominion Comments at 5; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 6.

243. To enable them to provide their full capabilities to the market in a continual manner, Energy Storage Association asks the Commission require each RTO/ISO to allow an electric storage resource to opt to have the RTO/ISO manage its state of charge. 294

Energy Storage Association contends that, at a minimum, an active state-of-charge management mechanism should be available for electric storage resources providing services that need operational decisions faster than bidding intervals (e.g., frequency regulation) and state of charge cannot be predicted or managed through bidding alone.

Energy Storage Association notes that CAISO, MISO, and NYISO offer state of charge management for electric storage resources providing frequency regulation service and argues that these practices should be expanded to all RTOs/ISOs and be available for resources of any duration, not just short-duration storage resources providing frequency regulation.

244. Xcel Energy Services contends that issues associated with managing state of charge may impact opportunity costs included in offers and raise concerns regarding economic withholding of resources from the market and market monitors may need to develop new monitoring tools and exhibit flexibility in evaluating offer opportunity costs when evaluating behavior of storage resources in the market. R Street Institute posits that economic withholding may be difficult to detect, given that electric storage resources' offers reflect their opportunity costs (rather than physical marginal costs) and that these

²⁹⁴ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 6, 17, n.24.

²⁹⁵ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 18, n.27.

resources will likely supply energy when prices are high and the market is most vulnerable to the exercise of market power. R Street Institute explains that physical withholding detection will prove challenging due to the complexity and heterogeneity of physical characteristics of electric storage resources. Therefore, R Street Institute asks the Commission to seek comment on how electric storage resources may engage in economic or physical withholding.

245. With respect to the Commission's statement in the NOPR that an electric storage resource that self-manages its state of charge is subject to any penalties for deviating from a dispatch schedule to the extent the resource manages its state of charge by doing so, several commenters agree that, if an electric storage resource self-manages its state of charge and does not perform when obligated to do so, the resource should incur non-performance penalties. PPRI asserts that potential penalties will help incentivize energy storage resources that self-manage their state of charge to ensure that their state-of-charge constraints are met. EPRI adds, however, that the RTO/ISO may not have sufficient information about whether an electric storage resource that is providing spinning/synchronized reserve can meet its obligation to provide energy unless the RTO/ISO must call on that resource, making it more difficult to penalize such a resource for noncompliance unless an event has occurred.

²⁹⁶ See R Street Institute Comments at 6.

²⁹⁷ See, e.g., Energy Storage Association Comments at 17; EPRI Comments at 23; ISO-NE Comments at 20; Ohio Commission Comments at 7; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 22.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

3. Commission Determination

246. Upon consideration of the comments, we agree with commenters that resource owners/operators using the participation model for electric storage resources must be able to manage the state of charge of their resources. Consistent with the NOPR, we find that each RTO/ISO must permit electric storage resources to manage their state of charge because it allows these resources to optimize their operations to provide all of the wholesale services that they are technically capable of providing, similar to the operational flexibility that traditional generation resources have to manage the wholesale services that they offer. We find that, while the RTOs/ISOs may be in a better position to effectively manage the state of charge for a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources that, for example, exclusively provides frequency regulation service, some electric storage resources may be able to provide multiple services or services to another entity outside of the RTO/ISO markets.

247. We therefore agree with commenters that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources must have the ability to self-manage their state of charge and it is often desirable to allow them to do so. Providing this flexibility will allow resource owners/operators to ensure their own Minimum and Maximum States of Charge are not violated, ²⁹⁸ which will help prevent excessive wear and tear on the resource and

²⁹⁸ See supra P 210. Consistent with the changes in terminology adopted in the State of Charge, Upper and Lower Charge Limits, and Maximum Charge and Discharge Rates section, we are using the terms Maximum State of Charge and Minimum State of Charge instead of Upper Charge Limit and Lower Charge Limit.

help maintain its technical capabilities to provide services in the RTO/ISO markets. Additionally, depending on the telemetry rules adopted by each RTO/ISO, ensuring that a resource owner/operator is able to manage its own state of charge may also limit the need for the RTO/ISO to telemeter the resource in real time to ensure that the Minimum and Maximum States of Charge are not violated. For these reasons, we find that a sufficient record exists in this proceeding to make these determinations without the need for additional process or a technical conference, as some commenters propose. 248. Therefore, we require each RTO/ISO to allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to self-manage their state of charge. We also find here that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources that selfmanages its state of charge will be subject to any applicable penalties for deviating from a dispatch schedule to the extent that the resource deviates from the dispatch schedule in managing its state of charge.²⁹⁹ We also clarify that, to the extent that the provision of a particular wholesale service, such as frequency regulation, requires a resource providing that service to follow a dispatch signal that has the effect of maintaining the resource's ability to provide the service, an electric storage resource that is managing its own state of charge would still be required to follow such a dispatch signal, just as all other resources providing that same service.

²⁹⁹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 70.

249. Additionally, we clarify that the RTOs/ISOs are not required as part of this Final Rule to manage the state of charge for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources.³⁰⁰ However, if an RTO/ISO already has a mechanism to manage a resource's state of charge (such as regulation energy management in CAISO or pumped-hydro resource operation in PJM), then we require the RTO/ISO to make the use of such mechanism optional so that an electric storage resource owner/operator is able to manage its own state of charge if it elects to do so. Where an electric storage resource has the option to allow the RTO/ISO to manage its state of charge, we clarify that the electric storage resource is the default manager of the resource's state of charge. 250. In response to the concerns about the ability of the RTOs/ISOs to use electric storage resources to address any reliability challenges and to know that the resources have an adequate state of charge to perform the service to which they have committed, we note that the RTO/ISO should be able to dispatch a resources using the participation model for electric storage resources in the same manner as any other market participant. Nothing in this Final Rule precludes an RTO/ISO from establishing telemetry or other communication requirements necessary to determine the capabilities of the electric storage resource in real time. We believe that this flexibility will ensure sufficient visibility of a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to

³⁰⁰ We note that, while the RTOs/ISOs must permit resources to manage their own state of charge, the RTOs/ISOs may provide an option for the RTO/ISO to manage an electric storage resource's state of charge for any particular service or circumstance as they deem appropriate in their markets with consent of the electric storage resource.

safeguard operational reliability and market integrity. We reiterate that self-managing electric storage resources, just like all market participants, are subject to any non-performance penalties in the RTO/ISO tariff, thus incentivizing them to ensure that they have sufficient energy available to meet their obligations.

251. As for commenters' concerns about economic and physical withholding, we agree that the energy limitations of electric storage resources will need to be factored into their market offers and that misrepresenting those limitations could constitute manipulation if an electric storage resource has an obligation to participate in an RTO/ISO market.

However, as discussed in the Ability to De-Rate Capacity to Meet Minimum Run-Time Requirements section above, in this Final Rule, we require each RTO/ISO to demonstrate how its existing market rules provide a means for energy-limited resources, including electric storage resources, to provide capacity. This may include ways for energy-limited resources, such as electric storage resources, to represent their energy limitations through their offer prices, which, if allowed by the RTO/ISO, would not constitute economic withholding. Also, as discussed above, we find that electric storage resources de-rating to provide capacity or other services are not engaging in physical withholding if they are de-rating to meet minimum run-time requirements.

252. However, there may still be concerns that electric storage resources managing their own state of charge could be doing so inconsistent with the physical and operational characteristics of the resource, which may create a need to ensure those resources are not

³⁰¹ See supra P 98.

withholding services or otherwise violating its dispatch in a way inconsistent with its physical capabilities. Therefore, we note that, as with other resources, market monitors have the ability to review the bids from electric storage resources to detect economic or physical withholding. Additionally, if an RTO/ISO determines that additional rules are needed to ensure electric storage resources are not managing their state of charge in a way that could manipulate market outcomes through withholding, then the RTO/ISO could propose such rules in response to this Final Rule or through a separate FPA section 205 filing. 302

G. Minimum Size Requirement

1. NOPR Proposal

253. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that establishes a minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW.³⁰³

³⁰² See 16 U.S.C. § 824d.

³⁰³ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 94. The Commission used the term "minimum size requirement" to collectively describe minimum capacity requirements to qualify to use a given participation model, "minimum offer requirements" for offers to sell services in the RTO/ISO markets, and "minimum bid requirements" for bids to buy energy in these markets. *Id.* n.148.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

2. Comments

254. Several commenters agree with the proposed 100 kW minimum size requirement for electric storage resources.³⁰⁴ Many of these commenters argue that there is no justification for the minimum size requirement to be any higher. Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance asserts that large minimum size requirements have and continue to pose a barrier to electric storage resource development in Minnesota. ³⁰⁵ Energy Storage Association and Tesla/SolarCity note that most or all of the RTOs/ISOs currently allow at least some type of resource to participate in their markets at a size of 100 kW, including PJM, which allows participation by 100 kW electric storage resources.³⁰⁶ Massachusetts State Entities and NESCOE state that the proposal would be technically feasible in ISO-NE and will not compromise the efficiency of market dispatch.³⁰⁷ Massachusetts State Entities note that the 100kV threshold is consistent with the results of a pilot program in which ISO-NE reduced the minimum size requirement to participate in its frequency regulation market to 100 kW and found that resources smaller than one MW were technically capable of providing the service. However, Tesla/SolarCity request that the Commission clarify that the 100 kW minimum size

³⁰⁴ See, e.g., Avangrid Comments at 8; Energy Storage Association Comments at 23; Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 16-17; NYISO Comments at 10; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 9; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 17-18.

³⁰⁵ See Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 3-4.

³⁰⁶ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 7, 23-24; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 17-18.

³⁰⁷ See NESCOE Comments at 12.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

requirement applies not only to individual electric storage resources but also can be met through the aggregation of smaller electric storage resources.

255. Energy Storage Association asserts that electric storage resources less than 1 MW in size can provide the same services and the same flexibility, reliability, and cost reduction benefits as larger electric storage resources. NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners do not oppose the NOPR proposal. 309

256. Other commenters support the concept of a minimum size requirement but have reservations about the 100 kW value that the Commission proposed in the NOPR. 310

Eagle Crest agrees that a minimum size requirement is appropriate but takes no position with respect to what that requirement should be. Relatedly, Public Interest

Organizations and R Street Institute contend that lowering the minimum size requirement will reduce barriers to the participation of electric storage resources but state that the NOPR proposal does not address the arbitrariness of choosing a particular minimum size. R Street Institute argues that no economic rational justifies the RTOs/ISOs adopting different minimum size requirements. While R Street Institute states that the NOPR correctly identifies the need to balance the benefits of lowering minimum size requirements with the ability of market clearing software to model and

³⁰⁸ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 24.

³⁰⁹ See NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 7.

³¹⁰ See Eagle Crest Comments at 7; National Hydropower Association Comments at 9, n.9; Public Interest Organizations Comments at 18; R Street Institute Comments at 7.

dispatch smaller resources, it argues that it is unclear how the NOPR proposal balances these benefits and costs. While the National Hydropower Association notes that it is concerned with market participation limitations based on project size, it believes that the NOPR proposal is compatible with existing and future pumped-hydro resources interconnected to the transmission system.

257. Other commenters oppose the NOPR proposal.³¹¹ CAISO explains that it requires resources to have a capacity of at least 500 kW to participate in its energy and ancillary service markets, while initial offer segments must be no less than 100 kW/kWh. While CAISO agrees with the Commission that its software could model or dispatch a resource with a capacity of 100 kW, CAISO is concerned that the 100 kW minimum size requirement would also apply to distributed energy resources and requiring CAISO to clear congestion on its grid with thousands of resources with capacities in the range of 100 kW will reduce the efficiency and performance of its market software. Therefore, CAISO asks the Commission to allow each RTO/ISO to set its minimum size requirement up to 500 kW for installed capacity, with a minimum offer requirement of up to 100 kW/kWh offered into the market and for the initial offer segment. CAISO states that a 500 kW minimum size requirement is consistent with the minimum size requirement that it applies to generators. CAISO further states that the Commission could direct each RTO/ISO to explain how electric storage resources smaller than 500 kW may participate in their markets (e.g., through aggregation models or as demand

³¹¹ See CAISO Comments at 16-19; ISO-NE Comments at 23.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

response resources).

258. ISO-NE argues that imposing a 100 kW minimum size requirement could force it to change the minimum size requirement for all resources in its markets due to its product-based market design. ISO-NE asks the Commission to permit ISO-NE to work with transmission organizations and utility distribution companies in the regions to set minimum size requirements. ISO-NE contends that it must assess whether such an outcome would increase the costs or time needed for implementation. ISO-NE asserts that the proposed 100 kW minimum size requirement might increase costs and the time needed for implementation for the region's transmission organizations and distribution utilities because smaller resources are more likely to be interconnected to the distribution system and these transmission organizations and distribution utilities would have to install metering and adopt accounting procedures to measure the consumption and output of these resources.

259. AES Companies, EEI, MISO Transmission Owners, Pacific Gas & Electric, and SoCal Edison argue that the Commission should allow each RTO/ISO to establish its own minimum size requirements for electric storage resources based on its unique circumstances. EEI argues that it could allow so many electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets that the RTOs/ISOs will be unable to evaluate these resources, distribution utilities will be unable to model these resources and implement

³¹² See EEI Comments at 13-14; AES Companies Comments at 7, 28-29; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 13-14; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 10-11; SoCal Edison Comments at 15-16.

infrastructure upgrades, and the implementation costs incurred to facilitate their participation will exceed the benefits of that participation. While AES Companies support the concept of a minimum size requirement, they contend that 100 kW is significantly below the minimum size requirement for many distribution utilities and may be challenging for some of the RTOs/ISOs to implement (given their diverse operating characteristics and supporting software systems). Likewise, MISO Transmission Owners state that 100 kW is very low, especially for distribution utilities. Pacific Gas & Electric contends that the Commission should allow each RTO/ISO to establish different minimum size requirements for the different services that electric storage resources can provide (e.g., energy or ancillary services) and the different participation models that they can use to participate in the RTO/ISO market. Pacific Gas & Electric asserts that the appropriate minimum size requirement(s) may be based on the opportunities for aggregation of electric storage resources.

260. AES Companies, EEI, MISO Transmission Owners, and Pacific Gas & Electric contend that the minimum size requirement for an electric storage resource to participate in an RTO/ISO market should take into account the point at which electric storage resources will interconnect to the system (i.e., the transmission or distribution system) and how it will be operated relative to other generation interconnected to the distribution system. AES Companies assert that the Commission does not have the authority to set

³¹³ See AES Companies Comments at 7, 28-29; EEI Comments at 14; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 13; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 11.

minimum size requirements for distribution utilities and the 100 kW proposed minimum size requirement conflicts with existing state tariffs and operating principles. Thus, AES Companies and MISO Transmission Owners ask the Commission to allow each distribution utility (with its retail regulators) and each RTO/ISO (with its stakeholders) to establish its own minimum size requirement for distribution-interconnected and behind-the-meter electric storage resources and transmission-interconnected electric storage resources, respectively.

261. Alternatively, MISO Transmission Owners state that a one MW minimum size requirement is more practical and appropriate due to administrative and settlement burdens on the RTOs/ISOs, while a 500 kW minimum size requirement may be appropriate for supporting innovation in immature technologies and markets through pilot projects. In contrast, while acknowledging that smaller electric storage resources can be aggregated to meet minimum size requirements, SoCal Edison argues that a one MW minimum size requirement may be too large because electric storage resources with a capacity of one MW or more that are interconnected to the distribution system could create operational challenges for distribution operators. Altametric recommends a minimum power output size of 500 kW from no charge to full charge with a minimum limit of 100 kWh. Xcel Energy Services contends that electric storage resources

³¹⁴ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 13-14.

³¹⁵ See SoCal Edison Comments at 15.

³¹⁶ See Altametric Comments at 7.

should have to meet the same minimum size requirements like other, larger resources.³¹⁷ 262. A few commenters raise the potential impact of the NOPR proposal on the software that RTOs/ISOs use to clear their markets.³¹⁸ MISO claims that a minimum size requirement that is too small could result in more very small electric storage resources participating in MISO's markets than its current operational and market systems and software may be capable of tracking, processing, and settling. Similarly, Pacific Gas & Electric and Xcel Energy Services suggest considering whether the market-clearing software is capable of managing the dispatch of many small resources when determining minimum size requirements. MISO warns that its market systems may require significant upgrades to accommodate the potentially large number of electric storage resources and the multiplicity of variables associated with their transactions. MISO also claims that its State Estimator (which it uses to track energy for real-time dispatch and performance measurement) may not have the ability to estimate the status of 100 kW resources. Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance states that, while it defers to the RTOs'/ISOs' comments on the software upgrades needed to implement the proposed minimum size requirement and the associated costs, it would like to see MISO modify its markets to allow for the participation of smaller resources.

263. MISO Transmission Owners claim that any new rule would effectively direct

³¹⁷ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

³¹⁸ See Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 4; MISO Comments at 8-9; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 11; Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

investment in software and/or infrastructure upgrades over other priorities that have been established based on customer need and that the Commission must balance prioritization of electric storage resource participation against other important system improvements and maintenance. 319 MISO Transmission Owners assert that this concern is valid and timely because many distribution companies are implementing large-scale, advanced metering infrastructure deployment plans. Xcel Energy Services also argues that any administrative costs that result from the growth in the number of small resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets should be borne by those resources. 320 EPRI suggests further study on two issues: (1) whether RTO/ISO market-clearing software will be capable of identifying the optimal dispatch of resources within existing market timelines when there are more resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets and (2) whether small electric storage resources will be dispatched arbitrarily given that small resources that could reduce total production costs might not be dispatched, even though they would reduce production costs, because the market-clearing software has stopped looking for a better dispatch solution.³²¹

264. Finally, Open Access Technology recommends that the Commission clarify the minimum size of a price-quantity pair that an electric storage resource can include in its offer because RTO/ISO market rules generally allow for an offer curve that consists of

³¹⁹ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 14.

³²⁰ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 23.

³²¹ See EPRI Comments at 26-27.

up to ten price-quantity pairs (i.e., whether an electric storage resource can submit a price-quantity pair for less than 100 kW in its offer).³²²

3. <u>Commission Determination</u>

265. In this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal and add section 35.28(g)(9)(i)(d) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that establishes a minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW. This minimum size requirement includes all minimum capacity requirements, minimum offer to sell requirements, and minimum bid to buy requirements for resources participating in these markets under the participation model for electric storage resources.

266. Electric storage resources are generally smaller than traditional generation resources and are often in the 100 kW to 1 MW range. In many cases, existing minimum size requirements were created prior the emergence of new, smaller resources such as electric storage resources that are technically capable of participating in the RTO/ISO markets. We find that RTO/ISO market rules may create barriers to electric storage resource participation in those markets based on minimum size requirements that may have been

³²² See Open Access Technology Comments at 3.

³²³ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at nn.146-147 (citing Sandia Report at 29, Figure 19 (Positioning of Energy Storage Technologies); U.S. Department of Energy, *Grid Energy Storage* at 12 (Dec. 2013) (stating that most storage systems are in the 10 kW to 10 MW range, with the largest proportion of those resources in the 100 kW to 1 MW range)).

designed for different types of resources.³²⁴ Therefore, as discussed below, we conclude that requiring the RTOs/ISOs to establish a minimum size requirement not to exceed 100 kW for the participation model for electric storage resources balances the benefits of increased competition with the potential need to update RTO/ISO market clearing software to effectively model and dispatch smaller resources.

267. While some commenters argue that RTO/ISO modeling and dispatch software may be unable to accommodate a large number of smaller resources, the record shows that all RTOs/ISOs are already accommodating the participation of smaller resources in their markets. For example, the record shows that all RTOs/ISOs already have the modeling and dispatch software capabilities to accommodate the participation of resources that are as small as 100 kW. Specifically, both PJM and SPP have a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for all resources, and all of the RTOs/ISOs have at least one participation model that allows resources as small as 100 kW to participate in their markets. In response to ISO-NE's claim that its product-based market design does not permit such size requirements, we point to varying minimum size requirements for existing participation models in ISO-NE (e.g., 1 MW for generators and 100 kW for demand response).

268. Further, we are not persuaded by commenters who argue that different minimum

³²⁴ See id. P 86.

³²⁵ See CAISO Data Request Response at 10-11; ISO-NE Data Request Response at 13-14; MISO Data Request Response at 10; NYISO Data Request Response at 9; PJM Data Request Response at 10; SPP Data Request Response at 5.

size requirements may be needed based on the service being provided, the location and concentration of electric storage resources, or where the electric storage resources are interconnected. Commenters have failed to demonstrate how minimum size requirements should be varied based on the manner in which electric storage resources are operated or based on the location of these resources. Additionally, in response to commenters that suggest that the Commission does not have the authority to set minimum size requirements for distribution utilities, we clarify that we are not setting minimum size requirements for distribution utilities in this Final Rule. Rather, we are requiring each RTO/ISO to establish a minimum size requirement for resources participating in its markets. Therefore, we find that minimum size requirements do not need to be resource-specific or location-specific. We note that existing participation models in the RTOs/ISOs have standard minimum size requirements for all resources that elect to use them.

269. Moreover, in response to concerns about potential impacts on the distribution systems and related costs, we note that numerous 100 kW minimum size requirements already exist, and there are resources located on the distribution system that are already participating in the RTO/ISO markets. Establishing a standard minimum size requirement for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources may potentially result in more resources on the distribution systems participating in the RTO/ISO markets. However, it does not change the responsibilities of the RTOs/ISOs or the distribution utilities, and it does not change the ability of distribution utilities to allocate any costs that they incur in operating and maintaining their respective power

systems.

270. With respect to CAISO's and MISO's concern that they may need to upgrade their software to manage the potentially large number of resources using the participation model for electric storage resources under the proposed minimum size requirement, as discussed in the Compliance Requirements section, 326 we find that we are providing the RTOs/ISOs with adequate time to develop the requisite tariff language and update their modeling and dispatch software to comply with this Final Rule and are factoring into the effective date of this Final Rule the burden of implementing the requirements herein. We are not persuaded that more than 365 days after the RTOs/ISOs submit their compliance filings will be necessary to implement the reforms in this Final Rule. We are also not concerned about the potential availability of software solutions as multiple RTOs/ISOs already provide a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for all resources and have not expressed similar concerns regarding the minimum size requirement. While establishing a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for the participation model for electric storage resources will result in some smaller resources entering the markets in the near term, we do not expect an immediate influx of these smaller resources or any resulting inability to model and dispatch them. However, we recognize this finding is based on the fact that there are currently fewer 100 kW resources than there may be in the future. Therefore, in the future, we will consider requests to increase the minimum size requirement to the extent an RTO/ISO can show that it is experiencing difficulty

³²⁶ See infra P 343.

calculating efficient market results and there is not a viable software solution for improving such calculations.

271. In response to Open Access Technology's request for clarification of the number of allowed price-quantity bid segments for a 100 kW resource using the participation model for electric storage resources, we reiterate our requirement that the minimum size requirement applies to all minimum capacity requirements, minimum offer to sell requirements, and minimum bid to buy requirements. We note that, under this requirement, an RTO/ISO could allow offer and/or bid quantities smaller than 100 kW, as CAISO indicates it does. An RTO/ISO could also allow minimum offer and/or bid quantities equal to 100 kW, as PJM indicates it does. However, this requirement would not permit an RTO/ISO to require a resource using the electric storage resource participation model to submit offer and/or bid quantities larger than 100 kW.

H. Energy Used to Charge Electric Storage Resources

1. Price for Charging Energy

a. NOPR Proposal

272. In the NOPR, the Commission stated that it has found that the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or

³²⁷ CAISO states the minimum participation requirement for electric storage resource energy bids is 10 kW. CAISO Data Request Response at 16.

³²⁸ PJM states the 100 kW is both the minimum capacity requirement and also the minimum incremental offer amount. PJM Data Request Response at 10 (citing PJM Tariff, Attachment DD, section 5.6).

ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce.³²⁹ As such, the Commission stated that the just and reasonable rate for that wholesale sale of energy used to charge the electric storage resource is the RTO/ISO market's wholesale price for energy or LMP. The Commission thus proposed to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to specify that the sale of energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale LMP.

b. Comments

273. Many commenters support the NOPR proposal that the sale of energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale LMP.³³⁰ MISO notes that the proposed wholesale LMP requirement aligns with MISO's current market design for Stored Energy Resources and Demand Response Resources.³³¹ National Hydropower Association agrees with the NOPR's characterization of charging and discharging as

³²⁹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. \P 32,718 at P 100 (citing Norton Energy Storage, L.L.C., 95 FERC \P 61,476, at 62,701-02 (2001) (Norton Energy Storage); PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., 132 FERC \P 61,203 (2010)).

³³⁰ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 6, 8; American Petroleum Institute Comments at 12; APPA/NRECA Comments at 41; California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 8; EEI Comments at 15; ELCON Comments at 6; ISO-NE Comments at 23-24; Mensah Comments at 2; NextEra Comments at 10; Ohio Commission Comments at 7; TAPS Comments at 28.

³³¹ See MISO Comments at 9.

wholesale transactions,³³² while NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners do not oppose the NOPR proposal.³³³

274. A few commenters support the NOPR proposal in principle but condition their support. 334 ISO-NE agrees with the general principle of paying LMP for charging energy that is later resold into the wholesale market; however, ISO-NE notes that implementing the NOPR proposal may be complicated and will depend on the participation of the region's transmission organizations and distribution utilities. While Alevo supports the NOPR proposal, it states that, because electric storage resources that are participating in ancillary service markets (such as the market for frequency regulation) are responding to the grid operator's needs, requiring them to settle energy to provide such services would be inappropriate and a barrier to their participation.

³³² See National Hydropower Association Comments at 10.

³³³ See NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 7.

³³⁴ See Alevo Comments at 10-11; ISO-NE Comments at 23-24.

275. Other commenters assert that certain electric storage resources should not be permitted to purchase charging energy at LMP unless they meet certain conditions. According to Avangrid, NRG, and Pacific Gas & Electric, a behind-the-meter electric storage resource should not be eligible to pay LMP for its charging energy unless it has implemented the metering, accounting, and data protocols necessary to distinguish its wholesale and retail activities. NRG contends that, otherwise, a behind-the-meter electric storage resource should pay the retail rate for its charging energy.

276. Similarly, Xcel Energy Services goes farther, contending that, given the practical impossibility of determining what charging energy will be used to provide wholesale services and what charging energy will be used to provide retail services, the default rate for distributed electric storage resources should be the retail rate. 336 Xcel Energy Services further claims that, by paying the wholesale LMP, a distributed electric storage resource owner can bypass capacity and infrastructure costs, thus depriving the distribution utility of revenues to meet its obligation to serve.

277. APPA/NRECA, FirstLight, and TAPS argue that, instead of requiring RTOs/ISOs and distribution utilities to develop and administer elaborate metering and accounting schemes, which some argue may not be possible, storage resources must elect to

³³⁵ See Avangrid Comments at 9; NRG Comments at 16-17; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 13.

³³⁶ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 13-14.

participate in either wholesale or retail markets, but not in both.³³⁷ FirstLight adds that introducing the ability to toggle between retail and wholesale rates may create incentives to shift the liability of bad decisions in the wholesale market to the retail supplier by discharging to meet retail load.

278. Some commenters ask the Commission to clarify that the Commission's regulations will not require an electric storage resource that is participating in an RTO/ISO market to pay the wholesale LMP for the charging energy that it uses to provide wholesale services. The example, Energy Storage Association asks the Commission to clarify that RTOs/ISOs may not compel electric storage resources providing wholesale services to purchase their charging energy from wholesale markets because they may be able to charge from a co-located generator. Similarly, AES Companies state that electric storage resources should be permitted to purchase charging energy for providing wholesale services from the wholesale markets and from other sources, such as generators not registered in an RTO/ISO. AES Companies also assert that electric storage resources should be permitted to self-supply from other assets (such as co-located behind-the-meter solar). AES Companies argue that flexibility in procurement will provide a more competitive framework for electric storage devices, which would

³³⁷ See APPA/NRECA Comments at 42; FirstLight Comments at 12; TAPS Comments at 28.

³³⁸ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 7-9, 30; DER/Storage Developers Comments at 5; Energy Storage Association Comments at 7, 20; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 15; Stem Comments at 10-11.

lower cost to consumers. MISO Transmission Owners contend that requiring electric storage resources to purchase the charging energy that they use to provide wholesale services would result in inequitable treatment because synchronous generators have the opportunity to buy fuels from many sources.

279. While Stem contends that all charging energy that an electric storage resource located in front of a retail meter is a sale for resale, it asserts that the only charging energy for a behind-the-meter electric storage resource that is a sale for resale is charging energy that it used to net inject energy back onto the grid. Stem argues that a behind-the-meter electric storage resource should not have to pay the wholesale rate for any of its charging energy because the resource may then have to pay twice for its charging energy if the local distribution utility does not "net out" that charging energy from the host customer's retail bill.

280. In contrast, APPA/NRECA ask that the Commission require that electric storage resources pay wholesale LMP for all charging energy used to provide wholesale services. APPA/NRECA argue that, otherwise, electric storage resources could engage in arbitrage between the volatile wholesale markets and regulated retail markets, likely shifting costs to the distribution utility's other customers. Similarly, NYISO contends that all energy that an electric storage resource consumes at a wholesale rate

³³⁹ See Stem Comments at 11.

³⁴⁰ See APPA/NRECA Comments at 42.

must be sold back to the grid at a wholesale rate.³⁴¹ Stem asks the Commission to clarify that all energy used to charge front-of-meter electric storage resource is a sale for resale and thus the resource must pay the wholesale LMP for energy withdrawn from the grid to charge the resource.³⁴²

281. Several commenters raise jurisdictional concerns with respect to the application of the NOPR proposal's requirement that the sale of energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale LMP to electric storage resources interconnected to the distribution system or located behind a retail customer's meter. Specifically, commenters argue that applying the NOPR proposal to such resources raises issues related to regulatory oversight and may interfere with the exclusive right of state regulators to set retail rates and terms of service. EEI asserts that electric storage resources should charge at the retail rate when seeking to participate in the retail markets and requests that the Commission indicate that charging at LMP rates does not confer exclusive jurisdiction over electric storage resources to the Commission. IRC requests that the Commission work with the states to address jurisdiction issues given that it may be unclear whether charging energy will be used to provide wholesale or retail services when it is being

³⁴¹ See NYISO Comments at 10-11.

³⁴² See Stem Comments at 10.

³⁴³ See, e.g., AES Companies Comments at 7; EEI Comments at 12, 15; IRC Comments at 2-3; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 15.

absorbed. MISO Transmission Owners recommend that any final rule recognize that state or localities have jurisdiction over rate setting and provide flexibility in the rates at which an electric storage resource that is interconnected to a distribution system may buy and sell electricity.

282. MISO Transmission Owners further contend that electric storage resources located behind the meter should pay any retail rate applicable to them under state law for charging energy.³⁴⁴ Pacific Gas & Electric argues that the local regulatory authority must determine that an electric storage resource's consumption is not a retail transaction before that resource is eligible to pay LMP for that consumption.³⁴⁵ AES Companies argue that the Commission does not have authority to require behind-the-meter resources under state jurisdiction (outside of retail choice states) to pay LMP.³⁴⁶

283. Microgrid Resources Coalition believes that LMP rates are the more economically efficient result for charging behind-the-meter resources but agrees that "retail rates are legally appropriate." Specifically, Microgrid Resources Coalition contends that, in retail choice jurisdictions, large customers can typically arrange to pay LMP and a retail supplier could also agree to pass through to the customer the economic consequences of a demand bid by the supplier on the customer's behalf. ELCON similarly states that an

³⁴⁴ See MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 6, 14-15.

³⁴⁵ See Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 12.

³⁴⁶ See AES Companies Comments at 6, 29.

³⁴⁷ See Microgrid Resources Coalition Comments at 13.

electric storage resource should be able to register as an energy service company in an applicable state and buy energy or capacity at the prevailing LMPs from an organized market and resell to direct access retail customers but that, without Commission regulation, concerns may arise regarding anti-competitive behavior and potential for double-recovery of costs.³⁴⁸

284. Several commenters address specific components of gross load for electric storage resources. California Energy Storage Alliance, Energy Storage Association, and NextEra request that the Commission clarify that efficiency losses experienced between charging and discharging an electric storage resource should be settled at the wholesale LMP. In addition, California Energy Storage Alliance argues that loads that are unavoidable to the production or conversion of energy drawn from the grid or are integral to the optimal production or conversion of energy drawn from the grid represent efficiency losses and that these directly integrated loads should be counted as charging energy to provide wholesale services. Energy Storage Association and NextEra further state that some electric storage resources have thermal management components that are integral to, or internalized within, the storage medium and the sale of the energy that these systems use should be considered wholesale transactions and thus priced at LMP. EEI suggests the Commission should discuss the definition of charging energy at a

³⁴⁸ See ELCON Comments at 7.

³⁴⁹ See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 8-9; EEI Comments at 12; Energy Storage Association Comments at 7, 19-20, n.30; NextEra Comments at 10-11.

technical conference to determine whether all ancillary loads of a battery installation should be considered wholesale or only the specific load associated with charging the battery.

285. Other commenters disagree that electric storage resources should pay wholesale LMP for these energy uses. 350 IRC requests that the Commission work with states to address the jurisdictional issues surrounding injection and charging functions (such as energy losses, thermal regulation, and station power) to avoid future litigation. California Commission states that the energy consumption of behind-the-meter electric storage resources that will charge at a wholesale rate raises jurisdictional issues, particularly since station power is a retail service. Likewise, Six Cities and Xcel Energy Services assert that the sale of power purchased to operate generating facilities (i.e., station power) must be at retail rates. Six Cities argue that distribution utilities (subject to the oversight of their local regulatory authorities) should have the flexibility to identify measures needed to properly distinguish between station power and charging energy. 286. Several commenters are concerned about the NOPR proposal's potential financial impacts on distribution utilities.³⁵¹ EEI and NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners argue that resources located on distribution systems must pay any applicable charges

³⁵⁰ See California Commission Comments at 5; IRC Comments at 2-3 Six Cities Comments at 5 (citing *PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.*, 94 FERC ¶ 61,251, at 61,891 (2001)); Xcel Energy Services Comments at 12.

³⁵¹ See EEI Comments at 12, 14, 15; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 7, 17; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 7-8; TAPS Comments at 29.

covered under state jurisdictional tariffs in order to adequately reflect their use of, and cost to, state-jurisdictional facilities. Likewise, MISO Transmission Owners ask the Commission to clarify how utilities and ratepayers will be compensated for allowing electric storage resources to use the distribution system to provide wholesale services. TAPS requests that the Commission clarify that distribution-interconnected electric storage resources should be subject to distribution utility tariffs and rates for delivery of energy between the RTO grid and their point of interconnection to the distribution system. Six Cities request confirmation that distribution utilities or their local regulatory authorities retain jurisdiction to determine how to manage the cost, reliability, operational, and interconnection impacts to the distribution system of any electric storage resource. 352

287. As a separate issue, Energy Storage Association and NextEra suggest that energy stored for re-delivery to the grid should not be subject to the transmission charges that apply to load. NextEra explains that electric storage resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets are dispatched by the RTO/ISO for a wholesale service and the withdrawal of energy from the transmission network under RTO/ISO control is part the wholesale service, particularly with respect to regulation service. Similarly, NRG asks the Commission to clarify that an electric storage resource will receive and pay the

³⁵² See Six Cities Comments at 3-4.

³⁵³ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 7, 20; NextEra Comments at 11.

applicable nodal LMP, and not the zonal price, for its wholesale transactions.³⁵⁴ To the extent that the Commission finds that any transmission charges apply to electric storage resources, NextEra states that those charges should apply only to station power.

288. In contrast, Open Access Technology argues that, if the NOPR assumes that both consumption (when charging) and generation (when discharging) from an electric storage resource are measured at the wholesale pricing node upstream of the physical location of the storage resource in the distribution feeder, then the Commission should make this assumption explicit given the effect of distribution system losses on these measurements.³⁵⁵ American Petroleum Institute also contends that the price signals that distribution-interconnected resources receive for wholesale market participation should account for congestion, losses, and voltage considerations on the distribution system, which current market models do not take into account.³⁵⁶

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

289. In this Final Rule, we adopt the NOPR proposal and add section 35.28(g)(9)(ii) to the Commission's regulations to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP. The Commission is modifying this provision to apply regardless of whether the electric storage resource is using the participation model

³⁵⁴ See NRG Comments at 16.

³⁵⁵ See Open Access Technology Comments at 3.

³⁵⁶ See American Petroleum Institute Comments at 13.

for electric storage resources or another participation model to participate in the RTO/ISO markets, as long as the resource meets the definition of an electric storage resource set forth in this Final Rule. The Commission has found that the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce. As such, the just and reasonable rate for that wholesale sale of energy used to charge that electric storage resource is the RTO/ISO market's wholesale LMP, regardless of whether the electric storage resource uses the participation model for electric storage resources.

290. In response to Alevo's concerns that the requirement may not be appropriate for electric storage resources that are participating in ancillary service markets, we reiterate

³⁵⁷ See Norton Energy Storage, 95 FERC at 62,701-02 (citations omitted) ("[T]he use of compressed air as a medium for the storage of energy in an energy storage facility is a new technology. However, we find that a compressed air energy storage facility is analogous to a [pumped-hydro resource], in that compressed air is used in a conversion/storage cycle just as water is used in a [pumped-hydro resource] in the conversion/storage cycle.... [T]he Commission views the pumping energy not as being consumed, but rather as being converted and stored, as water in the upper reservoir, for later re-conversion ... back to electric energy. It is this conversion/storage cycle that distinguishes energy storage facilities, whether [pumped-hydro resources] or compressed air energy storage facilities, from facilities that consume electricity (in the form of station power or otherwise). The fact that pumping energy or compression energy is not consumed means that the provision of such energy is not a sale for end use that this Commission cannot regulate. Rather, based on Norton's representations in its petition, we find that deliveries of compression energy to the Norton energy storage facility as part of energy exchange transactions employing the conversion/storage cycle are wholesale transactions subject to our exclusive authority under the FPA."). See also PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., 132 FERC at 62,053 ("Like pumping energy and compression energy, the energy used to charge Energy Storage Resources will be stored for later delivery and not used for operating the electric equipment on the site of a generation facility or associated buildings as Station Power is used.").

that the sale of electric energy from the grid that is used to charge an electric storage resource for later resale into ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce and therefore the just and reasonable rate is the wholesale LMP. Electric storage resources that are participating in RTO/ISO frequency regulation markets are already settled at wholesale LMP for their net energy at the end of a market interval, consistent with our requirements for charging energy here.

- 291. Additionally, in response to NRG's concern, we clarify that an electric storage resource's wholesale energy purchases should take place at the applicable nodal LMP, and not the zonal price. Using the applicable nodal LMP will prevent any potential arbitrage between nodal and zonal prices and allows for consistent evaluation of a resource's impacts on the energy, congestion, and loss components of LMP when it is both receiving and injecting energy.
- 292. We disagree with Energy Storage Association and NextEra that transmission charges that apply to load should not apply to electric storage resources. When an electric storage resource is charging to resell energy at a later time, then its behavior is similar to other load-serving entities, and we find that applicable transmission charges should apply. However, it may be possible for different transmission charges to apply to load resources located at a single node (such as pumped-hydro resources) that are paying a nodal price for energy and load resources that are located across multiple nodes (such as load-serving entities) that are paying a zonal price for energy. Therefore, to the extent that load resources located at a single node pay different transmission charges than load resources located across multiple nodes, then we require each RTO/ISO to apply those

transmission charges for single-node resources to electric storage resources that are located at a single pricing node, as long as, as discussed in the next paragraph, they are not being dispatched to provide an ancillary service by an RTO/ISO.

In response to the concern that transmission charges should not apply when an electric storage resources is dispatched by an RTO/ISO, we find that electric storage resources that are dispatched to consume electricity to provide a service in the RTO/ISO markets (such as frequency regulation or a downward ramping service) should not pay the same transmission charges as load during the provision of that service. We find that this would be consistent with the treatment afforded traditional generation resources that provide ancillary services, because they are not charged for their impacts on the transmission system when they reduce their output to provide a service such as frequency regulation down. Therefore, we find that electric storage resources should not be charged transmission charges when they are dispatched by an RTO/ISO to provide a service because (1) their physical impacts on the bulk power system are comparable to traditional generators providing the same service and (2) assessing transmission charges when they are dispatched to provide a service would create a disincentive for them to provide the service.

294. In response to concerns about an electric storage resources being compelled to purchase all of its energy for future use from the RTO/ISO markets, we clarify that we impose no such requirement. Our finding regarding charging energy does not address payment of the retail rate for energy or charging a device off of co-located generation resources, as suggested by commenters. Also, while this finding requires each RTO/ISO

to allow electric storage resources to be able to pay the wholesale LMP for their charging energy, it does not address whether they can pay some other rate, such as a retail rate or charging off of co-located generation. Finally, like other market participants that purchase energy from the RTO/ISO markets, an electric storage resource that pays the wholesale LMP for charging energy may enter into bilateral financial transactions to hedge the purchase of that energy.

295. We disagree with commenters who argue that the requirement to pay LMP for charging energy should only apply to electric storage resources that are interconnected to the transmission system. As discussed above, this Final Rule applies to electric storage resources that are capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid, irrespective of where the resource is interconnected. The sale of charging energy to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells into the RTO/ISO markets is a sale for resale in interstate commerce and thus subject to the Commission's jurisdiction.³⁵⁸

296. With respect to concerns about electric storage resources' use of the distribution system, we note that, in *PJM Interconnection L.L.C.*, the Commission permitted a distribution utility to assess a wholesale distribution charge to an electric storage resource participating in the PJM markets.³⁵⁹ Consistent with this precedent, we find

³⁵⁸ See Norton Energy Storage, 95 FERC at 62,701-02; see also PJM Interconnection, L.L.C., 132 FERC \P 61,203 at P 7.

³⁵⁹ See PJM Interconnection L.L.C., 149 FERC ¶ 61,185 at P 12 (wholesale distribution charge that ComEd will assess to Energy Vault is a weighted average (continued ...)

that it may be appropriate, on a case-by-case basis, for distribution utilities to assess a charge on electric storage resources similar to those assessed to the market participant in that proceeding.

297. With respect to efficiency losses, consistent with *Norton Energy Storage*, we find that efficiency losses are charging energy and therefore not a component of station power load. Accordingly, the charging energy lost to conversion inefficiencies should also be settled at the wholesale LMP as long as those efficiency losses are an unavoidable component of the conversion, storage, and discharge process that is used to resell energy back to the RTO/ISO markets and are not a component of what an RTO/ISO considers onsite load. With respect to directly integrated and other ancillary loads, we provide the RTOs/ISOs flexibility to determine whether they are a component of charging energy or a component of station power.

carrying charge that is applied on a case-by-case basis, depending on the distribution facilities expected to be used in providing wholesale distribution service), *order on reh'g*, 151 FERC ¶ 61,231 at PP 16-18.

³⁶⁰ See Norton Energy Storage, L.L.C., 95 FERC at 62,702 (stating that "[t]he fact that pumping energy or compression energy is not consumed means that the provision of such energy is not a sale for end use that this Commission cannot regulate.").

2. Metering and Accounting Practices for Charging Energy

a. NOPR Proposal

298. In the NOPR, the Commission sought comment on whether metering and accounting practices designed to delineate between wholesale and retail activities would need to be established in the RTO/ISO tariffs to facilitate compliance with the proposed requirement that the sale of energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale LMP or whether it is possible to determine the end use for energy used to charge an electric storage resource under existing requirements. ³⁶¹

b. Comments

299. As discussed above, commenters agree that electric storage resources providing retail services should not charge at the wholesale rate and discharge to serve a retail customer, ³⁶² and many commenters assert that metering and accounting practices designed to delineate between wholesale and retail activities are necessary to prevent such an outcome. ³⁶³ Stem contends that the energy used to charge a behind-the-meter electric storage resource is considered a sale for resale only up to the amount that is

³⁶¹ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 102.

³⁶² See, e.g., California Municipals Comments at 4; FirstLight Comments at 12; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 9; SoCal Edison Comments at 9, 13; TAPS Comments at 30-31; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 19.

³⁶³ See, e.g., American Petroleum Institute Comments at 12-13; Mensah Comments at 2; MISO Comments at 19; Six Cities Comments at 4-5; SoCal Edison Comments at 9, 13; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 19.

injected onto the grid for wholesale purposes, which requires each RTO/ISO to establish metering and accounting practices that separate wholesale from retail activity. 364

Independent Energy Producers Association argues that the Commission must address how to distinguish and measure wholesale and retail activities to ensure transparency in both markets and to prevent double-counting. 365 Electric Vehicle R&D Group asks the Commission to propose different methods for reconciliation of wholesale and retail activities for behind-the-meter electric storage resources, giving RTOs/ISOs options from which to choose. 366

300. Some commenters encourage the Commission to provide flexibility to the RTOs/ISOs with respect to metering and accounting practices to distinguish wholesale and retail activities.³⁶⁷ Pacific Gas & Electric recommends that the Commission provide each RTO/ISO with flexibility to establish hardware and software requirements for telemetry and metering that account for its system characteristics, market rules, and utility tariffs. Six Cities contend that distribution utilities or their local regulatory authorities should retain their own metering standards and technical requirements for resources interconnecting to the distribution system and any flexibility that the Commission provides with respect to metering in the final rule should not compromise

³⁶⁴ See Stem Comments at 10.

³⁶⁵ See Independent Energy Producers Association Comments at 7.

³⁶⁶ See Electric Vehicle R&D Group Comments at 1-2.

³⁶⁷ See Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 13; Six Cities Comments at 3.

the accuracy of settlements or impose additional costs on the distribution system.

301. Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance contends that the Commission should not adopt explicit metering arrangements but instead should set forth requirements that metering solutions must meet to adequately delineate between wholesale and retail activities and allow the industry to develop those solutions at the lowest cost possible. Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance states that it is necessary to establish adequate accounting process to track and verify costs associated with operating an electric storage resource that can delineate between wholesale and retail transactions. AES Companies argue that any criterion for accounting methodologies and data collection criterion for electric storage resources, including recognition of state jurisdiction, should be documented in the RTO/ISO business practice manuals rather than the tariff, so timely changes can occur as technology and regulation evolve. 369

302. Many commenters are concerned, however, that requiring the establishment of metering and accounting practices designed to delineate between wholesale and retail activities raises jurisdictional issues.³⁷⁰ CAISO argues that the Commission should permit RTOs/ISOs to develop the rules governing these practices in collaboration with their stakeholders to help prevent cross-jurisdictional disputes. MISO states that it is

³⁶⁸ See Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 5-6.

³⁶⁹ See AES Companies Comments at 30-31.

³⁷⁰ See CAISO Comments at 20; MISO Comments at 19; PJM Comments at 7, 13-15.

unclear to what extent MISO's current tariff and processes can make jurisdictional distinctions between wholesale and retail activities and that new rules are therefore necessary.

303. PJM believes that it is important for the Commission, working with the states, to provide guidance in the final rule on issues including, but not limited to, the rate treatment for energy used to charge behind-the-meter electric storage resources and for front-of-the meter electric storage resources that occasionally serve retail load through a separate connection to a retail customer and the ability of RTOs/ISOs to develop requirements associated with metering, visibility, and dispatchability of distributed electric storage resources. With respect to the issue of how to account for the energy used to charge an electric storage resource that is located in front of the retail meter but occasionally provides retail services, PJM recommends that the RTO/ISO track what energy is used for retail services (i.e., any net load), like RTOs/ISOs do today for station power. With respect to the issue of how to account for energy used to charge a behindthe-meter electric storage resource, PJM argues that RTOs/ISOs and their stakeholders should not be put in the position of resolving purely legal and regulatory issues. 304. Massachusetts State Entities question whether the NOPR appropriately addresses states' concerns regarding the ability of behind-the-meter storage resources to charge at a wholesale rate and discharge to serve a retail customer to avoid paying a retail rate.³⁷¹ Massachusetts State Entities and NARUC ask the Commission to clarify the appropriate

³⁷¹ See Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 10.

metering and accounting practices that can be used to delineate between wholesale and retail uses.³⁷² Massachusetts State Entities argue that the Commission should clarify whether an electric storage resource providing both wholesale and retail services must have separate metering both upstream and downstream of the resource. Open Access Technology similarly requests that the Commission clarify whether a storage resource in charging mode is expected to be separately metered and settled from the load of the premises in which it is located.³⁷³ Relatedly, Organization of MISO States contends that, because state statutes may prohibit retail customers from purchasing energy directly from the wholesale market, a distribution-interconnected electric storage resource must have a

separate meter to participate in the wholesale market, unless a single meter is explicitly allowed by the relevant electric retail regulatory authority.³⁷⁴

305. A few commenters emphasize the importance of distribution utilities to the successful implementation of any metering and accounting practices.³⁷⁵ ISO-NE states that it has no way to ensure compliance with a requirement that behind-the-meter sales for resale are metered and reported to ISO-NE for settlement without the cooperation of each distribution utility. Mensah argues that metering and accounting practices should

³⁷² See Massachusetts State Entities Comments at 9-10; NARUC Comments at 7.

³⁷³ See Open Access Technology Comments at 2.

³⁷⁴ See Organization of MISO States Comments at 3-4.

³⁷⁵ See ISO-NE Comments at 27; Mensah Comments at 2.

- 200 -

be coordinated with the local distribution utility to avoid any duplicate metering requirements and to ensure proper accounting is performed based on the collection, availability, and sharing of metered data points at different intervals with all parties. 306. Some commenters are concerned that there may not be a feasible or practical way to delineate between wholesale and retail activities, especially when there are multiple devices and retail load behind the same meter. 376 MISO Transmission Owners argue that, when an electric storage resource is located behind a retail customer's electric meter, it may be impractical, prohibitively expensive, or even impossible to distinguish between use of the resource (i.e., charging and discharging) and the customer's other electric loads. FirstLight claims that an RTO/ISO cannot in practice distinguish between charging energy that will be used to provide a wholesale service and charging energy that will be used to provide a retail service, especially given that an electric storage resource may charge at different times and use its capacity to provide different services. Avangrid claims that, even if behind-the-meter retail load, distributed energy resources (including energy storage), and generation are separately metered, ownership and reconciliation of the data to produce results suitable for retail billing and wholesale settlement in a timely manner may be impractically complex and likely subject to both state and federal regulation.

307. Likewise, TAPS contends that for distribution-interconnected electric storage

³⁷⁶ See, e.g., Avangrid Comments at 15; FirstLight Comments at 9-12; MISO Transmission Owners Comments at 15-16; NARUC Comments at 7, n.18; TAPS Comments at 28.

resources, even revenue-quality metering, might be insufficient to distinguish between the wholesale and retail activities of an electric storage resource behind the same meter as distributed generation and/or load. TAPS further states that any accounting practices would have to track two separate energy level balances, one for wholesale activities and one for retail activities. According to TAPS, in each interval, discharge from the retail balance must be limited to the retail customer's consumption in that interval (or perhaps sales to the distribution utility) and discharge from the wholesale balance must be reconciled with sales to the RTO. Given these complexities, TAPS recommends that

electric storage resources should not be able to provide services at both wholesale and retail.

308. SoCal Edison asserts that current net metering configurations and accounting practices cannot separate which generation is used by the customer and which is offered for wholesale use and that it is insufficient to have a policy that prevents mixing wholesale and retail with instruction to RTOs/ISOs to develop the provisions as necessary.³⁷⁸ Pacific Gas & Electric agrees that the needed metering and accounting

³⁷⁷ See TAPS Comments at 31-32.

³⁷⁸ See SoCal Edison Comments at 13.

requirements do not exist today, stating that RTOs/ISOs will have to develop such requirements with their local regulatory authorities.³⁷⁹

309. According to AES Companies, whether existing metering and accounting practices will allow an RTO/ISO to distinguish between wholesale and retail transactions depends on the RTO/ISO, the electric storage technology in question, and the state jurisdiction. AES Companies contend that there are often state-mandated accounting procedures that involve more than the individual electric storage resource that render it impossible to separate parasitic load/charging (station power/state-of-charge management) when behind-the-meter and distribution-interconnected electric storage resources are selling excess capacity into the wholesale ancillary services markets. AES Companies add that, for older electric storage resources or those that are already in service, the operating software may not provide a sufficient level of detail to distinguish between wholesale and retail transactions.

310. In contrast, several commenters suggest that metering and accounting practices can be developed to discern between wholesale and retail activities. Tesla/SolarCity recommend that the Commission specify that behind-the-meter resources participating in wholesale markets have appropriate metering that RTOs/ISOs can use for settlement

³⁷⁹ See Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 13.

³⁸⁰ See AES Companies Comments at 30.

³⁸¹ See, e.g., Energy Storage Association Comments at 22; Mensah Comments at 2; Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 5-6; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 19-20.

purpose to distinguish between wholesale energy uses and retail energy uses.

Tesla/SolarCity point to CAISO's Metering Generation Output for Proxy Demand

Resources as a good example that relies on direct metering and not synthetic baselines to distinguish between wholesale and retail applications for behind-the-meter energy storage resources.

311. CAISO explains its existing metering and accounting practices can distinguish between wholesale and retail activities.³⁸² CAISO notes that a behind-the-meter resource participating through its Non-Generator Resource model must separately meter its output and consumption and report that meter data to CAISO for settlement purposes, which is settled at the wholesale rate. CAISO adds that this meter data can be used to adjust the end-use customer meter data to ensure that it reflects only the end-use load. In contrast, CAISO notes that a behind-the-meter resource participating under CAISO's Proxy Demand Resource model only settles with CAISO for intervals in which it has submitted a bid and received a schedule or dispatch instruction to discharge energy to reduce load as a demand response resource, such that its energy consumption for charging is a portion of the end-use retail load.

312. ISO-NE argues that the Commission should require individual customers or resources that are directly settled in the wholesale market either as a load or a generator (or both as in the case of electric storage resource) to directly install revenue-quality interval metering; otherwise, it will be unclear what energy the rest of the customers or

³⁸² See CAISO Comments at 20-21.

resources in that meter domain (i.e., defined areas of a transmission or distribution owner's network for purposes of load measurement) have consumed.³⁸³ For behind-themeter resources, ISO-NE argues that submetering must be in place so that the distribution utility can report information to ISO-NE for settlement purposes and can itself determine net retail consumption for billing purposes. According to ISO-NE, the distribution utility must develop the necessary accounting practices and ensure that the appropriate metering is installed, tested, and routinely read to ensure that behind-themeter electric storage resources are not charged at both the wholesale and retail rate for their charging energy and are not paid at both the wholesale and retail rate for discharging. ISO-NE emphasizes that the Commission should not adopt requirements that could result in a material potential for double charging or double paying electric storage resources and should acknowledge that affected distribution utilities must have the necessary infrastructure, standards, and practices to support wholesale settlements of behind-the-meter electric storage resources before it can address these concerns. 313. ISO-NE contends that an alternative approach to direct metering is allowing a customer with an electric storage resource or other distributed energy resource to participate directly in the wholesale market and be charged or credited at wholesale prices for its entire net load as measured from its retail delivery point. ISO-NE argues that the advantage of this approach is that only one meter, located at the customer's delivery point, is needed to measure net consumption; no sub-metering would be

³⁸³ See ISO-NE Comments at 24-27, 29.

required. However, ISO-NE notes that, if this approach resulted in greater participation of distributed electric storage resources, it could require advanced metering infrastructure and software to manage settlement.

314. Other commenters state that direct metering is necessary to allow an RTO/ISO to distinguish between wholesale and retail services. Although perhaps inadequate for distribution-interconnected electric storage resources, TAPS contends that revenue-quality metering will be needed. Maryland and New Jersey Commissions state that it is important to install specialized metering devices and telemetry to distinguish the intended uses of energy used to charge a behind-the-meter electric storage resource, which will help to ensure that these resources do not receive inappropriate compensation or avoid paying retail rates. PJM Market Monitor recommends that generation and storage facilities that seek to buy or sell at wholesale LMP locate in front of the retail meter and require them to have their own meters and telemetry that would link them to the RTO/ISO.

315. Some commenters comment on technical aspects of developing metering and accounting practices to distinguish between wholesale and retail activities.³⁸⁵ IRC and ISO-NE contend that rules are needed to address circumstances in which the use of stored energy is unclear at the time of charging. Stem asks the Commission to affirm

³⁸⁴ See Maryland and New Jersey Commissions Comments at 4; PJM Market Monitor Comments at 9; TAPS Comments at 30-31.

³⁸⁵ See IRC Comments at 3; ISO-NE Comments at 27; Stem Comments at 10.

that metering and accounting practices established by the RTO/ISO for behind-the-meter electric storage resources that inject energy onto the grid would be for the sole purpose of proper settlement of wholesale sale of energy to electric storage resources without implications for a host customer's retail bill.

316. Duke Energy believes that the Commission should encourage RTOs/ISOs to develop measurement and verification requirements to examine a resource's performance against its scheduled output. FirstLight suggests that the RTO/ISO may be able to correct problems after-the-fact with telemetered state of charge for each storage asset location. Finally, Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance asks the Commission to contemplate the appropriateness of adapting the Uniform System of Accounts to handle costs associated with charging electricity used for retail services when those resources are also providing wholesale services, which the Commission declined to do under a SoCal Edison request for clarification under Order No. 784.

c. Commission Determination

317. Upon consideration of the comments, and to help implement the new requirement in section 35.28(g)(9)(ii) of the Commission's regulations, we require each RTO/ISO to implement metering and accounting practices as needed to address the complexities of implementing the requirement that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets

³⁸⁶ See Duke Energy Comments at 4.

³⁸⁷ See FirstLight Comments at 12.

³⁸⁸ See Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 6.

to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP. To help accomplish this, we require each RTO/ISO to directly meter electric storage resources, so all the energy entering and exiting the resources is measured by that meter. However, we recognize some electric storage resources (such as those located on a distribution system or behind a customer meter) may be subject to other metering requirements that could be used in lieu of a direct metering requirement by an RTO/ISO. Therefore, the Commission will consider, in the individual RTO/ISO compliance filings, alternative proposals that may not entail direct metering but nonetheless address the complexities of implementing the requirement that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.

318. We are not persuaded by commenters who argue that developing metering practices that distinguish between wholesale and retail activity is impractically complex. CAISO provides two examples of how it has achieved market rules that accurately account for wholesale and retail activities by using direct metering. Additionally, retail metering infrastructure, which is subject to state jurisdiction, may be able to work in concert with the RTO/ISO requirements to lower the overall metering costs for electric storage resources. Therefore, we provide each RTO/ISO with the flexibility to propose in its compliance filing other reasonable metering solutions that may help reduce costs for developers.

319. Developing new accounting practices for electric storage resources in response to

this requirement will be complex, but we nonetheless find that they are feasible to develop. We recognize that it may be beneficial for each RTO/ISO to coordinate accounting requirements in cooperation with the distribution utilities and relevant electric retail regulatory authorities in its footprint to help identify workable accounting solutions for distribution-interconnected or behind-the-meter electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets. While the data obtained from directly metering a resource may be adequate to establish the necessary accounting practices, there may also be other reasonable approaches to address these concerns depending on local retail regulatory requirements, such as allowing the customer to be a direct wholesale market participant as suggested by ISO-NE. We also find that metering and accounting rules may need to differ based on whether the resource is located on the transmission system, the distribution system, or behind the meter. These unique considerations underscore the need to provide the RTOs/ISOs flexibility to comply with this requirement. 320. We are not persuaded by APPA/NRECA's and TAPS' suggestion that electric storage resources must choose to participate in either wholesale or retail markets due to the complexity of the metering and accounting practices. It is possible for electric storage resources that are selling retail services also to be technically capable of providing wholesale services, and it would adversely affect competition in the RTO/ISO markets if these technically capable resources were excluded from participation. 321. With respect to Stem's concerns regarding double payment for the same charging energy, we find that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources should not be required to pay both the wholesale and retail price for the same

charging energy because it would create market inefficiencies due to the double payment. Therefore, we require each RTO/ISO to prevent resources using the participation model for electric storage resources from paying twice for the same charging energy. To the extent that the host distribution utility is unable – due to a lack of the necessary metering infrastructure and accounting practices – or unwilling to net out any energy purchases associated with a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources' wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO would be prevented from charging that resource using the participation model for electric storage resources electric wholesale rates for the charging energy for which it is already paying retail rates.

322. We decline Stem's request to clarify that metering and accounting practices established by the RTO/ISO for behind-the-meter electric storage resources that inject energy onto the grid would be for the sole purpose of proper settlement of wholesale sale of energy to electric storage resources without implications for a host customer's retail bill. We also decline Stem's request that metering and accounting practices established by the RTOs/ISOs be for the sole purpose of proper settlement of wholesale sale of energy. We recognize that each RTO/ISO may need to coordinate these metering and accounting practices with the distribution utilities and relevant electric retail regulatory authorities. Therefore, we will not place limitations on the extent to which the hardware being used to collect information or the information itself can be shared as this may help

reduce costs for the electric storage resources and burdens on RTOs/ISOs, distribution utilities, or relevant electric retail regulatory authorities.

323. With respect to Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance's request to modify the Uniform System of Accounts, we are not persuaded that it is necessary to address costs associated with charging energy used for retail-level services when those resources are also participating in the RTO/ISO markets. Account 555.1 Power Purchased for Storage Operations, which was created in Order No. 784, 389 already allows for the reporting of power purchased and stored for resale and any services provided by an electric storage resource, whether wholesale or retail, would be considered a resale. 390 Accordingly, to the extent that a given electric storage resource subject to the Uniform System of Accounts is approved by relevant authorities to provide both retail and wholesale services, the cost of the charging energy used for providing both retail and wholesale services can already be accommodated by Account 555.1.

I. Issues Outside the Scope of this Final Rule

1. Comments

324. Some commenters raise issues that were not addressed in the NOPR. Many raised issues with respect to compensation or cost recovery under a Policy Statement that the

³⁸⁹ Third-Party Provision of Ancillary Services; Accounting and Financial Reporting for New Electric Storage Technologies, Order No. 784, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,349 (2013), order on clarification, Order No. 784-A, 146 FERC ¶ 61,114 (2014).

³⁹⁰ See 18 CFR pt. 101.

Commission issued in January 2017.³⁹¹ Other commenters raised issues with respect to expanding the scope of the rule to apply to resources outside of the RTOs/ISOs;³⁹² whether to revise RTO/ISO interconnection procedures for electric storage resources;³⁹³ price formation or additional services the Commission should require the RTOs/ISOs to develop;³⁹⁴ market-based rates;³⁹⁵ co-optimization models;³⁹⁶ how the RTO/ISO dispute resolution processes apply to electric storage resources and other new market entrants;³⁹⁷ whether to incorporate electric storage resources into transmission planning;³⁹⁸ whether the RTOs/ISOs should modify their unit commitment or settlement periods³⁹⁹ and other

³⁹¹ See Utilization of Electric Storage Resources for Multiple Services When Receiving Cost-Based Rate Recovery, 158 FERC ¶ 61,051 (2017). See, e.g., APPA/NRECA Comments at 4-5; EPSA/PJM Power Providers Comments at 13-16; 10; FirstLight Comments at 1-2, 4-5; Pacific Gas & Electric Comments at 14.

³⁹² See, e.g., AWEA Comments at 6; SEIA Comments at 13-15.

³⁹³ See, e.g., AWEA Comments at 8; Organization of MISO States Comments at 2-3; Power Applications Comments at 8.

³⁹⁴ See, e.g., Brookfield Renewable Comments at 2-4; NRG Comments at 19; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 4-5; Organization of MISO States Comments at 3; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 8-10.

³⁹⁵ See AWEA Comments at 6.

³⁹⁶ See Mosaic Power Comments at 4.

³⁹⁷ See SEIA Comments at 8-10.

³⁹⁸ See National Hydropower Association Comments at 5-6.

³⁹⁹ See, e.g., AWEA Comments at 7; NextEra Comments at 7-8; Research Scientists Comments, Att. 2 at 280, Att. 12 at 290.

settlement rules; 400 RTO/ISO governance issues; 401 removing barriers to other types of resources; 402 varying compensation based on resource characteristics; 403 requiring the RTOs/ISOs to compensate resources for providing certain non-market services that they are not compensated for providing today; 404 addressing issues in specific RTO/ISO markets; 405 modifications to existing energy management systems communications infrastructure; 406 whether to allow shaping of capacity and energy offers to reflect a resource's capabilities; 407 the submission of multiple bid stacks; 408 and bids for dispatchable load coupled with offers for generation at a later time. 409

⁴⁰⁰ See Guannan He Comments at 1-4.

⁴⁰¹ See E4TheFuture Comments, Att. at 2.

⁴⁰² See AWEA Comments at 4-5.

⁴⁰³ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 19, 27-28.

⁴⁰⁴ See, e.g., Advanced Energy Economy Comments at 29-31; AES Companies Comments at 16; National Hydropower Association Comments at 7-8; San Diego Water Comments at 3-4.

⁴⁰⁵ See Advanced Microgrid Solutions Comments at 11-13; Advanced Rail Energy Storage Comments at 4-7; Advanced Energy Management Comments at 31-33.

⁴⁰⁶ See Power Applications Comments at 8.

⁴⁰⁷ See Fluidic Comments at 4-5.

⁴⁰⁸See California Energy Storage Alliance Comments at 12-13.

⁴⁰⁹ See Eagle Crest Comments at 6.

325. Commenters also raise issues related to the reform of existing wholesale services to change their technical requirements and product definitions;⁴¹⁰ exploring whether the RTOs/ISOs are appropriately valuing market services (such as frequency regulation service);⁴¹¹ and requiring a reverse demand response or load increase product.⁴¹²

2. Commission Determination

326. We find that the NOPR did not propose reforms related to these issues raised by commenters. Therefore, these issues are outside the scope of this proceeding and will not be addressed here.

V. <u>Compliance Requirements</u>

A. NOPR Proposal

327. In the NOPR, the Commission proposed to require each RTO/ISO to submit a compliance filing to demonstrate that it satisfies the proposed requirements set forth in the Final Rule within six months of the date the Final Rule in this proceeding is published in the Federal Register. The Commission stated that, while it believed that six months would be sufficient for each RTO/ISO to develop and submit its compliance

⁴¹⁰ See Alevo Comments at 8-10; Energy Storage Association Comments at 9; NextEra Comments at 6-9; R Street Institute Comments at 5.

⁴¹¹ See, e.g., Brookfield Renewable Comments at 2-4; National Hydropower Association Comments at 7-8; NYPA Comments at 4-5; San Diego Water Comments at 3-4.

⁴¹² See National Hydropower Association Comments at 11.

filing, it recognized that implementation of the reforms proposed therein could take more time due to the changes that may be necessary to each RTO's/ISO's modeling and dispatch software. Therefore, the Commission proposed to allow 12 months from the date of the compliance filing for implementation of the proposed reforms to become effective.

328. In the NOPR, the Commission sought comment from the RTOs/ISOs on the changes that would be required to implement the proposed participation model for electric storage resources and the associated costs as well as how those costs could be minimized. The Commission sought comment on the time and resources that would be necessary for the RTOs/ISOs to incorporate these bidding parameters, including the optional bidding parameters, into their modeling and dispatch software. The Commission sought comment on the proposed deadline for each RTO/ISO to submit its compliance filing, as well as the proposed deadline for each RTO's/ISO's implementation of the proposed reforms to become effective. Specifically, the Commission sought comment on whether the proposed compliance and implementation timeline would allow sufficient time for each RTO/ISO to implement changes to its technological systems and business processes in response to a Final Rule. The Commission also sought comment on whether the RTOs/ISOs would require more or

⁴¹⁴ See NOPR, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 32,718 at P 32.

⁴¹⁵ See id. P 71.

⁴¹⁶ See id. P 160.

less time to implement certain reforms versus others.

329. The Commission stated that, to the extent that any RTO/ISO believes that it already complies with any of the requirements adopted in a Final Rule in this proceeding, the RTO/ISO would be required to demonstrate how it complies in the filing due within six months of the date any Final Rule in this proceeding is published in the Federal Register. The Commission also stated that the proposed implementation deadline would apply only to the extent that an RTO/ISO does not already comply with the reforms proposed in this NOPR.

B. Comments

330. A few commenters support the timeline proposed in the NOPR. For example, Energy Storage Association and NRG support the Commission's proposed implementation timeline. Public Interest Organizations also support finalizing the proposed rules as scheduled but adds that, if more time is needed, the Commission should allow the RTOs/ISOs more time to develop their compliance filings.

331. Other commenters, such as the RTOs/ISOs, generally express concerns about the feasibility of the Commission's proposed timelines. NYISO argues that the proposed

⁴¹⁷ See id. P 161.

⁴¹⁸ See Energy Storage Association Comments at 26-27; NRG Comments at 21-22; Public Interest Organizations Comments at n.14

⁴¹⁹ ISO-NE Comments at 21; MISO Comments at 10; NYISO Comments at 21; PJM Comments at 17 (citing *PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.*, Order No. 825 Compliance Filing, Docket No. ER17-775-000, at 2 (Jan. 11, 2017)); SPP Comments at 5. PJM states (*continued* ...)

filing deadline of six months after a final rule and another six months for implementation do not appear to be feasible. Based on the comprehensive review of electric storage resource participation that NYISO is conducting in its own region, it asserts that the compliance deadline should not be before the end of 2018 and implementation should not be required until the end of 2021. MISO requests that the Commission give it time to understand the system impacts of various integration options, noting, for example, that changing the minimum size to 100 kW could tax systems beyond current capabilities. SPP points out that the proposed participation model for electric storage resources will require extensive changes to software, the tariff, and market protocols. 332. PJM and ISO-NE state that the timeline depends upon the magnitude of the required changes. PJM states that it can implement the necessary system changes in approximately 12 months at a cost of under \$1 million if (1) the final rule is limited to changes in PJM's real-time energy market and to offers to sell energy and (2) if PJM does not need to manage electric storage resources' state of charge. However, PJM asserts that, if more extensive system changes are necessary to comply, the cost could be significantly higher and will likely take more time to implement. PJM also states that,

that it will propose an effective date for implementing hourly offers by March 6, 2017, which it expects to be sometime around November 1, 2017. PJM Comments at n.23 (citing *PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.*, 158 FERC ¶ 61,133, at P 126 (2017)).

given the timing of PJM's upcoming implementations of 5-minute settlements and

hourly offers, it could not realistically begin working on the necessary system changes

until at least early 2018. ISO-NE states that the changes contemplated in the NOPR are

substantial but that the time and resources needed to comply with the final rule depend on the specific final provisions. ISO-NE argues that, if the Commission accepts ISO-NE's suggestions to (1) only require implementation of state of charge in real time as an information communication requirement (for example, via telemetered information), (2) not require implementation of the proposed voluntary bidding parameters, and (3) require participants to manage their own bidding parameters (except when reliability needs dictate otherwise), then the implementation effort will be substantially shorter and easier.

- 333. Some commenters also point out that, in order to comply with the rule, the RTOs/ISOs will need to change more than just their market rules. For example, AES Companies, Energy Storage Association, and EPRI note that the RTOs/ISOs will need to make changes to their software. AES Companies also note that RTOs/ISOs will have to adjust their business practice manuals to comply.
- 334. Multiple commenters argue that the Commission should take a phased approach to its proposed compliance and implementation timelines. For example, NextEra suggests that the Commission finalize proposed reforms related to both the electric storage resource and distributed energy resource aggregation resources, while extending the distributed energy resource aggregation requirements to allow further time to work

⁴²⁰ AES Companies Comments at 5, 14-15; Energy Storage Association Comments at n.8, 26-27; EPRI Comments 2-3.

⁴²¹ See FirstLight Comments at 14; MISO Comments at 11; NextEra Comments at 4-6.

through issues. NextEra states that the Commission could stage compliance deadlines with electric storage resource tariff revisions being submitted within six months of a final rule and aggregation tariff revisions being due 12 months after a final rule.

NextEra asserts that, if the Commission determines additional consideration needs to be given to the aggregation-related issues, the Commission should finalize the storage related revisions now.

335. MISO suggests that the Commission allow RTOs/ISOs to integrate electric storage resources using a phased approach. MISO explains that electric storage resources can be accommodated in the short term through the RTO's/ISO's existing system or with relatively manageable modifications but argues that, in the long-term, the further integration of electric storage resources should be pursued through joint study of an RTO's/ISO's market design and system enhancements. FirstLight also argues that, because the proposal includes changes to RTO/ISO bidding, dispatch, pricing and settlement software, the Commission should allow each RTO/ISO to address the phasing of market development and implementation efforts related to any final rule.

336. Several other commenters argue that the Commission should allow the RTOs/ISOs to develop their own implementation schedules. CAISO, IRC, NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners, and PJM argue that the Commission should permit each affected

RTO/ISO to propose an implementation schedule for various aspects of the final rule.

⁴²² See CAISO Comments at 53; IRC Comments at 11-12; NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 20; PJM Comments at 30.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

CAISO states that it does not oppose the Commission setting a compliance and implementation timeframe but suggests that a better approach would be to direct the RTO/ISOs to establish independent timelines in their compliance filings. PJM states that allowing RTOs/ISOs to propose implementation schedules is preferable to the Commission setting firm deadlines that may lead to requests for waivers. IRC recommends that the final rule should require each RTO/ISO to file an implementation plan and schedule with the Commission within 180 days. IRC states that the implementation plan and schedule should be subject to notice and comment and not necessarily limited to 12 months.

337. NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners state that the Commission should not set unrealistic goals for the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in wholesale markets before the grid has the needed technological capabilities. 423

Therefore, NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners oppose the Commission's proposal to make the compliance filing due in six months with full implementation 12 months thereafter. Instead, NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners request that each RTO/ISO be allowed to utilize the stakeholder process to establish a timeline for implementation.

338. Xcel Energy Services also expresses concerns that the implementation timeline is too aggressive, stating that that Commission should further evaluate whether the technological capability exists to fully implement the NOPR requirements and, if not,

⁴²³ See NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners Comments at 20.

what timeline is needed to ensure that such functionality can be developed. Azel Energy Services contends that the requirements of the NOPR and the implementation timeline must be tailored to fit within achievable technological capabilities. Xcel Energy Services states that the RTOs/ISOs and their stakeholders should be permitted to propose alternate implementation timelines that allow higher priority regional projects to move forward before the software updates needed under the NOPR.

339. In contrast to other commenters, Advanced Microgrid Solutions argues that the proposed compliance and implementation timeline will take 18 months and therefore not promptly end unduly discriminatory rules and practices and will impose on-going burdens on the storage industry. Advanced Microgrid Solutions argues that compliance plans should be filed within 90 days and specify the earliest possible implementation date for each compliance action.

340. Multiple entities discuss the proposed bidding parameters, including state of charge, in relation to the proposed timeline for compliance. MISO states that managing state of charge would require costly investments and upgrades, noting that in some cases it may not be technically feasible for large volumes of electric storage resources. CAISO states that it will require at least 24 months to design and incorporate bidding parameters

⁴²⁴ See Xcel Energy Services Comments at 16-17.

⁴²⁵ See Advanced Microgrid Solutions Comments at 13.

⁴²⁶ See AES Companies Comments at 23; CAISO Comments at 12; EPRI Comments at 12; MISO Comments at 10; Tesla/SolarCity Comments at 15.

that account for all physical operating parameters (such as state of charge) into its modeling and dispatch software, which would require stakeholder discussions, market design work, and implementation testing. CAISO further explains that this directive would be inconsistent with how CAISO models other resources in its markets and asks that the Commission direct RTOs/ISOs to account for the physical operating constraints of resource in their market modeling and dispatch software and require them to explain how they do so.

341. AES Companies similarly explain that time, resources, and capital costs can be minimized if all energy storage resources managed their own state of charge. EPRI notes that, assuming that the Commission does not require the RTOs/ISOs to manage state-of-charge of electric storage resources (which some already do), there would only be minimal changes to the bidding interface, market clearing, or settlement software. EPRI states that the large change absent RTOs/ISOs having to manage state of charge will be allowing electric storage resources to offer as an injector and withdrawer of energy in the same market interval but for the market clearing software to only allow acceptance of one or the other. Tesla/SolarCity state that bidding parameters should reflect storage resources state of charge and be included in the unit commitment and economic dispatch optimization algorithms of each RTO/ISO. Tesla/SolarCity believe that storage resources should manage their own state of charge or have the choice between relying on RTO/ISO estimates or self-managing. In contrast to other commenters, Tesla/SolarCity assert that the time and resources necessary to incorporate these bidding parameters into the dispatch software should be minimal and are justified given the increased efficiency of markets and operations.

342. NEPOOL raises regional issues. 427 NEPOOL encourages the Commission to ensure that any final rule includes sufficient flexibility to allow the region to implement the requirements while also achieving the other regional priorities in ISO-NE's Work Plan for 2017-2018. Specifically, NEPOOL urges that the final rule take into account market rules that are currently being implemented in the region to eliminate barriers to the entry of electric storage resources into wholesale markets.

C. Commission Determination

343. Upon consideration of the comments, we find that it is reasonable to provide the RTOs/ISOs additional time to submit their proposed tariff revisions in response to the Final Rule, given that the changes could require significant work on the part of the RTOs/ISOs. We find that shorter timeframes proposed by commenters such as Advanced Microgrid Solutions would not provide the RTO/ISOs with sufficient time to implement the required reforms. Taking into account that the Commission is not implementing the distributed energy resource aggregation reforms at this time, we require each RTO/ISO to file the tariff changes needed to implement the requirements of this Final Rule within 270 days of the publication date of this Final Rule in the Federal

⁴²⁷ See NEPOOL Comments at 5.

Register. We will continue to allow each RTO/ISO a further 365 days from that date to implement the tariff provisions.

344. We find that, given the modifications and clarifications to the NOPR we make in this Final Rule and the record in this proceeding in support of the reforms we finalize here, our implementation schedule is reasonable. Commenters highlight that managing state of charge will complicate or delay implementation, and we note that we are not requiring the RTOs/ISOs to manage state of charge. Further, some commenters also provide feedback on the implementation of the entire NOPR and indicate that implementing only the storage components would expedite compliance and implementation. We are not establishing any requirements for distributed energy resource aggregations as part of this Final Rule. Given the additional time we are providing for each RTO/ISO to file proposed tariff revisions to comply with this Final Rule, we believe that the compliance and implementation schedule that we establish in this Final Rule is appropriate. As a consequence, we are not persuaded that more than 365 days after the RTOs/ISOs are required to submit their proposed tariff revisions will be necessary to implement the reforms in this Final Rule; therefore, we decline to adopt commenters' other proposed recommendations, such as allowing the RTO/ISOs to develop their own implementation schedules. We disagree with Xcel Energy Services' argument that the Commission needs to further evaluate whether the technological capability exists to fully implement the NOPR requirements, especially as we are not finalizing in this Final Rule the distributed energy resource aggregation reforms proposed in the NOPR.

an RTO/ISO proposes to comply with certain requirements of this Final Rule using existing market rules, it must demonstrate on compliance how its existing market rules meet the requirements of this Final Rule. We expect that the additional time that we are providing for the RTOs/ISOs to make their compliance filings, along with the ability of the RTOs/ISOs to use existing tariff provisions to demonstrate compliance with aspects of the Final Rule, will mean that the RTOs/ISOs can meet the deadlines that we are establishing here. Finally, we also note that, throughout this Final Rule, we are allowing regional flexibility to the extent possible. We believe that this flexibility will assist the RTOs/ISOs in meeting the compliance and implementation deadlines.

VI. Information Collection Statement

346. The collection of information contained in this Final Rule is being submitted to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for review under section 3507(d) of the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995. OMB's regulations, in turn, require approval of certain information collection requirements imposed by agency rules. Upon approval of a collection(s) of information, OMB will assign an OMB control number and an expiration date. Respondents subject to the filing requirements of a rule will not be penalized for failing to respond to the collection of information unless the collection of

⁴²⁸ See 44 U.S.C. § 3507(d).

⁴²⁹ 5 CFR § 1320.

information displays a valid OMB control number.

<u>Public Reporting Burden</u>: In this Final Rule, we are not adopting any of the proposed reforms in the NOPR related to distributed energy resource aggregations and are modifying some of the requirements related to the participation model for electric storage resources. Thus, we are revising the estimated public reporting burden and cost from the NOPR⁴³⁰ based on these changes. The estimated burden and cost for the requirements contained in this Final Rule follow.

⁴³⁰ The burden estimates for the NOPR in Docket No. RM16-23-000 were submitted to OMB under FERC-516 (OMB Control No. 1902-0096, in ICR 201611-1902-005). There is another unrelated item affecting FERC-516 which will also be pending OMB review. Because only one item per OMB Control No. can be pending OMB review at a time, the reporting requirements in this Final Rule in RM16-23-000 will be submitted to OMB under a new collection number, FERC-516H.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

FERC-516H, as implemented in the Final Rule in Docket No. RM16-23-000 431						
		Annual			Total	
		Number			Annual	
		of		Average	Burden	
		Responses		Burden	Hours &	
		per	Total	(Hours) &	Total	Cost per
	Number of	Responde	Number of	Cost Per	Annual	Respondent
	Respondents	nt	Responses	Response	Cost	(\$)
	(1)	(2)	$(1)\times(2)=(3)$	(4)	$(3)\times(4)=(5)$	(5)÷(1)
One-Time Tariff Filing ⁴³²	6 ⁴³³	1	6	1,500 hrs; \$115,500	9,000 hrs; \$693,000	\$115,500

⁴³¹ The estimated hourly cost (salary plus benefits) provided in this section is based on the salary figures for May 2016 posted by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) for the Utilities sector (at http://www.bls.gov/oes/current/naics2_22.htm) and benefits information for September 2017 (issued 12/15/2017, at https://www.bls.gov/news.release/ecec.nr0.htm). The hourly estimates for salary plus benefits are: (a) Legal (code 23-0000), \$143.68; (b) Computer and mathematical (code 15-0000), \$60.70; (c) Computer and information systems manager (code 11-3021), \$100.68; (d) Information security analyst (code 15-1122), \$66.34; (e) Auditing and accounting (code 13-2011), \$53.00; (f) Information and record clerk (code 43-4199), \$39.14; (g) Electrical Engineer (code 17-2071), \$68.12; (h) Economist (code 19-3011), \$77.96; and (i) Management (code 11-0000), \$81.52. The average hourly cost (salary plus benefits), weighting all of these skill sets evenly, is \$76.79. The Commission rounds it to \$77 per hour.

The one-time tariff filing is due within 270 days of the publication date of the Final Rule in the Federal Register.

⁴³³ Respondent entities are either RTOs or ISOs.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

<u>Title</u>: FERC-516H, Electric Rate Schedules and Tariff Filings (in Final Rule in Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000).

Action: Proposed information collection.

OMB Control No.: To be determined.

Respondents for this Rulemaking: RTOs and ISOs.

Frequency of Information: One-time.

<u>Necessity of Information</u>: The Commission implements this Final Rule to eliminate barriers to electric storage resource participation in the RTO/ISO markets.

<u>Internal Review</u>: The Commission has reviewed the changes and has determined that such changes are necessary. These requirements conform to the Commission's need for efficient information collection, communication, and management within the energy industry. The Commission has specific, objective support for the burden estimates associated with the information collection requirements.

347. Interested persons may obtain information on the reporting requirements by contacting the following: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 888 First Street, NE, Washington, DC 20426 [Attention: Ellen Brown, Office of the Executive Director] E-mail: DataClearance@ferc.gov; Phone: (202) 502-8663; fax: (202) 273-0873.

348. Comments concerning the collection of information and the associated burden estimate(s) may also be sent to: Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Office of Management and Budget, 725 17th Street, NW, Washington, DC 20503 [Attention:

Desk Officer for the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission].

349. Due to security concerns, comments should be sent electronically to the following e-mail address: oira_submission@omb.eop.gov. Comments submitted to OMB should refer to FERC-516H and OMB Control No. To be determined.

VII. Environmental Analysis

350. The Commission is required to prepare an Environmental Assessment or an Environmental Impact Statement for any action that may have a significant adverse effect on the human environment. We conclude that neither an Environmental Assessment nor an Environmental Impact Statement is required for this Final Rule under section 380.4(a)(15) of the Commission's regulations, which provides a categorical exemption for approval of actions under sections 205 and 206 of the FPA relating to the filing of schedules containing all rates and charges for the transmission or sale of electric energy subject to the Commission's jurisdiction, plus the classification, practices, contracts and regulations that affect rates, charges, classifications, and services.

VIII. Regulatory Flexibility Act Certification

351. The Regulatory Flexibility Act of 1980 (RFA)⁴³⁶ generally requires a description and analysis of rules that will have a significant economic impact on a substantial

⁴³⁴ Regulations Implementing the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, Order No. 486, 52 Fed. Reg. 47,897 (Dec. 17, 1987), FERC Stats. & Regs., \P 30,783 (1987).

⁴³⁵ 18 CFR § 380.4(a)(15).

⁴³⁶ 5 U.S.C. §§ 601-12.

number of small entities. The RFA mandates consideration of regulatory alternatives that accomplish the stated objectives of a rule and that minimize any significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities. The Small Business Administration's (SBA) Office of Size Standards develops the numerical definition of a small business. The small business size standards are provided in 13 CFR 121.201.

352. Under the SBA classification, the six RTOs/ISOs would be considered electric bulk power transmission and control, for which the small business size threshold is 500 or fewer employees. Because each RTO/ISO has more than 500 employees, none are considered small entities.

- 353. Furthermore, because of their pivotal roles in wholesale electric power markets in their regions, none of the RTOs/ISOs meet the last criterion of the two-part RFA definition of a small entity: "not dominant in its field of operation." ⁴³⁹
- 354. The estimated cost related to this Final Rule includes: (a) preparing and making a one-time tariff filing (\$115,500 per entity, as detailed in the Information Collection section above), and (b) updating the economic dispatch software. Revisions to the

⁴³⁷ 13 CFR §121.101.

⁴³⁸ 13 CFR § 121.201 (Sector 22, Utilities).

The RFA definition of "small entity" refers to the definition provided in the Small Business Act, which defines a "small business concern" as a business that is independently owned and operated and that is not dominant in its field of operation. The Small Business Administration's regulations at 13 CFR § 121.201 define the threshold for a small Electric Bulk Power Transmission and Control entity (NAICS code 221121) to be 500 employees. *See* 5 U.S.C. § 601(3) (citing to section 3 of the Small Business Act, 15 U.S.C. § 632).

economic dispatch software are due to be implemented within 365 days after the due date of the tariff filing. We estimate the one-time software work will take 1,500 hours with an approximate cost of \$114,000 per entity. Therefore the total estimated one-time cost for the tariff filing and software work is \$229,500 per entity (or \$115,500 + \$114,000); the total estimated one-time industry cost is \$1,377,000.

355. As a result, we certify that the reforms required by this Final Rule would not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities, and therefore no regulatory flexibility analysis is required.

IX. Document Availability

356. In addition to publishing the full text of this document in the Federal Register, the Commission provides all interested persons an opportunity to view and/or print the contents of this document via the Internet through the Commission's Home Page (http://www.ferc.gov) and in the Commission's Public Reference Room during normal

⁴⁴⁰Based on the BLS data, the hourly estimates (for wages plus benefits) related to updating the software are: (a) Computer and mathematical (code 15-0000), \$60.70; (b) Computer and information systems manager (code 11-3021), \$100.68; (c)Information security analyst (code 15-1122), \$66.34; (d) Electrical Engineer (code 17-2071), \$68.12; (e) Economist (code 19-3011), \$77.96; and (f) Management (code 11-0000), \$81.52. We estimate these skill sets are equally involved in updating the software. The hourly average is \$75.89, so we will round to \$76 per hour.

We estimate a total of 1,500 hours per entity to develop and implement the software changes, so the related cost is estimated to be \$114,000 per entity (\$76/hour X 1,500 hours). The one-time industry-wide cost is \$684,000.

business hours (8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Eastern time) at 888 First Street, NE, Room 2A, Washington, DC 20426.

357. From the Commission's Home Page on the Internet, this information is available on eLibrary. The full text of this document is available on eLibrary in PDF and Microsoft Word format for viewing, printing, and/or downloading. To access this document in eLibrary, type the docket number of this document, excluding the last three digits, in the docket number field.

358. User assistance is available for eLibrary and the Commission's website during normal business hours from the Commission's Online Support at (202) 502-6652 (toll free at 1-866-208-3676) or email at ferconlinesupport@ferc.gov, or the Public Reference Room at (202) 502-8371, TTY (202) 502-8659. E-mail the Public Reference Room at public.referenceroom@ferc.gov.

X. Effective Date and Congressional Notification

359. This Final Rule will become effective on [INSERT DATE 90 DAYS AFTER DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL REGISTER]. The Commission has determined, with the concurrence of the Administrator of the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs, Office of Management and Budget, that this rule is not a "major rule" as defined in section 351 of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness

Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

- 232 -

Act of 1996. This Final Rule is being submitted to the Senate, House, and Government Accountability Office.

List of subjects in 18 CFR Part 35: Electric power rates Electric utilities

By the Commission.

(SEAL)

Nathaniel J. Davis, Sr., Deputy Secretary.

XI. Regulatory Text

In consideration of the foregoing, the Commission amends Part 35 Chapter 1, Title 18 of the *Code of Federal Regulations* as follows:

PART 35 – FILING OF RATE SCHEDULES AND TARIFFS

1. The authority citation for Part 35 continues to read as follows:

AUTHORITY: 16 U.S.C. 791a-825r, 2601-2645; 31 U.S.C. 9701; 42 U.S.C. 7101-7352.

2. Amend § 35.28(b) as follows, by adding new paragraph (9).

§ 35.28 (b) Definitions

(9) *Electric storage resource* as used in this section means a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid.

Amend § 35.28(g) as follows, by adding new paragraph (9)(i)(a-d), (ii).

§ 35.28

(g) Tariffs and operations of the Commission-approved independent system operators and regional transmission organizations.

(9) Electric Storage Resources.

- (i) Each Commission-approved independent system operator and regional transmission organization must have tariff provisions providing a participation model for electric storage resources that
 - a. Ensures that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources in an independent system operator or regional transmission organization market is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that it is technically capable of providing;
 - b. Ensures that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price;

- 234 -

- c. Accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; and
- d. Establishes a minimum size requirement for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources that does not exceed 100 kW.
- (ii) The sale of electric energy from an independent system operator or regional transmission organization market to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to that market must be at the wholesale locational marginal price.

NOTE: The following appendix will not be published in the Code of Federal Regulations.

XII. Appendix A: Abbreviated Names of Commenters

The following table contains the abbreviated names of the commenters that are used in this Final Rule.

Abbreviation	Commenter (Full Name)
Advanced Energy Economy	Advanced Energy Economy
Advanced Energy Management	Advanced Energy Management Alliance
Advanced Microgrid Solutions	Advanced Microgrid Solutions, Inc.
Advanced Rail Energy Storage	Advanced Rail Energy Storage, LLC
AES Companies	AES Companies
Alevo	Alevo USA Inc.
Altametric	Altametric LLC
Amanda Drabek	Amanda Drabek, Pantsuit Nation of East
	Texas
American Petroleum Institute	American Petroleum Institute
APPA/NRECA	American Public Power Association and
	National Rural Electric Cooperative
	Association
Avangrid	AVANGRID, Inc.
AWEA	American Wind Energy Association
Beacon Power	Beacon Power, LLC
Benjamin Kingston	Benjamin D. Kingston
Bonneville	Bonneville Power Administration
Brookfield Renewable	Brookfield Renewable
CAISO	California Independent System Operator
	Corporation
California Commission	Public Utilities Commission of the State
	of California
California Energy Storage Alliance	California Energy Storage Alliance
California Municipals	California Municipal Utilities Association
	(incorporated by reference
	APPA/NRECA's comments)
Center for Biological Diversity	Center for Biological Diversity
City of New York	City of New York
Connecticut State Entities	Bureau of Energy and Technology Policy
	of the Connecticut Department of Energy
	and Environmental Protection and the
	Connecticut Public Utilities Regulatory

Docket No. -2-

Abbreviation	Commenter (Full Name)
	Authority (incorporate by reference
	NESCOE comments)
Delaware Commission	Delaware Public Service Commission
DER/Storage Developers	DER and Storage Developers
Dominion	Dominion Resources Services, Inc.
	(supports EEI's comments)
DTE Electric/Consumers Energy	DTE Electric Company and Consumers
	Energy Company
Duke Energy	Duke Energy Corporation (supports EEI's
	comments)
E4TheFuture	E4TheFuture
Eagle Crest	Eagle Crest Energy Company
EEI	Edison Electric Institute
Efficient Holdings	Efficient Holdings, LLC
ELCON	Electricity Consumers Resource Council
Electric Vehicle R&D Group	EV R&D Group, University of Delaware
Energy Storage Association	Energy Storage Association
EPRI	Electric Power Research Institute
EPSA/PJM Power Providers	Electric Power Supply Association and
	PJM Power Providers Group
Exelon	Exelon Corporation
FirstLight	FirstLight Power Resources, Inc.
Fluidic	Fluidic Energy
Fresh Energy/Sierra Club/Union of	Fresh Energy, the Sierra Club, and the
Concerned Scientists	Union of Concerned Scientists
Genbright	Genbright LLC
GridWise	GridWise Alliance (supports some of
	Advanced Energy Economy's and EEI's
	comments)
Guannan He	Guannan He
Harvard Environmental Policy	Harvard Environmental Policy Institute
Institute	
Imperial Irrigation District	Imperial Irrigation District
Independent Energy Producers	Independent Energy Producers
Association	Association
Institute for Policy Integrity	Institute for Policy Integrity
IPKeys/Motorola	IPKeys Technologies and Motorola
TD 0	Solutions
IRC	ISO-RTO Council
ISO-NE	ISO New England Inc.
Kathy Seal	Kathy Seal

Docket No. -3-

Abbreviation	Commenter (Full Name)
Liza White	Liza C White
Lyla Fadali	Lyla Fadali
Magnum	Magnum CAES, LLC (supports some of
	APPA/NRECA's and National
	Hydropower Association's comments)
Maryland and New Jersey	Maryland Public Service Commission and
Commissions	New Jersey Board of Public Utilities
Massachusetts State Entities	Massachusetts Department of Public
	Utilities and Massachusetts Department of
	Energy Resources
Massachusetts Municipal Electric	Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale
	Electric Company
Matthew d'Alessio	Matthew d'Alessio
Mensah	AF Mensah Inc.
Microgrid Resources Coalition	Microgrid Resources Coalition
Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance	Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance
MISO	Midcontinent Independent System
	Operator, Inc.
MISO Transmission Owners	MISO Transmission Owners
Mosaic Power	Mosaic Power, LLC
NARUC	National Association of Regulatory Utility
27.10	Commissioners
National Hydropower Association	National Hydropower Association
NEPOOL	New England Power Pool
NERC	North American Electric Reliability
MEGGOR	Corporation
NESCOE	New England States Committee on
N. W. I Chan E d'ala	Electricity
New York State Entities	New York Public Service Commission
	and New York State Energy Research and
Now Vouls Utility Intervention Unit	Development Authority Utility Intervention Unit of the New York
New York Utility Intervention Unit	Utility Intervention Unit of the New York State Department of State
NextEra	
NRG	NextEra Energy Resources, LLC
NYISO	NRG Energy, Inc. New York Independent System Operator,
111100	Inc.
NYISO Indicated Transmission Owners	Central Hudson Gas & Electric
11150 mulcated Transmission Owners	Corporation, Consolidated Edison
	Company of New York, Inc., National
	Grid, New York Power Authority, Orange
	ond, new fork fower Aumonty, orange

Docket No. -4-

Abbreviation	Commenter (Full Name)
	and Rockland Utilities, Inc., and Power
	Supply Long Island
NYPA	New York Power Authority
Ohio Commission	Public Utilities Commission of Ohio
Open Access Technology	Open Access Technology International,
	Inc.
OpenADR	OpenADR Alliance
Organization of MISO States	Organization of MISO States
Pacific Gas & Electric	Pacific Gas and Electric Company
PJM	PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.
PJM Market Monitor	Monitoring Analytics, LLC
Power Applications	Power Applications and Research
	Systems, Inc.
Protect Sudbury	Protect Sudbury
Public Interest Organizations	Public Interest Organizations
R Street Institute	R Street Institute
Research Scientists	Drs. Audun Botterud, Apurba Sakti, and
	Francis O'Sullivan
Robert Borlick	Robert L. Borlick
San Diego Water	San Diego County Water Authority
Schulte Associates	Schulte Associates LLC
SEIA	Solar Energy Industries Association
Silicon Valley Leadership Group	Silicon Valley Leadership Group
Six Cities	Cities of Anaheim, Azusa, Banning,
	Colton, Pasadena, and Riverside,
	California
SoCal Edison	Southern California Edison Company
SPP	Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Starwood Energy	Starwood Energy Group Global, L.L.C.
Stem	Stem, Inc.
Sunrun	Sunrun Inc.
TAPS	Transmission Access Policy Study Group
TechNet	TechNet
TeMix	TeMix Inc.
Tesla/SolarCity	Tesla, Inc. and SolarCity Corporation
Trans Bay	Trans Bay Cable LLC
Union of Concerned Scientists	Union of Concerned Scientists
US Senators	Senator Cory A. Booker, Senator Edward
	J. Markey, Senator Bernard Sanders,
	Senator Elizabeth Warren, Senator
	Sheldon Whitehouse, and Senator Ron

Docket No. -5-

Abbreviation	Commenter (Full Name)		
	Wyden		
Xcel Energy Services	Xcel Energy Services Inc.		

167 FERC ¶ 61,154 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

18 CFR Part 35 [Docket Nos. RM16-23-001; AD16-20-001; Order No. 841-A]

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators

(Issued May 16, 2019)

AGENCY: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

ACTION: Order on Rehearing and Clarification.

<u>SUMMARY</u>: The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission addresses petitions for rehearing and clarification and generally affirms its determinations in Order No. 841, amending its regulations under the Federal Power Act to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in the capacity, energy, and ancillary service markets operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This order on rehearing and clarification will become effective

[INSERT DATE 90 DAYS AFTER DATE OF PUBLICATION IN THE FEDERAL

REGISTER].

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:

Kaitlin Johnson (Technical Information) Office of Energy Policy and Innovation Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 888 First Street, NE Washington, DC 20426 (202) 502-8542 kaitlin.johnson@ferc.gov Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

- 2 -

Karin Herzfeld (Legal Information)
Office of the General Counsel
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
888 First Street, NE
Washington, DC 20426
(202) 502-8459
karin.herzfeld@ferc.gov

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 Regional Transmission Organizations and AD16-20-001 Independent System Operators

ORDER NO. 841-A

ORDER ON REHEARING AND CLARIFICATION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Introduction	<u>1.</u>
II. Discussion	5.
A. Definition of Electric Storage Resource	
1. Final Rule	
2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification	<u>11</u> .
3. Commission Determination	<u>30.</u>
B. Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources	<u>63.</u>
1. Final Rule	
2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification	<u>64.</u>
3. Commission Determination	<u>65.</u>
C. Eligibility of Electric Storage Resources to Participate in the RTO/ISO Markets	s . <u>66.</u>
1. Final Rule	<u>66.</u>
2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification	
3. Commission Determination	
D. Participation in the RTO/ISO Markets as Supply and Demand	
1. Eligibility to Participate as a Wholesale Seller and Wholesale Buyer	
2. Participation as Price Takers	
E. Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources	
1. Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storag	
Resource Participation Model	
F. Minimum Size Requirement	
1. Final Rule	
2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification	
3. Commission Determination	
G. Energy Used to Charge Electric Storage Resources (Charging Energy)	
1. Price for Charging Energy	
2. Metering and Accounting Practices for Charging Energy	. <u>124.</u>

167 FERC ¶ 61,154 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Before Commissioners: Neil Chatterjee, Chairman;

Cheryl A. LaFleur, Richard Glick,

and Bernard L. McNamee.

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 AD16-20-001

ORDER NO. 841-A

ORDER ON REHEARING AND CLARIFICATION

(Issued May 16, 2019)

I. <u>Introduction</u>

1. On February 15, 2018, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission) issued Order No. 841, which established reforms to remove barriers to the participation of electric storage resources¹ in the Regional Transmission Organization and Independent System Operator markets (RTO/ISO markets).² The Commission found that existing RTO/ISO market rules are unjust and unreasonable in light of barriers that they present to

¹ Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127, at P 1 (2018). Order No. 841 defined an electric storage resource as a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid. *Id.* P 1 n.1.

² For purposes of Order No. 841, the Commission defined RTO/ISO markets as the capacity, energy, and ancillary services markets operated by the RTOs and ISOs. *Id.* P 1 n.2.

the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets, thereby reducing competition and failing to ensure just and reasonable rates.³ To help ensure that the RTO/ISO markets produce just and reasonable rates, pursuant to the Commission's legal authority under Federal Power Act (FPA) section 206,⁴ the Commission in Order No. 841 modified §35.28 of the Commission's regulations⁵ to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to establish market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitate their participation in the RTO/ISO markets.⁶

2. More specifically, Order No. 841 required each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to establish a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in the RTO/ISO markets.⁷ For each RTO/ISO, the tariff provisions for the participation

³ *Id.* P 1.

⁴ 16 U.S.C. 824e (2012).

⁵ 18 CFR 35.28 (2018).

⁶ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 1.

⁷ *Id.* P 3. In Order No. 841, the Commission used the term "participation model" to refer to distinct tariff provisions that an RTO/ISO creates for a particular type of resource when that type of resource has unique physical and operational characteristics or other attributes that warrant distinctive treatment from other market participants. The Commission further explained that it was requiring a participation model for electric storage resources that will help facilitate the participation of electric storage resources in the RTO/ISO markets. *Id.*

model for electric storage resources must (1) ensure that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that it is technically capable of providing in the RTO/ISO markets; (2) ensure that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with existing market rules that govern when a resource can set the wholesale price; (3) account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; and (4) establish a minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW.8 Additionally, Order No. 841 directed each RTO/ISO to specify that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets must be at the wholesale locational marginal price (LMP).

3. The following petitioners filed timely requests for rehearing or rehearing and clarification of Order No. 841: AES Companies; American Municipal Power, Inc., American Public Power Association, and National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (collectively, AMP/APPA/NRECA); California Energy Storage Alliance; California Independent System Operator Corporation (CAISO); Edison Electric Institute (EEI); Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. (MISO); National Association of

⁸ *Id.* P 4.

Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC); Transmission Access Policy Study Group (TAPS); and Xcel Energy Services Inc. (Xcel Energy Services). Organization of MISO States; Pacific Gas and Electric Company; PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. (PJM); and Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (SPP) filed requests for clarification. For the reasons discussed below, we deny the requests for rehearing and deny in part and grant in part the requests for clarification.

4. Specifically, we grant SPP's request for clarification that Order No. 841 does not require an RTO/ISO to create and provide a capacity product that an RTO/ISO market does not otherwise offer. We also grant PJM's request for clarification that the Final Rule allows for flexibility in how RTOs/ISOs account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, including State of Charge. We further grant EEI's request to clarify that the Commission will not dismiss as per se unreasonable any proposal to establish a non-facility-specific rate for wholesale distribution service to an electric storage resource for its charging. We also grant CAISO's request to clarify that an RTO/ISO could require verification from the host distribution utility that it is unable or unwilling to net wholesale demand from retail settlement before the RTO/ISO ceases to settle an electric storage resource's wholesale demand at the wholesale LMP. Finally, we grant clarification of the Commission's finding that applicable transmission charges

⁹ Advanced Energy Economy, Energy Storage Association, and Monitoring Analytics, LLC acting in its capacity as the Independent Market Monitor for PJM filed answers to the requests for rehearing or clarification. Rule 713(d)(1) of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 18 CFR 385.713(d)(1), prohibits an answer to a request for rehearing. Accordingly, we reject these answers.

should apply when an electric storage resource is charging to resell energy at a later time. We also modify § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B) of the Commission's regulations to clarify that each RTO/ISO is required to allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as dispatchable resources, not that such resources are required to be dispatchable to use that participation model.

II. <u>Discussion</u>

A. <u>Definition of Electric Storage Resource</u>

1. Final Rule

5. In Order No. 841, the Commission revised § 35.28(b) of the Commission's regulations to define an electric storage resource as "a resource capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid." The Commission stated that this definition is intended to cover electric storage resources capable of receiving electric energy from the grid and storing it for later injection of electric energy back to the grid, regardless of their storage medium (e.g., batteries, flywheels, compressed air, and pumped-hydro). Additionally, the Commission stated that electric storage resources located on the interstate transmission system, on a distribution system, or behind the meter fall under this definition. The Commission stated that, by including all electric storage technologies, and by allowing resources that are interconnected to the transmission system, distribution system, or behind the meter to

¹⁰ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 29.

use the participation model for electric storage resources, the Commission was ensuring that the market rules will not be designed for any particular electric storage technology.¹¹

- 6. The Commission observed that an electric storage resource that injects electric energy back to the grid for purposes of participating in an RTO/ISO market engages in a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce. As a result, the Commission found that such an electric storage resource must fulfill certain responsibilities set forth in the FPA and the Commission's rules and regulations.
- 7. The Commission disagreed with commenters who asserted that the definition of an electric storage resource should be limited to those electric storage resources that are interconnected to the transmission system.¹⁴ The Commission found that electric storage resources interconnected to the distribution system are already participating in the

¹¹ *Id*.

¹² *Id.* P 30. The Commission also observed that injections of electric energy back to the grid do not necessarily trigger the Commission's jurisdiction. *Id.* n.49 (citing *Sun Edison LLC*, 129 FERC ¶ 61,146 (2009), *reh'g granted on other grounds*, 131 FERC ¶ 61,213 (2010) (the Commission's jurisdiction would arise only when a facility operating under a state net metering program produces more power than it consumes over the relevant netting period); *MidAmerican Energy Co.*, 94 FERC ¶ 61,340 (2001)).

¹³ *Id.* P 30. The Commission provided the following examples of such responsibilities: filing rates under FPA section 205 (potentially including obtaining market-based rate authority); submitting FPA sections 203 and 204 filings related to corporate mergers and other activities; and fulfilling FPA section 301 accounting obligations and FPA section 305(b) interlocking directorate obligations. *Id.* (citing 16 U.S.C. 824b, 824c, 824d, 825, 825d(b)).

¹⁴ *Id.* P 31.

RTO/ISO markets¹⁵ and that they should continue to be able to do so. The Commission stated that such a limitation also would be inconsistent with the participation of other types of resources because various types of traditional generation and demand-side resources that are not connected directly to the transmission system currently participate in the RTO/ISO markets.

8. The Commission also explained that, by "capable of … later injection of electric energy back to the grid," it meant that the electric storage resource is both physically designed and configured to inject electric energy back onto the grid and, as relevant, is contractually permitted to do so (e.g., per the interconnection agreement between an electric storage resource that is interconnected on a distribution system or behind-themeter with the distribution utility to which it is interconnected). Consequently, the Commission found that the definition of an electric storage resource excludes a resource that is either (1) physically incapable of injecting electric energy back onto the grid due to its design or configuration or (2) contractually barred from injecting electric energy back onto the grid. Further, the Commission explained that Order No. 841 requires each RTO/ISO to implement market rules applicable to electric storage resources, as defined

¹⁵ *Id.* (citing *PJM Interconnection L.L.C.*, 149 FERC ¶ 61,185 (2014), order on reh'g, 151 FERC ¶ 61,231 (2015)).

¹⁶ *Id.* P 33.

therein, that voluntarily seek to participate in the RTO/ISO markets; Order No. 841 does not require electric storage resources to participate in those markets.¹⁷

- 9. The Commission stated that it has exclusive jurisdiction over the wholesale markets and the criteria for participation in those markets, including the wholesale market rules for participation of resources connected at or below distribution-level voltages.

 The Commission also noted its understanding that numerous resources connected to the distribution system participate in the RTO/ISO markets today.

 Under those circumstances, the Commission was not persuaded to grant commenters' request that the Commission allow states to decide whether electric storage resources in their state that are located behind a retail meter or on the distribution system are permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through the electric storage resource participation model.
- 10. That said, the Commission emphasized the ongoing, vital role of the states with respect to the development and operation of electric storage resources.²⁰ The

¹⁷ *Id.* P 35.

¹⁸ *Id.* (citing *FERC v. Elec. Power Supply Ass'n*, 136 S. Ct. 760 (2016) (*EPSA*); *Advanced Energy Economy*, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245, at PP 59-60 (2017) (*AEE*), *reh'g denied*, 163 FERC ¶ 61,030 (2018) (AEE Rehearing Order)).

¹⁹ *Id.* (citing *Southern California Edison Co.*, Docket No. ER10-1356-000 (2010) (accepting Southern California Edison's Wholesale Distribution Access Tariff); *PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.*, Docket No. ER11-3148-000 (2011) (delegated letter order) (accepting Wholesale Market Participation Agreement among PJM, CleanLight Power, L.L.C. and Public Service Electric and Gas Company); PJM Manual 14C, section 1.3 (discussing requirements of Wholesale Market Participation Agreements)).

²⁰ *Id.* P 36.

Commission noted that such state responsibilities include, among other things, retail services and matters related to the distribution system, including design, operations, power quality, reliability, and system costs. The Commission added that nothing in Order No. 841 was intended to affect or implicate the responsibilities of distribution utilities to maintain the safety and the reliability of the distribution system or their use of electric storage resources on their systems. Further, in Order No. 841, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(ii) to the Commission's regulations to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.²¹

2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

11. Petitioners raise several issues concerning the Commission's authority with respect to electric storage resources' participation in RTO/ISO markets. First, some petitioners contend that the Commission must, or should, provide relevant electric retail regulatory authorities (RERRA) with an electric storage resource opt-out similar to that afforded for demand response in Order No. 719. Second, petitioners raise concerns about the Commission's authority to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.

²¹ The substantive requirements of this determination are discussed further in section II.G. (Energy Used to Charge Electric Storage Resources).

12. Several petitioners²² ask the Commission to grant rehearing or clarification of the Commission's denial of requests to "allow states to decide whether electric storage resources in their state that are located behind a retail meter or on the distribution system are permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through the electric storage resource participation model."²³ Generally, these petitioners contend that the Commission's decision to decline to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out is a violation of FPA section 201, which expressly excludes from Commission jurisdiction retail electric service and facilities for the local distribution of electric energy.²⁴ Petitioners also cite to the Commission's demand response rule in Order No. 719 and the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *EPSA* to support their proposition that the Commission must adopt an electric storage resource opt-out.²⁵

²² See e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA; EEI; NARUC; Organization of MISO States; TAPS; and Xcel Energy Services.

²³ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35 (referred to herein as the decision not to adopt an "electric storage resource opt-out").

²⁴ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 8 (citing 16 U.S.C. 824(b); NARUC Rehearing Request at 3 (citing 16 U.S.C. 824(b), 824o(i); *Cal. Indep. Sys. Operator Corp. v. FERC*, 372 F.3d 395, 398-99 (D.C. Cir. 2004)); Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 8.

 $^{^{25}}$ See Wholesale Competition in Regions with Organized Electric Markets, Order No. 719, 125 FERC \P 61,071 (2008), order on reh'g, Order No. 719-A, 128 FERC \P 61,059, order on reh'g, Order No. 719-B, 129 FERC \P 61,252 (2009); EPSA, 136 S. Ct. 760.

a. Whether the Commission is Required to Adopt an Optout

13. AMP/APPA/NRECA ask the Commission to grant rehearing and declare that Order No. 841 is limited to RTO/ISO market rules, and nothing in Order No. 841 overrides state laws or tariff requirements that might prohibit or limit an electric storage resource interconnected with the distribution system or behind a retail meter from directly accessing the wholesale market.²⁶ They assert that the Commission does not have authority to disregard or override state and local restrictions on the participation of distribution-level and behind-the-meter electric storage resources in wholesale markets because FPA section 201(b) reserves to the states the regulation of retail service and specifically excludes local distribution facilities from the Commission's jurisdiction.²⁷ They further argue that the Commission lacks authority to compel entities exempt from the Commission's rate jurisdiction under FPA section 201(f), such as public power and cooperative utilities, to allow retail behind-the-meter electric storage resources to participate in wholesale markets.²⁸ They contend that, while certain distributionconnected resources may participate in wholesale markets, the Commission has indicated that "the vast majority of small generator interconnections will be with state jurisdictional

²⁶ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 8.

²⁷ *Id.* at 9 (citing 16 U.S.C. 824(b)(1); *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 775).

²⁸ *Id.* at 9 n.25.

facilities" and that such interconnections will be governed by state law.²⁹ Therefore, they argue that the Commission has exceeded its authority if Order No. 841 indicates that an electric storage resource taking retail service from a distribution utility may disregard retail service terms and conditions that limit direct participation in the wholesale market.³⁰

14. TAPS similarly asserts that states' exclusive jurisdiction to set the terms and conditions of retail service includes conditioning receipt of retail service on the customer's agreement as to whether and how to interconnect behind-the-meter resources and what the customer may do with such resources. Xcel Energy Services contends that granting rehearing would not allow states to change the Commission's criteria for participating in wholesale markets, but would require electric storage resources connected at the distribution level or behind the meter to also ensure that their activities are in accordance with state legal requirements governing retail sales and use of the distribution system. 22

 $^{^{29}}$ Id. at 9 (citing Standardization of Small Generator Interconnection Agreements and Procedures, Order No. 2006-A, 113 FERC \P 61,195, at P 105 (2005), clarified, Order No. 2006-B, 116 FERC \P 61,046 (2006), corrected, 71 FR 53,965 (Sept. 13, 2006)).

³⁰ *Id.* at 9.

³¹ TAPS Rehearing Request at 7-8.

³² Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 6-7.

15. Some petitioners argue that, while the Commission cites *EPSA*³³ for the proposition that it "has exclusive jurisdiction over the wholesale markets and the criteria for participation in those markets," *EPSA* does not support the Commission's decision not to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out. *AMP/APPA/NRECA* assert that (1) *EPSA* concerned federal authority to regulate wholesale demand response compensation, not state authority over demand response resource participation, *Amazona (2)* the Order No. 719 opt-out rules were not at issue in *EPSA* because the Supreme Court treated those rules as an established part of the regulatory framework for demand response, *Amazona (3)* the authority of states to veto retail customer participation in demand response aggregations was a reason for the Court's finding that the Commission did not improperly intrude on states' jurisdiction over retail sales. *NARUC* argues that, while *EPSA* supports the assertion that the Commission may determine *how* resources participate in the RTO/ISO

³³ 136 S. Ct. 760.

³⁴ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35.

³⁵ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA, NARUC, and Xcel Energy Services.

³⁶ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 10-11 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35; *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 773).

³⁷ *Id.* at 11 (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 771, 772, 779-80). They assert that the Court had no reason to address and did not address the scope of the Commission's authority to determine which demand response resources are eligible to participate in the wholesale market in the first place, nor did it suggest that the Commission may override retail service terms and conditions that might restrict or condition such eligibility. *Id.*

³⁸ *Id.* (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 779-80).

markets because the Commission has the authority to determine how prices are set, *EPSA* does not support the finding that states cannot determine *whether* resources can participate in the RTO/ISO markets.³⁹

16. Xcel Energy Services claims that the Supreme Court permitted the Commission's demand response pricing changes in *EPSA* because, there, the Commission addressed only "transactions occurring on the wholesale market," and "every aspect of the regulatory plan happen[ed] exclusively on the wholesale market and govern[ed] exclusively that market's rules." Xcel Energy Services argues that, unlike the indirect effects on retail sales that the Supreme Court permitted in *EPSA*, Order No. 841 directly affects retail sales because it allows distribution-connected and behind-the-meter electric storage resources to make wholesale sales *and purchases*, which fundamentally changes how retail sales occur and directly interferes with a state's ability to regulate retail sales. For instance, Xcel Energy Services argues that, if a retail customer sells into the wholesale market and sells more than it purchases for the applicable billing period, then what had previously been a retail sale by the distribution company is now a wholesale sale within the Commission's jurisdiction. Xcel Energy Services adds that, because

³⁹ NARUC Rehearing Request at 6 (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 771, 773, 780).

⁴⁰ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 7 (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 764, 777).

⁴¹ *Id.* at 7.

 $^{^{42}}$ Id. at 8 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 289 ("The Commission has found that the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage

Order No. 841 entitles an electric storage resource to purchase at wholesale from the RTO/ISO market, Order No. 841 removes what was previously a franchised retail sale by the distribution provider, which could preempt the distribution utility's state-granted franchise. 43 Xcel Energy Services also claims that, unlike Order No. 745, which was at issue in EPSA, Order No. 841 will require distribution utilities to establish extensive and expensive processes to assist the market participation of distribution-connected and behind-the-meter electric storage resources, including (1) processes that allow electric storage resources to use their wires to transmit energy to and from the electric transmission grid, and (2) processes to separately track retail and wholesale sales and purchases. 44 Xcel Energy Services further argues that Order No. 841 will require distribution providers to manage both state-regulated and Commission-jurisdictional interconnections, interfere with state regulation of distribution system reliability, permit resources to cycle in and out of state jurisdiction, and force states to accommodate the Commission's electric storage policy.⁴⁵

17. Some petitioners further argue that the Commission's decision not to adopt an optout is inconsistent with other provisions of Order No. 841 that, according to petitioners,

resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce.")).

⁴³ *Id.* at 8-9 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 56).

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 9.

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 10-12.

indicate that RERRAs and distribution utilities have the authority to limit the ability of electric storage resources to access the RTO/ISO markets. 46 Some of these petitioners point to the Commission's finding that "[t]o the extent that the host distribution utility is unable . . . or unwilling to net out any energy purchases associated with . . . electric storage resources' wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO would be prevented from charging that resource wholesale rates for the charging energy for which it is already paying retail rates."47 These petitioners also argue that, by finding that an electric storage resource is not eligible, by definition, for participation in the RTO/ISO markets if it is "contractually barred from injecting electric energy back onto the grid," the Commission acknowledged that an electric storage resource could be barred from participation by a distribution interconnection agreement. 48 NARUC asserts that the Commission failed, however, to acknowledge that the states have jurisdiction over those agreements. 49

 $^{^{46}}$ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA, NARUC, Organization of MISO States, and TAPS.

⁴⁷ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 6; TAPS Rehearing Request at 7 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 326).

⁴⁸ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 6 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 33 ("per the interconnection agreement between an electric storage resource that is interconnected on a distribution system or behind-the-meter with a distribution utility to which it is interconnected")); NARUC Rehearing Request at 8 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 33).

⁴⁹ NARUC Rehearing Request at 8.

18. NARUC also adds that PJM Manual 14C, which the Commission cited as support for the finding that distribution-level resources currently participate in the wholesale markets, indicates that the Commission does not determine *whether* distribution-level resources can participate in wholesale markets.⁵⁰ NARUC asserts that PJM's Manual 14C specifies that the only reason for a Wholesale Market Participation Agreement is to facilitate participation by distribution-level generators over which the Commission lacks jurisdiction.⁵¹ According to NARUC, the Commission and PJM generally are not involved in the physical interconnection of distribution-level facilities using the Wholesale Market Participation Agreement; rather, it is a product of federal-state comity that should not be mistaken for an exercise of exclusive federal jurisdiction.⁵²

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 6.

⁵¹ *Id.* at 6-7 (citing PJM Manual 14C, Generation and Transmission Interconnection Facility Construction, Revision 12, section 1.3 ("Generators planning to connect to the local distribution systems at locations that are not under FERC jurisdiction and wish to participate in PJM's market need to execute a PJM Wholesale Market Participation Agreement")).

Facility Construction, Revision 12, section 1.3 ("Generators planning to connect to the local distribution systems at locations that *are not under FERC jurisdiction* and wish to participate in PJM's market need to execute a PJM Wholesale Market Participation Agreement"); PJM Manual 14A: New Service Request Process, Revision 20, § 4.3 ("Developers interconnecting to *non-FERC jurisdictional facilities* who intend on participating in the PJM wholesale market will receive a three party agreement known as a [Wholesale Market Participation Agreement]. The [Wholesale Market Participation Agreement] is a non-Tariff agreement which must be filed with the FERC. *The [Wholesale Market Participation Agreement] is essentially an ISA without interconnection provisions.*") (emphasis added)).

19. AMP/APPA/NRECA, NARUC, and TAPS also point to the Commission's acknowledgment in Order No. 2006-A that the vast majority of distribution-level interconnections are subject to state, rather than Commission, jurisdiction. TAPS asserts that, because the Commission has acknowledged that the vast majority of distribution-level interconnections are subject to RERRA jurisdiction, the language in Order No. 841 requiring an electric storage resource to be "contractually permitted" to inject electric energy back to the grid gives RERRAs a veto over wholesale sales by distribution-connected and behind-the-retail-meter electric storage resources. TAPS adds that, while the Commission has reached into the distribution systems of public utilities in narrow circumstances where the purpose of the interconnection is for wholesale sales and the distribution facilities at issue are already subject to the public utility's open access transmission tariff (OATT), facilities behind the retail meter are plainly beyond the scope of facilities "included in a public utility's Commission-filed"

⁵³ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 9; NARUC Rehearing Request at 3; TAPS Rehearing Request at 6 n.8 (citing Order No. 2006-A, 113 FERC ¶ 61,195 at P 105).

⁵⁴ TAPS Rehearing Request at 6 (quoting Order No. 2006-A, 113 FERC ¶ 61,195 at P 105 ("Order No. 2006 in no way affects rules adopted by the states for the interconnection of generators with state jurisdictional facilities. We expect that the vast majority of small generator interconnections will be with state jurisdictional facilities. The Commission encourages development of state interconnection programs, and interconnections with state jurisdictional facilities continue to be governed by state law.")).

OATT."⁵⁵ TAPS also states that, with respect to net metering, the Commission allows the RERRA to set the netting interval to determine whether a distributed resource makes a net sale of electricity subject to the Commission's jurisdiction.⁵⁶ TAPS asserts that, because electric storage resources that rely on energy purchases to charge always purchase more energy than they sell, if the RERRA sets a netting interval for such a resource that is longer than its charge/discharge cycle, there does not appear to be a net sale of electricity from that resource under the "MidAmerican standard."⁵⁷

20. Organization of MISO States argues that being "contractually permitted" to inject electric energy back onto the grid could be interpreted broadly to include the rules surrounding operation and interconnection to the distribution system or narrowly to address only technical interconnection rules.⁵⁸ Organization of MISO States asks the Commission to clarify that nothing in Order No. 841 is intended to impact existing rules

⁵⁵ *Id.* at 6 n.8 (quoting *Standardization of Generator Interconnection Agreements and Procedures*, Order No. 2003-A, 106 FERC ¶ 61,220, at PP 710, 730, *order on reh'g*, Order No. 2003-B, 109 FERC ¶ 61,287 (2004), *order on reh'g*, Order No. 2003-C, 111 FERC ¶ 61,401 (2005), *aff'd sub nom. Nat'l Ass'n of Regulatory Util. Comm'rs v. FERC*, 475 F.3d 1277 (D.C. Cir. 2007); *Standardization of Small Generator Interconnection Agreements and Procedures*, Order No. 2006, 111 FERC ¶ 61,220, at P 481, *order on reh'g*, Order No. 2006-A, 113 FERC ¶ 61,195 (2005), *order granting clarification*, Order No. 2006-B, 116 FERC ¶ 61,046 (2006)).

⁵⁶ TAPS Rehearing Request at 6 n.9 (citing *MidAmerican Energy Co.*, 94 FERC ¶ 61,340, at 62,263 (2001); Order No. 2003-A, 106 FERC ¶ 61,220 at P 747; *Sun Edison LLC*, 129 FERC ¶ 61,146, at P 19 (2009), *on reh'g*, 131 FERC ¶ 61,213 (2010)).

⁵⁷ *Id.* at 6 n.9.

⁵⁸ Organization of MISO States Rehearing Request at 5.

related to interconnection or operation of resources connected to the distribution system and that each RTO/ISO may adopt tariff provisions that require compliance with applicable rules as confirmed by the distribution utility and RERRA before an asset can be authorized to participate in the RTO/ISO markets.⁵⁹

21. MISO seeks clarification with respect to the Commission's statement that it did not intend Order No. 841 "to affect or implicate the responsibilities of distribution utilities to maintain the safety and the reliability of the distribution system or their use of electric storage resources on their systems." MISO requests that the Commission clarify that each RTO/ISO may require a distribution-connected electric storage resource to comply with interconnection and/or operating requirements intended to address, to the reasonable satisfaction of the RTO/ISO, any potential material adverse reliability impacts on the distribution system raised by the relevant local distribution company. If the Commission declines to provide this clarification, MISO seeks rehearing on this issue. Organization of MISO States similarly asks the Commission to clarify that an RTO/ISO may propose tariff provisions recognizing a unique regional situation that requires additional RERRA oversight of resources connected to the distribution system that participate in wholesale markets.

⁵⁹ *Id.* at 5-6.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

b. Whether the Commission Should Exercise its Discretion and Adopt an Opt-out

22. Several petitioners argue that, even if the Commission concludes that it is not required to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out, the Commission's decision not to adopt an opt-out is an unexplained departure from Order No. 719, in which the Commission reasoned that its demand response resource opt-out properly balanced the Commission's goal of removing barriers to the development of demand response resources in the organized wholesale markets with the interests and concerns of state and local regulatory authorities. 60 EEI contends that the Commission's sole reason for declining to pursue a path of cooperative federalism by adopting an opt-out is that distribution-connected resources already participate in the wholesale market, which lacks factual support as to penetration and impact. 61 AMP/APPA/NRECA and TAPS claim that the Commission's decision in Order No. 841 not to adopt an opt-out for electric storage resources is arbitrary or inconsistent because an electric storage resource may still choose to participate in RTO/ISO markets as demand response, in which case it would be subject to the RERRA opt-out rules.⁶²

⁶⁰ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA, EEI, NARUC, TAPS, and Xcel Energy Services.

⁶¹ EEI Rehearing Request at 7 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35).

⁶² AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 14 n.48 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 56; 18 CFR 35.28(g)(1)(iii)); TAPS Rehearing Request at 4 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at PP 32, 55-56) (arguing that the electric storage resource owner's choice of which construct to use to participate in the RTO/ISO markets

23. AMP/APPA/NRECA, EEI, and TAPS argue that there is a more compelling argument for the Commission to adopt an opt-out in Order No. 841 than there was in Order No. 719 because electric storage resources inject power into the distribution system, thereby creating more significant operational, safety, and reliability concerns for retail customer interconnections and distribution systems than demand response resources. EEI adds that, in some regions, the infrastructure, technology and resources are not in place to support large numbers of distribution-connected electric storage resources participating in the wholesale markets. Organization of MISO States notes that, in AEE, the Commission cited the distinction between wholesale energy efficiency resources and demand response resources, finding that "[energy efficiency resources] are not likely to present the same operational and day-to-day planning complexity." Organization of MISO States argues that the potential moment-to-moment changes in

should not strip away the RERRA's authority that the Commission has previously recognized).

⁶³ See, e.g., EEI Rehearing Request at 5 (claiming that the charging and discharging activity of distribution-connected electric storage resources could raise complicated interactions between wholesale and retail market activity that the distribution utility and RERRA will need to address); TAPS Rehearing Request at 4 (claiming that the need for deference is especially high for behind-the-retail-meter electric storage resources that may involve retail customers using retail interconnections to make wholesale purchases and sales).

⁶⁴ EEI Rehearing Request at 5.

 $^{^{65}}$ Organization of MISO States Rehearing Request at 3 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35; *AEE*, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245 at P 63).

utilization of electric storage resources are more in line with demand response than energy efficiency.⁶⁶

- 24. TAPS asserts that the lack of an opt-out creates confusion that will undermine investment and create market uncertainty.⁶⁷ Therefore, TAPS argues that, instead of leaving RERRA policies to be implemented on a case-by-case basis, the Commission should provide a straightforward mechanism to enable RTOs/ISOs to implement RERRA decisions in a systematic and orderly way.⁶⁸ TAPS argues that the opt-out approach afforded for demand response in Order No. 719 has a proven record and can be implemented easily by RTOs/ISOs because they already use the mechanism for demand response resources. According to TAPS, this approach could help avoid the need to consider disruptive market re-runs or alternative enforcement mechanisms if an RTO/ISO accepts supply offers or demand bids from distribution-connected or behind-the-retail-meter electric storage resources that are barred from making such sales or purchases under state law.⁶⁹
- 25. NARUC also expresses concern that the Commission's decision not to adopt an opt-out in Order No. 841 could inhibit state energy storage initiatives and posits that

⁶⁶ *Id.* at 3.

⁶⁷ TAPS Rehearing Request at 9.

⁶⁸ *Id.* at 10.

⁶⁹ *Id.* at 11.

adopting an opt-out would provide clarity that would advance federal and state policymakers' shared interest in a resilient electric system with a diverse resource mix. If the Commission does not grant rehearing on the opt-out, NARUC asks the Commission to defer the determination of this jurisdictional issue to Docket No. RM18-9-000.⁷⁰

26. If the Commission does not grant rehearing and provide an opt-out for electric storage resources, Xcel Energy Services requests that the Commission allow states, in conjunction with RTOs/ISOs, to determine the appropriate minimum capacity threshold at which electric storage resources connected to the distribution system or located behind a retail meter can participate in wholesale markets.⁷¹

c. Other Issues

27. SPP seeks clarification regarding whether it is the responsibility of the RTO/ISO to ensure that the necessary contractual arrangements are in place to permit an electric storage resource to inject energy onto the grid, or whether it is sufficient for an RTO/ISO to require an electric storage resource to attest that it has all the necessary contractual arrangements in place.⁷² SPP states that it has taken the attestation approach in the area of demand response aggregation and seeks confirmation that such an approach would be

⁷⁰ NARUC Rehearing Request at 9.

⁷¹ Excel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 16.

 $^{^{72}}$ SPP Motion for Clarification at 2 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 33), 13.

sufficient for SPP to determine that a facility meets that particular qualification for an electric storage resource.⁷³

- 28. SPP also seeks clarification that, while nothing in Order No. 841 requires an electric storage resource to participate in an RTO/ISO market, this does not supersede other reasons outside of the context of Order No. 841 that an electric storage resource might be required to comply with provisions of RTO/ISO tariffs applicable to all resources and loads. PP argues that these generally applicable requirements are critical as they give SPP awareness of the loads and resources that may exist within its markets and ensure that its tariff is administered in a manner that is not unduly discriminatory to any type of load or resource.
- 29. Finally, AMP/APPA/NRECA claim that the assertion of jurisdiction over the purchase of charging energy as a wholesale sale presupposes that the electric storage resource may bypass the distribution utility and purchase directly from the wholesale market.⁷⁶ TAPS argues that the Commission does not have the authority to authorize

⁷³ *Id.* at 2-3.

 $^{^{74}}$ *Id.* at 3 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35). For example, SPP states that it requires all loads and resources within the SPP region to register with SPP and it has certain must-offer requirements that apply to all available registered resources. SPP also states that it requires behind-the-meter resources of 10 MW or greater to register. *Id.* at 3-4.

⁷⁵ *Id.* at 4.

 $^{^{76}}$ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 10 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 294 (requiring that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO

retail customers to purchase energy from entities other than their distribution utility because the decision to allow a retail customer to purchase directly from suppliers other than its retail utility is a matter of state law or voluntary choice by the public-utility distribution company.⁷⁷

3. Commission Determination

30. We deny rehearing. As a preliminary matter, we decline to defer the determination of whether to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out to Docket No. RM18-9-000.⁷⁸ That proceeding is focused on issues relating to distributed energy resource aggregations, while Order No. 841 addresses the participation of non-aggregated electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets. We find that the Commission had sufficient record evidence before it to determine whether to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out, regardless of its decision to gather more information with respect to its

markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP)).

n.9, 13, 20, 23 (2002) (quoting Promoting Wholesale Competition Through Open Access Non-Discriminatory Transmission Services by Public Utilities; Recovery of Stranded Costs by Public Utilities and Transmitting Utilities, Order No. 888, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,036, at 31,782-83, 31,969 (1996), (cross-referenced at 77 FERC ¶ 61,080), order on reh'g, Order No. 888-A, FERC Stats. & Regs. ¶ 31,048, (cross-referenced at 78 FERC ¶ 61,220), order on reh'g, Order No. 888-B, 81 FERC ¶ 61,248 (1997), order on reh'g, Order No. 888-C, 82 FERC ¶ 61,046 (1998), aff'd in relevant part sub nom. Transmission Access Policy Study Group v. FERC, 225 F.3d 667 (D.C. Cir. 2000), aff'd sub nom. New York v. FERC, 535 U.S. 1 (2002)).

⁷⁸ See NARUC Rehearing Request at 9.

proposals to remove barriers to the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in RTO/ISO markets in Docket No. RM18-9-000.⁷⁹

31. We continue to find that the Commission's establishing the criteria for participation in the RTO/ISO markets of electric storage resources, including those resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter, is essential to the Commission's ability to fulfill its statutory responsibility to ensure that wholesale rates are just and reasonable. Below, we outline the relevant precedent with respect to the Commission's authority over electric storage participation in RTO/ISO markets, and then we address arguments raised by petitioners and the dissent concerning the Commission's decision not to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out. Finally, we address arguments that the Commission does not have authority to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.

a. Whether the Commission Must Adopt an Opt-out

32. As discussed below, we find that the FPA and relevant precedent does not legally compel the Commission to adopt an opt-out with respect to participation in RTO/ISO markets by electric storage resources interconnected on a distribution system or located

⁷⁹ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 5.

⁸⁰ See id. PP 1, 35.

behind a retail meter. FPA section 201⁸¹ authorizes the Commission to regulate the transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce and the wholesale sale of electric energy in interstate commerce, as well as all facilities used for such transmission or sale of electric energy. Section 201 also defines a public utility as "any person who owns or operates facilities subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission." FPA sections 205⁸³ and 206⁸⁴ provide the Commission with jurisdiction over all rates and charges made, demanded, or received by any public utility for or in connection with the transmission or sale of electric energy subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. Those sections also provide the Commission with jurisdiction over all rules, regulations, practices, or contracts affecting jurisdictional rates, charges, or classifications.

33. In *EPSA*, the U.S. Supreme Court interpreted those FPA sections to uphold the Commission's jurisdiction over the participation in RTO/ISO markets of demand response resources: a type of non-traditional resource that, by definition, is located behind a customer meter and generally is located on the distribution system.⁸⁵ The Court

^{81 16} U.S.C. 824.

⁸² *Id.* 824(e).

⁸³ *Id.* 824d.

⁸⁴ *Id.* 824e.

⁸⁵ See EPSA, 136 S. Ct. 760; 18 CFR 35.28(b)(4) (defining demand response as "a reduction in the consumption of electric energy by customers from their expected consumption in response to an increase in the price of electric energy or to incentive payments designed to induce lower consumption of electric energy").

did not find the Commission's authority to be lessened by the location of demand response resources behind the retail customer meter.

34. First, the Court found that the Commission's regulation of demand response participation in wholesale markets met the "affecting" standard in FPA sections 205 and 206 "with room to spare." In making this finding, the Court approved a "commonsense" construction of the FPA's language, previously articulated by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit), that "limit[s] [the Commission]'s 'affecting' jurisdiction to rules or practices that directly affect the wholesale rate." The Court then described, among other considerations, how RTOs/ISOs employ demand response bids in competitive auctions that balance wholesale supply and wholesale demand and thereby set wholesale prices. For these reasons, the Court found that "[w]holesale demand response, in short, is all about reducing wholesale rates; so too, then, the rules and practices that determine how those programs operate." Response that Court concluded that "[c]ompensation for demand response thus directly affects wholesale prices. Indeed, it is hard to think of a practice that does so more."

⁸⁶ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 774 (referring to the Commission's jurisdiction under FPA sections 205 and 206 to regulate practices affecting jurisdictional rates).

⁸⁷ *Id.* (citing *Cal. Indep. Sys. Operator Corp. v. FERC*, 372 F.3d 395, 403 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

⁸⁸ *Id.* at 774.

⁸⁹ *Id.* at 775.

- 35. Second, the Court found that the Commission's regulation of demand response resources did not regulate retail sales in violation of FPA section 201(b). In making that finding, the Court rejected EPSA's arguments that the Commission (1) effectively regulated the retail price by increasing effective retail rates and (2) forced retail customers to respond to wholesale price signals for the express purpose of overriding state policy. Rather, the Court held that the Commission's regulation did "anything but increase retail prices" and that, "[i]n promoting demand response, [the Commission] did no more than follow the dictates of its regulatory mission to improve the competitiveness, efficiency, and reliability of the wholesale market."
- 36. Finally, the Court stated that the "finishing blow to both of EPSA's arguments comes from [the Commission]'s notable solicitude toward the States."⁹² Describing and commenting on the opt-out for states that the Commission included in Order No. 745, the Court stated that

the Rule allows any State regulator to prohibit its consumers from making demand response bids in the wholesale market. Although claiming the ability to negate such state decisions,

⁹⁰ *Id.* at 784.

⁹¹ *Id.* at 778-79.

⁹² *Id.* at 779. Earlier in its decision, the Court described the Commission's action as follows: "Pointing to the Commission's analysis in Order No. 719, [Order No. 745] explained that the FPA gives [the Commission] jurisdiction over such bids because they directly affect wholesale rates. Nonetheless, [Order No. 745] noted, [the Commission] would continue Order No. 719's policy of allowing any state regulatory body to prohibit consumers in its retail market from taking part in wholesale demand response programs." *Id.* at 772.

the Commission chose not to do so in recognition of the linkage between wholesale and retail markets and the States' role in overseeing retail sales. The veto power thus granted to the States belies EPSA's view that FERC aimed to 'obliterate[]' their regulatory authority or 'override' their pricing policies. And that veto gives States the means to block whatever 'effective' increases in retail rates demand response programs might be thought to produce. Wholesale demand response as implemented in the Rule is a program of cooperative federalism, in which the States retain the last word. That feature of the Rule removes any conceivable doubt as to its compliance with § 824(b)'s allocation of federal and state authority.⁹³

37. Consistent with *EPSA*, the Commission found in *AEE* that, although the Commission in Order Nos. 719 and 745 granted RERRAs an opt-out from allowing retail customers to participate as wholesale demand response, the Commission was not obligated to do so. ⁹⁴ Like compensation for demand response, the Commission held that it has jurisdiction over the participation of energy efficiency resources in RTO/ISO markets as a practice directly affecting wholesale markets, rates, and prices. ⁹⁵ The Commission found that, because it has exclusive jurisdiction to regulate the participation of energy efficiency resources in RTO/ISO markets, RERRAs may not bar, restrict, or otherwise condition the participation of energy efficiency resources in RTO/ISO markets unless the Commission

⁹³ *Id.* at 779-80 (internal citations omitted).

⁹⁴ AEE, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245 at P 62 (citing EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776).

⁹⁵ *Id.* P 60.

expressly gives RERRAs such authority. ⁹⁶ The Commission explained that, as part and parcel of the participation of energy efficiency resources in RTO/ISO markets, the terms of eligibility of energy efficiency resource participation in the RTO/ISO markets has a direct effect on wholesale rates and that the Commission may set the terms of transactions occurring in the RTO/ISO markets, including which resources are eligible to participate, to ensure the reasonableness of wholesale prices and the reliability of the interstate grid. ⁹⁷ The Commission thus concluded that a provision directly restricting retail customers' participation in RTO/ISO markets, even if contained in the terms of retail service, nonetheless intrudes on the Commission's jurisdiction over those markets and prevents the Commission from carrying out its statutory authority to ensure that wholesale electricity markets produce just and reasonable rates. ⁹⁸

38. Several of these findings are relevant to the Commission's decision to apply Order No. 841 to electric storage resources, including those connected at distribution-level

⁹⁶ *Id.* P 61.

⁹⁷ *Id.* (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. 760 at 784).

⁹⁸ AEE Rehearing Order, 163 FERC ¶ 61,030 at P 37 (citing *Oneok, Inc. v. Learjet, Inc.*, 135 S. Ct. 1591, 1600 (2015) (finding that the proper test for determining whether a state action is preempted is "whether the challenged measures are 'aimed directly at interstate purchasers and wholesalers for resale' or not") (*Oneok*) (quoting *N. Natural Gas Co. v. State Corp. Comm'n of Kan.*, 372 U.S. 84, 94 (1963)); *Nantahala Power & Light Co. v. Thornburg*, 476 U.S. 953, 970 (finding that "a State may not exercise its undoubted jurisdiction over retail sales to prevent the wholesaler-as-seller from recovering the costs of paying the FERC-approved rate")).

voltages or behind the meter, without adopting an electric storage resource opt-out. The Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over the wholesale markets and the criteria for participation in those markets, including the wholesale market rules for participation of resources connected at distribution-level voltages or behind the meter. As the Commission previously has found, the authority to determine which resources are eligible to participate in the RTO/ISO markets is a fundamental component of the regulation of the RTO/ISO markets. By applying Order No. 841 to electric storage resources connected at distribution-level voltages or behind the meter, and by finding that the Commission is not required to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out, the Commission is not specifying any terms of sale at retail. Rather, the Commission is merely exercising its authority under the FPA to "regulate what takes place in the wholesale market" by ensuring that technically capable resources are eligible and able to participate in those markets. Commission is markets.

39. We disagree with assertions by petitioners and the dissent that, unless the Commission adopts an opt-out, the Commission's regulation of the RTO/ISO market participation of distribution-connected and behind-the-meter electric storage resources

⁹⁹ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35.

¹⁰⁰ *Id.* P 35 (citing *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. 760).

¹⁰¹ See AEE Rehearing Order, 163 FERC ¶ 61,030 at P 36.

¹⁰² See EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

violates FPA section 201.¹⁰³ We find that the Supreme Court's jurisdictional findings in EPSA regarding wholesale demand response apply with at least as much force to participation in RTO/ISO markets by electric storage resources engaged in wholesale sales in interstate commerce, even where those resources are interconnected on a distribution system or located behind a retail meter. Order No. 841 directed changes to wholesale RTO/ISO markets to remove barriers to the participation of resources that directly engage in sales for resale under the FPA, an objective that is at the very core of the Commission's jurisdictional responsibilities. We acknowledge that the Commission's actions in Order No. 841 to improve wholesale markets will have impacts beyond those markets. However, as the Supreme Court stated in EPSA, "[w]hen FERC regulates what takes place on the wholesale market, as part of carrying out its charge to improve how that market runs, then no matter the effect on retail rates, § 824(b) imposes no bar."104 40. Further, contrary to the petitioners' arguments, the Court's jurisdictional conclusion in EPSA did not rest upon the fact that states were granted an opt-out. As alluded to above, the Court described how its "analysis of FERC's regulatory authority proceeds" without referring to an opt-out, stating:

¹⁰³ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 8; NARUC Rehearing Request at 3; Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 8; Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, Order No. 841-A, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154, at PP 5-12 (McNamee, Comm'r, concurring in part and dissenting in part) (Dissent).

¹⁰⁴ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

First, the practices at issue in the Rule – market operators' payments for demand response commitments – directly affect wholesale rates. Second, in addressing those practices, the Commission has not regulated retail sales. Taken together, those conclusions establish that the Rule complies with the FPA's plain terms. ¹⁰⁵

When the Court then stated that it viewed the opt-out merely as the "finishing blow" to EPSA's already losing arguments that the Commission "aimed to obliterate [states'] regulatory authority or override their pricing policies," that statement was not a determinative part of its analysis. Thus, we find that the Court's overall analysis of the Commission's jurisdiction with respect to participation by demand response resources in RTO/ISO markets makes clear that the Commission is not legally compelled to adopt an opt-out with respect to participation in RTO/ISO markets by electric storage resources interconnected on a distribution system or located behind a retail meter. Moreover, as the Commission noted in Order No. 841, there are already numerous distribution-connected

¹⁰⁵ *Id.* at 773. Similarly, after concluding its discussion of the first of these two points, the Court stated, "The above conclusion does not end our inquiry into the Commission's statutory authority; to uphold the Rule, we also must determine that it does not regulate retail electricity sales." *Id.* at 775.

¹⁰⁶ *Id.* at 779 (internal quotations omitted).

¹⁰⁷ In his dissent, Justice Scalia shared this understanding of the Court's analysis, stating, "Moreover, the rule itself allows States to forbid their retail customers to participate in the existing demand response scheme. The majority accepts FERC's argument that this is merely a matter of grace, and claims that it puts the 'finishing blow' to respondents' argument that 16 U.S.C. § 824(b)(1) prohibits the scheme." *Id.* at 789 (Scalia, J., dissenting).

resources participating in the RTO/ISO markets that are subject to the RTO/ISO tariffs. ¹⁰⁸
For these reasons, contrary to petitioners' arguments, *EPSA* does not require the
Commission to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out. ¹⁰⁹

41. We also disagree with assertions that states can dictate whether resources are allowed to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through conditions on the receipt of retail service. We acknowledge that states have the authority to include conditions in their own retail distributed energy resource or retail electric storage resource programs that prohibit any participating resources from also selling into the RTO/ISO markets. In that scenario, the owner of a resource has a choice between participating in the retail market or wholesale market. However, states may not take away that choice by broadly prohibiting all retail customers from participating in RTO/ISO markets. As explained above, the Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over the terms of eligibility for participation in the RTO/ISO markets. Therefore, such conditions aimed *directly* at the

¹⁰⁸ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35. Contrary to EEI's assertion that this statement lacks factual support, the Commission cited to wholesale market participation programs in both PJM and CAISO. As further evidence that numerous distribution-connected resources are participating in the RTO/ISO markets, we note the filing of Wholesale Market Participation Agreements and Wholesale Distribution Access Tariffs that allow such resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets.

¹⁰⁹ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 10-11; NARUC Rehearing Request at 5-6.

¹¹⁰ See AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 9; TAPS Rehearing Request at 7-8.

¹¹¹ See AEE, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245 at P 61.

RTO/ISO markets, even if contained in the terms of retail service, would intrude on the Commission's jurisdiction over the RTO/ISO markets. 112 Just as the Commission cannot issue "a regulation compelling every consumer to buy a certain amount of electricity on the retail market" because such a regulation would specify terms of sale at retail, states cannot intrude on the Commission's jurisdiction by prohibiting all consumers from selling into the wholesale market.

42. We thus also disagree with petitioners' arguments that the requirement in Order No. 841 that an electric storage resource be "contractually permitted" to inject electric energy back to the grid gives RERRAs a "veto" over the participation in wholesale markets of electric storage resources that are interconnected to the distribution system or located behind a retail meter. Rather, we clarify that the requirement to be contractually permitted to inject energy onto the grid is intended to ensure that the

¹¹² See AEE Rehearing Order, 163 FERC ¶ 61,030 at P 37 (finding that a provision directly restricting retail customers' participation in RTO/ISO markets, even if contained in the terms of retail service, nonetheless intrudes on the Commission's jurisdiction over the wholesale markets). See also Oneok, 135 S. Ct. at 1600 (finding that the proper test for determining whether a state action is preempted is "whether the challenged measures are 'aimed directly at interstate purchasers and wholesalers for resale' or not") (quoting N. Natural Gas Co. v. State Corp. Comm'n of Kan., 372 U.S. 84, 94 (1963)); Nantahala Power & Light Co. v. Thornburg, 476 U.S. 953, 970 (finding that "a State may not exercise its undoubted jurisdiction over retail sales to prevent the wholesaler-as-seller from recovering the costs of paying the FERC-approved rate").

¹¹³ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

¹¹⁴ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 6; NARUC Rehearing Request at 7-8; TAPS Rehearing Request at 6.

definition of electric storage resource does not encompass any resource that does not have the requisite permits, agreements, or other necessary documentation in place that would ensure its ability to inject electric energy back to the grid and therefore engage in a wholesale sale. As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, the Commission recognizes a vital role for the states with respect to "retail services and matters related to the distribution system, including design, operations, power quality, reliability, and system costs."115 We acknowledge that states have jurisdiction over the interconnections of certain resources to the distribution system and the requirements reasonably related to those interconnections, such as a requirement to upgrade the distribution system to facilitate the injection of electric energy back to the grid, a requirement to install certain technologies to mitigate a reliability or safety concern, or a charge for wholesale distribution service. We further understand that interconnection agreements may include technical requirements to safeguard against reliability or safety concerns, such as utility curtailment and anti-islanding provisions, or requirements to install equipment that forces resources to trip offline during extreme frequency, voltage, or fault current incidents. Indeed, such requirements could address the concerns raised by petitioners regarding the physical and operational impacts of electric storage resources on the distribution system. However, a broad prohibition on participating in the RTO/ISO markets is not reasonably related to the interconnection of a particular resource to the distribution system. We therefore disagree with assertions that state authority over certain interconnections

¹¹⁵ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 36.

necessitates that the Commission adopt an opt-out for electric storage resources connected to the distribution system or behind the meter.

- 43. We also are not persuaded by Xcel Energy Services' assertion that, unlike the "indirect" effects permitted in *EPSA*, Order No. 841 directly affects retail sales because it "fundamentally changes how retail sales occur and directly interferes with a state's ability to regulate retail sales." The Court in *EPSA* recognized that, because the wholesale and retail markets are not "hermetically sealed," Commission regulation of the "wholesale market ha[s] natural consequences at the retail level." The Court concluded, however, that when the Commission "regulates what takes place on the wholesale market, as part of carrying out its charge to improve how that market runs," the effects on the retail market have "no legal consequence" and FPA section 201 "imposes no bar" on the Commission's action. 118
- 44. Like the Commission's regulation of demand response participation in the wholesale market, Order No. 841 "addresses—and addresses only—transactions occurring on the wholesale market." In addition, as with Order No. 745, the

¹¹⁶ See Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 7.

¹¹⁷ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

¹¹⁸ *Id.* ("When FERC sets a wholesale rate, when it changes wholesale market rules, when it allocates electricity as between wholesale purchasers—in short, when it takes virtually any action respecting wholesale transactions—it has some effect, in either the short or the long term, on retail rates. That is of no legal consequence.").

¹¹⁹ *Id*.

Commission's justifications for Order No. 841 "are all about, and only about, improving the wholesale market." And, just as the Court explained with respect to demand response, the Commission did not "invent" wholesale market participation of electric storage resources and the practice did not emerge as a "Commission power grab." Rather "the impetus came from wholesale market operators" that "sought, and obtained, [the Commission's] approval to institute such programs." Accordingly, Order No. 841 does not regulate retail sales and the effects that the order may have on retail sales are of "no legal consequence." 123

45. Contrary to Xcel Energy Services' contention that Order No. 841 requires distribution utilities to establish expensive processes to assist the market participation of distribution-connected and behind-the-meter electric storage resources, the Commission is not imposing any new requirements on distribution utilities to enable the participation of electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets. To the extent that distribution utilities do incur costs associated with enabling such participation, the Commission is also not changing the ability of distribution utilities to allocate any costs that they incur in

¹²⁰ *Id.* at 779.

¹²¹ *Id*.

¹²² Id. See, e.g., Midwest Indep. Trans. Sys. Operator, Inc., 129 FERC ¶ 61,303 (2009); New York Indep. Sys. Operator, Inc., 127 FERC ¶ 61,135 (2009); California Indep. Sys. Operator Corp., 132 FERC ¶ 61,211 (2010).

¹²³ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

operating and maintaining their respective power systems.¹²⁴ In any event, any additional costs imposed on distribution utilities could be outweighed by the overall benefits from increased competition due to greater participation of electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets.

46. In response to Xcel Energy Services' argument that Order No. 841 interferes with state regulation of the reliability of the distribution system and MISO's request to clarify that each RTO/ISO may require a distribution-connected electric storage resource to comply with interconnection or operating requirements to address any potential material adverse reliability impacts on the distribution system, we reiterate that nothing in Order No. 841 preempts the states' right to regulate the safety and reliability of the distribution system and that all electric storage resources must comply with any applicable interconnection and operating requirements. As noted above, we understand that electric storage resources located on the distribution system are subject to various technical requirements that should help alleviate any concerns related to the safety and reliability of the distribution system due to RTO/ISO dispatch. As to Xcel Energy Services' concern that a distribution utility's retail sale to its customer could become a wholesale sale if that customer participates in the wholesale markets and sells more than it purchases for a billing period, we find that concern regarding a distribution utility's sale of energy to an electric storage resource to be outside the scope of this proceeding. The

¹²⁴ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 274.

Commission's findings in Order No. 841 are limited to sales in RTO/ISO markets and do not address what retail customers may do with energy purchased at retail. 125

47. The dissent suggests that today's order "mandates" that electric storage resources "be permitted to use distribution facilities so that they may access the wholesale market." That is incorrect. As explained above, Order No. 841 addressed only the rules governing electric storage resources' participation in the wholesale market. Order No. 841 did not mandate that electric storage resources must have access to the distribution system. Instead, Order No. 841 concluded that states cannot directly prohibit electric storage resources from participating in the wholesale market because doing so would invade the Commission's "exclusive jurisdiction over the wholesale markets and the criteria for participation in those markets." In reaching that conclusion, the Commission recognized explicitly, as it must, that the states have authority to regulate the

¹²⁵ Moreover, to the extent that Xcel Energy Services is concerned that retail customers could attempt to make purchases under a state-regulated retail tariff and then sell that energy into the Commission-jurisdictional wholesale market, nothing in Order No. 841 prevents states from prohibiting the resale of energy purchased under a retail tariff in the terms and conditions of retail service.

¹²⁶ Dissent at P 5.

¹²⁷ See supra P 44 ("[A]s with Order No. 745, the Commission's justifications for Order No. 841 'are all about, and only about, improving the wholesale market.'" (quoting *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 779)).

¹²⁸ See supra P 38; supra P 41 (explaining that "conditions aimed *directly* at the RTO/ISO markets, even if contained in the terms of retail service, would intrude on the Commission's jurisdiction over the RTO/ISO markets" (citing *Oneok*, 135 S. Ct. at 1600)).

distribution system, "including [its] design, operations, power quality, reliability, and system costs." 129

48. The dissent also characterizes today's order as "hav[ing] the effect of directing that [electric storage resources] have access to distribution facilities." That too is incorrect. Although Order No. 841 provides that states may not prohibit electric storage resources from participating in wholesale markets, ¹³¹ that requirement does not amount to an effective right of access to the distribution system itself. As noted, Order No. 841 does not modify states' authority to regulate the distribution system, including the terms of access, provided that they do not "aim[] *directly* at the RTO/ISO markets." Consistent with the FPA's cooperative federalist foundation, where electric storage resources interconnected with the distribution system are participating in RTO/ISO markets, it will be under circumstances that are consistent with states' authority to regulate the distribution system. Accordingly, Order No. 841 does not amount to regulation of the distribution system, effectively or otherwise.

¹²⁹ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 36.

¹³⁰ Dissent at n.18.

¹³¹ See supra PP 38, 41.

¹³² To paraphrase the Court in *EPSA*, the word "effect[] is doing quite a lot of work in that argument." *EPSA*, 136 S. Ct. at 777.

¹³³ See supra PP 38, 41.

¹³⁴ In addition, the D.C. Circuit has held that the Commission properly may exercise jurisdiction with respect to distribution facilities in certain circumstances. *See*

49. Some petitioners cite the Commission's interconnection policies generally to argue that the Commission must adopt an electric storage resource opt-out. However, Order No. 841 did not reform or address any procedures pertaining to the interconnection of resources to transmission or distribution facilities. The Commission cited to certain RTO/ISO interconnection and market participation procedures, but merely to demonstrate that many distribution-connected resources are currently participating in those markets. As the Commission found in Order No. 841, an electric storage resource that injects electric energy back into the grid for purposes of participating in an RTO/ISO market engages in a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce. And the sale of charging energy to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells into an RTO/ISO market is also a sale for resale in interstate commerce.

Nat'l Ass'n of Regulatory Util. Comm'rs v. FERC, 475 F.3d 1277 at 1282. Like the orders in that case, Order No. 841 also "leave[s] state law completely undisturbed" and thus the Commission is not impermissibly "commandeering" the states, as the dissent argues. *Id.* at 1283.

¹³⁵ See, e.g., AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 9; NARUC Rehearing Request at 3; TAPS Rehearing Request at 6 n.8 (citing the Commission's acknowledgment in Order No. 2006-A that the vast majority of distribution-level interconnections are subject to state jurisdiction); Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 10 (arguing that Order No. 841 will convert distribution facilities into Commission-regulated transmission facilities for interconnection purposes).

¹³⁶ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 35 n.56.

¹³⁷ *Id.* P 26.

¹³⁸ See id. P 295.

b. Whether the Commission Should Exercise its Discretion and Adopt an Opt-out

- 50. We also disagree that the Commission's decision not to exercise its discretion and adopt an opt-out in Order No. 841 is an unexplained departure from the demand response resource opt-out adopted in Order No. 719.¹³⁹ As the Commission explained in *AEE*, Order No. 719 expressly provided that it only applies to demand response resources;¹⁴⁰ therefore, the Commission's decision not to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out is not a change in policy.¹⁴¹
- 51. Further, the resources that will use the electric storage resource participation model under Order No. 841 differ significantly from the demand response resources at issue in Order No. 719. Most notably, unlike demand response, electric storage resources are capable of engaging in sales for resale of electricity and those electric storage resources making sales in the RTO/ISO markets are public utilities subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. 142

¹³⁹ See EEI Rehearing Request at 7; NARUC Rehearing Request at 3; TAPS Rehearing Request at 3-4; Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 13-15.

¹⁴⁰ AEE, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245 at P 65.

¹⁴¹ Even if it were a policy change, the Commission "need not demonstrate . . . that the reasons for the new policy are better than the reasons for the old one; it suffices that the new policy is permissible under the statute, that there are good reasons for it, and that the agency believes it to be better." *FCC v. Fox Television Stations*, 556 U.S. 502, 513 (2009).

¹⁴² See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 30 (observing that an electric storage resource that injects electric energy back to the grid for purposes of participating

52. In addition, unlike in the case of demand response resources, RERRAs and distribution utilities do not have a longstanding history of managing and regulating programs for electric storage resources within their boundaries. Prior to the Commission's issuance of Order No. 719, many RERRAs supported the use of demand response resources in their boundaries, either requiring the distribution utilities that they regulate to establish demand response programs and compensate retail customers for their participation, or approving distribution utility-developed demand response programs. Such entities were concerned that, as a result of Order No. 719, the "best" demand response resources would choose to participate in the wholesale markets instead of retail programs, depriving load serving entities of important resources used to keep rates down for all consumers. The Commission adopted the opt-out in Order No. 719 in part to help address that concern. With respect to electric storage resources, fewer states have policies that involve electric storage resources, and those policies that exist were

in an RTO/ISO market engages in a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce and must fulfill certain responsibilities set forth in the FPA and the Commission's rules and regulations); *EnergyConnect, Inc.*, 130 FERC ¶ 61,031, at P 30 (2010) (finding that an entity only engaged in the provision of demand response services that makes no sales of electric energy for resale would not be a public utility required to have a rate on file with the Commission).

¹⁴³ See Order No. 719, 125 FERC ¶ 61,071 at P 141.

¹⁴⁴ See id. P 155 (explaining that "[t]he Commission's intent was not to interfere with the operation of successful demand response programs").

implemented fairly recently. Accordingly, we find that the record in these proceedings does not indicate that a comparable opt-out is appropriate for energy storage resources.

electric storage device may choose to participate in RTO/ISO markets as demand response and thus become subject to opt-out rules, the Commission's decision not to adopt an electric storage resource opt-out is arbitrary or inconsistent. As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, participation by demand response resources in an RTO/ISO market does not involve a sale of electric energy at wholesale in interstate commerce. Although electric storage resources participate in the RTO/ISO markets by injecting electric energy back to the grid, demand response participates in the RTO/ISO markets as a "reduction in the consumption of electricity." Therefore, when an electric storage device chooses to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as demand response, it is not participating as an "electric storage resource" or injecting electricity onto the grid and

¹⁴⁵ For instance, among the many comments on the NOPR submitted by various state agencies and representatives, only California, Connecticut, Massachusetts and New York mentioned any specific state electric storage initiatives. *See* California Commission Comments (RM16-23-000) at 4-5, 10-13; Connecticut Commission Comments (RM16-23-000) at 4-5; Massachusetts Commission Comments (RM16-23-000) at 3, 6-8; New York Commission Comments (RM16-23-000) at 8.

¹⁴⁶ See AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 14 n.48; TAPS Rehearing Request at 4.

¹⁴⁷ See EnergyConnect, Inc., 130 FERC ¶ 61,031 at P 30.

¹⁴⁸ 18 CFR 35.28(b)(4).

should not be subject to the market rules applicable to electric storage resources.

Accordingly, because demand response and electric storage resources have differing ways of interacting with RTO/ISO markets and are subject to different market rules, it is not arbitrary or inconsistent for the Commission to take different policy approaches when integrating those resources into the RTO/ISO markets.

- 54. We also disagree with Organization of MISO States' argument that electric storage resources are more similar to demand response resources than energy efficiency resources due to the operational challenges that they present and therefore the Commission should adopt an opt-out here. 149 As discussed above, electric storage resources are capable of engaging in sales for resale of electricity, and those electric storage resources making sales in the RTO/ISO markets are public utilities subject to the Commission's jurisdiction. These characteristics distinguish electric storage resources making sales in the RTO/ISO markets from both demand response resources and energy efficiency resources.
- 55. In response to TAPS' concern about whether there is a net sale of electricity from an electric storage resource under the *MidAmerican* standard, we note that *MidAmerican* applies only to retail customers participating in retail net metering programs, which is consistent with the Commission's acknowledgement in Order No. 841 that injections of electric energy back to the grid do not necessarily trigger the Commission's

¹⁴⁹ See Organization of MISO States Rehearing Request at 3.

jurisdiction.¹⁵⁰ If an electric storage resource were to participate in a retail net metering program and in the RTO/ISO markets—which the Commission did not prohibit in Order No. 841— Commission jurisdiction would arise only where the electric storage resource participates in the wholesale market by making a Commission-jurisdictional sale for resale. It would be the responsibility of the RTO/ISO to establish metering and accounting practices to measure which actions taken by that electric storage resource are wholesale actions in the RTO/ISO markets.¹⁵¹

56. We recognize, as did the Court in *EPSA*, that sales for resale of electricity necessarily have effects on the distribution system. We have considered those effects in evaluating whether to exercise our discretion to grant an opt-out, but find that the benefits of allowing electric storage resources broader access to the wholesale market outweigh any policy considerations in favor of an opt-out. In particular, Order No. 841 found that the benefits of removing barriers to the participation of electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets are significant and, in light of those benefits, we are not persuaded to adopt an opt-out that could limit that participation. In addition, as discussed in the preceding section, there are several ways that RERRAs may address any concerns about effects on the distribution system without broadly prohibiting the participation of distribution-connected and behind-the-meter resources in RTO/ISO markets.

¹⁵⁰ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 30 n.49.

¹⁵¹ See id. P 317.

¹⁵² See EPSA, 136 S. Ct. 760 at 776.

c. Other Issues

- 57. Finally, we deny rehearing regarding the Commission's authority to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP. We find to be misplaced suggestions that Order No. 841 "authorizes" retail customers (in this case, electric storage resources) to purchase energy from entities other than their distribution utility or "entitles" electric storage resources to bypass the distribution utility by purchasing from the RTO/ISO market. The Commission is not preempting distribution utilities' franchised right to continue to make retail sales to their retail customers, as Xcel Energy Services suggests.
- 58. First, an electric storage resource purchasing charging energy directly from the RTO/ISO markets that it will resell back to those markets is not a retail customer making a purchase of retail energy but rather is a public utility engaging in a wholesale purchase and a wholesale sale. Therefore, such a purchase of charging energy from the RTO/ISO markets does not infringe upon a distribution utility's right to sell at retail because that energy will be resold in the RTO/ISO markets.
- 59. Second, in Order No. 841, the Commission did not purport to *authorize* electric storage resources who are retail customers to bypass their distribution utilities and make

¹⁵³ See AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 10; TAPS Rehearing Request at 8 n.11; Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 8.

¹⁵⁴ Because such a resource is making wholesale sales in interstate commerce, it is a public utility that must fulfill certain responsibilities set forth in the FPA and the Commission's rules and regulations. *See* Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 30.

purchases of energy directly from RTO/ISO markets. Order No. 841 does not require electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets; it only directs RTOs/ISOs to adopt market rules that apply to electric storage resources that *voluntarily* seek to participate in the RTO/ISO markets. Furthermore, Order No. 841 only addresses sales for resale; for this reason, the Commission only addressed pricing issues related to the wholesale sales addressed therein and did not preclude other options for electric storage resources to obtain charging energy. 155

60. To further eliminate the potential for confusion on this point, we clarify that, in declining requests to allow states to decide whether electric storage resources in their state that are located behind a retail meter or on the distribution system are permitted to "participate" in the RTO/ISO markets through the electric storage resource participation model, the Commission was referring to the ability of electric storage resources to *sell* into the RTO/ISO markets. Given this clarification, we also dismiss as moot the argument that there is inconsistency between the Commission's finding that an RTO/ISO is prevented from charging a resource wholesale rates if the host distribution utility is unable or unwilling to net out wholesale energy purchases and the Commission's decision to decline to adopt an opt-out. 156

¹⁵⁵ *Id.* P 299.

¹⁵⁶ See AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 6; TAPS Rehearing Request at 7 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 326).

- 61. In response to SPP's request for clarification regarding whether it is sufficient for an RTO/ISO to require an electric storage resource to attest that it has all the necessary contractual arrangements in place to permit that resource to inject energy onto the grid, ¹⁵⁷ we clarify that Order No. 841 did not specify how an RTO/ISO must determine whether a particular resource seeking to participate in its markets qualifies as an electric storage resource under the definition set forth therein. Therefore, we clarify for SPP that, on compliance, it may propose the attestation approach that it has taken for demand response. Based on the full record before it, the Commission will consider on compliance whether allowing a resource to attest that it meets the definition of electric storage resources, including the associated requirement that it be contractually permitted to inject energy onto the grid, is just and reasonable.
- 62. In response to Organization of MISO States' request for clarification that RTOs/ISOs may propose tariff provisions that require electric storage resources to comply with applicable RERRA and distribution utility rules, we note that any resources subject to a RERRA's jurisdiction must comply with that RERRA's rules assuming that such rules do not conflict with the requirements of Order No. 841 (e.g., by placing a broad prohibition on participating in the RTO/ISO markets). Similarly, in response to SPP's request for clarification regarding whether the requirements of Order No. 841

 $^{^{157}}$ SPP Motion for Clarification at 2 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 33), 13.

¹⁵⁸ See id. at 5-6.

supersede RTO/ISO tariff provisions that apply to all resources, we clarify that the requirements of Order No. 841 do not absolve electric storage resources from complying with RTO/ISO tariff provisions of general applicability as long as those tariff provisions do not conflict with the requirements of Order No. 841.

B. Participation Model for Electric Storage Resources

1. <u>Final Rule</u>

63. In Order No. 841, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(i) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model consisting of market rules that, recognizing the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, facilitates their participation in the RTO/ISO markets. ¹⁵⁹ In adopting this requirement, the Commission stated that it was not convinced by commenters who argued that separate participation models are necessary for different types of electric storage resources (e.g., slower, faster, or aggregated). ¹⁶⁰ Specifically, the Commission noted that it believed that the physical differences between electric storage resources can be represented by complying with the Final Rule's requirements for bidding parameters ¹⁶¹ and that a single participation model can be designed to be flexible

¹⁵⁹ Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 51.

¹⁶⁰ *Id.* P 54.

¹⁶¹ In Order No. 841, the Commission added §35.28(g)(9)(i)(C) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to have tariff provisions providing a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and

enough to accommodate any type of electric storage resource. However, the Commission stated that, to the extent an RTO/ISO seeks to include in its tariff additional market rules that accommodate electric storage resources with specific physical and operational characteristics, the RTO/ISO may propose such revisions to its tariff through a separate FPA section 205 filing.¹⁶²

2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

64. In their rehearing request, AES Companies argue that there are significant differences in operating characteristics, such as response speeds, among the technologies that fall under Order No. 841's definition of an electric storage resource. According to AES Companies, legacy RTO/ISO software is incapable of supporting a participation model that all such technologies can use, and the RTOs/ISOs cannot anticipate all yet-to-be-developed technologies. AES Companies therefore argue that, because multiple participation models are needed to remove the barriers to the participation of electric storage resources that the Commission identified in Order No. 841, the Commission's directive to each RTO/ISO to establish a single participation model for all electric storage resources is an impossible task, invariably excluding some resources. AES Companies add that the Commission's statement that an RTO/ISO may propose additional market rules to accommodate electric storage resources with specific physical and operational

operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means. *Id.* P 191.

¹⁶² *Id.* P 54 (referencing 16 U.S.C. 824d).

characteristics through a separate FPA section 205 filing is insufficient to address these concerns. ¹⁶³

3. Commission Determination

Companies that the various technologies that qualify as an electric storage resource under the definition that the Commission adopted in the Final Rule may have different operating characteristics and that new electric storage technologies will likely emerge, we continue to find that a single participation model can be designed to be flexible enough to accommodate any type of electric storage resource. Specifically, Order No. 841's requirement that each RTO/ISO must establish tariff provisions providing a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means should allow for the representation of the physical and operational differences between different types of electric storage resources. For this reason, we remain unpersuaded that the Commission must require separate participation models for different types of electric storage resources to their participation in RTO/ISO markets.

¹⁶³ AES Companies Rehearing Request at 11-13.

¹⁶⁴ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 54.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

C. <u>Eligibility of Electric Storage Resources to Participate in the RTO/ISO</u> Markets

1. Final Rule

66. Order No. 841 added § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(A) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to establish market rules so that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources is eligible to provide all capacity, energy, and ancillary services that it is technically capable of providing, including services that the RTOs/ISOs do not procure through an organized market. While noting that there is significant variation in how each RTO/ISO approaches resource adequacy, the Commission found that it is important for electric storage resources that can provide value in those resource adequacy constructs to be eligible to participate. The Commission further stated that, if an RTO/ISO does not have existing tariff provisions that enable electric storage resources to provide capacity, it must propose such rules on compliance.

2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

67. SPP seeks clarification that Order No. 841 does not require an RTO/ISO to create and provide a capacity product that an RTO/ISO market does not otherwise offer, noting that SPP does not currently operate a forward capacity market or offer capacity as a biddable product on its system.¹⁶⁷

¹⁶⁵ *Id.* P 76.

¹⁶⁶ *Id.* P 100.

¹⁶⁷ SPP Motion for Clarification at 4-5.

3. Commission Determination

68. We grant SPP's request for clarification. Order No. 841 does not require an RTO/ISO that does not have a capacity product in its markets to create such a product to comply with the Final Rule. However, to the extent that an RTO/ISO has a resource adequacy construct, the RTO/ISO must demonstrate on compliance that the existing market rules governing its resource adequacy construct provide a means for electric storage resources to participate in that construct if electric storage resources are technically capable of doing so. 168

D. Participation in the RTO/ISO Markets as Supply and Demand

1. <u>Eligibility to Participate as a Wholesale Seller and Wholesale</u> Buyer

a. Final Rule

69. In Order No. 841, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to ensure that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched as supply and demand and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer, consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price. The Commission found that, for a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to be able to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer, it must be available to the

¹⁶⁸ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 76. See also id. P 100.

¹⁶⁹ See id. P 142.

RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource. Moreover, the Commission required that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources must be allowed to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as price takers, consistent with the existing rules for self-scheduled resources.

70. Additionally, the Commission required in Order No. 841 that RTOs/ISOs must accept wholesale bids from resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to buy energy. The Commission further stated that allowing electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as dispatchable load will allow these resources to set the market clearing price under certain circumstances, thus better reflecting the value of the marginal resource and ensuring that electric storage resources are dispatched in accordance with the highest value service that they are capable of providing during a set market interval. The

b. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

71. AES Companies seek rehearing of what they construe as Order No. 841's requirement that all resources using an RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources be dispatchable, citing to the Commission's determinations in Order No. 841 that (1) to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer, a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources

¹⁷⁰ See id.

¹⁷¹ See id. P 143.

must be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource and (2) an electric storage resource participation model must ensure that a resource using it can be dispatched. AES Companies argue that these requirements codify the existing unjust, unreasonable, unduly discriminatory and preferential *status quo* that prevents resources that provide services automatically from participating in RTO/ISO markets without risking the physical damage to their equipment that can occur if they are subject to RTO/ISO dispatch. AES Companies argue that, contrary to Order No. 841's statement that a participation model for electric storage resources must recognize the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, predicating participation on dispatchability fails to recognize the physical and operational characteristics of these electric storage resources. Tro

72. In addition, AES Companies argue that Order No. 841 unreasonably limits its application of the term "dispatch" to an activity performed exclusively by RTO/ISO software. According to AES Companies, the term "dispatch" should instead be "inclusive of scheduling an electric storage resource to operate autonomously, and ordered outside of the RTO/ISO software by the Reliability Coordinator."¹⁷⁴

 $^{^{172}}$ AES Companies Rehearing Request at 7 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at PP 142, 4).

¹⁷³ *Id.* at 8-11.

¹⁷⁴ *Id*. at 9.

73. SPP seeks clarification that Order No. 841 will not require an RTO/ISO that does not currently offer a real-time dispatchable load service, such as SPP, to create a new service to dispatch an electric storage resource as load or negative generation. To the extent that Order No. 841 requires the development of such a new service, SPP asks whether the Commission will provide each RTO/ISO with flexibility to develop such service consistent with its existing market design constructs, with a full opportunity to evaluate the potential system impacts, and with flexibility to propose its own timeline for developing and implementing such a service. 175

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

74. In their rehearing request, AES Companies argue that Order No. 841 requires a resource seeking to participate in RTO/ISO markets under the electric storage resource participation model to be available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource. We disagree with this characterization of Order No. 841's requirements and thus, deny AES Companies' request for rehearing. However, we find it is necessary to modify § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B) of the Commission's regulations to clarify that, to the extent electric storage resources are dispatchable, the RTO/ISO is required to allow them to participate as dispatchable resources and to set the clearing price in the RTO/ISO markets as part of the participation model. We clarify that not all electric storage resources that seek to use the electric storage resource participation model need to be dispatchable to use that participation model.

¹⁷⁵ SPP Motion for Clarification at 5-6.

- 75. Order No. 841 added § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to provide a participation model for electric storage resources that:
 - (B) Ensures that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched and can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price..."¹⁷⁶
- 76. We clarify here that this requirement was not intended to require that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources be dispatchable. Rather, by stating that this was to be "consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price," Order No. 841 requires each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources enabling the RTO/ISO to dispatch a resource using that model to the extent that the resource has indicated to the RTO/ISO, whether through its offers to sell or bids to buy or some other mechanism, that it desires to be dispatchable. Our clarification is consistent with Order No. 841's findings that (1) resources using the participation model for electric storage resources must be allowed to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as price takers, consistent with the existing market rules for self-scheduled resources¹⁷⁷ and (2) to ensure

 $^{^{176}}$ 18 CFR 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B (emphasis added); Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 142.

¹⁷⁷ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 142.

consistent treatment in the RTO/ISO markets, electric storage resources must maintain the same ability to self-schedule their resource as other market participants.¹⁷⁸

- 77. To remove the ambiguity, we revise § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(B) of the Commission's regulations as follows:
 - (B) *Enables* a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources *to* be dispatched and *ensures that such a dispatchable resource* can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price;
- 78. This modification clarifies that each RTO/ISO is required to allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as dispatchable resources, not that such resources must be dispatchable to use that participation model. We reiterate, however, that the Commission will continue to require that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources can only set prices in the RTO/ISO markets as either a wholesale seller or a wholesale buyer if they are available to the RTO/ISO as a dispatchable resource.¹⁷⁹
- 79. AES Companies request that the Commission expand our use of the term dispatch beyond those "activities performed by RTO/ISO software." However, as clarified above, Order No. 841 only required that each RTO/ISO must be capable of dispatching resources using the participation model for electric storage resources and allow such

¹⁷⁸ See id. P 144.

¹⁷⁹ See id. P 142.

dispatchable resources to set prices in the RTO/ISO markets. Given this clarification, we do not find it necessary to expand our use of the term dispatch beyond RTO/ISO activities, as requested by AES Companies.

- 80. We deny SPP's request for clarification that it need not revise its market rules to allow for dispatchable load. In Order No. 841, the Commission required each RTO/ISO to create a participation model for electric storage resources that ensures that a resource using that model can be dispatched as a wholesale buyer. Additionally, the Commission required that RTOs/ISOs accept wholesale bids from resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to buy energy. As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, allowing electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as dispatchable load will allow these resources to set the market clearing price under certain circumstances, thus better reflecting the value of the marginal resource and ensuring that electric storage resources are dispatched in accordance with the highest value service that they are capable of providing during a set market interval. 182
- 81. We clarify for SPP that Order No. 841 provides flexibility for each RTO/ISO to develop a participation model for electric storage resources consistent with its existing

¹⁸⁰ See id.; 18 CFR 35.28 (g)(9)(i)(B).

¹⁸¹ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 142. *See also id.* P 150 ("This Final Rule requires an electric storage resource to be eligible to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as a wholesale buyer and for each RTO/ISO to be able to dispatch them as such. Such a mechanism would entail participation in the energy markets, not the provision of a new service").

¹⁸² See id. P 143.

market design constructs, as SPP requests. Order No. 841 did not, however, provide each RTO/ISO with flexibility to propose its own timeline for developing and implementing any aspect of the participation model for electric storage resources, including the requirement that RTOs/ISOs must ensure a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can be dispatched as a wholesale buyer.

2. <u>Participation as Price Takers</u>

a. Final Rule

82. In the Final Rule, the Commission required that resources using the participation model for electric storage resources must be allowed to participate in the RTO/ISO markets as price takers, consistent with the existing rules for self-scheduled resources. The Commission rejected assertions that an RTO/ISO must decide whether to allow electric storage resources to be price takers, finding that, to ensure consistent treatment in the RTO/ISO markets, electric storage resources must maintain the same ability to self-schedule their resource as other market participants. Additionally, to ensure that electric storage resources are treated consistently with the ability of self-scheduled load resources and traditional generation resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets, the

¹⁸³ *Id.* P 142.

¹⁸⁴ *Id.* P 144.

Commission determined that the ability of electric storage resources to participate as price takers should not be limited to their participation as load. 185

b. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

83. MISO requests clarification that, in complying with the directive to allow electric storage resources to be price takers as self-scheduled resources, ¹⁸⁶ MISO may also consider treating an electric storage resource as a self-scheduled price-taker if the electric storage resource uses its State of Charge to lock its energy output to a very narrow range. MISO explains that, in real time, an electric storage resource could use its State of Charge to lock its MW amount around its day-ahead position, and that locking energy output to a very narrow range may result in capacity that cleared in the capacity market not being fully available to the day-ahead market, counter to the day-ahead must-offer obligation. ¹⁸⁷

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

84. We deny MISO's request for clarification. We reiterate that RTOs/ISOs must provide electric storage resources with the same ability to self-schedule as other market

¹⁸⁵ *Id.* P 148.

 $^{^{186}}$ MISO Request for Rehearing at 7 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 142).

¹⁸⁷ MISO states that such a limitation would be consistent with the principle articulated in Order No. 841 that an [electric storage resource] "must not de-rate its capacity below any capacity obligations it has assumed, such as any applicable must-offer requirement." *Id.* at 7-8 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 99).

participants.¹⁸⁸ We therefore find that, to the extent that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources has not elected to be a self-scheduled price taker, it would be unreasonable for an RTO/ISO to designate that resource as a self-scheduled price taker solely based on the State of Charge parameters that the resource has submitted. We find that the RTO/ISO must provide resources using the electric storage resource participation model with the opportunity to determine whether to self-schedule, consistent with the RTO's/ISO's existing rules for self-scheduled resources.

85. However, in response to MISO's concern that, if a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources restricts its energy output to a very narrow range through its State of Charge, any of its capacity that cleared in the capacity market may not be fully available to the day-ahead market, we agree that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources may not use a bidding parameter, such as State of Charge, to circumvent its obligations in the RTO/ISO markets, including any day-ahead must-offer obligation for capacity resources.

E. Physical and Operational Characteristics of Electric Storage Resources

- 1. Requirement to Incorporate Bidding Parameters as Part of the Electric Storage Resource Participation Model
 - a. <u>Final Rule</u>
- 86. In the Final Rule, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(C) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to have tariff provisions providing a participation

¹⁸⁸ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 144.

model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means. 189
Specifically, the Commission required that each RTO's/ISO's participation model for electric storage resources must account for 13 different physical and operational characteristics, as defined in the Final Rule. 190 In adopting this requirement, the Commission noted that it was persuaded by commenters' arguments that there may be other means of accounting for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources than bidding parameters and that greater regional flexibility than the Commission proposed in the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NOPR) is appropriate. 191
In particular, the Commission stated that different RTOs/ISOs may be able to more

¹⁸⁹ *Id.* P 191.

¹⁹⁰ *Id.* P 236. Those physical and operating characteristics are as follows: (1) State of Charge, (2) Maximum State of Charge, (3) Minimum State of Charge, (4) Maximum Charge Limit, (5) Maximum Discharge Limit, (6) Minimum Charge Time, (7) Maximum Charge Time, (8) Minimum Run Time, (9) Maximum Run Time, (10) Minimum Discharge Limit, (11) Minimum Charge Limit, (12) Discharge Ramp Rate, and (13) Charge Ramp Rate. Relevant to the discussion of MISO's request for clarification below, the Final Rule defined State of Charge as "the amount of energy stored in proportion to the limit on the amount of energy that can be stored, typically expressed as a percentage. It represents the forecasted starting State of Charge for the market interval being offered into." Minimum Charge Limit is the "minimum [megawatt] level that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can receive from the grid" and Minimum Discharge Limit is the "minimum [megawatt] output level that a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can inject onto the grid." Discharge Ramp Rate and Charge Ramp Rate are the speed at which a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources can move from zero output to its Maximum Discharge Limit and Maximum Charge Limit, respectively. *Id*.

¹⁹¹ *Id.* P 190.

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

effectively account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through different mechanisms given their unique market designs.

b. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

- 87. MISO requests clarification on whether it may require electric storage resources to submit their State of Charge forecasts at the beginning of a particular market interval.

 MISO contends that such a requirement will allow it to derive the charging or discharging status of a resource for every interval, eliminating the need for MISO to introduce a binary variable to determine the charging or discharging mode of a resource in its cooptimization process and in turn avoiding potential adverse impacts on its market clearing and commitment processes. 192
- 88. MISO also requests clarification that, if an electric storage resource does not provide minimum charge and discharge limits and can be moved smoothly between negative and positive, MISO may require the resource to submit a single hourly ramp rate for the day-ahead market and for its Look Ahead Commitment process. According to MISO, it has currently adopted this practice with respect to other resources. MISO argues that such a requirement would allow it to avoid the nonlinearity caused by a megawatt dependent ramp curve and additional integer variables. MISO also asks the Commission to clarify that it may apply its current practice of allowing three ramp rates

¹⁹² MISO Request for Rehearing at 6.

and ramp rate curves for regulating, up, and down movement to electric storage resources. 193

89. PJM seeks clarification that the Final Rule allows for flexibility in how RTOs/ISOs account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, including State of Charge. Specifically, PJM argues that there are different approaches to implementing Order No. 841's requirement that an electric storage resource participation model account for electric storage resources' physical and operational characteristics, which involve different degrees of modeling and operational changes and challenges. 195

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

90. In response to MISO's request for clarification, we clarify that, on compliance, MISO may propose to require a resource using the electric storage resource participation model to submit its forecasted State of Charge at the beginning of any market interval in which it intends to participate. With that said, we make no findings on the proposal that MISO outlines in its request for clarification. Order No. 841 provided flexibility to the RTOs/ISOs on how to account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric

¹⁹³ *Id.* at 6-7.

 $^{^{194}}$ PJM Motion for Clarification at 1 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at PP 189-194, 211-216, 220-224).

¹⁹⁵ *Id.* at 2-3.

order No. 841's requirement that each RTO/ISO establish a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; rather, we will evaluate MISO's proposal on compliance with the full record before us.

- 91. Similarly, in response to MISO's clarification request regarding ramp rates, we clarify that MISO may propose for an electric storage resource that does not provide minimum charge and discharge limits and can be moved smoothly between negative and positive to submit a single hourly ramp rate for the day-ahead market and for its Look Ahead Commitment process. However, we also make no findings on the merits of the proposal that MISO outlines in its request for clarification.
- 92. Order No. 841 also states that, to the extent that an RTO/ISO proposes to comply with the Final Rule using its existing bidding parameters or other market mechanisms, it must demonstrate in its compliance filing how its existing market rules account for these characteristics of electric storage resources. ¹⁹⁷ We therefore clarify that MISO may propose to apply its current practice of allowing three ramp rates and ramp rate curves for regulating, up, and down movement to resources using the electric storage resource participation model, but that it must demonstrate in its compliance filing how this practice accounts for Discharge Ramp Rate and Charge Ramp Rate. The Commission

¹⁹⁶ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 191.

¹⁹⁷ *Id.* P 229.

will determine on compliance whether MISO's proposal complies with the requirements of Order No. 841.

93. We also grant PJM's request for clarification. The Order No. 841 requirement that each RTO/ISO establish tariff provisions providing a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means, allows for regional flexibility. 198 Specifically, in Order No. 841, the Commission noted that it was persuaded by commenters' arguments that there may be other means of accounting for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources than bidding parameters and that greater regional flexibility than the Commission proposed in the NOPR was appropriate. In particular, the Commission stated that different RTOs/ISOs may be able to more effectively account for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through different mechanisms given their unique market designs. 199 That said, we make no findings on the proposed approaches that PJM outlines in its request for clarification. We will not prejudge any particular approach to implementing the Final Rule's requirement that each RTO/ISO establish a participation model for electric storage resources that accounts for the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources through bidding parameters or other means; rather, we will evaluate PJM's proposal on compliance with a full record before us.

¹⁹⁸ See id. P 191.

¹⁹⁹ *Id.* P 190.

F. Minimum Size Requirement

1. Final Rule

- 94. In Order No. 841, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(i)(D) to the Commission's regulations to require each RTO/ISO to revise its tariff to include a participation model for electric storage resources that establishes a minimum size requirement for participation in the RTO/ISO markets that does not exceed 100 kW.²⁰⁰ The Commission stated that this minimum size requirement includes all minimum capacity requirements, minimum offer to sell requirements, and minimum bid to buy requirements for resources participating in these markets under the participation model for electric storage resources. In support of the requirement, the Commission found that requiring the RTOs/ISOs to establish a minimum size requirement not to exceed 100 kW for the participation model for electric storage resources balances the benefits of increased competition with the potential need to update RTO/ISO market clearing software to effectively model and dispatch smaller resources.²⁰¹
- 95. The Commission further found that the record shows that all RTOs/ISOs are already accommodating the participation of smaller resources in their markets.²⁰² For example, the Commission stated that the record shows that all RTOs/ISOs already have

²⁰⁰ *Id.* P 270.

²⁰¹ *Id.* P 271.

²⁰² *Id.* P 272.

the modeling and dispatch software capabilities to accommodate the participation of resources that are as small as 100 kW. Specifically, the Commission noted that both PJM and SPP have a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for all resources, and all of the RTOs/ISOs have at least one participation model that allows resources as small as 100 kW to participate in their markets.²⁰³

- 96. Moreover, in response to concerns about potential impacts on the distribution systems and related costs, the Commission noted that there are resources located on the distribution system that are already participating in the RTO/ISO markets. ²⁰⁴ The Commission stated that establishing a standard minimum size requirement for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources may potentially result in more resources on the distribution systems participating in the RTO/ISO markets. However, the Commission stated that it does not change the responsibilities of the RTOs/ISOs or the distribution utilities, and it does not change the ability of distribution utilities to allocate any costs that they incur in operating and maintaining their respective power systems.
- 97. With respect to concerns about the need to upgrade RTO/ISO software to manage the potentially large number of resources using the participation model for electric

²⁰³ *Id.* (citing CAISO Data Request Response at 10-11; ISO-NE Data Request Response at 13-14; MISO Data Request Response at 10; NYISO Data Request Response at 9; PJM Data Request Response at 10; SPP Data Request Response at 5).

²⁰⁴ *Id.* P 274.

storage resources under the proposed minimum size requirement, the Commission found that it was providing the RTOs/ISOs with adequate time to develop the requisite tariff language and update their modeling and dispatch software to comply with Order No. 841.²⁰⁵ The Commission was also not concerned about the potential availability of software solutions as multiple RTOs/ISOs already provide a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for all resources and have not expressed similar concerns regarding the minimum size requirement. However, the Commission recognized that there are currently fewer 100 kW resources than there may be in the future and stated that it will consider future requests to increase the minimum size requirement to the extent an RTO/ISO can show that it is experiencing difficulty calculating efficient market results and there is not a viable software solution for improving such calculations.

2. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

98. In its rehearing request, EEI states that the Commission should allow the RTOs/ISOs, in conjunction with the electric distribution utilities, to establish a minimum size requirement for electric storage resources that would be manageable for their markets while maintaining reliability on both the bulk electric power system and the relevant distribution systems. EEI argues that the Commission has provided insufficient support for its proposed minimum size requirement, stating that the evidence that the Commission cites is inadequate given the concerns expressed in the record that

²⁰⁵ *Id.* P 275.

²⁰⁶ EEI Rehearing Request at 9-10.

the 100 kW minimum size requirement may be too small due to software, settlement, and other infrastructure limitations. For example, EEI contends that the Commission does not provide evidence in the form of numbers of 100 kW resources directly participating in the RTO/ISO markets or the number of tariff provisions that permit participation at such size.²⁰⁷

99. EEI argues that the number of electric storage resources that could potentially seek to participate in the wholesale market at the proposed threshold could become so voluminous that they (1) exceed the ability of RTOs/ISOs to manage this volume of resources, (2) exceed the ability of distribution utilities to address various reliability, operational, and interconnection matters given that smaller resources are far more likely to interconnect to the distribution system, and (3) impose implementation costs significantly greater than corresponding benefits, particularly in regions where resources of the 100 kW size have other compensation options such as net energy metering. EEI argues that allowing the RTOs/ISOs to make an after-the-fact showing of difficulties in calculating efficient market outcomes does not adequately account for these concerns or address the software and other costs on both the transmission and distribution system of complying with the Final Rule.²⁰⁸

100. MISO requests clarification or, in the alternative, rehearing that it may phase in the implementation of the minimum size requirement. Specifically, MISO seeks

²⁰⁷ *Id.* at 8-9.

²⁰⁸ *Id.* at 9 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 275).

clarification that it may cap the number of very small electric storage resources that can participate in its markets at the number of such resources that its initial software and system changes can handle in the first year of implementation. According to MISO, it will increase the number of small electric storage resources that it will allow in its market as it improves its software's capability to manage them. MISO argues that this phased approach is a reasonable precaution to proactively address the potential for large numbers of small electric storage resources, rather than waiting to react to adverse impacts of future high volumes of small electric storage resources.²⁰⁹

101. MISO also requests clarification or, in the alternative, rehearing, that the 100 kW limit applies to the Maximum Charge Limit or Maximum Discharge Limit and not to the Minimum Charge Limit or Minimum Discharge Limit. MISO contends that small electric storage resources can offer a smaller Minimum Charge Limit or Minimum Discharge Limit, such as 0.0001 MW. MISO adds that, if the offered minimum limit is too small, an RTO/ISO can round it to zero and assume that the resource can smoothly move between the negative Maximum Charge Limit and positive Maximum Discharge Limit. MISO argues that this rounding can avoid unnecessarily limiting the range for clearing energy or reserve products.²¹⁰

²⁰⁹ MISO Rehearing Request at 4-5.

²¹⁰ *Id.* at 4 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 236).

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

3. Commission Determination

102. We deny EEI's request for clarification and rehearing. We continue to find that requiring each RTO/ISO to establish a minimum size requirement not to exceed 100 kW for the participation model for electric storage resources balances the benefits of increased competition with the potential need to update RTO/ISO market clearing software to effectively model and dispatch smaller resources. ²¹¹ We disagree with EEI that the Commission lacked sufficient evidence to support a minimum size requirement of 100 kW. As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, both PJM and SPP have a minimum size requirement of 100 kW for all resources, and all of the RTOs/ISOs have at least one participation model that allows resources as small as 100 kW to participate in their markets. ²¹² We continue to find this evidence sufficient to demonstrate that all RTOs/ISOs already have the modeling and dispatch software capabilities to accommodate the participation of resources that are as small as 100 kW.

103. EEI argues that the implementation costs of the minimum size requirement will outweigh any benefits and RTOs/ISOs and distribution utilities may not be able to manage the volume of smaller resources to participate in RTO/ISO markets and interconnect to the distribution system. We disagree. As stated in the Final Rule, we

²¹¹ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 271.

²¹² *Id.* P 272 (citing CAISO Data Request Response at 10-11; ISO-NE Data Request Response at 13-14; MISO Data Request Response at 10; NYISO Data Request Response at 9; PJM Data Request Response at 10; SPP Data Request Response at 5).

acknowledge that the 100 kW minimum size requirement is a balance between the benefits of increased competition fostered by the opportunity for smaller resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets using the electric storage resource participation model and the potential need to update RTO/ISO market clearing software to effectively model and dispatch these smaller resources. Based on the record before us, we find that the benefits of increased competition will outweigh implementation costs, especially given that all RTOs/ISOs are already accommodating the participation of smaller resources in their markets, as demonstrated in the Final Rule. 14

104. With respect to EEI's and MISO's concerns about the volume of smaller resources that may seek to participate in RTO/ISO markets and interconnect to the distribution system, in the Final Rule, the Commission recognized that there are currently fewer 100 kW resources than there may be in the future. While we recognize that EEI argues for greater flexibility for each RTO/ISO to establish its own minimum size requirement as an initial matter, for the reasons discussed above, 215 we continue to find that it is reasonable to establish a minimum size requirement not to exceed 100 kW for the participation model for electric storage resources.

²¹³ See id. P 271.

²¹⁴ See id. P 272 (citing CAISO Data Request Response at 10-11; ISO-NE Data Request Response at 13-14; MISO Data Request Response at 10; NYISO Data Request Response at 9; PJM Data Request Response at 10; SPP Data Request Response at 5).

²¹⁵ See supra P 103.

105. For these reasons, we also deny MISO's request for clarification or, in the alternative, rehearing that it may phase in the implementation of the minimum size requirement. We continue to believe that, given the record showing that all RTOs/ISOs are already accommodating the participation of smaller resources in their markets²¹⁶ and the Commission's willingness to consider requests to increase the minimum size requirement in the future, we are providing the RTOs/ISOs with adequate time to develop the requisite tariff language and update their modeling and dispatch software to comply with Order No. 841.²¹⁷ MISO's arguments on rehearing do not convince us otherwise. As the Commission stated in the Final Rule, upon implementation, if an RTO/ISO, including MISO, finds that it is experiencing difficulty calculating efficient market results and there is not a viable software solution for improving such calculations, it may file with the Commission demonstrating such and proposing to increase the minimum size requirement for its electric storage resource participation model.²¹⁸ Further, as stated in the Final Rule, a minimum size requirement that does not exceed 100 kW does not

²¹⁶ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 272 (citing CAISO Data Request Response at 10-11; ISO-NE Data Request Response at 13-14; MISO Data Request Response at 10; NYISO Data Request Response at 9; PJM Data Request Response at 10; SPP Data Request Response at 5).

²¹⁷ See id. P 275. The Commission provided RTOs/ISOs with 270 days after the publication of the Final Rule in the Federal Register to file the tariff changes (i.e., December 3, 2018) and a further 365 days from that date to implement the tariff provisions.

 $^{^{218}}$ See id.

change the responsibilities of the RTOs/ISOs or the distribution utilities, and it does not change the ability of distribution utilities to allocate any costs that they incur in operating and maintaining their respective power systems.²¹⁹

106. Finally, in response to MISO's request for clarification that the 100 kW limit does not apply to the Minimum Charge Limit or Minimum Discharge Limit, we clarify that the minimum size requirement does not prohibit an RTO/ISO from establishing a minimum size limit that is lower than 100 kW on any minimum capacity requirements, minimum offer to sell requirements, or minimum bid to buy requirements. Therefore, it is possible that the quantities for the Minimum Charge Limit and Minimum Discharge Limit may be smaller than 100 kW for resources using the participation model for electric storage resources. However, we do not specify how the minimum size requirement may affect the quantities submitted for some of the physical and operational characteristics of electric storage resources, and will not prejudge how the RTOs/ISOs may propose any such relationships between the minimum size requirement and the physical and operational characteristics of resources using the participation model for electric storage resources.

²¹⁹ *Id.* P 274.

G. Energy Used to Charge Electric Storage Resources (Charging Energy)

1. Price for Charging Energy

a. Final Rule

In Order No. 841, the Commission added § 35.28(g)(9)(ii) to the Commission's regulations to require that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.²²⁰ The Commission stated that this requirement will apply regardless of whether the electric storage resource is using the participation model for electric storage resources or another participation model to participate in the RTO/ISO markets, as long as the resource meets the definition of an electric storage resource set forth in Order No. 841. The Commission noted that it found that the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce.²²¹ The Commission stated that, as such, the just and reasonable rate for that wholesale sale of energy used to charge that electric storage resource is the RTO/ISO market's wholesale LMP, regardless of whether the electric storage resource uses the participation model for electric storage resources.²²²

²²⁰ *Id.* P 294.

²²¹ *Id.* (citing *Norton Energy Storage*, 95 FERC at 62,701-02).

²²² *Id*.

108. In addition, the Commission disagreed with some commenters' contention that transmission charges that apply to load should not apply to electric storage resources.²²³ The Commission stated that, when an electric storage resource is charging to resell energy at a later time, then its behavior is similar to other load-serving entities and applicable transmission charges should apply. However, in response to the concern that transmission charges should not apply when an electric storage resource is dispatched by an RTO/ISO, the Commission found that electric storage resources that are dispatched to consume electricity to provide a service in the RTO/ISO markets (such as frequency regulation or a downward ramping service) should not pay the same transmission charges as load during the provision of that service.²²⁴ The Commission found that this would be consistent with the treatment afforded traditional generation resources that provide ancillary services because they are not charged for their impacts on the transmission system when they reduce their output to provide a service such as frequency regulation down. Therefore, the Commission found that electric storage resources should not be charged transmission charges when they are dispatched by an RTO/ISO to provide a service because (1) their physical impacts on the bulk power system are comparable to traditional generators providing the same service and (2) assessing transmission charges when they are dispatched to provide a service would create a disincentive for them to provide the service.

²²³ *Id.* P 297.

²²⁴ *Id.* P 298.

109. With respect to concerns about electric storage resources' use of the distribution system, the Commission noted that, in *PJM Interconnection LLC*, the Commission permitted a distribution utility to assess a wholesale distribution charge to an electric storage resource participating in the PJM markets.²²⁵ Consistent with this precedent, the Commission found that it may be appropriate, on a case-by-case basis, for distribution utilities to assess a charge on electric storage resources similar to those assessed to the market participant in that proceeding.

b. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

110. Pacific Gas and Electric requests that the Commission clarify that nothing in Order No. 841 is intended to suggest that the state no longer has jurisdiction to determine how power flowing from the distribution grid, through the customer meter, and then into the electric storage resource located behind the customer meter is to be split between retail consumption and wholesale charging for later discharge into the wholesale markets. 226 Pacific Gas and Electric argues that the Final Rule implies that the state has the authority to determine whether the power flowing through the customer meter, or some fraction of it, is appropriately categorized as wholesale charging or whether all of it must be

 $^{^{225}}$ Id. P 301 (citing PJM Interconnection L.L.C., 149 FERC ¶ 61,185 at P 12 (wholesale distribution charge that ComEd will assess to Energy Vault is a weighted average carrying charge that is applied on a case-by-case basis, depending on the distribution facilities expected to be used in providing wholesale distribution service), order on reh'g, 151 FERC ¶ 61,231 at PP 16-18).

²²⁶ Pacific Gas and Electric Rehearing Request at 2.

determined to be retail usage.²²⁷ Pacific Gas and Electric asserts that, if the Commission were to conclude that the state no longer has this authority, then a retail customer could use its behind-the-retail-meter electric storage resource as a means to completely bypass retail rates for its on-site electricity consumption by claiming that the electricity is for later discharge into the wholesale markets, whether or not that discharge actually occurs.²²⁸

111. Both California Energy Storage Alliance and CAISO contend that the Final Rule presents conflicting positions on whether transmission charges should apply to wholesale charging energy purchased for later resale.²²⁹ Specifically, they note that, in paragraph 298 of Order No. 841, the Commission found that "electric storage resources should not be charged transmission charges when they are dispatched by an RTO/ISO to provide a service..."²³⁰ They point out that, in contrast, in paragraph 297 of the Final Rule, the

 $^{^{227}}$ *Id.* (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 325 (To the extent that the host distribution utility is unable – due to a lack of the necessary metering infrastructure and accounting practices – or unwilling to net out any energy purchases associated with a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources' wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO would be prevented from charging that resource using the participation model for electric storage resources electric wholesale rates for the charging energy for which it is already paying retail rates.)).

²²⁸ *Id.* at 2-3.

²²⁹ California Energy Storage Alliance Rehearing Request at 2; CAISO Rehearing Request at 11.

²³⁰ California Energy Storage Alliance Rehearing Request at 2 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 298); CAISO Rehearing Request at 11 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 298).

Commission stated that "[w]hen an electric storage resource is charging to resell energy at a later time, then its behavior is similar to other load-serving entities, and we find that applicable transmission charges should apply."²³¹

- 112. According to California Energy Storage Alliance, transmission charges should not apply to wholesale charging energy that an electric storage resource later resells. In support of its position, California Energy Storage Alliance argues that applying transmission charges in CAISO would result in an unreasonable "double-application" of those charges: once to the electric storage resource purchasing its charging energy at wholesale and once to the load that the energy is used to serve or the export transaction that it is needed to support. California Energy Storage Alliance further contends that this double-billing would be unduly and financially burdensome for electric storage resources.²³²
- 113. CAISO argues that requiring an RTO/ISO to assess transmission charges on an electric storage resource's charging demand could blunt electric storage resources' market effectiveness and financial viability and inappropriately shifts transmission costs into energy markets, which is inconsistent with Commission precedent.²³³ According to

²³¹ California Energy Storage Alliance Rehearing Request at 2 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at 297); CAISO Rehearing Request at 11 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 297).

²³² California Energy Storage Alliance Rehearing Request at 2-3.

²³³ CAISO Rehearing Request at 5-6, 11-13 (citing *Cal. Indep. Sys. Operator Corp.*, 132 FERC ¶ 61,211 (2010); *Reform of Generator Interconnection Procedures and Agreements*, 157 FERC ¶ 61,212, at PP 226-230 (2017)).

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

CAISO, unlike load-serving entities with firm load and little to no ability to curb or curtail demand, electric storage resources can charge during periods of excess generation and low prices, thereby shifting demand to combat over-generation, providing ramping flexibility, addressing negative prices, and mitigating potential reliability issues in systems like CAISO that operate with a high degree of supply and demand variability. CAISO argues that requiring RTOs/ISOs to assess transmission charges on electric storage devices will force such resources to include those costs in their market bids, thus affecting energy market prices.²³⁴

114. With respect to Commission precedent on this issue, CAISO claims that requiring electric storage resources to pay transmission charges would contravene prior Commission precedent, such as CAISO's Commission-accepted non-generator resource model, which treats non-generator resource demand as negative generation and does not require it to pay transmission charges. CAISO maintains that, since the acceptance of the non-generator resource model, the Commission has noted in other proceedings that the negative generation model is a best practice that "may allow transmission providers to better account for the transitions of electric storage resources between generation and

²³⁴ *Id.* at 5-6, 11-13.

²³⁵ *Id.* at 12 (citing *Cal. Indep. Sys. Operator Corp.*, 132 FERC ¶ 61,211 (2010)).

load and may better enable the use of existing generator interconnection procedures and agreements due to their treatment as negative generation instead of load."236

115. For these reasons, CAISO asks the Commission to clarify that RTOs/ISOs may, but are not required to, impose transmission charges on electric storage resources when they are charging pursuant to RTO/ISO dispatch. Alternatively, CAISO asks the Commission to clarify that each RTO/ISO may determine (1) what types of charging activities would not cause an electric storage resource to incur transmission charges, (2) that those services are not limited to ancillary services, and (3) that charging pursuant to economic dispatch may qualify as such a service.²³⁷ According to CAISO, charging an electric storage resource when it is economic to do so as instructed by the RTO/ISO to help balance the system is a critically important "service" that electric storage resources provide the grid.²³⁸

116. Finally, CAISO seeks clarification that electric storage resources participating as transmission resources under the Commission's Policy Statement should not incur transmission charges for their charging demand.²³⁹ CAISO notes that it may soon

 $^{^{236}}$ Id. (citing Reform of Generator Interconnection Procedures and Agreements, 157 FERC ¶ 61,212 at PP 226-230).

²³⁷ *Id.* at 5.

²³⁸ *Id.* at 5, 11.

²³⁹ Id. at 12-13 (referencing *Utilization of Electric Storage Resources for Multiple Services When Receiving Cost-Based Rate Recovery*, 158 FERC ¶ 61,051 (2017)).

approve a proposal to allow electric storage resources to provide reliability/transmission services in its transmission planning process and that these resources would then be eligible to recover some of their costs through regulated transmission rates and the remainder through participation in the wholesale markets. CAISO explains that whether these resources will incur transmission charges for charging will significantly affect their projected costs in competitive solicitations, as well as how the resource intends to recover those costs.²⁴⁰

117. EEI seeks clarification and Xcel Energy Services seeks rehearing of the Commission's finding in Order No. 841 that it may be appropriate, on a case-by-case basis, for distribution utilities to assess a charge on electric storage resources similar to those assessed to the market participant in *PJM Interconnection LLC*. They explain that, in *PJM Interconnection LLC*, the Commission permitted the distribution utility to establish a wholesale distribution rate that was based on the carrying charges associated with the distribution facilities that would be used to provide wholesale distribution service to a particular electric storage resource. According to EEI and Xcel Energy Services, a customer-specific methodology for assessing wholesale distribution charges may no longer be appropriate when there are a large number of distribution-connected electric storage resources participating in the wholesale markets.²⁴¹ EEI further argues

²⁴⁰ *Id.* at 13.

²⁴¹ EEI Rehearing Request at 12; Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 27-28.

that it would be unduly burdensome to require a distribution utility to establish a separate, facility-specific rate for each individual electric storage resource's use of the distribution system, while Xcel Energy Services contends that establishing such rates would involve significant regulatory development and filing costs and could even be unworkable given that the distribution system is periodically reconfigured based on system conditions. 243

118. Therefore, EEI seeks clarification on what the Commission meant by "case-by-case basis," stating that the Commission should not dismiss as per se unreasonable a proposal to establish a non-facility-specific rate for wholesale distribution service to charging load. Similarly, Xcel Energy Services asks the Commission to grant rehearing of its decision to permit wholesale distribution charges on only a "case-by-case basis" and permit more generic wholesale distribution rates or tariffs. As

c. <u>Commission Determination</u>

119. We deny Pacific Gas and Electric's request to clarify that states have jurisdiction to determine how power flowing from the distribution grid into the electric storage resource located behind the customer meter is split between retail consumption and

²⁴² EEI Rehearing Request at 12.

²⁴³ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 29.

²⁴⁴ EEI Rehearing Request at 11-12.

²⁴⁵ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 28, 30.

wholesale charging for later discharge into the wholesale markets. In the Final Rule, the Commission noted that it found that the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets constitutes a sale for resale in interstate commerce; as such, the just and reasonable rate for that wholesale sale of energy used to charge that electric storage resource is the RTO/ISO market's wholesale LMP.²⁴⁶ However, we reiterate that the Commission's finding regarding charging energy did not address payment of the retail rate for energy. Thus, Order No. 841 does not authorize electric storage resources to bypass retail rates for its on-site electricity consumption, as Pacific Gas & Electric suggests.²⁴⁷ 120. In response to CAISO's arguments, we acknowledge that the participation of electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets may convey a range of benefits, particularly under certain system conditions, but we cannot conclude based on the record before us that an electric storage resource charging when it is economic to do so necessarily constitutes the provision of a service in the RTO/ISO markets, though it may provide a service in some specific circumstances. Thus, we decline to grant clarification that charging pursuant to economic dispatch always qualifies as a service. However, we clarify that services do not need to be limited to ancillary services; they could include any service defined in an RTO/ISO tariff. To the extent that an RTO/ISO seeks to create a

²⁴⁶ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 294.

²⁴⁷ See id. PP 323-324.

new service that would involve charging pursuant to economic dispatch under certain system conditions, the RTO/ISO may propose such revisions to its tariff through a separate FPA section 205 filing.²⁴⁸

We also grant clarification of the Commission's finding in paragraph 297 that applicable transmission charges should apply when an electric storage resource is charging to resell energy at a later time. In response to the concerns of CAISO and California Energy Storage Alliance, we clarify that, in paragraph 297 of the Final Rule, the Commission's use of the phrase "applicable transmission charges" was intended to convey that an RTO/ISO may propose to apply its existing rate structure for transmission charges to an electric storage resource that is charging at wholesale but is not being dispatched by the RTO/ISO to provide a service in the RTO/ISO markets. Thus, each RTO/ISO may on compliance propose that any electric storage resource that is charging at wholesale but is not being dispatched by the RTO/ISO to provide a service should be assessed charges consistent with how the RTO/ISO assesses transmission charges to wholesale load under its existing rate structure. We further clarify that, if an RTO/ISO proposes not to apply transmission charges to an electric storage resource that is charging at wholesale but is not being dispatched by the RTO/ISO to provide a service, then the RTO/ISO must demonstrate that exempting such a resource from these charges is reasonable given its existing rate structure for transmission charges.

²⁴⁸ See 16 U.S.C. 824d.

- 122. We find that CAISO's request for clarification that electric storage resources participating as transmission resources, as described in the Commission's Policy Statement, 249 should not incur transmission charges for charging demand is premature because CAISO has not yet filed a proposal to allow electric storage resources to provide transmission or reliability services under the Policy Statement. We find that it is appropriate to address CAISO's concerns related to resources that might seek to recover their costs through both regulated transmission rates and the wholesale markets in the context of a specific proposal involving resources that provide multiple services and seek to recover their costs through both cost-based and market-based rates concurrently. We therefore deny clarification that such resources should not incur transmission charges for charging demand and decline to address CAISO's concerns here.
- 123. In response to concerns regarding the Commission's finding that it may be appropriate, on a case-by-case basis, for distribution utilities to assess a charge on electric storage resources similar to those assessed to the market participant in *PJM*Interconnection L.L.C., ²⁵⁰ we grant EEI's requested clarification. Specifically, we clarify that the Commission will not dismiss as per se unreasonable any proposal to establish a non-facility-specific rate for wholesale distribution service to an electric storage resource for its charging. Rather, the Commission will consider any proposal to establish a rate

 $^{^{249}}$ See Utilization of Electric Storage Resources for Multiple Services When Receiving Cost-Based Rate Recovery, 158 FERC \P 61,051.

²⁵⁰ See Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 301 (citing *PJM Interconnection L.L.C.*, 149 FERC ¶ 61,185 at P 12, order on reh'g, 151 FERC ¶ 61,231 at PP 16-18).

for providing wholesale distribution service to an electric storage resource for its charging (whether a facility-specific rate, a wholesale distribution service rate that applies to all or some subset of electric storage resources, a generally applicable wholesale distribution service tariff, or any other rate mechanism) on a case-by-case basis in light of the record evidence. Accordingly, we find that Xcel Energy Services' request for rehearing of this issue is moot.

2. Metering and Accounting Practices for Charging Energy

a. Final Rule

124. To help implement the new requirement in § 35.28(g)(9)(ii) of the Commission's regulations, in Order No. 841, the Commission required each RTO/ISO to implement metering and accounting practices as needed to address the complexities of implementing the requirement that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.²⁵¹ To this end, the Commission required each RTO/ISO to directly meter electric storage resources, so all the energy entering and exiting the resources is measured by that meter. However, the Commission recognized that some electric storage resources (such as those located on a distribution system or behind a customer meter) may be subject to other metering requirements that could be used in lieu of a direct metering requirement by an RTO/ISO. Therefore, the Commission stated that it will consider, in the individual RTO/ISO compliance filings, alternative proposals that may not entail direct metering but

²⁵¹ *Id.* P 322.

nonetheless address the complexities of implementing the requirement that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP.

125. The Commission was not persuaded by commenters who argued that developing metering practices that distinguish between wholesale and retail activity is impractically complex.²⁵² The Commission noted that CAISO provided two examples of how it has achieved market rules that accurately account for wholesale and retail activities by using direct metering. Additionally, the Commission stated that retail metering infrastructure, which is subject to state jurisdiction, may be able to work in concert with the RTO/ISO requirements to lower the overall metering costs for electric storage resources.

Therefore, the Commission provided each RTO/ISO with the flexibility to propose in its compliance filing other reasonable metering solutions that may help reduce costs for developers.

126. The Commission further found that developing new accounting practices for electric storage resources in response to this requirement will be complex, but nonetheless found that they are feasible to develop.²⁵³ The Commission recognized that it may be beneficial for each RTO/ISO to coordinate accounting requirements in cooperation with the distribution utilities and RERRAs in its footprint to help identify workable accounting solutions for distribution-interconnected or behind-the-meter

²⁵² *Id.* P 323.

²⁵³ *Id.* P 324.

electric storage resources to participate in the RTO/ISO markets. The Commission also found that metering and accounting rules may need to differ based on whether the resource is located on the transmission system, the distribution system, or behind the meter.

127. As a related matter, the Commission found that electric storage resources should not be required to pay both the wholesale and retail price for the same charging energy because doing so would create market inefficiencies due to the double payment. 254

Therefore, the Commission required each RTO/ISO to prevent electric storage resources from paying twice for the same charging energy. The Commission stated that, to the extent that the host distribution utility is unwilling or unable—due to a lack of the necessary metering infrastructure and accounting practices—to net out any energy purchases associated with an electric storage resource's wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO would be prevented from charging that resource electric wholesale rates for the same charging energy that it is already paying for through retail rates.

²⁵⁴ *Id.* P 326. Paragraph 326 of the preamble of Order No. 841 used the term "resources using the participation model for electric storage resources" with respect to the requirements set forth therein (e.g., "we require each RTO/ISO to prevent resources using the participation model for electric storage resources from paying twice for the same charging energy"). However, §35.28(g)(9)(ii) of the Commission's regulations (as modified by Order No. 841), which these requirements are intended to implement, specifies that it applies to electric storage resources. Thus, the Commission used the incorrect term in paragraph 326 of Order No. 841. In this order, we use the correct term throughout.

128. Finally, the Commission stated that it was not persuaded by commenters' suggestion that electric storage resources must choose to participate in either wholesale or retail markets due to the complexity of the metering and accounting practices. The Commission found that it is possible for electric storage resources that are selling retail services also to be technically capable of providing wholesale services, and it would adversely affect competition in the RTO/ISO markets if these technically capable resources were excluded from participation.

b. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

129. Several petitioners request rehearing or clarification with respect to Order No. 841's requirements related to metering and accounting practices. First, CAISO requests that the Commission clarify or, in the alternative, grant rehearing that the RTO/ISO does not need to be the entity that directly meters electric storage resources. CAISO explains that it is a common and useful practice in RTOs/ISOs for third parties, such as a scheduling coordinator, to perform the metering, validation, estimation, and editing to submit settlement quality meter data to the RTO/ISO, which the RTO/ISO then ensures is accurate. CAISO argues that a requirement for the RTO/ISO to be the sole entity directly metering electric storage resources is inconsistent with previous precedent, inconsistent

²⁵⁵ *Id.* P 325.

with RTOs'/ISOs' current just and reasonable metering practices, and unnecessarily restrictive for electric storage resources and RTOs/ISOs.²⁵⁶

130. With respect to Order No. 841's requirement that, to the extent that the host distribution utility is unable or unwilling to net out any energy purchases associated with an electric storage resource's wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO may not charge that resource for the charging energy for which it is already paying retail rates, CAISO states that it is unclear what constitutes a utility that is unwilling or unable to net out wholesale charging energy from an electric storage resource's total demand. Therefore, CAISO asks the Commission to clarify or, in the alternative, grant rehearing that an RTO/ISO could require verification from the host distribution utility that it is unable or unwilling to net wholesale demand from retail settlement before the RTO/ISO ceases to settle an electric storage resources' wholesale demand at the wholesale LMP. CAISO contends that this clarification is especially critical for electric storage resources that are located on the distribution system or behind the meter and participating in the CAISO market because they may be providing services to other entities.²⁵⁷

131. Relatedly, CAISO asks the Commission to clarify or, in the alternative, grant rehearing that, when an RTO/ISO cannot verify that the host distribution utility is unable

²⁵⁶ CAISO Rehearing Request at 6-8 (citing *Cal. Indep. Sys. Operator Corp.*, Docket No. ER17-949-000 (Mar. 31, 2017) (delegated order)).

²⁵⁷ *Id.* at 9-11.

or unwilling to net wholesale demand from retail settlement, the RTO/ISO can either (1) require the electric storage resource to use a participation model designed for retail customer participation (such as demand response) or (2) continue settling the electric storage resource's charging demand at the wholesale LMP. According to CAISO, this clarification is necessary because prohibiting certain electric storage resources from having their demand settled at the wholesale LMP (1) will require new participation models, modeling, and software upgrades; (2) could materially affect how that resource bids, potentially distorting the market; and (3) could negatively affect the host utility distribution company's settlement charges, in the form of unaccounted for energy, for example.²⁵⁸

132. Both TAPS and Xcel Energy Services request rehearing of the Commission's decision in Order No. 841 to decline to require electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter to participate exclusively either in the wholesale markets or at retail. Xcel Energy Services contends that it is difficult to see how an RTO/ISO can differentiate between the wholesale and retail activities of an electric storage resource located on the distribution system or behind the meter without compelling entities that are not Commission jurisdictional, such as loads and distribution

²⁵⁸ *Id.* at 10-11.

²⁵⁹ TAPS Rehearing Request at 12; Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 17, 20.

utilities, to provide information on their sales to and purchases from such a resource. ²⁶⁰
133. TAPS states that, to ensure that an electric storage resource that is located on the distribution system or behind the meter does not "improperly evade the distribution utility's retail service" through its participation in the RTO/ISO markets, the Commission must ensure that any energy that such resources purchase from the RTO/ISO markets is resold. ²⁶¹ TAPS further argues that allowing an electric storage resource located on the distribution system or behind the meter to participate both in the wholesale markets and at retail could provide its owner with the opportunity to simultaneously purchase energy at retail and sell energy to the wholesale market at a higher price, thus shifting costs to other retail customers without ever changing the physical State of Charge of its electric storage resource. ²⁶²

134. According to TAPS, normal revenue-quality metering is inadequate to address these concerns because it requires knowledge of two separate energy level balances (one for wholesale energy and one for retail energy) rather than simply the total energy balance.

TAPS contends that maintaining and auditing a system to track this information would be complicated and expensive. ²⁶³ TAPS adds that the market rules in CAISO that the

²⁶⁰ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 20.

²⁶¹ TAPS Rehearing Request at 13.

²⁶² *Id.* at 14.

²⁶³ *Id.* at 14-15.

Commission claimed accurately account for wholesale and retail activities do not address the issues that TAPS has identified.²⁶⁴

135. Similarly, Xcel Energy Services argues that the Commission's reliance on CAISO's market rules to support its decision not to preclude electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter from participating both in the wholesale markets and at retail was misplaced. Specifically, Xcel Energy Services contends that CAISO's market rules do not provide for tracking retail purchases, retail sales, wholesale purchases, and wholesale sales all at the same time, and thus they do not allow an RTO/ISO to distinguish between the wholesale and retail activities of electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter that seek to participate in its markets. Xcel Energy Services states that, instead, CAISO's market rules only account for resources that are selling exclusively at wholesale or at retail at a given point in time (as opposed to providing services at wholesale and at retail during the same time period). According to Xcel Energy Services, CAISO's market rules also fail to account for multiple resources and retail loads behind a single meter. Xcel Energy Services adds that, even if CAISO's market rules were sufficient, they do not support a finding that other RTOs/ISOs, whose member utilities all have their own requirements for metering, billing systems, and other supporting software and Information Technology (IT) platforms, could necessarily adopt them.²⁶⁵

²⁶⁴ *Id.* at 15 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 318).

²⁶⁵ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 17-20.

136. Finally, TAPS also argues that the Commission's decision on TAPS's proposal to require distribution-connected electric storage resources to choose between wholesale and retail participation was premature given that the issues that TAPS raised are within the scope of the distributed energy resource aggregation-related issues which the Commission determined in Order No. 841 that it did not have sufficient information to act upon. Therefore, TAPS argues that the Commission should have deferred its decision until after the technical conference in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁶⁶ 137. EEI asks the Commission to clarify that it is the responsibility of the electric storage resource located on the distribution system or behind the meter to pay for any metering or other costs associated with distinguishing between its wholesale and retail activities; if they are not given that responsibility, then EEI argues that the entire load can and should be treated as retail load. EEI contends that this clarification reflects the statement in Order No. 841 that the finding regarding charging energy does not address payment of the retail rate for energy or charging a device off of co-located generation resources.²⁶⁷

c. Commission Determination

138. As an initial matter, we clarify, in response to CAISO, that the RTO/ISO itself does not need to be the entity that directly meters electric storage resources. We also grant CAISO's request to clarify that an RTO/ISO could require verification from the

²⁶⁶ TAPS Rehearing Request at 16-17.

²⁶⁷ EEI Request for Rehearing and Clarification at 12 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 299).

host distribution utility that it is unable or unwilling to net wholesale demand from retail settlement before the RTO/ISO ceases to settle an electric storage resource's wholesale demand at the wholesale LMP. While Order No. 841 stated that each RTO/ISO must prevent electric storage resources from paying twice for the same charging energy, ²⁶⁸ it did not specify how each RTO/ISO must implement this requirement. Therefore, we clarify that the Commission will consider on compliance each RTO's/ISO's proposal to identify whether a distribution utility is unable or unwilling to net out from a host customer's retail bill the wholesale energy purchases associated with charging an electric storage resource that is participating in the RTO/ISO market from the host customer's retail bill.

139. However, we deny CAISO's request for clarification or, in the alternative, rehearing that when an RTO/ISO cannot verify the host distribution utility's inability or unwillingness to net out wholesale charging energy, the RTO/ISO can require the electric storage resource to use a participation model designed for retail customer participation. In Order No. 841, the Commission stated that each RTO/ISO must prevent electric storage resources from paying twice for the same charging energy. While the Commission provided flexibility with respect to how each RTO/ISO implements that requirement, we find it inappropriate for an RTO/ISO to meet that requirement by requiring an electric storage resource to use a participation model designed for retail

²⁶⁸ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 326.

²⁶⁹ *Id*.

customer participation. Consistent with Order No. 841, we reiterate that, to the extent that the host distribution utility is unable or unwilling to net out any energy purchases associated with a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources' wholesale charging activities from the host customer's retail bill, the RTO/ISO must determine how it will prevent an electric storage resource participating in its markets from being charged wholesale rates for charging energy for which it already is paying retail rates.²⁷⁰

140. We deny TAPS' and Xcel Energy Services' requests for rehearing regarding the Commission's decision to decline to require electric storage resources to choose to participate exclusively in either wholesale or retail markets due to the complexity of the metering and accounting practices. While we agree with TAPS and Xcel Energy Services that appropriate metering and accounting practices will be necessary to distinguish between wholesale and retail activity, we disagree that these practices would be prohibitively complex or costly to develop and implement given the flexibility provided to the RTOs/ISOs to propose reasonable approaches.²⁷¹ As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, retail metering infrastructure also may be able to work in concert with the RTO/ISO requirements to lower the overall metering costs.²⁷²

²⁷⁰ *Id*.

²⁷¹ See id. PP 323-324.

²⁷² *Id.* P 323.

- 141. Further, TAPS and Xcel Energy Services argue that CAISO's metering and accounting practices are insufficient to allow for the implementation of Order No. 841's requirement that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP. Therefore, TAPS and Xcel Energy Services argue that the Commission's reliance on these practices as evidence that establishing such metering and accounting practices is possible is misplaced. We disagree. The Commission relied on CAISO's metering and accounting practices to demonstrate that direct metering for behind-the-meter resources can remove barriers to their participation in RTO/ISO markets, not necessarily as an example of metering and accounting that would comply with the requirements of the Final Rule. Moreover, in Order No. 841, the Commission chose not to prescribe particular metering and accounting practices that each RTO/ISO must adopt, instead providing flexibility for each RTO/ISO to develop practices that reflect its unique market rules and its member utilities' requirements for metering, billing systems, and other supporting software and IT platforms.
- 142. TAPS also argues that the Commission's decision not to require electric storage resources to choose to participate exclusively in either wholesale or retail markets will allow resources using the participation model for electric storage resources to evade the distribution utility's retail service or simultaneously buy electricity at the retail rate and sell it at the wholesale LMP. While we acknowledge these concerns, we believe that each RTO/ISO can address these issues by developing its metering and accounting requirements in cooperation with the distribution utilities and RERRAs in its footprint, as

the Commission recognized in Order No. 841.²⁷³ In addition, we note that, when the Commission stated in Order No. 841 that the sale of electric energy from the RTO/ISO markets to an electric storage resource that the resource then resells back to those markets be at the wholesale LMP, it was referring to the sale of energy from the grid that is used to charge electric storage resources for later resale into the energy or ancillary service markets.²⁷⁴ To the extent that TAPS has concerns that a particular RTO's/ISO's proposed metering and accounting practices do not address these issues, TAPS may raise these concerns in response to the RTO's/ISO's compliance filing.

143. Finally, we disagree with TAPS' contention that the Commission should have deferred action on this issue until after the technical conference in Docket No. RM18-9-000. The technical conference in Docket No. RM18-9-000 focused on issues relating to distributed energy resource aggregations, while Order No. 841 addresses the participation of non-aggregated electric storage resources in RTO/ISO markets. We find that the Commission had sufficient record evidence before it to determine whether to require electric storage resources to choose to participate exclusively in either wholesale or retail markets, regardless of its decision to gather more information with respect to its proposals to remove barriers to the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in RTO/ISO markets in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁷⁵

²⁷³ *Id.* P 324.

²⁷⁴ *Id.* P 294.

²⁷⁵ *Id.* P 5.

144. In response to EEI, we decline to clarify whether an electric storage resource located on the distribution system or behind the meter is responsible for paying for any metering or other costs associated with distinguishing between its wholesale and retail activities. While EEI contends that its requested clarification relates to the Commission's statement in Order No. 841 that its finding regarding charging energy does not address payment of the retail rate for energy or charging a device off of co-located generation resources, Order No. 841 did not establish any requirement with respect to which entity should bear the costs of metering. Therefore, we find that this issue is outside the scope of this proceeding.

III. Compliance Requirements

A. Final Rule

145. In the Final Rule, the Commission required each RTO/ISO to file the tariff changes needed to implement the requirements of Order No. 841 within 270 days of the publication date of Order No. 841 in the Federal Register. The Commission also allowed each RTO/ISO a further 365 days from that date to implement the tariff provisions. The Commission found that, given the modifications and clarifications to the NOPR made in Order No. 841, particularly the omission of the reforms relevant to distributed energy resource aggregations, and the record in this proceeding in support of

²⁷⁶ *Id.* P 348.

the reforms that the Commission finalized therein, the implementation schedule was reasonable.²⁷⁷

146. Additionally, the Commission noted that many of the RTOs/ISOs already have rules in place to enable the participation of electric storage resources in their markets. ²⁷⁸ The Commission further stated that the additional time that it provided for the RTOs/ISOs to make their compliance filings, along with the ability of the RTOs/ISOs to use existing tariff provisions to demonstrate compliance with aspects of the Final Rule, would mean that the RTOs/ISOs can meet the deadlines established therein. Finally, the Commission noted that it was allowing regional flexibility to the extent possible throughout the Final Rule, which it believed would assist the RTOs/ISOs in meeting the compliance and implementation deadlines.

B. Requests for Rehearing or Clarification

147. MISO, AMP/APPA/NRECA, and EEI raise issues relating to the relationship between the implementation of Order No. 841 and the Commission's decision therein to defer consideration of its proposals with respect to the participation of distributed energy resource aggregations in RTO/ISO markets. Both AMP/APPA/NRECA and EEI assert that, because some electric storage resources may be distributed energy resources, and a single electric storage resource may constitute a distributed energy resource aggregation,

²⁷⁷ *Id.* P 349.

²⁷⁸ *Id.* P 350.

many of the issues raised at the technical conference in Docket No. RM18-9-000 are applicable to electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter.²⁷⁹ They contend that it is unclear how the Commission can reasonably adopt final rules governing the participation of electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter in RTO/ISO markets while finding that additional information is needed prior to allowing distributed energy resource aggregations, which can include electric storage resources, to participate in those same markets.²⁸⁰ 148. MISO asks the Commission to grant rehearing of the compliance date and extend Order No. 841's implementation timetable by at least six months with respect to matters that affect the potential participation of electric storage resources as distributed energy resources in RTO/ISO markets.²⁸¹ Moreover, MISO contends that it wishes to avoid devoting significant effort and expense to develop software and system adjustments to address the participation of distribution-connected electric storage resources, which may be significantly impacted by a final rule in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁸² According to MISO, the cost and time needed to "ensure the synergy of [electric storage resource] and

²⁷⁹ APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 16; EEI Rehearing Request at 10.

²⁸⁰ APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 16; EEI Rehearing Request at 11.

²⁸¹ MISO Rehearing Request at 13.

²⁸² *Id.* at 9-10.

[distributed energy resource]-related software changes are likely to be significant."²⁸³ Therefore, MISO ask the Commission to further adjust the implementation timeframe for Order No. 841 if necessitated by any electric storage-resource related requirements in a final rule in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁸⁴

149. To ensure consistency, AMP/APPA/NRECA ask the Commission to clarify that the wholesale market participation by electric storage resources located on a distribution system or behind a retail meter will be subject to any final rule in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁸⁵ Likewise, EEI asks the Commission to clarify that rules on the participation in the RTO/ISO markets of electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter should be informed by the discussion in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁸⁶ Both AMP/APPA/NRECA and EEI also ask the Commission to determine that the RTO/ISO tariff revisions related to electric storage resources located on a distribution system or behind a retail meter made in compliance with Order No. 841 will not become effective until the effective date of the RTO/ISO tariff revisions related to distributed

²⁸³ *Id.* at 11.

²⁸⁴ *Id.* at 11, 13.

²⁸⁵ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 17.

²⁸⁶ EEI Rehearing Request at 11.

energy resource aggregations made in compliance with any final rule in Docket No. RM18-9-000.²⁸⁷

150. Xcel Energy Services contends that the Commission offered no evidence in Order No. 841 explaining why it chose a period of 270 days for each RTO/ISO to submit a compliance filing and a further 365 days to implement the tariff revisions proposed therein. 288 Xcel Energy Services argues that Order No. 841's inflexible compliance schedule appears inconsistent with other provisions in in Order No. 841 that acknowledge that each RTO/ISO will have to revise its tariff in a manner that recognizes the unique physical and operational characteristics of their markets and the effects of integrating electric storage resources.²⁸⁹ Xcel Energy Services adds that, while the Commission acknowledged that the tariff revisions could require significant work on the part of the RTOs/ISOs, it did not explain what that significant work would encompass, the expected timeframe for completion, or why a longer time period may not be necessary to comply.²⁹⁰ Xcel Energy Services also contends that implementing Order No. 841 will require IT systems that tie together transmission and distribution systems, along with wholesale and retail markets and metering. Thus, Xcel Energy Services asks the

²⁸⁷ AMP/APPA/NRECA Rehearing Request at 17; EEI Rehearing Request at 11.

²⁸⁸ Xcel Energy Services Rehearing Request at 21.

²⁸⁹ *Id.* at 21.

²⁹⁰ *Id.* at 22 (citing Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 343).

Commission to grant rehearing to permit RTO/ISOs to propose their own implementation schedules that more appropriately reflect the unique characteristics of their systems.²⁹¹ 151. Xcel Energy Services also asks the Commission to grant rehearing to require RTOs/ISOs to collaborate with distribution utilities to develop a cost recovery mechanism for distribution utility upgrades and improvements required to implement Order No. 841.²⁹² Xcel Energy Services argues that, for distribution utilities, Order No. 841's implementation costs are disproportionate to the benefits they will receive, given that the beneficiaries of Order No. 841 are the RTO/ISO markets and their market participants.²⁹³ Xcel Energy Services argues that, under FPA section 205, the costs that the distribution utilities incur must be commensurate with the benefits that they receive.²⁹⁴ Xcel Energy Services argues that Order No. 841 will burden distribution utilities and their ratepayers because they will need to harden the underlying distribution system to support bidirectional power flows and pay for substantial metering upgrades for electric storage resources.²⁹⁵ Xcel Energy Services adds that IT improvements to allow

²⁹¹ *Id.* at 22.

²⁹² *Id.* at 24-25.

²⁹³ *Id.* at 22-23.

²⁹⁴ *Id.* at 23 (citing *Ill. Commerce Comm'n v. FERC*, 576 F.3d 470, 477 (7th Cir. 2009); *El Paso Elec. Co. v. FERC*, 832 F.3d 495, 506 (5th Cir. 2016) (explaining that the Commission "need only roughly correlate costs to benefits")).

²⁹⁵ *Id.* at 23-24.

electric storage resources to engage in retail and wholesale transactions and to communicate with the RTO/ISO and distribution utility will be costly and will be of comparatively little benefit to distribution ratepayers and their utility.²⁹⁶ 152. AES Companies ask the Commission to clarify that Order No. 841's compliance timeframe aligns with the Commission's compliance directive in Docket No. EL17-8-000.²⁹⁷ AES Companies explain that, on February 1, 2017, the Commission issued an order²⁹⁸ in Docket No. EL17-8-000 granting in part and denying in part a complaint filed by Indianapolis Power & Light Company, a member of AES Companies.²⁹⁹ AES Companies explain that the Commission found in the February 1 Order that MISO's tariff "unreasonably restricts competition by preventing electric storage resources from providing all the services that they are technically capable of providing, which could lead to unjust and unreasonable rates." 300 AES Companies note that the Commission required MISO to submit a compliance filing proposing tariff revisions, within 60 days of the date of that order.³⁰¹ AES Companies therefore ask the Commission to clarify the scope and

²⁹⁶ *Id.* at 24.

²⁹⁷ AES Companies Rehearing Request at 1-2.

²⁹⁸ Indianapolis Power & Light Co. v. Midcontinent Indep. Sys. Operator, Inc., 158 FERC \P 61,107 (2017) (February 1 Order).

²⁹⁹ AES Companies Rehearing Request at 2.

³⁰⁰ *Id.* (citing February 1 Order, 158 FERC ¶ 61,107 at P 69).

³⁰¹ *Id.* at 2-3 (citing February 1 Order, 158 FERC ¶ 61,107 at P 72).

timing of MISO's existing compliance obligation resulting from the February 1 Order, given that Order No. 841's requirements are similar to the compliance directive that the Commission issued in the February 1 Order.³⁰²

153. If the Commission determines that Order No. 841's requirements supersede the tariff changes that the Commission directed in the February 1 Order, such that MISO need not comply with the directives of the February 1 Order until the implementation date for Order No. 841's requirements, AES Companies argue that the Commission should direct MISO to examine and asses any modifications to its business practice manuals or software that could accommodate existing, presently-interconnected electric storage resources. AES Companies further ask the Commission to direct MISO to submit quarterly informational filings describing these efforts. 303

C. Commission Determination

154. We deny the rehearing requests that seek to change the compliance deadlines established in Order No. 841. We continue to find that the timeline for compliance and implementation is reasonable.³⁰⁴ Moreover, in establishing Order No. 841's compliance and implementation schedule, the Commission indicated that it was already "[t]aking into account that the Commission is not implementing the distributed energy resource

³⁰² *Id.* at 4-5.

³⁰³ *Id.* at 5-6.

³⁰⁴ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 349.

aggregation reforms [proposed in the NOPR] at this time...."³⁰⁵ Also, because we find that Order No. 841's compliance timeframe is reasonable, we will not allow the individual RTOs/ISOs to propose their own timeframes.

155. We also decline to adjust the compliance timeframe to consider matters that affect distributed energy resources. In Order No. 841, the Commission found that more information was needed with respect to certain proposed reforms related to distributed energy resource aggregations and decided to continue to explore those proposed reforms in a separate proceeding in Docket No. RM18-9-000.³⁰⁶ While Order No. 841 addresses the participation model for non-aggregated electric storage resources participating directly in the RTO/ISO markets, the proceeding in Docket No. RM18-9-000 involves issues related to RTO/ISO market rules for distributed energy resources participating through aggregations. Thus, no topic addressed in Docket No. RM18-9-000 limits the ability of the RTOs/ISOs to move forward with implementation of Order No. 841, and we do not find that it is necessary to delay the implementation of the reforms for electric storage resources located on the distribution system or behind the meter in Order No. 841 pending the outcome of the proceeding on distributed energy resource aggregations in Docket No. RM18-9-000.

³⁰⁵ *Id.* P 348. *See also id.* P 349 (noting that some commenters provided feedback on the NOPR indicating that acting on only the electric storage components would expedite compliance and implementation).

³⁰⁶ *Id.* P 5.

156. Additionally, we deny Xcel Energy Services' request for rehearing regarding a cost recovery mechanism for distribution utility upgrades and improvements required to implement Order No. 841. The requirements of Order No. 841 apply to the RTOs/ISOs, not distribution utilities, and therefore this request is outside the scope of this proceeding. As stated in Order No. 841, we are not changing the responsibilities of the distribution utilities or their ability to allocate any costs that they incur in operating and maintaining their respective power systems. 307

157. We find that AES Companies' concerns regarding the February 1 Order are moot. Since AES Companies requested rehearing in this docket, the Commission has issued orders³⁰⁸ addressing these rehearing requests and MISO's compliance obligations in that separate proceeding. Any concerns AES Companies may have regarding MISO's compliance obligations in that separate proceeding are appropriately addressed in that proceeding and accordingly the Commission will not consider them here.

IV. Document Availability

158. In addition to publishing the full text of this document in the Federal Register, the Commission provides all interested persons an opportunity to view and/or print the contents of this document via the Internet through the Commission's Home Page (http://www.ferc.gov) and in the Commission's Public Reference Room during normal

³⁰⁷ *Id.* P 274.

 $^{^{308}}$ Indianapolis Power & Light Co. v. Midcontinent Indep. Sys. Operator, Inc., 162 FERC \P 61,266 (2018); Midcontinent Indep. Sys. Operator, Inc., 164 FERC \P 61,109 (2018).

business hours (8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Eastern time) at 888 First Street, NE, Room 2A, Washington, DC 20426.

159. From the Commission's Home Page on the Internet, this information is available on eLibrary. The full text of this document is available on eLibrary in PDF and Microsoft Word format for viewing, printing, and/or downloading. To access this document in eLibrary, type the docket number of this document, excluding the last three digits, in the docket number field.

160. User assistance is available for eLibrary and the Commission's website during normal business hours from the Commission's Online Support at (202) 502-6652 (toll free at 1-866-208-3676) or email at ferconlinesupport@ferc.gov, or the Public Reference Room at (202) 502-8371, TTY (202) 502-8659. E-mail the Public Reference Room at public.referenceroom@ferc.gov.

<u>List of Subjects in 18 CFR Part 35</u>:

Electric power rates, Electric utilities

By the Commission. Commissioner McNamee is concurring in part and dissenting in part with a separate statement attached.

(SEAL)

Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary.

Regulatory Text

In consideration of the foregoing, the Commission amends Part 35 Chapter 1, Title 18 of the *Code of Federal Regulations* as follows:

PART 35 – FILING OF RATE SCHEDULES AND TARIFFS

1. The authority citation for Part 35 continues to read as follows:

AUTHORITY: 16 U.S.C. 791a-825r, 2601-2645; 31 U.S.C. 9701; 42 U.S.C. 7101-7352.

2. In § 35.28, paragraph (g)(9)(i)(B) is revised as follows:

§ 35.28 Non-discrimination open access transmission tariff.

- * * * * *
- (g) * * *
- (9) * * *
- (i) ***
- (B) Enables a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources to be dispatched and ensures that such a resource can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price;
- (B) Ensures that Enables a resource using the participation model for electric storage resources ean to be dispatched and ensures that such a dispatchable resource can set the wholesale market clearing price as both a wholesale seller and wholesale buyer consistent with rules that govern the conditions under which a resource can set the wholesale price;

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators AD16-20-001

(Issued May 16, 2019)

McNAMEE, Commissioner, concurring in part and dissenting in part:

- 1. Electric energy storage resources (ESRs) have the potential to transform the electricity industry. ESRs will allow the electric transmission system¹ to take full advantage of periods of high generation from intermittent resources, such as wind and solar, and use that energy in times when those resources are not available but energy is needed. Market participation by a growing number of ESRs also will enable greater shifting between generation and load thereby enhancing reliability and market signals. Within the correct regulatory and policy framework, ESRs can unlock significant economic and market efficiency benefits that have to date eluded the electric industry, its regulators, and most importantly consumers. As the Commission stated in Order No. 841, "effective integration of electric storage resources into the RTO/ISO markets would enhance competition and, in turn, help to ensure that these markets produce just and reasonable rates." Although I was not on the Commission when Order No. 841 was approved, I support its efforts to promote the participation of ESRs in the wholesale markets.
- 2. I write separately because I am concerned that, like Order No. 841, today's order on rehearing fails to recognize the states' interests in ESRs located behind a retail meter (behind-the-meter) or connected to distribution facilities.³ I believe Order Nos. 841 and

¹ In this statement, I attempt to avoid use of the term "grid" because it is imprecise and can lead to jurisdictional confusion. The majority in today's order appears frequently to use the term "grid" without distinguishing whether it refers to the transmission system, distribution-level facilities, or both.

² Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators, Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127, at P 12 (2018) (Order No. 841).

³ In this statement, I use the term "states" to refer broadly to Relevant Electric

841-A (Storage Orders) are on solid footing when they deal with ESRs connected to the transmission system and how ESRs may participate in the wholesale market, and I concur in those aspects of today's order. I am troubled, however, that the Storage Orders do not fully respect or consider the impact they may have on local distribution systems, the states that regulate those local distributions systems, and local retail customers. To that end. I dissent from today's order. I would have granted the rehearing requests asking the Commission to reconsider: (i) its finding that it has jurisdiction over whether ESRs located behind-the-meter or on the local distribution system are permitted to participate in the RTO/ISO markets through the ESR participation model and thereby asserting iurisdiction over distribution facilities; ⁴ and (ii) its failure to provide states the opportunity to opt-out of the participation model created by the Storage Orders.⁵ In response to Order No. 841, the following entities either requested rehearing on or clarification of the Commission's assertion of jurisdiction over, or of its failure to provide an opt-out to the states related to, ESRs: National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC); the group consisting of American Municipal Power, Inc. (AMP), the American Public Power Association (APPA) and the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA); Edison Electric Institute (EEI); Transmission

Retail Regulatory Authorities (RERRAs).

⁴ See, e.g., National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners Request for Clarification and Rehearing at 3-8 (NARUC Request for Rehearing); Organization of MISO States Amended Motion for Clarification at 3-6; Pacific Gas and Electric Company Motion for Clarification at 1-3 (PG&E Motion for Clarification).

⁵ See, e.g., Edison Electric Institute Request for Rehearing and Clarification at 7-8 (EEI Request for Rehearing); American Municipal Power, Inc., American Public Power Association, & the National Rural Electric Cooperative Association Request for Rehearing at 3 (AMP, APPA, & NRECA Request for Rehearing).

⁶ See generally NARUC Request for Rehearing.

⁷ AMP, APPA, & NRECA Request for Rehearing at 3, 11, 13-15.

⁸ EEI Request for Rehearing at 3-8.

Access Policy Study Group (TAPS); Organization of MISO States; Pacific Gas and Electric Company; and Xcel Energy Services Inc. (Xcel). Pacific Gas and Electric Company;

3. As set forth below, I conclude the majority has exceeded the Commission's jurisdictional authority by depriving the states of the ability to determine whether distribution-level ESRs may use distribution facilities so as to access the wholesale markets. By doing so, in my view, the Commission claimed jurisdiction over functions and assets reserved by statute to the states. Further, even if the majority thought they could rightly exercise jurisdiction in this matter, I think they should have furthered the path of "cooperative federalism" by permitting the states to choose whether or not behind-the-meter and distribution-connected ESRs may participate in the wholesale markets through an opt-out provision.

I. <u>The Commission Lacks Jurisdiction over ESRs Connecting at the</u> Distribution Level or Behind-the-Meter

4. The analysis of whether the Commission has authority to effectively direct the states to permit ESRs to use distribution facilities to reach the wholesale markets begins with the text of the Federal Power Act (FPA). As a creature of statute, the Commission has only that authority Congress has conferred upon it. As relevant here, the FPA grants the Commission jurisdiction to regulate electricity in two areas: (i) "transmission of electric energy in interstate commerce," and (ii) "the sale of electric energy at

⁹ TAPS Request for Rehearing at 1-12.

¹⁰ Organization of MISO States Amended Motion for Clarification at 3-6.

¹¹ PG&E Motion for Clarification at 1-3.

¹² Xcel Request for Rehearing at 6-16.

¹³ See, e.g., FERC v. Elec. Power Supply Ass'n, 136 S. Ct. 760, 779-80 (2016) (EPSA) (noting that while the Commission claimed it could negate state decisions, it chose not to do so "in recognition of the linkage between wholesale and retail markets and the States' role in overseeing retail sales. . . . Wholesale demand response as implemented in the Rule is a program of cooperative federalism in which the States retain the last word.")

¹⁴ 16 U.S.C. § 824 (2012).

¹⁵ See, e.g., Emera Me. v. FERC, 854 F.3d 9, 25 (D.C. Cir. 2017).

wholesale in interstate commerce." ¹⁶ But the FPA is explicit in stating that the Commission does not have jurisdiction "over *facilities* used for the generation of electric energy or over *facilities* used in local distribution or only for the transmission of electric energy in intrastate commerce" ¹⁷ These subjects are reserved to the states.

- 5. Order No. 841-A mandates that ESRs be permitted to use distribution facilities so that they may access the wholesale electric market. There is no doubt that the participation of ESRs behind-the-meter or on the distribution lines can "affect wholesale rates," but in order to "affect" wholesale rates such ESRs must first have access to the wholesale market, and they can only do so by using distribution facilities. In my view, the FPA does not provide the Commission with the authority to require that distribution facilities permit ESRs to use those facilities to access wholesale markets.
- 6. As I set forth in greater detail below, the legal analysis that supports the Commission's jurisdiction to regulate wholesale rates for demand response (DR) and energy efficiency resources (ERRs) is inapposite when considering ESRs. DR and EERs involve customers (or aggregators) voluntarily agreeing to reduce their loads for a certain price, a practice which the Commission and court agree directly affects wholesale rates.¹⁹

¹⁶ 16 U.S.C. § 824(b)(1).

¹⁷ *Id.* (emphasis added). *See Detroit Edison Co. v. FERC*, 334 F.3d 48, 54 (D.C. Cir. 2003) ("Section 201(b)(1) denies FERC jurisdiction over 'facilities used in local distribution.' FERC would rewrite the statute to exclude only 'facilities used *exclusively* in local distribution.' Such an interpretation would eviscerate state jurisdiction over numerous local facilities, in direct contravention of Congress' intent.") (citations omitted)); *but cf. Nat'l Ass'n of Regulatory Util. Comm'rs v. FERC*, 475 F.3d 1277, 1279, 1282 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (concerning the adoption of a standard interconnection agreement and which can be distinguished on a number of grounds, including that: (i) the distribution facilities were participating in a Commission-filed Open Access Transmission Tariff; and (ii) involved generators larger than 20 megawatts).

¹⁸ Order No. 841-A prohibits states from preventing ESRs from participating in wholesale electric markets, which has the effect of directing that ESRs have access to distribution facilities. *Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operating by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators*, Order No. 841-A, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154 at PP 38-49 (2019) (Order No. 841-A).

¹⁹ See EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 774-75 (finding that rules governing wholesale DR directly affect the wholesale rate); Advanced Energy Economy, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245, at P 60 (2017) (AEE), reh'g denied, 163 FERC ¶ 61,030 (2018) (finding that the Commission has jurisdiction over the participation of EERs in organized wholesale

The entity choosing to reduce load through DR or EER is acting behind-the-meter and, by its voluntary act, it literally does not "use" the distribution facilities; it is affirmatively choosing to reduce its consumption of electricity. In the case of an ESR located either behind-the-meter or on the distribution system, the only way it can sell its energy at wholesale is by using distribution facilities to deliver energy to the wholesale market.

- 7. In Order No. 841, the Commission concluded that because ESRs' sales and purchases can affect wholesale rates, the Commission therefore has the authority to dictate that ESRs have access to the wholesale market through distribution facilities. But such an approach borders on teleology as legal analysis. The FPA is clear: the regulation of distribution facilities is not within the jurisdiction of the Commission.²⁰ It is only when an ESR is provided access to the wholesale power markets through the distribution facilities that the Commission can exercise its authority; but the Commission cannot mandate that such access be provided on the local distribution facilities. That decision remains with the local distribution utilities and the states that regulate them.
- 8. I acknowledge that the mere fact that a distribution facility is involved is not dispositive as to whether the Commission can exercise jurisdiction. If a state permits ESRs to connect to the distribution system and sell power at wholesale, the Commission has jurisdiction to regulate those sales. But, the decision the jurisdiction to allow the ESRs to physically connect to the distribution system lies with the states.²¹
- 9. The majority relies on the Supreme Court's decision in *EPSA* to support their decision to prohibit states from preventing an ESR on a distribution system or behind-the-meter from participating in the RTO/ISO markets through the participation model. In my opinion, *EPSA* is distinguishable from the issues considered by the Commission in Order No. 841. *EPSA* involved whether the Commission had jurisdiction over DR transactions and, if it did, whether the Commission could justify, under specific circumstances, the equal compensation of DR providers and wholesale generation.²² In Order No. 841, the Commission asserted that because ESRs can effect wholesale rates,

markets as a practice directly affecting wholesale rates).

²⁰ 16 U.S.C § 824(b)(1).

²¹ See, e.g., NARUC Request for Rehearing at 4; APA, APPA, & NRECA Request for Rehearing at 10-11. I further consider that this limitation on the Commission's authority to order the participation of ESRs behind-the-meter or on the distribution system applies with equal force to public power and electric cooperatives that are exempt from Part II of the FPA. See 16 U.S.C. § 824(f).

²² EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 767, 771-72.

ESRs must be allowed to connect behind-the-meter and to the distribution facilities in order to participate in the wholesale markets.²³

- 10. Another important distinction between *EPSA* and the matter before us is that under Order Nos. 719 and 745, as the *EPSA* Court itself recognized, wholesale operators were required to accept "demand response bids from aggregators of electricity consumers, except when the state regulatory authority overseeing those users' retail purchases bars such demand response participation."²⁴ Thus, the DR program under review in *EPSA* already provided for an opt-out for the states. Said differently, the *EPSA* Court's analysis was undertaken in a factual setting in which states already had been provided with an opt-out.²⁵ In fact, the *EPSA* Court concluded that the opt-out feature removed "any conceivable doubt as to its compliance with [FPA section 201(b)'s] allocation of federal and state authority."²⁶
- 11. I also note that, when the *EPSA* Court determined that the Commission's DR regulation did not improperly regulate retail electric sales, it did so by, in part, noting "whatever the effects at the retail level, every aspect of the regulatory plan happens exclusively on the wholesale market and governs exclusively that market's rules." ²⁷ I believe that the requirement in the Storage Orders that states must permit distribution and behind-the-meter ESRs to use distribution facilities to access the wholesale markets creates a regulatory plan that fails to "happen[] exclusively" on the wholesale market and

²³ As I noted immediately above, the fact that *EPSA* involved DR and not ESRs is a point of important distinction here. *See supra* P 6 *see also infra* PP 17-18.

²⁴ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 771 (citing Wholesale Competition in Regions with Organized Electric Markets, Order No. 719, 125 FERC ¶ 61,071, at P 154 (2008) (Order No. 719); Demand Response Compensation in Organized Wholesale Energy Markets, Order No. 745, 134 FERC ¶ 61,187, at P 114 (2011) (Order No. 745)).

²⁵ In considering EPSA's arguments that the Commission had "usurped state power," *id.* at 777, the Court dismissed them noting that the "finishing blow" to those arguments was the Commission's "notable solicitude toward the States" by "allow[ing] any State regulator to prohibit its consumers from making demand response bids in the wholesale market." *Id.* at 779 (citations omitted).

²⁶ *Id.* at 780.

²⁷ *Id.* at 776. *See also supra* P 6 (discussion that DR does not "use" the distribution facilities).

fails to exclusively govern the wholesale market's rules.²⁸ The majority's position in this regard goes beyond the position supported by *EPSA*, which involved determining "how" resources will participate in the wholesale market.²⁹ The issue has been expanded by the majority in this matter to include "whether" ESRs must be permitted to participate in the wholesale market by effectively mandating access to distribution facilities.³⁰

12. In short, I would have granted rehearing to find that the Commission exceeded its jurisdiction by prohibiting states from determining whether ESRs could be connected to distribution facilities.³¹

²⁸ EPSA, 136 S. Ct. at 776.

²⁹ This position was argued by some in their requests for rehearing or clarification of Order No. 841. *See*, *e.g.*, NARUC Request for Rehearing at 6.

³⁰ The issue of whether ESR functions as generation, and therefore is subject to state jurisdiction for construction, siting, and permitting was not addressed by the Storage Orders.

³¹ Additionally, I am concerned that the Commission's denial of rehearing on these issues may be perceived as impermissible commandeering of the states to implement federal policy, which is prohibited by the Constitution. The Storage Orders do not merely pre-empt state authority, but require states to act in or to implement the Commission's direction to permit ESRs to connect to distribution facilities or face untenable impacts to retail electric service. See infra pt. II.A. Most local distribution systems are considered public utilities whose rates, terms and conditions are regulated by the state. This means that integration of ESRs – including safety and reliability standards as acknowledged by Order No. 841-A – will require review and action by the states before the distribution utility may implement the Commission's order. See Order No. 841-A, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154 at P 42 (acknowledging that states have jurisdiction over the interconnections of certain resources to the distribution system and the requirements reasonably related to those interconnections). It is also possible that a state law may need to be changed so as to permit ESRs to connect to the distribution facilities. Our structure of government under the Constitution prohibits the federal government from requiring states to enact statutes or to regulate on its behalf. See New York v. United States, 505 U.S. 144, 175-76 (1992); Printz v. United States, 521 U.S. 898, 935 (1997).

II. The Commission Should Have Exercised its Discretion to Include an Opt-Out Provision for the States

- 13. Regardless of whether the Commission has jurisdiction over ESRs connected to distribution facilities, I would have supported the Commission exercising its discretion to provide an opt-out provision for the states.
- 14. The majority today also relies on the Commission's order in *AEE* to support their decision to not provide states with an opt-out in Order No. 841.³² In *AEE*, the Commission considered a request for a declaratory ruling that, among other things, found the Commission had exclusive jurisdiction under the FPA to regulate the participation of certain EERs in wholesale electricity markets and that the states lacked the authority to bar or otherwise interfere with the participation of EERs in those markets. The Commission found that it had exclusive jurisdiction "over the participation of EERs in wholesale markets[, and] that RERRAs may not bar, restrict, or otherwise condition the participation of EERs in wholesale electricity markets unless the Commission expressly gives RERRAs such authority"³³ The Commission also found that Order No. 719 did not require that an opt-out be provided to a state related to the sale of EERs into the wholesale electricity markets.³⁴
- 15. Importantly, however, the Commission recognized in *AEE* that we "ha[ve] discretion to decide whether to grant states an opt-out from allowing participation of EERs in wholesale electricity markets." Moreover, in describing its decision in *AEE* not to provide an opt-out to the states with respect to EERs as it did with DR (as discussed in *EPSA*), the Commission also observed that "[u]nlike demand response resources, EERs are not likely to present the same operational and day-to-day planning complexity that might otherwise interfere with [a Load Serving Entity's] day-to-day operations." As set forth below, the Commission's observations in *AEE* persuade me that it would have been appropriate to provide an opt-out to the states in the Storage Orders.
- 16. Therefore, while the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction in this matter was inappropriate in my view, even if the Commission had jurisdiction over the participation

³² Order No. 841-A, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154 at PP 37, 50.

³³ AEE, 161 FERC ¶ 61,245 at P 57.

 $^{^{34}}$ *Id*.

³⁵ *Id*. P 62.

³⁶ *Id.* P 63.

in the wholesale markets of ESRs connected to the distribution system or behind-themeter, the Commission could have achieved a more just result by exercising its discretion to offer the states an opt-out provision. As I noted above, among those requesting rehearing in response to the Commission's failure to include an opt-out in the Storage Orders was NARUC, which represents the views of the state utility commissions. In addition, EEI, APPA, AMP, and NRECA similarly challenged the Commission's failure in Order No. 841 to include an opt-out. The memberships of these entities combined represent the vast majority of load serving entities in the United States. It is important to take their concerns seriously and to address them.

A. <u>An Opt-Out Provision Would Reduce the ESR-Related Burden on</u> States and Local Utilities

- 17. The Storage Orders will likely result in day-to-day operational impacts on the distribution system greater than those presented by EERs or DR, but without providing states an opportunity to avoid these impacts by allowing them to opt-out. In my view, there are fundamental differences between DR and EERs, on the one hand, and ESRs on the other. As noted above, DRs and EERs reflect a customer's decision voluntarily not to consume electric energy, whereas ESRs reflect an injection (generation) or consumption (load) of energy from behind-the-meter and onto distribution facilities. An ESR's activity quite literally pushes or pulls energy across the distribution facilities and thereby has a very real physical impact on the distribution system. The physical nature of an ESR's activities may impact the operations of distribution-level facilities as well as their safety and reliability in a manner that DR's and EERs' voluntary decision not to consume electricity does not. As noted in comments filed in this record, voluntary customer reductions in load have a very different impact on the distribution system from the "bidirectional trafficking of energy across the distribution grid" of ESRs.³⁷ The real physical and operational impacts ESRs have on the distribution system in my estimation weigh in favor of the Commission exercising its discretion to provide an opt-out to the states in this matter.
- 18. I am concerned that the Storage Orders potentially will create complications for, and impact the day-to-day operations and management of, the distribution system as well as its safety and reliability in a manner that is in fact *greater* than the impact of demand response resources because ESRs actually inject energy into the system. One commenter in its request for rehearing recognized that states "should be entitled to *more* deference with respect to electric storage resources that inject power into the distribution system and can dramatically re-shape load curves, thereby creating more significant operational, safety, and reliability concerns for retail customer interconnections and

³⁷ See Xcel, Comments, Docket Nos. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000, at 8 (filed Feb. 13, 2018).

distribution systems."³⁸ Similarly, another set of commenters argued, "[b]ecause ESRs can inject energy into the grid, unlike demand response, there is arguably an even greater need for preservation of the states' authority over rules for participation in order to 'maintain the safety and the reliability of the distribution system or their use of [ESRs] on their systems."³⁹ These comments identify material operational concerns as well as hardships in guaranteeing the safety and reliability of the distribution system that under observations made in *AEE* weigh in favor of exercising the Commission's discretion for providing an opt-out provision in the Storage Orders.

- 19. We must also consider that the operational, safety and reliability concerns highlighted by commenters may increase costs to the states or distribution utilities and, ultimately, to consumers. Order No. 841 holds that "state responsibilities include, among other things, retail services and matters related to the distribution system, including design, operations, power quality, reliability, and system costs." However, the majority in Order No. 841-A dismisses the issue of increased cost on the distribution system as "outside the scope of this proceeding" and argues that "we are not changing the responsibilities of the distribution utilities." I disagree. Based on the record, it is clear that many parties feel strongly that the Storage Orders do in fact increase their responsibilities, and if the majority does not want to address these issues in this proceeding, then they should at least provide an option for states to avoid these costs by opting out.
- 20. As one party noted in its request for rehearing, the Storage Orders "impose significant new costs on distribution companies and raise questions about cost recovery from retail customers in retail rates to accommodate the wholesale market participation of electric storage resources[,]"⁴² and "distribution utilities will be required to allow storage resources to use their wires to transmit energy to and from the electric transmission grid, imposing new stresses on the distribution system and imposing added costs on the distribution utilities."⁴³ Yet, instead of confronting issues involving new stressors to

³⁸ TAPS Request for Rehearing at 4 (emphasis in original).

 $^{^{39}}$ APA, APPA, & NRECA Request for Rehearing at 15 (quoting Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 36).

⁴⁰ Order No. 841, 162 FERC ¶ 61,127 at P 36.

⁴¹ Order No. 841-A, 167 FERC ¶ 61,154 at P 156.

⁴² Xcel Request for Rehearing at 9.

⁴³ *Id*.

distribution systems arising from ESRs – including injections of energy at the distribution level – the majority merely repeats the fact that distribution companies and states will still regulate safety and reliability. But the majority misses the point, as those safety and reliability regulations can be challenging and expensive tasks. For example, in discussing the 100 kW minimum size threshold for participation, EEI expressed concerns with the potential impacts of an influx of ESRs:

There is concern that the number of ESRs that could potentially seek to participate in the wholesale market at the proposed threshold could become so voluminous that they: 1) exceed the ability of RTOs/ISOs to manage this volume of resources, 2) exceed the ability of [distribution utilities] to address various reliability, operational and interconnection mat[t]ers given that smaller resources are far more likely to interconnect to distribution, and 3) impose implementation costs significantly greater than corresponding benefits, particularly in regions where resources of the 100 kW size have other "compensation" options such as net energy metering. ⁴⁵

- 21. The majority also should not dismiss concerns over equity or cost allocation. When a distribution utility is concerned that it "will need to harden the underlying distribution system to support bidirectional power flows and pay for substantial metering upgrades"⁴⁶ to accommodate ESRs, and that the associated costs "could be trapped at the distribution level and allocated to end-users rather than wholesale market participants[,]"⁴⁷ in my view the Commission should not flatly disclaim involvement. The majority is willing to assert jurisdiction over the distribution system through the participation model, but they are unwilling to confront or take responsibility for the practical ramifications of their decisions.
- 22. Given the complexities and uncertainties mentioned above, the Commission should have included an opt-out provision. Further, the fact that ESR-related costs may not yet be well-known and may come in different forms (e.g., potential upgrades to

⁴⁴ Order No. 841, 162 FERC \P 61,127 at P 36; Order 841-A, 167 FERC \P 61,154 at P 46. As noted *supra* in footnote 31, the imposition of this burden by the Commission raises potential questions of unconstitutional commandeering of the states.

⁴⁵ EEI Request for Rehearing at 9.

⁴⁶ Xcel Request for Rehearing at 23.

⁴⁷ *Id.* at 24.

components of the distribution system, increased administrative effort and time on the part of distribution utilities and states, etc.) supports the argument for an opt-out provision. It is these potential problems that provide the Commission with the reason to exercise its discretion to provide the states an opt-out provision with respect to ESRs.

B. <u>An Opt-Out Provision Would Improve Transparency and Allow Non-</u> Participating States to Experiment and Innovate

- 23. Further, Order No. 841 has the potential to stymie innovation in ESRs behind-themeter or connected at the distribution level. NARUC filed comments stating that "[u]tility-scale energy storage is now shifting from a few experimental programs to prominent State-prompted deployments such as those in California, with more and more States looking expand the use of energy storage resources" and urging the Commission to "avoid inhibiting State efforts to build on these successful installations and encourage system operators to include storage in their integrated planning." As with other policy approaches under a system of cooperative federalism, in my view it is important for the Commission to acknowledge that we do not have all the answers, and states play a vital role as policy laboratories when it comes to broad initiatives that have significant state-by-state details to be ironed out. Further, in general, I believe it is unwise for a federal administrative agency to implement a top-down policy when the needs of a state or distribution utility call for a tailored approach.
- 24. Finally, one of the important obligations of our government is to provide and encourage transparency to citizens as to who in government is responsible to the people. In the complex and overlapping jurisdictions of electricity, a retail customer with a complaint or question about his or her bill or service may find it difficult to know whom to contact about that service. When service involves the distribution system, it is natural for a customer to call the local utility or the state public utility commission. The Commission should be cognizant that, by denying states an opt-out provision with respect to the Storage Orders, the majority is not only placing a burden on the distribution utility or the state to address any impacts of ESRs on the distribution system, they are in effect asking the distribution utility or state to take ownership of and accountability for that burden.

III. Conclusion

25. I firmly believe that, within the correct regulatory and policy framework, ESRs have the potential to transform the electricity industry by unlocking significant economic and market efficiency benefits. And I firmly support the efforts of the Storage Orders to

⁴⁸ NARUC Request for Rehearing at 8.

 $^{^{49}}Id.$

Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001

- 13 -

promote the participation of ESRs in the wholesale markets. However, as I stated above, I read our jurisdictional authority differently than the majority, and I would have granted rehearing of Order No. 841 on the issues of jurisdiction and exercising the Commission's discretion to include an opt-out provision for states related to ESRs located behind-themeter or connected to distribution facilities.

For these reasons, I respectfully concur in part and dissent in part.

Bernard L. McNamee Commissioner

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIRCUIT

AMERICAN PUBLIC POWER ASSOCIATION,)
NATIONAL RURAL ELECTRIC)
COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATION,)
EDISON ELECTRIC INSTITUTE, and)
AMERICAN MUNICIPAL POWER, INC.,)
Petitioners,)))
V.) No
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION,)))
Respondent.	,)

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure and Circuit Rule 26.1, the American Public Power Association ("APPA"), National Rural Electric Cooperative Association ("NRECA"), Edison Electric Institute ("EEI") and American Municipal Power, Inc. ("AMP") state as follows:

APPA is a not-for-profit national service organization representing interests of not-for-profit, community owned electric utilities throughout the United States. It has no parent company, subsidiaries or affiliates. APPA has no outstanding shares or debt securities in the hands of the public, and no publicly-owned company has a 10% or greater ownership interest in APPA.

NRECA is the national trade association representing the nation's nearly 900 local, not-for-profit electric cooperatives. It has no parent company, no outstanding shares or debt securities in the hands of the public, and no publicly-owned company has a 10% or greater ownership interest in NRECA.

EEI is a national association of investor-owned electric utility companies. It has no parent company, subsidiaries or affiliates. EEI has no outstanding shares or debt securities in the hands of the public, and no publicly-owned company has a 10% or greater ownership interest in EEI.

AMP is a non-profit service organization representing the interests of municipal electric utilities in Indiana, Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia, and a joint action agency in Delaware. While AMP issues no stock, it has issued debt securities to the public for the financing of its own assets and assets developed on behalf of its members. AMP has no parent corporation. No publicly-owned company has a 10% or greater ownership interest in AMP.

Respectfully submitted,

s/Dennis Lane
Dennis Lane
M. Denyse Zosa
Stinson LLP
1775 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 800
Washington, D.C. 20006
(202) 785-9100
(202) 785-9163 (fax)
dennis.lane@stinson.com
denyse.zosa@stinson.com

Counsel for American Public Power Association, National Rural Electric Cooperative Association, Edison Electric Institute and American Municipal Power, Inc.

Dated: July 15, 2019

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to Rule 15(c) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, I hereby certify that I have this 15th day of July, 2019, caused to be served copies of the foregoing Petition for Review and Corporate Disclosure Statement by first class mail, postage prepaid to:

Ms. Kimberly D. Bose, Secretary Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 888 First Street, N.E. Washington, D.C. 20426

Robert Solomon, Solicitor Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 888 First Street, N.E. Washington, D.C. 20426

and by e-mail on all the parties on the Commission's service list in the underlying proceeding in Docket Nos. RM16-23-001 and AD16-20-001. (Service lists are attached.)

s/ Dennis Lane

DB04/0808616.0014/13169666.1

FOR DOCKET NOS. RM16-23-000 and AD16-20-000

FERC Online - Web Applications of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission



FERC Online Home
About FERC Online

Log Out

Edit Registration

Company Registration

eFiling

eSubscription

eComment

Query Mailing List/Recipients by State

Query Service List

My Service List

eLibrary

eTariff Viewer

Help

Mail List for RM16-23-000 Electric Storage Participation in Markets Operated by Regional Transmission Organizations and Independent System Operators

Independent System (·	
Party	Primary Person or Counsel of Record to be Served	Other Contact to be Served
Amanda Drabek	Amanda Drabek 1300 mission creek longview, TEXAS 75601 UNITED STATES	
Matthew d'Alessio	Matthew d'Alessio 16908 Kinzie St Northridge, CALIFORNIA 91343 UNITED STATES	
Benjamin Kingston	Benjamin Kingston 5400 Playa Vista Dr. #10 Playa Vista, CALIFORNIA 90094 UNITED STATES	
Lyla Fadali	Lyla Fadali 1333 Federal Ave Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA 90025 UNITED STATES	
Antonio Anselmo	Antonio Anselmo Dr. 2005 Palmer Avenue #202 Larchmont, NEW YORK 10538 UNITED STATES	
Melissa Gough	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776 UNITED STATES	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776
Amanda Drabek	Amanda Drabek 1300 mission creek longview, TEXAS 75601 UNITED STATES	
Matthew d'Alessio	Matthew d'Alessio 16908 Kinzie St Northridge, CALIFORNIA 91343 UNITED STATES	
Benjamin Kingston	Benjamin Kingston 5400 Playa Vista Dr. #10 Playa Vista, CALIFORNIA 90094 UNITED STATES	
Lyla Fadali	Lyla Fadali 1333 Federal Ave Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA 90025 UNITED STATES	
Antonio Anselmo	Antonio Anselmo Dr. 2005 Palmer Avenue #202 Larchmont, NEW YORK 10538 UNITED STATES	
Melissa Gough	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776 UNITED STATES	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776
Advanced Energy	J. Porter Wiseman Attorney	

Mailing List/Recipients By State		
Economy	Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP 1333 New Hampshire Ave. NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Economy	J. Porter Wiseman Attorney Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP 1333 New Hampshire Ave. NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Management Alliance	Richard Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Management Alliance	Katherine Hamilton Principal 1200 18th Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Management Alliance	Richard Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Management Alliance	Katherine Hamilton Principal 1200 18th Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Microgrid Solutions	Maribeth Bushey Advanced Microgrid Solutions 25 Stillman St San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94107 UNITED STATES	Maribeth Bushey Advanced Microgrid Solutions 25 Stillman St San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94107
Advanced Microgrid Solutions	Maribeth Bushey Advanced Microgrid Solutions 25 Stillman St San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94107 UNITED STATES	Maribeth Bushey Advanced Microgrid Solutions 25 Stillman St San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94107
AES Distributed Energy	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES Distributed Energy	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	20004 UNITED STATES	
AES Energy Storage, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES Energy Storage, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES ES Tait, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP .401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES ES Tait, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP .401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AF Mensah Inc.	Wayne Wittman Head of Governmental Affairs One North Johnston Ave Suite 208 Hamilton, NEW JERSEY 08609 UNITED STATES	
AF Mensah Inc.	Wayne Wittman Head of Governmental Affairs One North Johnston Ave Suite 208 Hamilton, NEW JERSEY 08609 UNITED STATES	
Affirmed Energy LLC	Angela Fox 112 S Duke Street Suite 1 Durham, NORTH CAROLINA 27701 UNITED STATES	
Affirmed Energy LLC	Angela Fox 112 S Duke Street Suite 1 Durham, NORTH CAROLINA 27701 UNITED STATES	
American Public Power Association		Delia D. Patterson, ESQ General Counsel American Public Power Association 2451 Crystal Drive Suite 1000 Arlinton, VIRGINIA 22202
American Public Power Association		Adrienne E Clair Thompson Coburn LLP Thompson Coburn LLP

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
		1909 K Street NW
		Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
		20006 Delia D. Patterson, ESQ
American Public		General Counsel
Power		American Public Power Association
Association		2451 Crystal Drive Suite 1000
		Arlinton, VIRGINIA 22202
		Adrienne E Clair
Associates Deletis		Thompson Coburn LLP
American Public Power		Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street NW
Association		Suite 600
		Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
	eugene grace	
American Wind	Regulatory Attorney 1501 M St NW, Ste 1000	
Energy Association	washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	
ASSOCIATION	20005 UNITED STATES	
	eugene grace	
American Wind	Regulatory Attorney 1501 M St NW, Ste 1000	
Energy Association	washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	
ASSOCIATION	20005	
	UNITED STATES	
A 1	Randolph Hightower Commission Counsel	Justin E Craig
Arkansas Public Service	Arkansas Public Service Commission	Attorney Specialist Arkansas Public Service Commission
Commission	1000 Center Street Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72201	1000 Center Street
	UNITED STATES	Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72201
Arkansas Public		Keith Berry
Service Commission		38 River Ridge Circle Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72227
Arkansas Public		Entire Rock, Alkie World 72227
Service		Glen Ortman
Commission	David Division in	
	Paul Dumais Director of Regulatory	
Avangrid, Inc.	Avangrid Service Company	
Avangna, me.	89 East Avenue	
	Rochester, NEW YORK 14649 UNITED STATES	
	Paul Dumais	
	Director of Regulatory	
Avangrid, Inc.	Avangrid Service Company 89 East Avenue	
	Rochester, NEW YORK 14649	
	UNITED STATES	
	Aaron Bullwinkel Bullwinkel & Brooks, LLC	Christopher J Hebert
Beacon Power, LLC	2 Lan Drive	Director, Strategy & Finance 65 Middlesex Road
	Westford, MASSACHUSETTS 01886 UNITED STATES	Tyngsboro, MASSACHUSETTS 01879
	Aaron Bullwinkel	Christopher J Hebert
Beacon Power,	Bullwinkel & Brooks, LLC 2 Lan Drive	Director, Strategy & Finance
LLC	Westford, MASSACHUSETTS 01886	65 Middlesex Road
	UNITED STATES	Tyngsboro, MASSACHUSETTS 01879
Brookfield Renewable	Steve Zuretti Director, Regulatory Affairs-	
Renewable	Director, Negulatory Arrans-	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Energy Group	Brookfield Energy Marketing Inc. 6171 Ruby Pl Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA 90042	
	UNITED STATES	
Brookfield Renewable Energy Group	Steve Zuretti Director, Regulatory Affairs- Brookfield Energy Marketing Inc. 6171 Ruby Pl Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA 90042 UNITED STATES	
California Energy Storage Alliance	Donald Liddell Attorney Douglass & Liddell, an association of professional corporations 2928 2nd Ave. San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92103 UNITED STATES	
California Energy Storage Alliance	Donald Liddell Attorney Douglass & Liddell, an association of professional corporations 2928 2nd Ave. San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92103 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Anna McKenna Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	e-recipient Legal and Regulatory California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Anna McKenna Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Andrew Ulmer Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Anna McKenna Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	e-recipient Legal and Regulatory California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Anna McKenna Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Andrew Ulmer Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
California Municipal Utilities Association	Charles Braun Braun & Blaising, P.C. 915 L Street Suite 1270 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
California Municipal Utilities Association	Charles Braun Braun & Blaising, P.C. 915 L Street Suite 1270 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Center for Biological Diversity	Chad Tudenggongbu Senior Renewable Energy Campai 9 Middle Street 2 Floor Hadley, MASSACHUSETTS 01035 UNITED STATES	
Center for Biological Diversity	Chad Tudenggongbu Senior Renewable Energy Campai 9 Middle Street 2 Floor Hadley, MASSACHUSETTS 01035 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	A
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	John Borchert Manager, Elec. Engr. Services 284 South Ave Poughkeepsie, NEW YORK 12601 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	A
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	John Borchert Manager, Elec. Engr. Services 284 South Ave Poughkeepsie, NEW YORK 12601 UNITED STATES	
City of New York, New York	Amanda De Vito Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway, Suite 7 Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	Kevin M Lang Partner, Couch White, LLP Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway Albany, NEW YORK 12207
City of New York, New York	Amanda De Vito Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway, Suite 7 Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	Kevin M Lang Partner, Couch White, LLP Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway Albany, NEW YORK 12207
Connecticut Department of Energy & Environmental Protection	Robert Snook Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06106 UNITED STATES	
Connecticut	Robert Snook	

	Maning List (colpietts by etate	
Department of Energy & Environmental Protection	Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06106 UNITED STATES	
Connecticut Public Utilities Regulatory Authority	Clare Kindall Assistant Attorney General Office of Attorney General 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	
Connecticut Public Utilities Regulatory Authority	Clare Kindall Assistant Attorney General Office of Attorney General 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	
Connecticut Public Utilities Regulatory Authority	Clare Kindall Assistant Attorney General Office of Attorney General 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	
Connecticut Public Utilities Regulatory Authority	Clare Kindall Assistant Attorney General Office of Attorney General 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	.
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Consumers Energy Company	Emerson Hilton Consumers Energy Company	Steven L Gaarde Director of Transmission and R 1945 W Parnall Rd P12-707A Jackson, MICHIGAN 49201
CPUC	Christopher Clay Legal Counsel Public Utilities Commission of The State of California 505 Van Ness Ave.	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94102 UNITED STATES	
CPUC	Christopher Clay Legal Counsel Public Utilities Commission of The State of California 505 Van Ness Ave. San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94102 UNITED STATES	
CT Department of Energy & Environmental Protection	Peggy Diaz Attorney CT Department of Energy & Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	Robert Snook Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06106
CT Department of Energy & Environmental Protection	Peggy Diaz Attorney CT Department of Energy & Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06051 UNITED STATES	Robert Snook Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection 10 Franklin Square New Britain, CONNECTICUT 06106
Delaware Public Service Commission		Joseph DeLosa, III Public Utility Analyst Delaware Public Service Commission 861 Silver Lake Blvd. Cannon Bldg. Suite 100 Dover, DELAWARE 19904
Delaware Public Service Commission		Joseph DeLosa, III Public Utility Analyst Delaware Public Service Commission 861 Silver Lake Blvd. Cannon Bldg. Suite 100 Dover, DELAWARE 19904
DER and Storage Developers	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
DER and Storage Developers	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	A
DER and Storage Developers	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	4
DER and Storage Developers	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
Dominion Resources Services, Inc.	Cheri Yochelson Senior Counsel Dominion Energy Services, Inc. 120 Tredegar Street, RS-2	Lou Oberski Dir Electric Market Policy Dominion Resources Services, Inc.

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Richmond, VIRGINIA 23219 UNITED STATES	PO Box 25615 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23260-5615
Dominion Resources Services, Inc.	Wesley Walker Assistant General Counsel Dominion Companies PO Box 25615 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23260-5615 UNITED STATES	
Dominion Resources Services, Inc.	Cheri Yochelson Senior Counsel Dominion Energy Services, Inc. 120 Tredegar Street, RS-2 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23219 UNITED STATES	Lou Oberski Dir Electric Market Policy Dominion Resources Services, Inc. PO Box 25615 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23260-5615
Dominion Resources Services, Inc.	Wesley Walker Assistant General Counsel Dominion Companies PO Box 25615 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23260-5615 UNITED STATES	
DTE Electric Company	Jon Christinidis Attorney DTE Energy Company One Energy Plaza Detroit, MICHIGAN 48226 UNITED STATES	Rosemary Smalls-Tilford Regulatory Consultant DTE Energy Company 1 Energy Plaza WCB 1040 Detroit, MICHIGAN 48226
DTE Electric Company	Jon Christinidis Attorney DTE Energy Company One Energy Plaza Detroit, MICHIGAN 48226 UNITED STATES	Rosemary Smalls-Tilford Regulatory Consultant DTE Energy Company 1 Energy Plaza WCB 1040 Detroit, MICHIGAN 48226
Duke Energy Corporation	Sheri May Associate General Counsel INDIVIDUAL 139 East Fourth St. Cincinnati, OHIO 45202 UNITED STATES	
Duke Energy Corporation	Sheri May Associate General Counsel INDIVIDUAL 139 East Fourth St. Cincinnati, OHIO 45202 UNITED STATES	
Renewables	Bruce Grabow ICC Energy Corporation 701 East Street N.W. Wash, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 75206 UNITED STATES	
Renewables	Bruce Grabow ICC Energy Corporation 701 East Street N.W. Wash, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 75206 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402 Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402 Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402 Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
Eagle Crest Energy Company	Mark Williams Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 1111 Pennsylvania Avenue NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	
Eagle Crest Energy Company	William Kissinger Attorney Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP Morgan, Lewis & Bockius One Market, Spear Street Tower San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES	
Eagle Crest Energy Company	Mark Williams Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 1111 Pennsylvania Avenue NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	
Eagle Crest Energy Company	William Kissinger Attorney Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP Morgan, Lewis & Bockius One Market, Spear Street Tower San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES	
Edison Electric Institute	Lopa Parikh Edison Electric Institute 701 Pennsylvania Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004-2696 UNITED STATES	1
Edison Electric Institute	Lopa Parikh Edison Electric Institute 701 Pennsylvania Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004-2696 UNITED STATES	
Efficient Holdings, LLC	Richard Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Richard A. Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Efficient Holdings, LLC	Richard Drom Member	Richard A. Drom Member

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Electric Power Supply Association	Nancy Bagot Vice President Electric Power Supply Association 1401 New York Ave. NW 11th FLoor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Electric Power Supply Association	Nancy Bagot Vice President Electric Power Supply Association 1401 New York Ave. NW 11th FLoor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Electricity Consumers Resource Council	W. Richard Bidstrup Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Ave, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	
Electricity Consumers Resource Council	W. Richard Bidstrup Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Ave, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	
Energy Storage Association	Andrew Kaplan Pierce Atwood LLP 100 Summer Street Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 02110 UNITED STATES	
Energy Storage Association	Andrew Kaplan Pierce Atwood LLP 100 Summer Street Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 02110 UNITED STATES	
EPRI	Erik Ela Electric Power Research Instit Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) 9430 Hillview Ave Palo Alto, CALIFORNIA 94304 UNITED STATES	
EPRI	Erik Ela Electric Power Research Instit Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) 9430 Hillview Ave Palo Alto, CALIFORNIA 94304 UNITED STATES	
Exelon Corporation	Christopher Wilson Director, Federal Regulatory A Exelon Corporation 101 Constitution Ave, NW Suite 400E Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	

Mailing List/Recipients By State		
	20001 UNITED STATES	
Exelon Corporation	Christopher Wilson Director, Federal Regulatory A Exelon Corporation 101 Constitution Ave, NW Suite 400E Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
FirstLight Power Resources, Inc	Marc Silver	
FirstLight Power Resources, Inc	Concord, MASSACHUSETTS 01742 UNITED STATES	
Fluidic Energy	Kelly Daly Partner SNELL & WILMER 400 East Van Buren Street Suite 1900 Phoenix, ARIZONA 85004 UNITED STATES	Katie Avila Fluidic Energy Fluidic Energy 8455 N. 90th Street Scottsdale, ARIZONA 85258
Fluidic Energy	Kelly Daly Partner SNELL & WILMER 400 East Van Buren Street Suite 1900 Phoenix, ARIZONA 85004 UNITED STATES	Katie Avila Fluidic Energy Fluidic Energy 8455 N. 90th Street Scottsdale, ARIZONA 85258
Fresh Energy	Laura Hannah Sr. Policy Associate Fresh Energy 408 St. Peter Street Ste 220 St. Paul, MINNESOTA 55102 UNITED STATES	
Fresh Energy	Laura Hannah Sr. Policy Associate Fresh Energy 408 St. Peter Street Ste 220 St. Paul, MINNESOTA 55102 UNITED STATES	
Genbright LLC	Joseph Crespo 18 Shipyard Dr Suite 2A Hingham, MASSACHUSETTS 02043 UNITED STATES	
Genbright LLC	Joseph Crespo 18 Shipyard Dr Suite 2A Hingham, MASSACHUSETTS 02043 UNITED STATES	
GridWise Alliance	Ladeene Freimuth Policy Director GridWise Alliance 1750 16th Street NW Unit 24 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
GridWise	Ladeene Freimuth	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Alliance	Policy Director GridWise Alliance 1750 16th Street NW Unit 24 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	\
Harvard Environmental Policy Initiative	-Ari Peskoe Senior Fellow in Electricity L Harvard Environmental Policy Initiative 6 Everett St Suite 4119 Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02138 UNITED STATES	
Harvard Environmental Policy Initiative	Ari Peskoe Senior Fellow in Electricity L Harvard Environmental Policy Initiative 6 Everett St Suite 4119 Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02138 UNITED STATES	
Imperial Irrigation District	Michael Postar Attorney Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 1667 K Street, N.W., Suite 700 Duncan Weinberg Genzer & Pembroke Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Maxine Ray Chatman Legal Secretary INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
Imperial Irrigation District	Joshua Adrian INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Robert A. Laurie Assistant General Counsel,Ener Imperial Irrigation District P.O. Box 937 Imperial, CALIFORNIA 92251-0937
Imperial Irrigation District	Sean Neal Attorney Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 915 L Street Suite 1410 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Imperial Irrigation District	Michael Postar Attorney Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 1667 K Street, N.W., Suite 700 Duncan Weinberg Genzer & Pembroke Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Maxine Ray Chatman Legal Secretary INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Imperial Irrigation District	Joshua Adrian INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Robert A. Laurie Assistant General Counsel,Ener Imperial Irrigation District P.O. Box 937 Imperial, CALIFORNIA 92251-0937
Imperial Irrigation	Sean Neal Attorney	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
District	Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 915 L Street Suite 1410 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Independent Energy Producers Association	Steven Kelly Independent Energy Producers Association 1215 K Street Suite 900 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Independent Energy Producers Association	Steven Kelly Independent Energy Producers Association 1215 K Street Suite 900 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Indianapolis Power & Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
Indianapolis Power & Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
INDIVIDUAL	Robert Borlick Energy Consultant 6659 Hillandale Road Chevy Chase, MARYLAND 20815 UNITED STATES	
INDIVIDUAL	Robert Borlick Energy Consultant 6659 Hillandale Road Chevy Chase, MARYLAND 20815 UNITED STATES	
Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law	Denise Grab Senior Attorney Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law Institute for Policy Integrity, NYU School of Law, Wilf 139 MacDougal Street, Third Floor New York, NEW YORK 10012 UNITED STATES	
Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law	Denise Grab Senior Attorney Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law Institute for Policy Integrity, NYU School of Law, Wilf 139 MacDougal Street, Third Floor New York, NEW YORK 10012 UNITED STATES	
Invenergy Storage Development LLC	Nicole Luckey Invenergy LLC 1 South Wacker Suite 1800	Alex Ma Invenergy LLC One South Wacker Drive Suite 1900 Chicago, ILLINOIS 60606

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Chicago, ILLINOIS 60606 UNITED STATES	
Invenergy Storage Development LLC	Nicole Luckey Invenergy LLC 1 South Wacker Suite 1800 Chicago, ILLINOIS 60606 UNITED STATES	Alex Ma Invenergy LLC One South Wacker Drive Suite 1900 Chicago, ILLINOIS 60606
IPKeys Technologies LLC	Robert Nawy Managing Director & CFO, IPKEY 2 Christopher Way Eatontown, NEW JERSEY 07724 UNITED STATES	
IPKeys Technologies LLC	Robert Nawy Managing Director & CFO, IPKEY 2 Christopher Way Eatontown, NEW JERSEY 07724 UNITED STATES	
ISO New England Inc.	Kerim May INDIVIDUAL One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040- 2841 UNITED STATES	Julie A Horgan eTariff Coordinator One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda M Morrison Docket Administrator ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Rd Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda Maile-Smith Legal Administrative Assistant ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.	Margoth Caley ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040 UNITED STATES	
ISO New England Inc.	Kerim May INDIVIDUAL One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040- 2841 UNITED STATES	Julie A Horgan eTariff Coordinator One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda M Morrison Docket Administrator ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Rd Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda Maile-Smith Legal Administrative Assistant ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.	Margoth Caley ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040 UNITED STATES	
Magnum CAES, LLC	Joseph Pennington Attorney at Law INDIVIDUAL Georgetown Place 1101 30th Street, NW, Suite 500	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20007	
	UNITED STATES	
	Joseph Pennington	
	Attorney at Law	
Magnum CAEC	INDIVIDUAL	
LLC	Georgetown Place 1101 30th Street, NW, Suite 500	
LLC	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	
	20007	
	UNITED STATES	
	Michael Douglas	
	MANITOBA HYDRO-ELECTRIC BOARD 360 Portage Ave	
Manitoba Hydro	22nd Floor	
	Winnipeg, MANITOBA R3C2P4	
	CANADA	
	Michael Douglas MANITOBA HYDRO-ELECTRIC BOARD	
Manaikalaa III. dua	360 Portage Ave	
Manitoba Hydro	22nd Floor	
	Winnipeg, MANITOBA R3C2P4	
	CANADA Miles Mitchell	
	Deputy General Counsel	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Maryland Public	6 St. Paul Street	Carolyn A Mcintosh, ESQ
Service	16th Floor, William Donald Schaefer	Deputy attorney general 124 Halsey street
Commission	Tower	Newark, NEW JERSEY 07631
	Baltimore, MARYLAND 21202 UNITED STATES	
	Miles Mitchell	
	Deputy General Counsel	Carolyn A Mcintosh, ESQ
Maryland Public Service	6 St. Paul Street	Deputy attorney general
Commission	16th Floor, William Donald Schaefer Tower	124 Halsey street
	Baltimore, MARYLAND 21202	Newark, NEW JERSEY 07631
	UNITED STATES	
Massachuetts		Alan Topalian Massachusetts Department of Public
dept. of public		Utilities
utilities		1 South Station
		Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 02110
Massachuetts		Alan Topalian
dept. of public		Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities
utilities		1 South Station
		Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 02110
	Audun Botterud	
	Principal Research Scientist Massachusetts Institute of	
Massachusetts	Technology	
Institute of Technology	77 Massachusetts Ave	
recimology	Bldg. 32, Room D-632	
	Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02139 UNITED STATES	
	Audun Botterud	
Massachusetts	Principal Research Scientist	
	Massachusetts Institute of	
Institute of	Technology 77 Massachusetts Ave	
Technology	Bldg. 32, Room D-632	
	Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02139	
Managalaria	UNITED STATES	
Massachusetts Municipal	David Tuohey Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale	
. iaincipui	. ideadcitasects i famicipal wholesale	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Wholesale Electric Company	Electric Company PO Box 426 Ludlow,MASSACHUSETTS 01056- 0426 UNITED STATES	
Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company	David Tuohey Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric Company PO Box 426 Ludlow,MASSACHUSETTS 01056- 0426 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	stephen kozey Sr. VP, General Counsel and S Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46123 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Michael Kessler MISO PO Box 4202 Carmel, INDIANA 46082 UNITED STATES	Midwest ISO Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. PO Box 4202 Carmel,INDIANA
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Daniel Malabonga Senior Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032 UNITED STATES	Julie Bunn Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Jonathan Tauber Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46033 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	stephen kozey Sr. VP, General Counsel and S Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46123 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Michael Kessler MISO PO Box 4202 Carmel, INDIANA 46082 UNITED STATES	Midwest ISO Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. PO Box 4202 Carmel,INDIANA
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Daniel Malabonga Senior Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032 UNITED STATES	Julie Bunn Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Jonathan Tauber Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46033 UNITED STATES	
Midwest Energy,	, William Dowling	Nicole Ayn Travers, ESQ

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Inc.	V.P. Energy Mgmt Midwest Energy, Inc. 1330 Canterbury Dr. Hays, KANSAS 67601 UNITED STATES	Associate LOEB & LOEB 900 New York Avenue NW Suite 300 E Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
Midwest Energy, Inc.	Richard Lorenzo LOEB & LOEB 901 New York Ave., NW Suite 300 East Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	- A
Midwest Energy, Inc.	William Dowling V.P. Energy Mgmt Midwest Energy, Inc. 1330 Canterbury Dr. Hays, KANSAS 67601 UNITED STATES	Nicole Ayn Travers, ESQ Associate LOEB & LOEB 900 New York Avenue NW Suite 300 E Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
Midwest Energy, Inc.	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance	Matthew Prorok Great Plains Institute 2801 21st Ave S., Suite 220 Minneapolis, MINNESOTA 55407 UNITED STATES	
Minnesota Energy Storage Alliance	Matthew Prorok Great Plains Institute 2801 21st Ave S., Suite 220 Minneapolis, MINNESOTA 55407 UNITED STATES	
MISO Transmission Owners	Wendy Reed Wright & Talisman, PC 1200 G Street, N.W Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
MISO Transmission Owners	Victoria Lauterbach Shareholder Wright & Talisman, P.C. 1200 G Street NW Ste 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	A
MISO Transmission Owners	Wendy Reed Wright & Talisman, PC 1200 G Street, N.W Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	A
MISO Transmission Owners	Victoria Lauterbach Shareholder Wright & Talisman, P.C. 1200 G Street NW Ste 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	A

Rodney Massman Assistant General Counsel Missouri Public Service Commission 200 Madison St. Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65101 UNITED STATES	Shelley S Brueggemann Missouri Bar No. 52173 Missouri Public Service Commission PO Box 360 , 65102
_	Valerie Groose 200 Madison St Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65109
	Jennie Wells Paralegal Missouri Public Service Commission 200 Madison Street Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65101
	John D. Borgmeyer Attorney Missouri Public Service Commission PO Box 360 Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65109
	Curtis R Stokes Missouri Public Service Commission 200 Madison Street Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65102
	Adam McKinnie 200 Madison Street Columbia, MISSOURI 65102
	Walt Cecil
Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
	Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
	Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
	Howard Haas
Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
	Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
	Assistant General Counsel Missouri Public Service Commission 200 Madison St. Jefferson City, MISSOURI 65101 UNITED STATES Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES

	Mailing List/Recipients by State	
Monitoring Analytics, LLC	Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC	_	Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC		Howard Haas
	Gregory Vaudreuil CTO	
Mosaic Power, LLC	Mosaic Power, LLC 45 E. All Saints St Frederick, MARYLAND 21701 UNITED STATES	
Mosaic Power, LLC	Gregory Vaudreuil CTO Mosaic Power, LLC 45 E. All Saints St Frederick, MARYLAND 21701 UNITED STATES	
Motorola Solutions	Frank Korinek Director, Strategy and Standar Motorola Solutions 1301 E. Algonquin Road Schaumburg, ILLINOIS 60196 UNITED STATES	
Motorola Solutions	Frank Korinek Director, Strategy and Standar Motorola Solutions 1301 E. Algonquin Road Schaumburg, ILLINOIS 60196 UNITED STATES	
National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners	Jennifer Murphy Assistant General Counsel National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioner 1101 Vermont Ave., Suite 200 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	James B Ramsay, ESQ
National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners	Jennifer Murphy Assistant General Counsel National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioner 1101 Vermont Ave., Suite 200 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	James B Ramsay, ESQ
National Grid	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	A

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
National Grid	David Lodemore Senior Counsel, National Grid National Grid USA 40 Sylvan Road Waltham, MASSACHUSETTS 02451 UNITED STATES	
National Grid	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
National Grid	David Lodemore Senior Counsel, National Grid National Grid USA 40 Sylvan Road Waltham, MASSACHUSETTS 02451 UNITED STATES	
National Hydropower Association	Jeffrey Leahey Director of Government Affairs National Hydropower Association 25 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 450 Wasington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	David Zayas Director of Regulatory Affairs National Hydropower Association 601 New Jersey Ave. Suite 660 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
National Hydropower Association	Jeffrey Leahey Director of Government Affairs National Hydropower Association 25 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 450 Wasington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	David Zayas Director of Regulatory Affairs National Hydropower Association 601 New Jersey Ave. Suite 660 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
National Rural Electric Cooperative Association	Paul Breakman Attorney National Rural Electric Cooperative Association 1575 Eye Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	Adrienne E Clair Thompson Coburn LLP Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
National Rural Electric Cooperative Association	Paul Breakman Attorney National Rural Electric Cooperative Association 1575 Eye Street, NW Suite 300	Adrienne E Clair Thompson Coburn LLP Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
New England Power Pool Participants Committee	David Doot Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103 UNITED STATES	
New England Power Pool Participants Committee New England	David Doot	Sebastian Lombardi Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103-1212
Power Pool Participants Committee	Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street	21/3

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	-Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103 UNITED STATES	
New England Power Pool Participants Committee	UNITED STATES	Sebastian Lombardi Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103-1212
New England States Committee on Electricity	Benjamin D'Antonio Counsel & Analyst New England States Committee on Electricity New England States Committee on Electricity 655 Longmeadow Street Longmeadow, MASSACHUSETTS 01106 UNITED STATES	
New England States Committee on Electricity	Benjamin D'Antonio Counsel & Analyst New England States Committee on Electricity New England States Committee on Electricity 655 Longmeadow Street Longmeadow, MASSACHUSETTS 01106 UNITED STATES	
New Jersey Board of Public Utilities		Alex Moreau, ESQ Deputy Attorney General Law & Public Safety, Division of Law, 124 Halsey Street P.O. Box 45029 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07101
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd. Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd. Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	joy zimberlin	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd. Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd. Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York	joy zimberlin	

	Mailing List/Recipients by State	
Independent		
System Operator, Inc.		
	Kimberly Harriman SVP, Corporate & Regulatory Af New York Power Authority 123 Main Street White Plains, NEW YORK 10601 UNITED STATES	Nathan D Markey New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl St. Albany, NEW YORK 12207
New York Power Authority	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Glenn Haake Principal Attorney New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl Street Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Kimberly Harriman SVP, Corporate & Regulatory Af New York Power Authority 123 Main Street White Plains, NEW YORK 10601 UNITED STATES	Nathan D Markey New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl St. Albany, NEW YORK 12207
New York Power Authority	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Glenn Haake Principal Attorney New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl Street Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	
New York State Energy Research & Dev. Authority	Noah Shaw General Counsel New York State Energy Research and Development Authority 17 Columbia Circle Albany, NEW YORK 12203 UNITED STATES	
New York State Energy Research & Dev. Authority	Noah Shaw General Counsel New York State Energy Research and Development Authority 17 Columbia Circle Albany, NEW YORK 12203 UNITED STATES	
New York State Public Service Commission	Jay Goodman Assistant Counsel New York State Department of Public Service Three Empire State Plaza Albany, NEW YORK 12223-1350 UNITED STATES	
New York State Public Service Commission	Jay Goodman Assistant Counsel New York State Department of Public	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Service Three Empire State Plaza Albany, NEW YORK 12223-1350 UNITED STATES	
NextEra Energy Resources, LLC	W. Mason Emnett Senior Attorney Florida Power & Light Company 801 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Suite 220 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	
NextEra Energy Resources, LLC	W. Mason Emnett Senior Attorney Florida Power & Light Company 801 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Suite 220 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	\
North American Electric Reliability Corporation	Shamai Elstein Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corporation 1325 G Street Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
North American Electric Reliability Corporation	Lauren Perotti Associate Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corp 1325 G St NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
North American Electric Reliability Corporation	Shamai Elstein Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corporation 1325 G Street Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
North American Electric Reliability Corporation	Lauren Perotti Associate Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corp 1325 G St NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
North Carolina Utilities Commission	Kimberly Duffley Staff Attorney for North Carol North Carolina Utilities Commission 430 Salisbury Street Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27699 UNITED STATES	Kimberly Jean Jones Public Utilities Analyst North Carolina Utilities Commission 430 No Salisbury 4325 Mail Service Ctr Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27699
North Carolina Utilities Commission	Kimberly Duffley Staff Attorney for North Carol North Carolina Utilities Commission 430 Salisbury Street Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27699 UNITED STATES	Kimberly Jean Jones Public Utilities Analyst North Carolina Utilities Commission 430 No Salisbury 4325 Mail Service Ctr Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27699

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	5
NRG Energy, Inc.	Abraham Silverman Assistant General Counsel - Re NRG Energy, Inc. 211 Carnegie Center Drive Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
NRG Energy, Inc.	Jennifer Hsia NRG Energy 211 Carnegie Center Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
NRG Energy, Inc.	Abraham Silverman Assistant General Counsel - Re NRG Energy, Inc. 211 Carnegie Center Drive Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
NRG Energy, Inc.	Jennifer Hsia NRG Energy 211 Carnegie Center Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
Ohio Consumers' Counsel	Kevin Moore Assistant Consumers' Counsel Office of the Ohio Consumers' Counsel 10 West Broad Street Suite 1800 Columbus, OHIO 43215 UNITED STATES	
Ohio Consumers' Counsel	Kevin Moore Assistant Consumers' Counsel Office of the Ohio Consumers' Counsel 10 West Broad Street Suite 1800 Columbus, OHIO 43215 UNITED STATES	
Open Access Technology International, Inc.	Michelle Coon Open Access Technology International Inc 3660 Technology Drive NE Minneapolis, MINNESOTA 55418 UNITED STATES	
Open Access Technology International, Inc.	Michelle Coon Open Access Technology International Inc 3660 Technology Drive NE Minneapolis, MINNESOTA 55418 UNITED STATES	
OpenADR Alliance, Inc.	Rolf Bienert Technical Director OpenADR Alliance, Inc. 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037 UNITED STATES	Barry Haaser Managing Director 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037
OpenADR Alliance, Inc.	Rolf Bienert Technical Director OpenADR Alliance, Inc. 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037 UNITED STATES	Barry Haaser Managing Director 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037
Orange and	Elias Farrah	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES Joshua Konecni	4
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	A
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Organization of MISO States	Tanya Paslawski Executive Director Organization of MISO States 100 Court Avenue Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309 UNITED STATES	Marcus Hawkins 100 Court Ave Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309
Organization of MISO States	Tanya Paslawski Executive Director Organization of MISO States 100 Court Avenue Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309 UNITED STATES	Marcus Hawkins 100 Court Ave Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309
Pacific Gas and Electric Company	Michael Mathai-Jackson Pacific Gas and Electric Company Mail Code B30A P.O. Box 7442 San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94120 UNITED STATES	
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission	James Melia Assistant Counsel Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission PO Box 3265 Harrisburg,PENNSYLVANIA 17105- 3265 UNITED STATES	
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission	James Melia Assistant Counsel Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission PO Box 3265 Harrisburg,PENNSYLVANIA 17105- 3265 UNITED STATES	
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	Steven Pincus Assistant General Counsel - Re PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Blvd.	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State
	Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	CRAIG GLAZER V.P., Federal Gov't Policy PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 1200 G Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	James Burlew Counsel PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Boulevard Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	Steven Pincus Assistant General Counsel - Re PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Blvd. Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	CRAIG GLAZER V.P., Federal Gov't Policy PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 1200 G Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	James Burlew Counsel PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Boulevard Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES
Power Applications and Research Systems, Inc.	Eddie Dehdashti CTO Power Applications and Research Systems, Inc. P.O. Box 193032 San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94119 UNITED STATES
Power Applications and Research Systems, Inc.	Eddie Dehdashti CTO Power Applications and Research Systems, Inc. P.O. Box 193032 San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94119 UNITED STATES
Power Supply Long Island	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES
Power Supply Long Island	Jon Mostel General Counsel & Secretary Long Island Lighting Company d/b/a LIPA 333 Earle Ovington Boulevard Uniondale, NEW YORK 11553 UNITED STATES
Power Supply	Elias Farrah

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Long Island	Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	A
Power Supply Long Island	Jon Mostel General Counsel & Secretary Long Island Lighting Company d/b/a LIPA 333 Earle Ovington Boulevard Uniondale, NEW YORK 11553 UNITED STATES	
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC		Raymond V. DePillo 80 Park Plaza T19 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC		Raymond V. DePillo 80 Park Plaza T19
PSEG Power LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Power LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin	Zachary Ramirez Public Service Commission of W Public Service Commission - Wisconsin 4822 Madison Yards WAy P.O. Box 7854 Madison, WISCONSIN 53707-7854 UNITED STATES	Randel Pilo Assistant Administrator Public Service Commission of Wisconsin 610 N. Whitney Way Madison, WISCONSIN 53705
Public Service Electric and Gas Company	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service Electric and Gas Company		Jodi Moskowitz Gen. Reg. Counsel PSEG Services Corporation 80 Park Plz # T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service Electric and Gas Company	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service		Jodi Moskowitz

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Electric and Gas Company		Gen. Reg. Counsel PSEG Services Corporation 80 Park Plz # T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Utilities Commission of Ohio	Thomas McNamee Assistant Attorney General Ohio Public Utilities Commission 30 East Broad Street 16th fl Columbus, OHIO 43215 UNITED STATES	Lori Sternisha Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 180 East Broad Street 3rd Floor Columbus, OHIO 43215
Public Utilities Commission of Ohio	Thomas McNamee Assistant Attorney General Ohio Public Utilities Commission 30 East Broad Street 16th fl Columbus, OHIO 43215 UNITED STATES	Lori Sternisha Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 180 East Broad Street 3rd Floor Columbus, OHIO 43215
R Street Institute	Devin Hartman R Street Institute 1050 17th St NW #1150 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
R Street Institute	Devin Hartman R Street Institute 1050 17th St NW #1150 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
San Diego County Water Authority	Andrea Altmann San Diego County Water Authority 4677 Overland Ave San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92123 UNITED STATES	
San Diego County Water Authority	Andrea Altmann San Diego County Water Authority 4677 Overland Ave San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92123 UNITED STATES	
Six Cities CA	Margaret McNaul Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Bonnie Susan Blair Attorney Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Six Cities CA		Rebecca Shelton Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W., Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-1167
Six Cities CA	Margaret McNaul Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Bonnie Susan Blair Attorney Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Six Cities CA		Rebecca Shelton Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W., Suite 600

	Mailing List/Recipients by State	
		Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-1167
Solar Energy Industries Association	Katherine Gensler Vice President, Regulatory Aff Solar Energy Industries Association 1425 K Street NW Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	A
Solar Energy Industries Association	Heather Curlee Counsel Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati 701 Fifth Ave, Suite 5100 INC000000445898 Seattle, WASHINGTON 98104 UNITED STATES	
Solar Energy Industries Association	Katherine Gensler Vice President, Regulatory Aff Solar Energy Industries Association 1425 K Street NW Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Solar Energy Industries Association	Heather Curlee Counsel Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati 701 Fifth Ave, Suite 5100 INC000000445898 Seattle, WASHINGTON 98104 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	4
SolarCity Corporation	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	A
SolarCity Corporation	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	\

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001	Λ.
SolarCity Corporation	UNITED STATES Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	
	20009 UNITED STATES Betty Watson	`
SolarCity Corporation	Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
Southern California Edison Company	Rebecca Furman Attorney Southern California Edison Company PO Box 800 Rosemead, CALIFORNIA UNITED STATES	FERC Case Administration Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Ave. Rosemead, CALIFORNIA 91770
Southern California Edison Company	Rebecca Furman Attorney Southern California Edison Company PO Box 800 Rosemead, CALIFORNIA UNITED STATES	FERC Case Administration Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Ave. Rosemead, CALIFORNIA 91770
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.	Paul Suskie Sr. VP Regulatory Policy & Gen Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 415 N. McKinley, Ste 140 Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72205 UNITED STATES	
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.	Christopher Nolen Attorney Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223-4936 UNITED STATES	Michelle L Harris Paralegal III Southwest Power Pool Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223-4936
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.	Paul Suskie Sr. VP Regulatory Policy & Gen Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 415 N. McKinley, Ste 140 Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72205 UNITED STATES	
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.	Christopher Nolen Attorney Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223-4936 UNITED STATES	Michelle L Harris Paralegal III Southwest Power Pool Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223-4936
Starwood Energy Group Global, L.L.C.	Jonathan Gottlieb Partner Eversheds Sutherland (US) LLP 700 Sixth Street, NW, Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001-3980 UNITED STATES	
Starwood Energy Group Global, L.L.C.	Jonathan Gottlieb Partner Eversheds Sutherland (US) LLP	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State
	700 Sixth Street, NW, Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001-3980
Stem, Inc.	UNITED STATES Ted Ko 100 Rollins Road Millbrae, CALIFORNIA 94030 UNITED STATES
Stem, Inc.	Ted Ko 100 Rollins Road Millbrae, CALIFORNIA 94030 UNITED STATES
Stem, Inc.	Ted Ko 100 Rollins Road Millbrae, CALIFORNIA 94030 UNITED STATES
Stem, Inc.	Ted Ko 100 Rollins Road Millbrae, CALIFORNIA 94030 UNITED STATES
Sunrun	Becca Polisuk Assistant General Counsel, Sun Sunrun 595 Market Street 29th Floor San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES
Sunrun	Becca Polisuk Assistant General Counsel, Sun Sunrun 595 Market Street 29th Floor San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES
TechNet	David Toomey Director, Federal Policy & Gov TechNet 805 15th St NW Suite 708 WASHINGTON, DISTRICT OF

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
TechNet	David Toomey Director, Federal Policy & Gov TechNet 805 15th St NW Suite 708 WASHINGTON, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
TeMix Inc.	Edward Cazalet CEO 101 First Street Suite 552 Los Altos, CALIFORNIA 94022 UNITED STATES	
TeMix Inc.	Edward Cazalet CEO 101 First Street Suite 552 Los Altos, CALIFORNIA 94022 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
The Dayton Power and Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
The Dayton Power and Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
Trans Bay Cable	William Scherman	Jeffrey M Jakubiak, ESQ

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
LLC	Partner Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036	Partner GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP 200 Park Avenue New York, NEW YORK 10166
	UNITED STATES	Jennifer C Mansh
Trans Bay Cable LLC	-	Attorney Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
Trans Bay Cable LLC		Christopher Smith Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
	William Scherman	Joffman M. Jakubiak ECO
Trans Bay Cable LLC	Partner Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	Jeffrey M Jakubiak, ESQ Partner GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP 200 Park Avenue New York, NEW YORK 10166
Trans Bay Cable LLC		Jennifer C Mansh Attorney Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
Trans Bay Cable LLC		Christopher Smith Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
Transmission Access Policy Study Group	Cindy Bogorad Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, N.W. Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	William Huang Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group		Stephen C. Pearson Attorney Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye St, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group		Latif Nurani Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group		E Service Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye St, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group	Cindy Bogorad Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, N.W. Suite 700	William Huang Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street NW Suite 700

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group	ONTED STATES	Stephen C. Pearson Attorney Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye St, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group		Latif Nurani Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Transmission Access Policy Study Group		E Service Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye St, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS	Michael Jacobs Sr. Energy Analyst UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS 2 Brattle Square Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02138 UNITED STATES	
UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS	Michael Jacobs Sr. Energy Analyst UNION OF CONCERNED SCIENTISTS 2 Brattle Square Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02138 UNITED STATES	
University of Delaware	Willett Kempton Professor University of Delaware EV R&D Group University of Delaware Newark, DELAWARE 19716 UNITED STATES	
University of Delaware	Willett Kempton Professor University of Delaware EV R&D Group University of Delaware Newark, DELAWARE 19716 UNITED STATES	
Utility Intervention Unit, New York State Department of State		Erin Hogan Director of Utility Interventi 99 Washington Ave Albany, NEW YORK 12231
Utility Intervention Unit, New York State Department of State		Erin Hogan Director of Utility Interventi 99 Washington Ave Albany, NEW YORK 12231
Winston & Strawn LLP	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	Kimberly Ognisty Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K Street, N.W.

	20006-3817 UNITED STATES	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Winston & Strawn LLP	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	Kimberly Ognisty Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K Street, N.W. Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Xcel Energy Services Inc.	Terri Eaton Director, Regulatory Admin. Xcel Energy Inc. 1800 Larimer St. Denver, COLORADO 80202 UNITED STATES	
Xcel Energy Services Inc.	Terri Eaton Director, Regulatory Admin. Xcel Energy Inc. 1800 Larimer St. Denver, COLORADO 80202 UNITED STATES	

Back to Mailing List/Recipients by State Bac

Back to FERCOnline

For any issues regarding FERC Online, please contact FERC Online Support or call Local: 202-502-6652 | Toll-free: 866-208-3676. Please include a current mail address, telephone number, and e-mail address.

FERC Online - Web Applications of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission



FERC Online Home
About FERC Online

Log Out

Edit Registration
Company Registration

eFiling

e Subscription

eComment

Query Mailing List/Recipients by State

Query Service List

My Service List

eLibrary

eTariff Viewer

Help

Mail List for AD16-20-000 Electric Storage Participation in Regions with Organized Wholesale Electric Markets

Party	Primary Person or Counsel of Record to be Served	Other Contact to be Served
Melissa Gough	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776 UNITED STATES	Melissa Gough 16 Wildwood Lane Sudbury, MASSACHUSETTS 01776
Advanced Energy Economy	J. Porter Wiseman Attorney Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP 1333 New Hampshire Ave. NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Economy	J. Porter Wiseman Attorney Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP 1333 New Hampshire Ave. NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Energy Management Alliance	Katherine Hamilton Principal 1200 18th Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Advanced Rail Energy Storage, LLC	Nancy Saracino Managing Attorney WESTERN ENERGY & WATER, PC 1020 Coronado Blvd Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95864 UNITED STATES	
AES Corporation, The	Andrew Wells Senior Counsel Duke Energy Corporation 1000 East Main Street Plainfield, INDIANA 46168 UNITED STATES	Lin S Franks Sr. Strategist RTO, FERC, and Indianapolis Power & Light Company One Monument Circle Indianapolis, INDIANA 46204
AES Corporation, The	Randall Griffin Chief Regulatory Counsel Dayton Power and Light Company, The 1065 Woodman Drive Dayton, OHIO 45432 UNITED STATES	
AES Distributed Energy	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES Energy Storage, LLC	Andrew Wells Senior Counsel Duke Energy Corporation 1000 East Main Street	Lin S Franks Sr. Strategist RTO, FERC, and Indianapolis Power & Light Company

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Plainfield, INDIANA 46168 UNITED STATES	One Monument Circle Indianapolis, INDIANA 46204
AES Energy Storage, LLC	Randall Griffin Chief Regulatory Counsel Dayton Power and Light Company, The 1065 Woodman Drive Dayton, OHIO 45432 UNITED STATES	,
AES Energy Storage, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AES ES Tait, LLC	Andrew Wells Senior Counsel Duke Energy Corporation 1000 East Main Street Plainfield, INDIANA 46168 UNITED STATES	Lin S Franks Sr. Strategist RTO, FERC, and Indianapolis Power & Light Company One Monument Circle Indianapolis, INDIANA 46204
AES ES Tait, LLC	Randall Griffin Chief Regulatory Counsel Dayton Power and Light Company, The 1065 Woodman Drive Dayton, OHIO 45432 UNITED STATES	
AES ES Tait, LLC	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
AF Mensah Inc.	Wayne Wittman Head of Governmental Affairs One North Johnston Ave Suite 208 Hamilton, NEW JERSEY 08609 UNITED STATES	
Affirmed Energy LLC	Angela Fox 112 S Duke Street Suite 1 Durham, NORTH CAROLINA 27701 UNITED STATES	
American Electric Power Service Corporation	Anne Vogel American Electric Power Service Corporation 1 Riverside Plaza Floor 29 Columbus, OHIO 43215 UNITED STATES	
American Public Power Association	Randolph Elliott Regulatory Counsel American Public Power Association 4301 Wilson Blvd Arlington, VIRGINIA 22203 UNITED STATES	Delia D. Patterson, ESQ General Counsel American Public Power Association 2451 Crystal Drive Suite 1000 Arlinton, VIRGINIA 22202
American Public Power Association		Adrienne E Clair Thompson Coburn LLP Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street NW

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	_	Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
American Wind Energy Association	eugene grace Regulatory Attorney 1501 M St NW, Ste 1000 washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Avangrid, Inc.	Paul Dumais Director of Regulatory Avangrid Service Company 89 East Avenue Rochester, NEW YORK 14649 UNITED STATES	
Beacon Power, LLC	Aaron Bullwinkel Bullwinkel & Brooks, LLC 2 Lan Drive Westford, MASSACHUSETTS 01886 UNITED STATES	Christopher J Hebert Director, Strategy & Finance 65 Middlesex Road Tyngsboro, MASSACHUSETTS 01879
Brookfield Renewable Partners L.P.	Steve Zuretti Director, Regulatory Affairs- Brookfield Energy Marketing Inc. 6171 Ruby Pl Los Angeles, CALIFORNIA 90042 UNITED STATES	
California Department of Water Resources	Lisa Dowden Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Katharine M. Mapes Attorney Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1825 Eye Street N.W. 7th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
California Department of Water Resources		Latif Nurani Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
California Department of Water Resources		E Service Spiegel & McDiarmid LLP 1875 Eye St, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
California Energy Storage Alliance	Donald Liddell Attorney Douglass & Liddell, an association of professional corporations 2928 2nd Ave. San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92103 UNITED STATES	
Alliance	Donald Liddell Attorney Douglass & Liddell, an association of professional corporations 2928 2nd Ave. San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92103 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Anna McKenna Senior Counsel California Independent System Operator Corporation 250 Outcropping Way	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	
California Independent System Operator Corporation	Andrew Ulmer Senior Counsel California Independent System Operato Corporation 250 Outcropping Way Folsom, CALIFORNIA 95630 UNITED STATES	r
California Municipal Utilities Association	Charles Braun Braun & Blaising, P.C. 915 L Street Suite 1270 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	John Borchert Manager, Elec. Engr. Services 284 South Ave Poughkeepsie, NEW YORK 12601 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation	John Borchert Manager, Elec. Engr. Services 284 South Ave Poughkeepsie, NEW YORK 12601 UNITED STATES	
City of New York, New York	Amanda De Vito Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway, Suite 7 Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	Kevin M Lang Partner, Couch White, LLP Couch White, LLP 540 Broadway Albany, NEW YORK 12207
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Consolidated	Joshua Konecni	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Edison Company of New York, Inc.	Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
CPUC	Christopher Clay Legal Counsel Public Utilities Commission of The State of California 505 Van Ness Ave. San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94102 UNITED STATES	
Dayton Power and Light Company, The	Andrew Wells Senior Counsel Duke Energy Corporation 1000 East Main Street Plainfield, INDIANA 46168 UNITED STATES	Lin S Franks Sr. Strategist RTO, FERC, and Indianapolis Power & Light Company One Monument Circle Indianapolis, INDIANA 46204
Dayton Power and Light Company, The	Randall Griffin Chief Regulatory Counsel Dayton Power and Light Company, The 1065 Woodman Drive Dayton, OHIO 45432 UNITED STATES	
Delaware Public Service Commission		Joseph DeLosa, III Public Utility Analyst Delaware Public Service Commission 861 Silver Lake Blvd. Cannon Bldg. Suite 100 Dover, DELAWARE 19904
DER and Storage Developers	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
DER and Storage Developers	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
Dominion Resources Services, Inc.	Cheri Yochelson Senior Counsel Dominion Energy Services, Inc. 120 Tredegar Street, RS-2 Richmond, VIRGINIA 23219 UNITED STATES	Lou Oberski Dir Electric Market Policy Dominion Resources Services, Inc. PO Box 25615 Richmond,VIRGINIA 23260-5615
Duke Energy Corporation	Sheri May Associate General Counsel INDIVIDUAL 139 East Fourth St. Cincinnati, OHIO 45202 UNITED STATES	
E.ON Climate & Renewables North America, LLC	Bruce Grabow ICC Energy Corporation 701 East Street N.W. Wash, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 75206 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
E4TheFuture	Patricia Stanton E4TheFuture 10 Speen Street Suite 402 Framingham, MASSACHUSETTS 01701 UNITED STATES	
Edison Electric Institute	Lopa Parikh Edison Electric Institute 701 Pennsylvania Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004-2696 UNITED STATES	
Efficient Holdings, LLC	Richard Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Richard A. Drom Member Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott 1717 Pennsylvania Avenue 12th Floor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Electric Power Supply Association	Nancy Bagot Vice President Electric Power Supply Association 1401 New York Ave. NW 11th FLoor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Electric Power Supply Association	Nancy Bagot Vice President Electric Power Supply Association 1401 New York Ave. NW 11th FLoor Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005	
Electricity Consumers Resource Council	UNITED STATES W. Richard Bidstrup Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Ave, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	
Ellison Schneider & Harris LLP	Douglas Davie Wellhead Electric Company, Inc. 650 Bercut Dr. Suite C Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95811 UNITED STATES	
Enel Green Power North America, Inc.	Jeffery Riles Director of Regulatory Affairs Enel Green Power North America, Inc. 816 Connecticut Avenue, NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Megan Beauregard Associate General Counsel Enel North America, Inc. Enel North America, Inc. One Tech Drive, Ste 200 Andover, MASSACHUSETTS 01910
EPRI	Erik Ela Electric Power Research Instit Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) 9430 Hillview Ave Palo Alto, CALIFORNIA 94304 UNITED STATES	
Exelon Corporation	Christopher Wilson Director, Federal Regulatory A	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Exelon Corporation 101 Constitution Ave, NW Suite 400E Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
FirstLight Power Resources Management, LLC	Marc Silver	
FirstLight Power Resources, Inc	Marc Silver FirstLight Power 850 Old Road to Nine Acre Corner Concord, MASSACHUSETTS 01742 UNITED STATES	
Fluidic Energy	Kelly Daly Partner SNELL & WILMER 400 East Van Buren Street Suite 1900 Phoenix, ARIZONA 85004 UNITED STATES	Katie Avila Fluidic Energy Fluidic Energy 8455 N. 90th Street Scottsdale, ARIZONA 85258
Fresh Energy	Laura Hannah Sr. Policy Associate Fresh Energy 408 St. Peter Street Ste 220 St. Paul, MINNESOTA 55102 UNITED STATES	
Ice Energy, Inc.	Meredith Hiller Holland & Knight LLP 10 St. James Ave. Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 01984 UNITED STATES	Meredith Hiller Holland & Knight LLP 10 St. James Ave. Boston, MASSACHUSETTS 01984
Imperial Irrigation District	Michael Postar Attorney Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 1667 K Street, N.W., Suite 700 Duncan Weinberg Genzer & Pembroke Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Maxine Ray Chatman Legal Secretary INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Imperial Irrigation District	Joshua Adrian INDIVIDUAL 1667 K Street, NW Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006 UNITED STATES	Robert A. Laurie Assistant General Counsel,Ener Imperial Irrigation District P.O. Box 937 Imperial, CALIFORNIA 92251- 0937
Imperial Irrigation District	Sean Neal Attorney Duncan, Weinberg, Genzer & Pembroke PC 915 L Street Suite 1410 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	
Independent Energy Producers Association	Steven Kelly Independent Energy Producers Association 1215 K Street Suite 900 Sacramento, CALIFORNIA 95814 UNITED STATES	Lin C Franks
Indianapolis Power & Light	Andrew Wells Senior Counsel	Lin S Franks Sr. Strategist RTO, FERC, and

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Company	Duke Energy Corporation 1000 East Main Street Plainfield, INDIANA 46168 UNITED STATES	Indianapolis Power & Light Company One Monument Circle Indianapolis, INDIANA 46204
Indianapolis Power & Light Company	Randall Griffin Chief Regulatory Counsel Dayton Power and Light Company, The 1065 Woodman Drive Dayton, OHIO 45432 UNITED STATES	
Indianapolis Power & Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004 UNITED STATES	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
INDIVIDUAL	Robert Borlick Energy Consultant 6659 Hillandale Road Chevy Chase, MARYLAND 20815 UNITED STATES	
Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law	Denise Grab Senior Attorney Institute for Policy Integrity, New York University School of Law Institute for Policy Integrity, NYU School of Law, Wilf 139 MacDougal Street, Third Floor New York, NEW YORK 10012 UNITED STATES	
International Transmission Company, et al.	James Bixby Attorney - Regulatory & Legisl ITC Holdings Corp. 1300 I Street NW Suite 300W RTS-RETURN TO SENDER Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
IPKeys Technologies LLC	Robert Nawy Managing Director & CFO, IPKEY 2 Christopher Way Eatontown, NEW JERSEY 07724 UNITED STATES	
ISO New England Inc.	Kerim May INDIVIDUAL One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040-2841 UNITED STATES	Julie A Horgan eTariff Coordinator One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda M Morrison Docket Administrator ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Rd Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.		Linda Maile-Smith Legal Administrative Assistant ISO New England Inc. One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040
ISO New England Inc.	Margoth Caley ISO New England Inc.	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	One Sullivan Road Holyoke, MASSACHUSETTS 01040 -UNITED STATES	
Magnum CAES, LLC	Joseph Pennington Attorney at Law INDIVIDUAL Georgetown Place 1101 30th Street, NW, Suite 500 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20007 UNITED STATES	
Manitoba Hydro	Michael Douglas MANITOBA HYDRO-ELECTRIC BOARD 360 Portage Ave 22nd Floor Winnipeg, MANITOBA R3C2P4 CANADA	
Maryland Public Service Commission	Miles Mitchell Deputy General Counsel 6 St. Paul Street 16th Floor, William Donald Schaefer Tower Baltimore, MARYLAND 21202 UNITED STATES	Carolyn A Mcintosh, ESQ Deputy attorney general 124 Halsey street Newark, NEW JERSEY 07631
Massachusetts Institute of Technology	Audun Botterud Principal Research Scientist Massachusetts Institute of Technology 77 Massachusetts Ave Bldg. 32, Room D-632 Cambridge, MASSACHUSETTS 02139 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	stephen kozey Sr. VP, General Counsel and S Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46123 UNITED STATES	
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Michael Kessler MISO PO Box 4202 Carmel, INDIANA 46082 UNITED STATES	Midwest ISO Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. PO Box 4202 Carmel,INDIANA
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Daniel Malabonga Senior Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032 UNITED STATES	Julie Bunn Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46032
Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc.	Jonathan Tauber Corporate Counsel Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. 720 City Center Drive Carmel, INDIANA 46033 UNITED STATES	
Alliance	Matthew Prorok Great Plains Institute 2801 21st Ave S., Suite 220 Minneapolis, MINNESOTA 55407 UNITED STATES	
MISO Transmission Owners	Wendy Reed Wright & Talisman, PC 1200 G Street, N.W	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
MISO Transmission Owners	Victoria Lauterbach Shareholder Wright & Talisman, P.C. 1200 G Street NW Ste 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Monitoring Analytics, LLC	Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC		Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC	Jeffrey Mayes General Counsel Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Valley Forge Corporate Center Eagleville, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	Joseph Bowring Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Avenue, Suite 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC		Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC		Suzette N Krausen Executive Assistant Monitoring Analytics, LLC 2621 Van Buren Ave Ste 160 Norristown, PENNSYLVANIA 19403
Monitoring Analytics, LLC		Howard Haas
Motorola Solutions	Frank Korinek Director, Strategy and Standar Motorola Solutions 1301 E. Algonquin Road Schaumburg, ILLINOIS 60196 UNITED STATES	
National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners	Jennifer Murphy Assistant General Counsel National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioner 1101 Vermont Ave., Suite 200 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	James B Ramsay, ESQ
National Grid	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
National Grid	David Lodemore Senior Counsel, National Grid National Grid USA 40 Sylvan Road Waltham, MASSACHUSETTS 02451 UNITED STATES	
National Hydropower Association	Linda Ciocci Executive Director National Hydropower Association One Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 850 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	Jeffrey A. Leahey, ESQ Director of Government Affairs National Hydropower Association 25 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 450 Wasington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
National Hydropower Association	Jeffrey Leahey Director of Government Affairs National Hydropower Association 25 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 450 Wasington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	David Zayas Director of Regulatory Affairs National Hydropower Association 601 New Jersey Ave. Suite 660 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001
National Rural Electric Cooperative Association	Paul Breakman Attorney National Rural Electric Cooperative Association 1575 Eye Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
National Rural Electric Cooperative Association	Paul Breakman Attorney National Rural Electric Cooperative Association 1575 Eye Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	Adrienne E Clair Thompson Coburn LLP Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
New England Power Pool Participants Committee	David Doot Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103 UNITED STATES	
New England Power Pool Participants Committee		Sebastian Lombardi Day Pitney LLP 242 Trumbull Street Hartford, CONNECTICUT 06103- 1212
New York Battery and Energy Storage Technology Consortium	Denise Sheehan Sr. Advisor New York Battery and Energy Storage Technology Consortium 1450 Western Ave. Suite 101 Albany, NEW YORK 12203 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd.	11/20

	Mailing List/Recipients by State	
	-Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	Gregory Campbell Attorney New York Independent System Operator, Inc. 10 Krey Blvd. Rensselaer, NEW YORK 12144 UNITED STATES	
New York Independent System Operator, Inc.	joy zimberlin	
New York Power Authority	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Andrew Neuman Special Counsel, New York Powe New York Power Authority 123 Main Street White Plains, NEW YORK 10601 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Kimberly Harriman SVP, Corporate & Regulatory Af New York Power Authority 123 Main Street White Plains, NEW YORK 10601 UNITED STATES	Nathan D Markey New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl St. Albany, NEW YORK 12207
New York Power Authority	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
New York Power Authority	Glenn Haake Principal Attorney New York Power Authority 30 South Pearl Street Albany, NEW YORK 12207 UNITED STATES	
New York State Electric & Gas Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
New York State Electric & Gas Corporation	Noelle Kinsch Deputy General Counsel Iberdrola USA Management Corporation 99 Washington Avenue, Suite 2018 Albany, NEW YORK 12210 UNITED STATES	
	W. Mason Emnett Senior Attorney Florida Power & Light Company 801 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. Suite 220 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	20004 UNITED STATES	
Niagara Mohawk d/b/a/ National Grid	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP	
	1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817	
	UNITED STATES David Lodemore	
Niagara Mohawk d/b/a/ National Grid	Senior Counsel, National Grid National Grid USA 40 Sylvan Road Waltham, MASSACHUSETTS 02451 UNITED STATES	
North American Electric Reliability	Shamai Elstein Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corporation 1325 G Street	
Corporation	Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
North American Electric Reliability Corporation	Lauren Perotti Associate Counsel North American Electric Reliability Corp 1325 G St NW Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
NRG Energy, Inc.	Abraham Silverman Assistant General Counsel - Re NRG Energy, Inc. 211 Carnegie Center Drive Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
NRG Energy, Inc.	Jennifer Hsia NRG Energy 211 Carnegie Center Princeton, NEW JERSEY 08540 UNITED STATES	
OpenADR Alliance, Inc.	Rolf Bienert Technical Director OpenADR Alliance, Inc. 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037 UNITED STATES	Barry Haaser Managing Director 16820 Jackson Oaks Drive Suite 1A Morgan Hill, CALIFORNIA 95037
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP	

	1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
j		
Rockland Utilities, Inc.	Joshua Konecni Associate Counsel Con Edison Company of New York 4 Irving Place New York, NEW YORK 10003 UNITED STATES	
Organization of OMISO States	Tanya Paslawski Executive Director Organization of MISO States 100 Court Avenue Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309 UNITED STATES	Marcus Hawkins 100 Court Ave Suite 315 Des Moines, IOWA 50309
Ormat Nevada, (Inc. 6	Cynthia Alejandre Business Analyst Ormat Technologies, Inc. 6225 Neil Road Reno, NEVADA 89511 UNITED STATES	
Pacific Gas and F Electric 7 Company 9	Mark Huffman Pacific Gas and Electric Company 77 Beale St # B30A San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES	PG&E Law Dept FERC Cases INDIVIDUAL 77 Beale Street San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105
Pacific Gas and Electric Company		Joseph C Yu Attorney Pacific Gas and Electric Company 77 Beale Street B30A San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94120
Pacific Gas and F Electric 7 Company 9	Mark Huffman Pacific Gas and Electric Company 77 Beale St # B30A San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94105 UNITED STATES	
PJM Interconnection,	Steven Pincus Assistant General Counsel - Re PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Blvd. Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	
PJM Interconnection, SL.L.C.	CRAIG GLAZER V.P., Federal Gov't Policy PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 1200 G Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
PJM Interconnection, L.L.C.	James Burlew Counsel PJM Interconnection, L.L.C. 2750 Monroe Boulevard Audubon, PENNSYLVANIA 19403 UNITED STATES	
Applications and (Research F Systems, Inc. S	Eddie Dehdashti CTO Power Applications and Research Systems, Inc. P.O. Box 193032	

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	San Francisco, CALIFORNIA 94119 UNITED STATES	
Power Supply Long Island	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Power Supply Long Island	Jon Mostel General Counsel & Secretary Long Island Lighting Company d/b/a LIPA 333 Earle Ovington Boulevard Uniondale, NEW YORK 11553 UNITED STATES	\
Power Supply Long Island	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Power Supply Long Island	Jon Mostel General Counsel & Secretary Long Island Lighting Company d/b/a LIPA 333 Earle Ovington Boulevard Uniondale, NEW YORK 11553 UNITED STATES	\
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC		Raymond V. DePillo 80 Park Plaza T19 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
PSEG Power LLC	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service Commission of Wisconsin	Zachary Ramirez Public Service Commission of W 4822 Madison Yards WAy P.O. Box 7854 Madison, WISCONSIN 53707-7854 UNITED STATES	·
Public Service Electric and Gas Company	Cara Lewis Assistant Regulatory Counsel 80 Park Plaza, T5 Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102 UNITED STATES	Kenneth R. Carretta, ESQ Deputy General Counsel/Chief PSEG Energy Resources & Trade LLC 80 Park Plaza, T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Service Electric and Gas Company		Jodi Moskowitz Gen. Reg. Counsel PSEG Services Corporation 80 Park Plz # T5G Newark, NEW JERSEY 07102
Public Utilities Commission of Ohio	Thomas McNamee Assistant Attorney General Ohio Public Utilities Commission 30 East Broad Street	Lori Sternisha Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 180 East Broad Street

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
	16th fl Columbus, OHIO 43215 -UNITED STATES	3rd Floor Columbus, OHIO 43215
Quanta Technology	Ralph Masiello Quanta Technology 4020 Westchase Boulevard Suite 300 Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27607 UNITED STATES	
R Street Institute	Devin Hartman R Street Institute 1050 17th St NW #1150 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036 UNITED STATES	
Rochester Gas and Electric Corporation	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	
Rochester Gas and Electric Corporation	Noelle Kinsch Deputy General Counsel Iberdrola USA Management Corporation 99 Washington Avenue, Suite 2018 Albany, NEW YORK 12210 UNITED STATES	
San Diego County Water Authority	Andrea Altmann San Diego County Water Authority 4677 Overland Ave San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92123 UNITED STATES	
San Diego Gas & Electric Company	Georgetta Baker Attorney San Diego Gas & Electric Company 8330 Century Park Court Second Floor San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92101 UNITED STATES	Pamela J. Mills Regulatory Policy Manager INDIVIDUAL 8330 Century Park Court CP32H San Diego, CALIFORNIA 92123
Schulte Associates LLC	Robert Schulte Principal Schulte Associates LLC 2236 Coley Forest Place Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27607 UNITED STATES	
Schulte Associates LLC	Robert Schulte Principal Schulte Associates LLC 2236 Coley Forest Place Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27607 UNITED STATES	
Schulte Associates LLC	Robert Schulte Principal Schulte Associates LLC 2236 Coley Forest Place Raleigh, NORTH CAROLINA 27607 UNITED STATES	
Six Cities CA	Margaret McNaul Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	Bonnie Susan Blair Attorney Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W. Suite 600

	Mailing List/Recipients By State 20006	Washington, DISTRICT OF
Six Cities CA	UNITED STATES	COLUMBIA 20006 Rebecca Shelton Thompson Coburn LLP 1909 K Street, N.W., Suite 600 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-1167
Solar Energy Industries Association	Heather Curlee Counsel Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati 701 Fifth Ave, Suite 5100 INC000000445898 Seattle, WASHINGTON 98104 UNITED STATES	
Solar Grid Storage	Chris Cook Solar Grid Storage Solar Grid Storage 4009 Shallow Brook Lane Olney, MARYLAND 20832 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
SolarCity Corporation	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001 UNITED STATES	
Southern California Edison Company	Rebecca Furman Attorney Southern California Edison Company PO Box 800 Rosemead, CALIFORNIA UNITED STATES	FERC Case Administration Southern California Edison Company 2244 Walnut Grove Ave. Rosemead, CALIFORNIA 91770
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.	Paul Suskie Sr. VP Regulatory Policy & Gen Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 415 N. McKinley, Ste 140 Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72205 UNITED STATES	
Southwest	Christopher Nolen	Michelle L Harris

	Mailing List/Recipients By State	
Power Pool, Inc	. Attorney Southwest Power Pool, Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223-4936 UNITED STATES	Paralegal III Southwest Power Pool Inc. 201 Worthen Drive Little Rock, ARKANSAS 72223- 4936
Starwood Energy Group Global, L.L.C.	-Jonathan Gottlieb Partner Eversheds Sutherland (US) LLP 700 Sixth Street, NW, Suite 700 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20001-3980 UNITED STATES	
Steffes Corporation	Kelly Murphy Steffes Corporation 5160 Illini Way Boulder, COLORADO 80303 UNITED STATES	
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
Sustainable FERC Project	Jennifer Chen NRDC/FERC Project 1152 15th Street NW, Suite 300 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
TechNet	David Toomey Director, Federal Policy & Gov TechNet 805 15th St NW Suite 708 WASHINGTON, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20005 UNITED STATES	
TeMix Inc.	Edward Cazalet CEO 101 First Street Suite 552 Los Altos, CALIFORNIA 94022 UNITED STATES	
Tesla Motors, Inc.	Sarah Van Cleve Tesla Motors, Inc. 3500 Deer Creek Road Palo Alto, CALIFORNIA 94304 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Thomas Hutton Senior Counsel Tesla, Inc. 1050 K Street NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20009 UNITED STATES	
Tesla, Inc.	Betty Watson Tesla, Inc. 1050 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	

ı	Mailing List/Recipients by State	
	20001 UNITED STATES	
The Dayton Power and Light Company	William Derasmo Attorney Troutman Sanders LLP	Thomas DeVita Troutman Sanders LLP 401 9th Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20004
Trans Bay Cable LLC	William Scherman Partner Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP	Jeffrey M Jakubiak, ESQ Partner GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP 200 Park Avenue New York, NEW YORK 10166
Trans Bay Cable LLC		Jennifer C Mansh Attorney Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
Trans Bay Cable LLC		Christopher Smith Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20036
University of Delaware	Meghan Rowe Research Assistant University of Delaware 221 Academy St Harker ISE Lab 356 CCPI Newark, DELAWARE 19702 UNITED STATES	
Viridity Energy, Inc.	allen freifeld SVP Viridity Energy Inc. 1801 market St. Philadelphia, PENNSYLVANIA 19103 UNITED STATES	
Winston & Strawn LLP	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	Victoria L. Hsia Winston & Strawn LLP Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K Street, NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Winston & Strawn LLP	Elias Farrah Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K St NW Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006-3817 UNITED STATES	Kimberly Ognisty Attorney Winston & Strawn LLP 1700 K Street, N.W. Washington, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 20006
Xcel Energy Services Inc.	Daniel Ahrens Manager Regulatory Xcel Energy Inc. 1800 Larimer St Denver, COLORADO 80202 UNITED STATES	
Xcel Energy Services Inc.	Terri Eaton Director, Regulatory Admin. Xcel Energy Inc. 1800 Larimer St.	

Denver, COLORADO 80202 UNITED STATES

Back to Mailing List/Recipients by State Back to FERCOnline

For any issues regarding FERC Online, please contact FERC Online Support or call Local: 202-502-6652 | Toll-free: 866-208-3676. Please include a current mail address, telephone number, and e-mail address.